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Revenue (Us$ miltion)

Return on Equity (%)
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2003 2004 2005 2003 2004 2005 2003 2004 2005
2005 2004 Change
(US$ million) (US$ million) %
Revenue 7,271 6,545 11
Core EBITDA 1,145 1,181 3
~ Depreciation and Amortisation (247) (241)
Core EBIT 828° 940° (4)
- Gross Interest Expense {«10) (87)
- Tax (62) (30"
Profit before Non-Recurring ltems 7496 823 (3)
~ Non-Recurring ltems 8 120
Net Profit® 804 943 (15)

NOL Group's 2005 Financial Year comprised 52 weeks from 'l January 2005 to 30 December 2005 while 2004
comprised 53 weeks: 27 December 2003 to 31 December 2004.

n

Includes US$14 million in stock option expenses (with the adaption of FRS 102) for 2005.

3 Restated to exclude goodwill amortisation of US$19 million iit 2004 with the adoption of FRS 103.

s

Part of tax is classified as non-recurring items for 2004.

o

Net profit refers to amounts attributable to equity holders, i.e. shareholders excluding minotity interest.



Message from the Chairman J
|

Cheng Wai Keung
Chairman

During this period the Group
has delivered considerable

| am pleased to report

that the NOL Group grth in value for shareholders,
. while maintaining quality service

has de‘“\/ered for Fustomers.

another excellent |

" in t1e past year, NOL's revenue
reSUIt In 2005 - our grew by 11% to a record US$7.27

billion. This reflects the underlying

third consecutive ;

strength of world trade, the

yea r Of Stro ng stre;ngth of our relationships
with existing customers, and
performance' our:ability to win new customers.

Net profit was down 15% to
US:J‘£804 million. The equivalent
2004 net profit of US$943 million
had included gains from non-
rec}urring items totalling US$120
miliion, including an earn-out
folljowing the sale of American

!
J
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Eagle Tankers and a write-back of
deferred tax liabilities.

The business was affected by
cost pressures, particularly
fuel-related costs that constituted
a major challenge during the
year. These were well-managed
by our people who also
demonstrated an ability to
secure strong prices for our high
quality services.

We maintained healthy margins

by continuing with our core
operating strategy of keeping
costs low, keeping liner utilisation
high and managing yields carefully.

NOL is committed to rewarding
shareholders for their loyalty and

support, and building a reputation
for delivering value to shareholders.

We achieved basic Earnings Per
Share (EPS) for 2005 of 55.35 US
cents per share, compared with
65.47 US cents per share in the
previous year.

An interim divicend of 8
Singapore cents per share was
paid to shareholders on 15
September 2005.

On 7 December 2005 we
announced plans for a capital
reduction and cash distribution

of 92 Singapor:z cents per share.
Shareholders voted in favour of the
proposal on 3 ‘anuary 2006 and
following approval by the High Court

NOL is committed
to rewarding
shareholders

for their loyalty
and support,

and building a
reputation for
delivering value to
shareholders.”

of Singapore, the cash distribution
was made to shareholders on

21 February 2006. This initiative
returned a total of $$1.34 billion
{US$0.82 hillion) to shareholders.

In view of this cash distribution
and the interim dividend of 8
Singaporeicents per share, the
Group willignot declare a final
dividend fér the financial year
ended 30 December 2005.

The Group remains committed to
its stated dividend policy in future
years, which is to pay the higher
of an annual dividend of 8
Singaporejcents per share net,
or a full year dividend payment of
20% of net profits.

NOL has returned $$2.13 billion
(US$1.30 hillion) to shareholders

by way of dividends and cash
distributions since 2003. Return on
equity for 2005 was 34%, (compared
with the previous year’s record
outcome of 54%). When recalculated
to take into account the capital
reduction and cash distribution
foliowing tﬁe balance sheet date,
our 2005 return on equity was 41%.




Viessage from the Chairman

The net profits of US$429 million,
US$943 million, and US$804 million
achieved over the years 2003, 2004
and 2005 respectively represent the
best financial performance in the
history of the company.

The strength of our balance sheet —
a legacy of NOL's excellent financial
performance over the past three
years — sees us poised for future
growth in line with our strategy.

Group Strategy

The Board of Directors has worked
closely with management to
develop a strategy to grow NOL
and further differentiate ourselves
from competitors.

NOL plans to grow significantly
over the next five years. We will
grow organically, by expanding our
range of services and geographies,
and by seeking to acquire value-
adding businesses that have the
potential to increase the reach
and richness of our service
offering to customers.

The Group will continue to
differentiate itself in a number
of ways: by concentrating on
being a supplier of high quality
cargo transportation services; by
increasing our capacity to offer
tailored customer solutions;

by offering synergistic liner

and logistics services; and by
capitalising on our strong position
and distinctive expertise in the
fast-growing Asian region.

By successfully executing

our strategy, and achieving
continued efficiencies in business
management, NOL is committed to
delivering profitability across the
business cycle.

Governance
NOL }complies with the Singapore
Exchénge’s Code of Corporate
Gove}rnance and the board strives
to provide strategic guidance in line
with this code.

|
Duriljg the year we took steps to
reviéw some of our significant
corpbrate governance processes to
ensdre they are better aligned with
best‘i practice and with regulatory
char}ges in the Singapore market.
As a?result, in August 2005,
we established an Enterprise
Riskaanagement Committee
with %a mandate to build up risk
management capability within the
NOL!Group.

This},is a company with a strength
of purpose. Our people are

hard;‘ working and have strong
values. They are committed to
the F‘nterests of shareholders and
customers, and to operating in
an e‘nvironmentally responsible
man‘ner and contributing to the
com‘munities that host

our t“)perations.

decisions affecting the future of the company. (From left) Friedbert Malt, Robert Holiand,
Yasumasa Mizushima on a site visit to Nhava Sheva nternational Container Port, Mumbai,
india in early December 2005. |

!
i
4
|




| wish to thank our more than
12,000 employees for their
contribution to NOL's success
during 2005, Group CEO David Lim
for the leadership he has provided,
and the management team for their
performance, particularly in dealing
with cost chailenges. Finally, | thank
my Board colleagues for their hard
work and focused attention to the
business of the Company.

Two new Directors, Timothy Harris
and Peter Wagner, were appointed
to the NOL Board on 16 May

2005 following the retirement of
four Board Members at the 2005
Annua!l General Meeting on 26
April 2005. Timothy Harris was
formerly CEO of liner company P&0
Nedlloyd and Chairman of the P&0O
Board. Among other senior roles,

Peter Wagner was formerly Chief
Executive of global freight forwarder
Danzas Holding AG. The experience
of our new Directors adds to

NOL's already highly capable and
experienced Board.

With three years of strong
performance, and a long-term
strategy that aims to buffer NOL
against the volatility of cycles in
the shipping industry, we are
well on the way to establishing
our credentials as a highly
regarded cargo transportation
sector investrent.

VAN

Cheng Wai Kzung
Chairman

&6

This is a company
with :a strength

of purpose. Our
people are hard
working and have
strong values. They
are committed to
the interests

of sharehoiders
and customers.”




Board of Directors

Cheng Wai Keung Chairman
Friedbert Malt Vice Chairman
Ang Kong Hua Vice Chairman

David Lim Executive Director
Connal Rankin Director

Cheng Wai Keung Chairman

Mr Cheng Wai Keung is Chairman of the
NQL Board and a Director of other Group
subsidiary companies, including APL.

He is also Chairman of the NOL Board
Executive Committee and a member

of the Nominating Committee and the
Executive Resource and Compensation
Committee. Mr Cheng is concurrently
the Chairman of Wing Tai Holdings
Limited, Raffles Holdings Limited and
Vice Chairman of Singapore-Suzhou
Township Development Pte Ltd. He also
holds directerships in several public
and private companies, including GP
Batteries International Ltd and Media
Asia Entertainment Group Ltd. Mr Cheng
was awarded the Public Service Star
(BBM} in 1987 and the Public Service
Star (Bar) (BBM-Lintang) in 1997 by

the Government of Singapore. He was
re-appointed Justice of The Peace (JP)
by the President of the Republic of
Singapore in 2005. Mr Cheng graduated
with a Bachelor of Science degree from
Indiana University and holds a Masters
in Business Administration from the
University of Chicago, US.

Friedbert Malt Vice Chairman
Friedbert Malt is Vice Chairman of the
NOL Board and a member of the NOL
Board Executive Committee and the
Executive Resource and Compensation
Committee. Dr Malt also serves on
the Board of TUV Rheinland of North
America, a global leader in independent
testing and assessment services.

He taught finance as a lecturer at

the University of Hamburg, Germany,
and has held various international

responsibilities, including as a member
of the Executive Board of DG Bank (now
DZ Bank AG) until the end of 2001.

Dr Malt brings valuable insights and
experience in international finance.

He served on a number of supervisory
Boards of major European financial
institutions and is on the Board of

the German American Chamber of
Commerce, New York.

Ang Kong Hua Vice Chairman

Ang Kong Hua joined the NOL Board

in 2003 as a Vice Chairman and is
Chairman of the Nominating Committee
and a member of the Board's Executive
Committee. He is Executive Director

of NatSteel, a listed Singapore-

based manufacturing group. Before
joining NatSteel in 1975, he was with
Singapore's Economic Development
Board and The Development Bank

of Singapore. Mr Ang also serves on
the Boards of DBS Bank Limited, K1
Ventures Limited and the Government of
Singapore Investment Corporation.

David Lim Executive Director

David Lim is Group President and CEO
and a member of the NOL Executive
Committee and the Approval Committee.
He is a Member of Singapore's
Parliament. Mr Lim was previously the
CEO of the Port of Singapore Authority;
led an international consortium as
CEO of the China-Singapore Suzhou
Industrial Park located in China and
was CEO of Jurong Town Corporation,
which develops industrial facilities in
Singapore and invests throughout the
region. He also served on the National

Comp‘uter Board and the Singapore
Econcmic Development Board. Mr Lim
entere;d politics in 1997 and served in
a numriber of portfolics, most recently
as Acﬂjing Minister for Information,
Commiunications and the Arts.

I

Conn%l Rankin Director

Banking and Human Resource specialist
Conna?l Rankin joined the NOL

Board in 2002. He was appointed
Chairrnan of the Executive Resource and
Comps=ansation Committee in June 2003
and is @ member of the Nominating
Committee. Mr Rankin retired from
HSBC|Holdings plc at the end of 2005.
He began his banking career with
HSBClas a trainee 45 years ago and
under ook numerous international
postings for them inciuding Brunei,
Austra‘lia, Canada, the Philippines, Saudi
Arabiai and Hong Kong. He was a Group
Gener;a! Manager and CEO of HSBC
Singal‘)ore from 19935 to 2000 and
currer.‘”tly lives in the United Kingdom.

Willie Cheng Director

Willie bhengjoined the NOL Board in
2003 and was appointed Chairman of
the NQL Board Audit Committee in April
2004.' He was previously Managing
Directar of Accenture Singapore, retiring
from the firm in 2003. Mr Cheng is
curren;ly Chairman of the Singapore
Science Centre and the Jurong Country
Club. g—ie also serves on the Boards

of Singapore Press Holdings, SPH
MediaBoxOffice, NTUC Fairprice,
Accounting Corporate Regulatory
Author:ity, SPRING Singapore and

PSB Holdings.




Willie Cheng Director
Robert Holland Director
Yasumasa Mizushima Director

Christopher Lau Director *
Timothy Harris Director
Peter Wagner Director

Robert Holland Director

US business consuitant Robert Holland
joined the NOL Board in January 2004
as a member of the Audit Committee
and was appointed Chairman of the
Enterprise Risk Management Committee
in August 2005. Mr Holland is currently
a General Partner and Industry
Specialist with private equity firm
Williams Capital Partners. Previously,

he was the sole owner, and served

as Chairman and CEQ, of WorkPlace
Integrators, one of the largest Steelcase
office furniture dealerships in the United
States. He was formerly President and
CEO of ice cream-maker Ben & Jerry's,
and spent several years as a partner
with McKinsey & Company. His current
directorships include Carver Federal
Savings Bank, a community-based bank
headguartered in Harlem, New York;
printing solutions company, Lexmark
International; and the world’s largest
quick-serve restaurant company, Yum!
Brands [nc., which operates a number of
leading global food brands.

Yasumasa Mizushima Director
Yasumasa Mizushima joined the NOL
Board in 2002 after his retirement as
President and Chief Executive of Sony
Logistics Corporation, a global business
with one of the most extensive supply
chains in the world. Mr. Mizushima is

a member of the Executive Resource
and Compensation Committee. He

has more than 40 years’ experience

in building supply chain networks
including establishing and heading Sony
GmbH, Sony Corporation’s subsidiary

in Germany. He remains as Corporate

Advisor of Sony Corporation after
completing term:s as a Member of the
Board of Directors and Executive Vice
President. He also holds the positions
of Professor of the Tama Graduate
School of Management and Information
Sciences in Tokyo, Japan, and Honorary
Professor of the Universiti Tunku Abdul
Rahman, Malaysia.

Christopher Lzu Director

Senior Counsel and Chartered Arbitrator
Christopher Lau joined the NOL Audit
Committee in May 2004 and was
appointed to NO s Enterprise Risk
Management Committee in 2005.

Mr Lau is a former Judicial
Commissioner o the Supreme Court of
Singapore and i< currently a consuitant
with law firm Alban Tay Mahtani & de
Silva. He has mcore than 30 years’
experience in mearitime and commercial
law and is a mermnber of the Governing
Board of the International Maritime Law
Institute of the international Maritime
Organisation. Mr Lau also serves

as an arbitrator hoth in Singapore

and internationally, belonging to the
Singapore Institute of Arbitrators,
Singapore Chamber of Maritime
Arbitration and a number of international
arbitration organisations.

Timothy Harris Director

Timothy Harris jcined the NOL

Board in 2005 as a Member of the
Executive Resource and Compensation
Committee and the NOL Enterprise Risk
Management Committee. Mr Harris
was appointed Chief Executive Officer
of P&O Nedlloyd Container Line Limited

in 1996, following the merger of P&0O
Containers Limited and Nedlloyd Lines
BV. He led the company until 2000.
He also served on the P&O Board from
1986, managing the company’s cruise
interests as both Chairman and CEQ.
He was also Chairman of Box Club, the
International Council of Containership
Operators, in 1995, Mr Harris was
created a Commander of the British
Empire (CBE) in the 1996 New Year's
Honours. His current appointments
include chairing the marine services
company, James Fisher and Sons, and
leading ship broking firm, Clarkson.

Peter Wagner Director

Peter Wagner joined the NOL Board

in 2005 as-a member of the Audit
Committee and the NOL Enterprise Risk
Management Committee, Mr Wagner
has held senior positions at logistics
companies in Switzerland, Germany
and the United States over the past
25 years. He was on the Management
Board for Deutsche Post AG from 1999
to 2001 where he oversaw worldwide
logistics activities. He was appointed
Chief Financial Officer (1889) and
Chief Executive Officer (1996) of
Danzas Holding AG, Switzeriand.

Mr Wagner is a certified public
accountantiand has completed

an Executive Program in Business
Administration (EPBA) from Columbia
Business School, New York. Currently
Vice Chairman of Wild Group
Management AG, Zug, he was previously
Chairman of Vontobe! Hoiding AG and
Bank Vontobel AG, one of the leading
banks in Switzerland.



Group CEOQO’s Report

For the NOL Group,
2005’s strong
result is clear
affirmation of our
operating strategy,
and our ability to
operate a tight
ship under shifting
and increasingly
challenging
market conditions.

Over the past three years, we
both served our customers well,
winning several customer awards
for service excellence, and also
returned record earnings to our
shareholders. We have done

well against our peers in the
industry, and achieved earnings
margins that put us among the
best in class.

Our results in 2005 underscore
our ability to face more
challenging market conditions.
Operating costs, especially for
fuel, increased progressively
through the year, and had a
consequent impact on

|
|
|
\
|
|
|
|
\

David Lim
Group President and CEQO

profitability. Freight revenues
did pot grow as quickly in 2005,
as the shortfall in total vessel
capécity eased.

But Pespite more difficult
conditions, we continued to keep
costs down by looking for savings
in o?iher parts of our operations,
and imaintaining strict discipline
in on‘)timising cargo yields, and
max?mising the use of our ships,
containers and terminal assets.
Our resolve in facing these
chalilenges reflects our unity of
purpose and preparedness as
we a?pproach a period where we
expect business to get tougher.
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* Based on financia! position as at 30 December 2005 an taking into account
the effects of our capital reduction and cash distribution following the balance
sheet date.

FinanciaﬂPerformance

NOL Group's record revenue of
US$7.27 billion in 2005 reflected
continuing growth in international
trade flow$ and strong demand
for our high quality services.
Revenue was up 11% on the
previous y?ar.

The Group"s net profit was
US$804 million compared with
US$943 million in 2004.

The fall in'net profits was due
largely to the absence of non-
recurring income that had lifted
net profits in 2004.

At the opérating level, we fared
better, achieving a Core EBIT
(Earnings before Interest, Tax
and Non-Recurring Items) of
US$898 million compared with
US$940 million in 2004.
Afthough lower than in 2004,
our operating profits continued
to reflect our ability to outperform
most of our competitors and to
give sharéholders a good return
on their investments. In 2005,
we achieved a Return on

Equity of 34%.

Our strong earnings also
strengthened our balance

sheet during the year. This
enabled us to distribute cash of
92 Singanore cents per share to
shareholders in February 2006,
through a'S$$1.34 billion capital
reduction exercise. Following
this exerci’se, our balance sheet
remains strong, and we are well
positioned to invest for growth,
and to take advantage of the
current falling trend in ship and
container prices.



Group CEO’s Report

Cedric Foo
Group Deputy President &
President, Asia/Middle East

During 2005, the NOL Group
undertook rigorous work to ensure
that our Group strategic direction
positions us strongly for the future.
We were seeking competitive
advantage which is in tune with
global economic trends and the
growing importance of Supply Chain
Management. Cur strategy should
help us stand out from the pack.

NOL's future lies in leveraging our
strengths in liner shipping and
logistics to help our customers
create and capture value by
optimising their supply chains.

By builcing our capacity to bundig
an array of origin, ocean-carrying,
intermodal transfer, land transport
and destination services, NOL Group
aims to optimise customers’ supply
chains from order placement to store
shelves. We will harness technology
to drive speed, reliability, flexibility
and visibility for customers. To do
this well, we have chosen to focus
on key customer verticals such as
Automotive, Apparel, High-Tech and
Fast-Moving Consumer Goods.

We alsc plan to further leverage
our expertise in the dynamic
markets of Asia. The global trend
of outsourcing to Asia continues,
China's growth remains strong, and
the Indian Subcontinent offers
great opportunity. We also seek to
add new logistics capability such as
air freight forwarding.

NOL Group is confident that our
strategies and capabilities will enable
us to sustain competitive advantage
and to grow the company for the
benefit of all our stakeholders.

Operating businesses

With generally favourable market
conditions, our APL liner business
was able to lift its revenue in
2005, contributing US$5.96 biliion
to Group revenue and US$845
million to the Group's Core EBIT.

We achieved this by ensuring our
service offering continues to be
closely matched to customers’
needs, by adding new capacity and
service strings and by expanding
the range of value-adding services
we provide. APL also continued its
cost management efforts, holding
down cost increases in the face of
considerable cost pressures.

APL Logistics made good progress
in increasing its profitability during
2005. The business achieved a
very positive result, increasing its
Core EBIT contribution by 74% to
US$59 miltion.

The overall revenue of APL
Logistics increased by 11% to
US$1.29 billion, with particularly
strong additional revenues
delivered by our International
Services business unit,
underscoring the growth
potential of our international
logistics markets.

In 2005, both the liner and
logistics operations showed their
strengths. By better integrating
and combining these strengths, we
will position our Group to perform
even better in future. More detail
on these businesses can be found
in the Operations Review on pages
17 to 20 of this Report.

Regional performance

All c‘lur business regions experienced
steady growth in 2005.

We !capitalised on strong economic
conditions in Greater China, Asia
and the Middle East, to both
expand liner deployments and
widen customer offerings from our

logistics business.
|

In Europe, we increased direct
cusf.omer contact by establishing
new offices across Eastern Europe
andiin Ireland. A new APL Logistics
join{ venture, Holistica Solutions,
will enhance our service offer to
maj?r retail customers.

i .
Customers in our Americas
regibn were challenged by the
ongoing problem of supplylchain
congestion. We addressed
this'problem through intensive
plarlning, and innovative use of
tecl’,nology. We worked closely
with Federal and State government
leaders in the United States
to raise awareress about the
seriousness of congestion and
to jointly work out action plans to
resclve this.

!
Proéress reports on each of our
key :regions can be found on pages
23 t;o 30 of this Report.

Growth strategy

Threughout 2005, we put
considerable energy into analysing
the fundamental drivers of our
businesses, and developing a
competitive strategy for both

the short and long-term. Going
forward, our strategy will build




on the strength and reputation
of APL as a high service and
quality ocean freight carrier. We
will also build up APL Logistics’
capahilities, to further differentiate
our ocean freight services,

and increase our competitive
advantage over other carriers.
We aim to be a market leader for
quality, integrated transportation
and logistics services.

APL delivered
Core EBIT of
US$845 million,
and APL Logistics
increased its Core
EBIT contribution
by 74% to

US$59 million.

We believe that global trade will
continue to expand, as more
countries open up their markets
and develop their domestic
economies. At the same time, the
continued confidence and positive
growth forecasts in developed
countries provide favourable
conditions for cemand growth.
We expect China to continue to
grow its manufacturing output,
and also increased exports

from elsewhere in Asia. On the
demand side, we also see a pick-
up in consumer-driven demand in
South Asia and the Middle East,
as outsourcing and oil revenues
generate new demand.

The transportation and logistics
industry is one of the pillars that
makes globalisation possible

- providing the means to support
the physical mcvement of goods.
In an era of glohal growth, thisis a
great industry to be in. And given
our leadership in this industry,

| believe our prospects to both
contribute to ard profit from this
growth are very good.

However, we note that the supply
of container ships will increase
significantly in the near term,
and this will put pressure on the
industry’s profitability.

Against this more challenging
outlook, we will be even more
focused on managing costs,
maximising the use of all the
assets in our network, and working
closely to deliver quality services
to our customers. We recognise
that excellent sarvice delivery will

Patricia Leung
Chief Financial Officer

Over the past two years we have
progressively pared down debt on
the back of our strong operating
performance, and we enjoyed a net
cash position from the first quarter
of 2005.

To establish an efficient capital
structure, while still maintaining a
strong balance sheet that supports
growth and expansion, we
announced a $$1.34 billion capital
reduction and cash distribution to
shareholders in early December 2005.
This was unanimously approved at
an Extraordinary General Meeting
on 3 January 2006, and our
shareholders received their cash
on 24 February 2006.

We have further improved the
flexibility of our funding arrangements,
and NOL has in place a range of

debt facilities on which we can draw
to support our growth programmes,
When recalculated to take into
account our capital reduction and
cash distribution following the
balance sheet date, the Group had

a net gearing level (ratio of net
baorrowings to the shareholders’ equity
of the Group), of 0.21 times based on
our results to 30 December 2005.

in 2005 we made changes to NOUs
financial systems and processes
to further improve controls and
operational effectiveness.

Qur investor relations team aiso
maintained close touch with
shareholders and the investment
community, to further enhance
NOL Group’s reputation as a
worthy investment.




Group CEQ’s Report

Cindy Stoddard
Chief Information Officer

information technology (IT) gives
NOL a competitive edge by bringing
efficiencies to our Group and to our
customers. In 2005, our activities
were directed towards innovating to
differentiate our Group's services
to customers, while managing our
IT costs.

Our innovations for 2005 included
a radio frequency identification
system at our Los Angeles terminal,
which greatly increased container
recognition speed; and an optical
recognition system that ‘sees’
container numbers.

We introduced a Web-based system
called ‘TransPort’ that allows
custorners to use the internet to
schedule pick-up and delivery, and
to receive information about their
freight. Another customer service is
our new ‘dynamic routing’ tool, which
helps batance inventories across
geographic regions.

Cost management initiatives
included streamlining internal work
processes, and improving the way
our resources are organised and
staffed. We also developed a new
accounting system to deliver greater
cost control at terminals.

In the coming year, T efforts will

be directed toward supporting the
critical business needs of Liner and
Logistics.

be even more important in difficult
market conditions and are focused
on ensuring that our people and
systems are well co-ordinated to
provide this support.

But we also see new opportunities
arising from healthy demand
growth and increased customer
need for more certainty and
speed in delivery times, and
greater flexibility in managing
inventories in their supply chains.
So we will also be working actively
to seize these opportunities, and
to further integrate and leverage
our capabilities across both liner
and logjstics.

Underpinning our strategy is a
spectrum of existing capabilities
that enable us to provide a wide
range of customised services.
Increasingly, customers see us

as their business partners, and

we look forward to working even
more closely with them as we build
our position as an adaptive and
innovative leader in our industry.

Successful execution of this
strategy will transform NOL
Group, and accentuate further
the distinctions between ourselves
and our competitors. As we
broaden our capabilities along
the supply chain, we are
constantly striving to ensure the
market knows we are more than
‘just another liner company, at a
time when the market perceives
many lines as merely offering
commodity services.

NOL Group is aiming to grow
significantly over the balance of
this decade. To further expand

our“ capabilities, we plan to invest
mcu‘re than US$400 million in 2006
to grow our operations, investing

in areas such as new vessels,
cor%tainers, terminal equipment,
Iog,:istics infrastructure and new
information technology capability.

|
Bu}lding the Management Team
We made a number of key
menagement appointments over
the past year. In May 2005, Cedric
Foé was appointed Group Deputy
Prejsident and, late in the year,
als;o took on the role of President
forithe Asia/Middle East region.
Pat“.ricia Leung joined us as Chief
Financial Officer at the same time.
In u‘JCtober, Dave Goodwin joined as
Vice President, Corporate Affairs,
aan in January 2006, Kuok Lay
Hobn joined us as Chief Human
Resources Officer. In addition,
Bri}an Lutt was appointed President
APL Logistics in November 2005.

\
Wii‘.h these appointments, we

have brought in new energy and
pe}’speotives to the corporate
legdership team, with talents
from both within and outside
the% industry. Combined with the

J
\
|
|
|
|
|
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considerable bench strength in
APL and APL Logistics, this gives
us a strong and focused team to
move the organisation forward.

Employees and Communities

At NOL we are committed to
operating our business responsibly
and providing rewarding careers
for our people. Our employees are
a diverse and talented group, and
they form the foundation of our
future success.

To sum up, 2005
has been a year
of disciplined
performance,
good results,
delivery of value
for shareholders
and strategic
grov\fth,W

NOL Group and its businesses
are closely involved with our

host communities. A particular
emphasis in 2005 was applying
our resources to help out in the
aftermath of adverse events such
as the Indian Ocean tsunami,
Pakistan earthquake and Hurricane
Katrina. Our businesses also
supported a host of community
programmes bringing help and
cheer to community groups
requiring a helping hand.

Our cencern for our communities
is also reflected in our responsibte
environmental conduct, There

is increasing dzmand from
communities for businesses to
exercise care in the way they
impact on the environment,

and NOL is responding to these
concerns {see pages 31 to 32).

To sum up, 2005 has been a

year of disciplined performance,
good results, delivery of value for
shareholders and strategic growth.
It was a year in which we delivered
positive outcomes for the various
stakeholders ir our Company's
success - our shareholders
enjoyed strong returns, and saw
Our revenues grow, our customers
benefited from continued
improvements and innovations

in our service cffering; our staff
experienced the rewards of being
part of a successful business; and
our alliance partners benefited
from our strength and resources.

We have established a clear
direction for the future of our
Company that vill position us to
take full advantage of long-term
growth in global trade. So | thank
all our stakeholders for their
support, and | am confident that,
together, we can build an exciting
future for our Group.

e

David Lim
Group President and CEQO

Kuok Lay Hoon
Chief Human Resources Officer

The global shipping and logistics

industries are in a period of major

transformation. in the future, even
. more so than the past, successful
, companies will be characterised by
skilled, flexible workforces.

During the year we continued to
develop and adapt our human

I resources systems, with an
emphasis on ensuring that
compensation is closely aligned with
1 performance. These systems must

. allow us to attract the best talent,
and help us to strengthen our global
competitiveness.

A key strength of NOL is the diversity
of our workforce. Cur Group's
heritage reflects both Asian and
Western values, which have been
blended to create a driven and
dynamic business culture. Our more
than 12,000 employees in nearly 50
countries consistently demonstrate
integrity, teamwork, a passion to
perform, and the strength of their
customer commitment. We seek to
nurture and uphold these traits.

In 2006, we will be further

i sharpening our focus on building a
workforce with the skills necessary
to implement our Group strategy. In

i the ongoing battle for the best and

' brightest, it is vital that we continue

' to bring out the best in our people

. and ensure they remain our strength.










Ron Widdows
CEO, APL

APL

After two successive years
of record profitability, APL
delivered another strong
result in 2005, with margins
at the top of the industry.

In a year which saw a significant
escalation in fuel costs of US$194
million, APL's Core EBIT of US$845
million represents one of the best
in the history of this business.

Total revenues for the year were up
12% to US$5.96 billion on the back
of a 9% growth in volumes t¢ 1.85
million FEUs and an improvement
in the average revenue per
container in every region in which
we operate. Overall revenues per
FEU increased 5% from US$2,713
to US$2,841.

In addition to top line revenue
growth we kept our assets highly
utilised. APL achieved headhaul
vessel utilisation of 96% across
our global network. Qur continued
focus on yield, and cost control
efforts — we achieved specific cost
reductions of US$36 million to
offset some of the impact of fuel
and other rising costs - contributed
towards a healthy Core EBIT
margin of 14.2%.

In spite of the challenges that our
industry faces due to inadequate
transportation infrastructure giobally,
particularly in the United States,
APL's service levels improved over
2004. This was the result of the
extraordinary efforts of our people
across our network doing what they
do best — focusing on the needs

of our customers and doing all

they can to ensure we help them
navigate their way through a less
fluid supply chain.

Our customers were able to take
advantage of alternative gateways,
avoiding the pressured Southern
California ports, with APL offering
increased capacity via Seattle and
QOakland and all-water services to the
United States East Coast. Trucking
shortages and rail capabilities in
the United States remain an issue,
but with APL's priority rail services
we achieved a significantly greater
level of certainty for our customers.

We have strengthened our
relationships with key business
partners, such as Union Pacific
railways in the United States,
enabling APL to achieve service
standards that are unmatched by
our competitors.

In 2005, a major focus was, and .
willlcontinue tc be, working closely
witth our customers to engineer new
solutions and configure our network
anc;I services to provide options that
make APL the preferred choice in

| )
our, major markets.

The major challenge for the year
was} the increased cost of fuel and
inlénd transportation services. This
imﬂpacted on margins, with a 7%
inctease in costs per FEU.

|
While this increasing cost base
derhanded that we strengthen our
cosjt focus, we continued to invest
in the business during the year. We
str(‘zngthened our global network
anq service capability to meet the
needs of customers.

}
Ourj growth was centred around
the;fast-growing sourcing markets
of China — which recorded another
year of impressive economic
exp?nsion - the Indian Subcontinent
and other areas of Southeast Asia,
where we were able to leverage
ourjstrong presence and depth of
mal"ket experience.
ChiHa continues to account for
ovejr a third of APL’s volumes
and will inevitably continue to be
the!‘driver of growth in our major
mar;kets in 2006 and beyond.
Our, long history, one of the most
comprehensive service networks,
ancI; our combination of liner and
Iog”stics expertise has enabled
APL: to flourish in the world's most

profific export economy.
|

The.; rapid increase in Indian

tracle in 2005 opened up new
op;:fortunities, with the introduction
of s:everal new APL services and a
25% volume gain. As with China,
the strength of the APL reputation,
an c:extensive service capability
builjt over many years, and an
orgénisation on the ground that
hasj a deep understanding of this
fasf—growing market, will enable us




to take advantage of many exciting
opportunities that are developing
in India.

In both India and China, the
growth of our logistics capabilities,
and investment in landside
infrastructure will ensure that we
continue to deliver value to our
customers and be well-positioned
for the future.

Middle Eastern markets, along
with Vietnam and Indonesia, also
contributed to the strength of Intra-
Asia trade, where volumes were up
16% and prospects for the future
look bright.

In the Asia-Europe trade, restricted
choice, careful planning and
co-operation with our TNWA
partners and other co-operative
slot agreements enabled APL to
grow volumes by around 11%,
placing us among the top carriers
in this trade. Our growth was
achieved in part through the use
of others’ assets.

After two years of very strong
growth, our Trans-Pacific trade
growth was modest — expanding
only around 3% in volume terms
in anticipation of a softening
supply/demand relationship in
2006. A specific plan of action to
keep our network tight going into
a more challenging environment
is now being implemented.

Our Trans-Atlantic, Latin America,
US Government and Reefer trades
also performed excepticnally well
in 2005. We look for that good
performance to continue in 20086.

Our introduction of new fleet
capacity in 2005 was in keeping
with our deliberately conservative
but steady approach to growth. This
has brought APL's total capacity

to more than 339,000 TEUs. Our
partnerships with other carriers
have underpinned the Company’s

careful approach to expansion, as
we position to remain lean heading
into a change i1 the supply/
demand balance globally.

The five-year extension of our
alliance agreement with the TNWA
(The New World Alliance) lines —
Hyundai Merchant Marine and Mitsui
0.S.K Ltd - and the subsequent co-
operation agreement between TNWA
and the Grand Alliance member
lines were significant milestones

in the changing competitive
environment this year. They will
result in an increase in the scope of
our Asia/Europe service coverage
and our Trans-Pacific US East Coast
service via the IPanama Canal.

APL continues to dedicate time

and resources 10 provide a strong
voice on vital transportation
infrastructure issues affecting world
trade. During the year we released
discussion papers on the Panama
Canal, India’s part and transport
infrastructure, and terminal
capabilities in Europe.

We also continued to work with
government agencies in the
United States, in particular with
the US Department of
Transportation, industry partners
and our customers on much-
needed solutions for the
transportation network which is
so critical to the: health of the
United States economy.

it has been rewarding to see
progress, as a result of government
actions and strong support from
the many key cLstomers who

have committed to working with

us on this important initiative.

Our efforts are being recognised
by the industry. Greater awareness
of these issues across industry
has also led our importer and
exporter customers to better plan
their distributior) networks and
cargo flows. This has helped to
mitigate the delays experienced
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in 2004 when most were
unprepared to cope with delays
in their supply chain.

Our work has made it evident that
co-operation between the public
and private sectors will have

to increase in order to make
progress. On this front, one of
the highlights of 2005 was the
outstanding success of PierPass
implementation at Los Angeles.
This collaborative effort between
industry, port authorities, regulatory
authorities and customers has
resulted in:around 40% of

APL's cargo volumes at this port
now moving during off-peak hours.

APL remains committed to
supporting and driving such
initiatives. They bring about direct
benefits not only for our customers,
the industry, and local and regional
economies, but also for the
communities in which we operate,
by reducing localised congestion
and envirorjmental impacts.

Our immediate focus as we move
deeper into 2006 is to further
ready ourselves for what is set to
be a more difficult and demanding
business environment. Signs of
an emerging supply/demand gap
began to appear in late 2005,
with some weakening of rates in
certain trades.



Operations Review

Brian Lutt
President, APL Logistics

The challenge will be to ensure
that we re-double our efforts to
defiver value and the highest
levels of service to our customers,
and work with them to ensure a
sustainable outlook for freight
rates that allows us to continue to
invest to meet their needs. We have
already identified further internal
efficiencies and potential savings,
and have set significantly higher
targets for 2008, to counter higher
costs facing the industry.

Most important to our succeés

in 2006 and beyond will be

to leverage and integrate NOL
Group’s supply-chain management
capabilities together with our liner
operations. This will build on work
we are already doing with some

of our larger customers, creating
a compelling and differentiated
service offering for customers with
more complex and global needs,

We thank our customers for their
fantastic support in 2005, and

over many years. As we move
forward, customers can count on us
to focus our energies on developing
even broader capabilities and

on our absolute commitment to
delivering the levels of service and
reliability that make APL distinctive
in the industry.

APL Logistics

A strong performance for
APL Logistics in 2005

was marked by growth in
demand for the Company’s
international services and
an encouraging turnaround
in the performance of our
contract logistics operations.

Core EBIT improved 74% year-
on-year to US$59 million on an
11% increase in total revenues to
US$1.29 billion (2004: US$1.17
billion). The Core EBIT margin
increased from 2.9% in 2004

to 4.6%.

The improved performance was
highlighted by the financial discipline
applied to the company’s contract
logistics businesses, which saw a
major improvement in efficiency,
utilisation and yield.

We placed a spotlight on each of
our lines of business and individual
operating units (ast year. This led

to an exit from several unprofitable
contracts, renegotiated leases, and
a drive from within the business

for continuous improvements in
customer service, operational
excellence, technical enhancements
and product innovation.

Our/strategy to grow the
international services business
segment, while focusing on
imp}roving the performance of

the contract logistics business
achleved the desired result. Core
EBIT margins for international
services and contract logistics
imp}oved to 8.4% and 2.7% on the
back of revenues increasing 23%

and, 5% respectively.

International services remains
our strength and we will continue
to focus our growth in this area.
Our|strategy will be to develop

an integrated approach to
differentiating service offerings

by Ijaveraging the NOL asset-based
businesses with our logistics
cap%bilities to provide competitive
advéntage to our customers.

The key to this integrated
aprroach will be our ability to
innovate and develop solutions
that will meet the more complex

|
requirements of our customers.
|

The“ Americas continues to
account for almost 70% of APL
Loéistics' revenue, alongside
steédily increasing revenue
gro'l/vth from Europe, Asia and
the, Middle East.

|

i
Wit}h rapid economic
development and foreign

invc}astment in manufacturing,
China and India continue to
oﬁér huge potential for APL
Logiistics to replicate capabilities
and extend our relationships
with major customers to these
gec“)graphies. We are already
well-established in both markets
and have made significant
prc‘gress in developing our
pre“sence further in 2005
through direct investment and
joir‘ﬁt venture partnerships.

|
In Europe we have created an
exditing new partnership model
witfj‘u European logistics specialist,
Chiistian Salvesen, in a joint
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venture named Holistica Solutions.

This combines the worldwide
capabilities of APL Logistics
with Salvesen’s comprehensive
European network. At the

same time, we are continuing

to develop and build on APL
Logistics' traditional strengths
in understanding our customers’
businesses and working with them
to develop solutions that deliver
control, greater efficiencies and

simplify supply-chain management.

The commitment and experience
of our people was a key factor
in consistently delivering at and
above customer expectations
during 2005. | thank the APL
Logistics team for their hard
work, as well as their skill at
harnessing our technology

and assets to deliver excellent
experiences for customers all
around the globe.

Information technology continues
to be a vital ingredient in the
value we provide for customers,
in 2005 we completed the
evaluation phase of a new WMS
(Warehouse Management
Services) platform, which will be
implemented at key facilities

in the United States beginning in
20086. This will improve visibility
of cargoes in each locality,
connect seamlessly with feeds
from international movements,

and interface directly with customer
data streams.

During the year we partnered with
Sun Microsyste ms in establishing
a test centre in Singapore that
focuses on helping companies
drive supply-chzin benefits from
Radio Frequency Identification
(RFID) technology. The NOL-Sun
Advanced Techriology Centre is
the first of its k nd in Southeast
Asia. We are focused on finding
additional practical applications
to fully realise the potential of this
emerging technnlogy.

Our product development pipeline
also remains strong, with several
exciting new offzrings expected
to be announced in the first half
of 2006. We will focus our
product development resources
in three key customer verticals

- Retail, Automotive, and High-
tech — where we: will deepen our
expertise in order to enhance
our service offerings.

Along with our sharpened focus on
our three key cLstomer verticals,
we will be increasingly looking

for opportunities to leverage the
NOL Group's wider ocean cargo

transportation expertise and assets

for the benefit end advantage of
our customers.

Alongside the robust earnings, we
have continued to plot a path of
strategic growth, closely focused
around our customers’ needs. Our
revenues increased by US$780
million across our core businesses,
as we extehded and expanded our
capabilities globally.

Most importantly, this has been
another year where we have
demonstrated the premium value
of our services and the strength of
our relationships with customers.

We have a solid foundation to build
on as we move into a potentially
tougher en\(ironment in 2006.

In 2005, both the liner
and logistics businesses
demonstrated their
strengths. By better
integrating, and leveraging
these strengths, we will
create more value for our
customers and a strong
future for our business.
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Regional Report

Cedric Foo
Group Deputy
President &
President,
Asia/Middle East

NOL Group’'s
operating
businesses forged
ahead in the
Asia/Middle East
region in 2005.

In particular, the Middle East, where
APL is among the market leaders,
showed very strong growth.

The NOL Group was active in
anticipating customers’ needs, with
a number of deployments made in
late 2004 proving their worih to
customers throughout 2005, For
example, the CMX service heralded
a first for APL — a direct call to
Sharjah from East Asia. Shearjeh is

|

Asia/Middle East

New services and facilities
capitalise on growth opp@mumties

in this dynamic region.

a growing hub for re-exports into the
Middle East and Africa.

In 2005, APL also upgraded its
feeder services between Hong
Kong, Ho Chi Minh City and Fuzhou
to meet demand from the growing
garment and textile trade and
introduced a new service between
Karachi, Pakistan and Jebel Ali,
UAE. We added capacity to our
premium all-water service between
West Asia and the US East Coast
to meet the growing demand for
capacity on this route.

APL Logistics increased its service
offering to complement those of
APL. In Vietnam alone, APL Logistics
increased volumes by 16% over
2004. In Egypt, APL Logistics has
commenced work with our partners
to develop the first consolidation
facility for buyers.

In an NOL Group R&D initiative,
a centre for Radio Frequency
Identification (RFID) was opened
in Singapore in July 2005. This

|

en:}ables us to work with customers
to Fvaluate RFID technologies
anij applications in a ‘live” supply-

chain environrment.
i

\
Dufring the year, we helped our
customers minimise the impact of
sufaply chain congestion at some
hué)s in the region. On the vesse!
supply side, APL signed a number
of Eontracts guaranteeing feeder
spéce from Thailand, Vietnam,
Phjlippines and India.

|
2005 saw increased focus on
seaj:urity initiatives including
support for the United States
lec C-TPAT (Customs-Trade
Partnership Against Terrorism) and
CS\‘I {Container Security Initiative).
APL Logistics has been at the
forefront in working with customers,
their vendors and relevant

| .
government agencies around

the} Asia/Middle East region to
develop robust security processes
anai:! guidelines. APL Logistics was
Iau;ded for its efforts in @ number
of ';these collaborations.

CUSTOMER SOLUTIONS: A Smooth Jou}ney

2,500 discrete parts flow into a factory. One vehicle arrive‘s at a dealership, on-time and
damage-free. To our automotive customers, a smooth supply chain is business-critical.

In getting parts to assembly points, and finished vehicles to dealers, we have solved

the toughest supply chain problems, and earned the trust ?f some of the world’s top
automotive companies. !



2006 is shaping as a challenging
year with new capacity being
introduced into the market,
operating cost increases and
concerns about issues such as
an escalation in Avian Flu risks.

However, given our strong
reputation with customers and the
economic outlook for the Asia/
Middle East region, we remain
confident of tapping the fast-
emerging opportunities the region
will present this year.

'

Ken Glenn
Senior Vice President, South Asia

APL India captured a large share of
strong market growth in 2005,

Our volumes were up 25%
year-on-year, while total market
container volumes for India grew
by 20% on the strength of rapid
economic growth and increased
manufacturing activity.

The Intra-Asia trade led APL's
growth, particularly from increasing
volumes of auto parts and
manufacturing components

from China and Thailand. Strong
consumer spending from India's
growing middie class also fuelled
imports of consumer electronic goods
particularly from China.

Intra-Asia Liner Volumes ('000 FEUs)

Asia/Middle East* share of

APL Logistics 2005 Revenue
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South Asia

The Trans-Pacific trade grew rapidly
due to strong exports of apparel,
fabrics and har dicrafts to the United
States. During “he year, APL doubled
its capacity on the India/Suez/United
States East Coast service to cater

to demand from North American
retail customers.

To relieve congestion at India’s
principal container port, Nhava
Sheva, on the West Coast, APL
started a direct. shuttle service
between the Ezist Coast Port of Visak
and Singapore. We also worked with
a key partner, Concor, to provide

-customers with an alternative

gateway at Vishakapatnam.
Additional capzcity was introduced
to minimise delays in response

to events such as a major labour
dispute at the Port of Chennai.

Our commitment to improve

service levels aind reduce costs for
customers was: boosted by the Indian
Government's agreement, after more
than ten years of debate, to privatise
freight rail and allow foreign direct
investment in this sector.

*Incorporates Greater China revenues

in December, APL negotiated a joint
venture arrangement with an Indian
partner, Hindustan Infrastructure,

to apply for a ficense from Indian
Railways to allow operation of

our own dedicated freight trains
throughout india. Also, by year's

end APL Logistics was close to
opening a significant container yard
and freight forwarding operation near
New Dethi in its first Indian joint
venture, Trident Terminals Private Ltd.

APL performed strongly in Sri Lanka
with year-on-year volume growth of
more than 20%, driven by strong
intra-Asia trade. Bangladesh volumes
grew by more than 10% year-on-year
mainly due to apparel exports.

As regulation eases in key sectors
during 2008, APL and APL Logistics
will be active in seeking opportunities
to invest in improvements to India's
ports, road and rail network.



Regional Report

Koay Peng Yen
Regional President,
Greater China

Continuing robust
export growth,
backed by rapidly
increasing
domestic demand,
contributed to

a record year

in container
transportation and
logistics.

APL and APL Logistics in Greater
China continued to broaden

our customer relationships and

leverage our capabilities in this
key market.

APL Greater China grew revenues
by growing volumes and optimising

3CUSTOMER SOLUTIONS: Simplifying Faslrlion

jAs the fashion industry globalises, our customers are faced with increasing complexity

T— new sources, new countries, and ever-changing cross border regulations.

|

Greater China

A buoyant Chinese economy drives record
revenues for APL and APL Logistics.

cargoes. Our growth was
especially robust in servicing
new Mediterranean and Indian
Subcontinent markets, where
our volumes grew by more than
40% over 2004 levels.

Net revenues from APL Logistics
Greater China expanded by over
20% in 2005. This was achieved
from a healthy and broad growth
in all our products, including in
our consolidation, forwarding,
and warehouse management
activities; and particularly in
winning more customers in the
mainland China region.

The Group's joint venture company
in automotive logistics, CMA
Logistics, was successfully

listed on the GEMS Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange in
February 20086, after achieving a
third consecutive year of growth
and profits. Going forward, CMA
Logistics will focus on growing its
service capabilities and business
in the fast expanding China
automotive sector.

To enhance the reliability of our
inlapd transportation network,
APL Logistics is working closely
with“ APLL Zhigin, a joint venture
corﬁpany specialising in domestic
dist'ibution and technology
logistics in mainland China.

A reLentless focus on managing
costs in 2005 resulted in

a fif‘th consecutive year

whe}e our cargo handling

| .
expt‘anses improved.

|
APL's strategic partnerships
withlterminals provided a crucial
oper“ational and competitive
adva}mtage. Our long-standing
rela?\;ionships with terminal
operators give us vessel berthing
prion"ity and enable flexible

| .
cargo operations.

To sfapport our drive for the
highjest levels of service integrity
and ;to meet customer demand we
sign?d commercial agreements
which ensure terminal access and
seaﬁwless connectivity at key hubs

in tt“l‘e region,

With an extensive global network, we can ensure vendors deliver on time and specification,
and even assist customers to shift operations to meet quality and price requirements. By
Imanaging costs, time and uncertainty, we make them more Icompetitive.




. : | Proportion of APL Volumes derived from
% < %, B | Greater China (2005, Inbound and Outbound)
|

— RABL BEEE %> \: |

ENMEL FES RESLM RE)WMAN ) ~
¥ reviman ii’

LRNRSAR RV RBA RS

) e
Around 20 employees from APL and APL Logistics in China volunteered their tirie for ‘Lighting

up Hope', a joint initiative by the Company and Shanghai Children’s Hospital to let children with
Leukaemia experience the excitement of Oriental TV tower and the Shanghai Ocean Aguarium.

Note ~ significant volumes derived from Greater China

We have taken advantage of 40 offices is ore of the largest in . are reported as part of the Intra-Asia, Trans-Pacific and
the continuing high level of mainiand China. : AsiarEurope trades.
investments in new port capacity ST T S T S S S T T T e
in China to deliver speed and Our company actively participated
efficiency to our customers. in community p-ojects in China.
Our employees sponsored
Symbotically, an APL vessel, the 445 students under the NOL
4,918 TEU APL Iris, was the first Project Hope individual school
to use Shanghai’s new Yangshan assistance progiramme. We
terminal at its opening in also sponsored volunteers from
November 2005. the Shanghai Youth Volunteer
Association to assist the
We also undertook several development of villages in
initiatives to streamline and Yunnan. In Jun2 2005, our
expand our barging operations employees made donations and
along the Yangzi River and Pearl deliveries of holusehold items to
River Delta, which provided us with residents in Guizhou province. .
a cost advantage and improved our In November 2C05, we worked | The 4,918 TEU APL ris was the ﬁkst ‘;'ésse\ to berth on
inter-modal connections with line- with the Shanghiai Children's ‘ the opening of the new Yangshan facility on November 30
haul vessels. Hospital to advance our Leukaemia ‘ 2005, The first container was loaded to truck within an

. hour of berthing.
Care project. P e

Ratification of the US/China

Maritime Bilateral Agreement During 2006 we will further 2006. Foreign direct investment
in May 2005 has boosted our invest in terminals and inter- into China Is expected to further
strategy to develop coastal hubs modal operations, to deepen our boost manufacturing output,
in Northern, Eastern and Southern service capabilities, provide a giving impetus to exports and an
China, as well as a downstream cost advantage, and enable our economy which is increasingly
river hub, customers’ cargoes to flow as demanding world-class logistics
efficiently as possible. services and global connectivity.
Our businesses have been given :
greater flexibility to expand our Looking ahead, fundamentals The Group is well-positioned to
offices network, manage their remain strong for the Greater leverage orf its depth of experience
own assets and form strategic China region with further strong and breadth of services to expand

partnerships. Our network of economic growtn predicted for further in Greater China.



Regional Report

John Bowe
Regional President, Americas

The Americas

Our businesses improve freight
flows despite infrastructure

issues and weather extremes.

|
|
ﬁ
|

NOL Group’s Americas region performed
well in 2005, making aJstrong
contribution to our global liner and

logistics activities.

In 2005, our Americas team
tackled the continuing issue
of congestion head-on, as well
as the disruption caused hy
major weather events such as
Hurricane Katrina.

We were leaders in the ongoing
efforts to find industry solutions
to the unacceptable costs of
congestion. APL deployed vessels
away from affected ports and
introduced new technology for
locating containers at Global
Gateway South in Long Beach, to
provide savings of around US$4
million annually. We supported
industry initiatives such as the
introduction of ‘PierPass’ at LA

Lor‘wg Beach and the employment of

mc‘rre labour at key facilities.

|

|
- We upsized existing vessels on the

New York Express Service (NYX)

to :accommodate the needs of

ou’ customers for more all-water
cabacity to the United States East
Co%st. The APL New York
coquenced services in May (see
phatograph at right) and APL
Viréinia in June 2005, Both vessels
ha'T/e nominal capacity of more than
5,000 TEUs.

We‘ welcomed many new customers
during the year. This included
contracts to provide consolidation

services for one of the world's

| CUSTOMER SOLUTIONS: High-speed High-tech

In a changing business environment, our high-tech customers need speed-to-market

and efficiency. Our services such as Merge in Transit (MI'Ii) help make ‘just in time’
“ a reatity, while Vendor Managed Inventory (VMI) and superior IT support ensure
. smooth flow of goods.

:i By improving flexibility, and reducing costs, our tailored sdpply chain services help
. our high-tech customers stay ahead. H

|
|
|
l
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largest appare! distributors,
logistics services for a new high-
technology plant in North Carolina
and warehousing services in

Latin America for several global
consumer goods companies. Our
strengths in customer service were
recognised with four awards for
Supplier of the Year and one for
Distinguished Service.

On behalf of customers, our
businesses responded effectively
to the weather extremes
experienced in the United States
in 2005. In December, Hurricane
Katrina closed down significant
parts of the intermodal system
and damaged key infrastructure

around New Crleans. As well as
meeting comrnercial challenges
for customers, we supported
relief efforts by transporting many
containers free-of-charge at this
time of natioral need.

2005 saw a continuing focus

on supporting the freight needs

of the United States Government,
a major customer. We contributed
to the revitalisation of the US

Flag merchant: fleet when nine US
Flagged vessels moved to be under
the operation of our subsidiary, APL
Maritime Ltd from October 2005.

The year ahead will see
renovations a: Middle Harbor and

APL New York sails into its namesake harbour on its maiden
voyage in May 2005. The vessel is part of the New York
Express Service providing speed and reliability for
time-sensitive high fashion products between Asia and

the United States East Coast.

the introduction of optical character
recognitién technology in selected
terminal facilities. Our US Flag
fleet, now under direct APL control,
will be active in meeting the needs
of key customers such as the
United States Government.

In 20086, ;we expect continuing
pressure;on our cost structure in
areas such as fuel, and rail and
truck tran;sportation. There wilt
be competitive pressure in the
wake of ihdustry consolidation.
However,'our Americas regional
businessi is well-positioned to
meet these challenges through
our excellence in customer
service and strong brands.




Regional Report

David Appleton
Regional President, Europe
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Europe

APL and APL Logistics pursue

new growth opportunities. |

J

For most of 2005, our European
operations experienced positive

trading conditions.

Expectations of overall capacity
growth in liner services caused
some pressure on rates in the
fourth quarter.

The Trans-Atlantic trade remained
stable and strong in 2005,
although marked by relatively low
growth and further consolidation.
We were active in winning new
business as customers took

steps to re-allocate cargoes and
diversify risk in the wake of a
number of mergers in both the
liner and logistics segments. In
2005 we kept customers’ freight
generally flowing smoothly as ports
responded to the congestion issues
of 2004 with improved planning,
more labour, and investment in

ci:limate control technology and container design.

|

|

|
equipment, and technology to
mitigate bottienecks.

|
APL e;md APL Logistics made
excellent progress in implementing
our Ic‘mg-term strategy to increase
direct contact with customers in
a nurhber of rapidly developing
econlomies in the East. This saw
us move away from third-party
arrar‘.‘gements to establish our
own egﬁices in the Russian Far
East,Jiand Poland, as well as
Ireland and a flagship logistics
facilif‘.y in Turkey. These changes
will énable us to offer our full
rangé of customer service
capabilities and IT tools and deliver
a brcader and better experience

for ClTlstomers.

| }
CUSTOMER SOLUTIONS: Fristine Perisha}bles

We work with our customers at every stage of the perishablés supply chain; from
source-loading of produce straight into refrigerated containe‘rs, to use of leading-edge

1

As a recoghised specialist in refrigerated and climate controflled cargo, our expertise

I‘(eeps our customers’ produce fresh, from field to plate.
i
|
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In November 2005, APL Logistics

formed a joint venture with
Christian Salvesen. Known as

Holistica Solutions, this business

combines the Asian expertise
and international supply chain
management expertise of APL

Logistics with the strong Western

Europe footprint of Christian
Salvesen to offer major retail

customers a single lens across the

whole supply chain.

The industry leading status of

In 20086, we are planning for
further rapid growth to meet

the needs of ustomers in
developing Ezstern markets. This
will be balanced by the impact of
consolidation, and some pressure
on rates asscciated with new liner
capacity coming on stream.

The European Union has
recommended that by 2009
member states end the legislative
arrangements (Block Exemption 40,
56) that enable liner conferences.

: Keeping tabs; An APL Logistics employee on site at a
customer facility in the United Kingdom (above) prepares
customer shipment iabels. Technology for tracking cargoes
and improving supply chain visibility for customers formed a
significant part of NOL Group's US$27 million investment in
information technology during 2005. APL containers (below)
are a cormmon sight across Europe.

APL and APL Logistics in Europe
was affirmed with Shipping Line
of the Year Awards received from
Lloyd’s List and International
Freighting Weekly (IFW) in London
during the year.

APL will continue to support the
efforts of the European Liner Affairs
Association to maintain the ability
of liner operaiors to have trade
agreements as we believe this
supports statility in the industry.




Community & Environment

NOL is a global business
providing socially useful
services that contribute
to the business success
of our customers and the
economic well-being of
whole countries.

With more than 12,000 employees
in nearly 50 countries we touch
many communities.

In 2005, the NOL Group, its
operating businesses and
employees made a particular
difference in the aftermath

of several natural disasters.

We continued our support for
targetec community development
activities, and emphasised good
employer, sound governance
and environmental responsibility
principles within our business.

Responding to emergencies

In a year that saw the advent and
aftermath of natural calamities
such as the Indian Ocean tsunami,
Hurricanie Katrina and the Pakistan
earthquake, NOL Group was able
to use the resources at our
disposal to make a difference

in the lives of people in affected
areas. Whether it was relocating
aid containers free-of-charge
around New Orleans, distributing
containers of clothing, shelter, food
and toys following the Indian Ocean
tsunami, or distributing tents in
Pakistan, the Group mobilised its
expertise in logistics.

Our employees also showed
generosity of spirit through fund-
raising efforts and in volunteering
their time to organise and deliver
the various aid initiatives.

Contributing to communities

In 2004, NOL Group established
the Beyond Boundaries Trust Fund
to facilitate the Group’s support
for community programmes in
Singapore. In 2005, this was
complemented with the setting
up of the Neptune Global Trust to
achieve a global reach.

Fulfilling its role as a good
corporate citizen, the Group
supported national level activities
such as the Singapore National
Day Parade, Singapore Arts
Festival and Sailability World Inc —
a sailing organisation for the
disabled (supported by APL
Singapore since 2001). Our
offices in Malaysia and France
sponsored local Sailability teams
to help with the purchase of boats
and equipment for competitions
and regular practices. NOL Group
employees in each location
volunteered their own time to
assist at the sailing events.

A broad range of support

for community development
initiatives saw sponsorship for
activities as diverse as Refugees
International and the College
Women's Association in Japan,
tuition and books for students in
Cambodia and remote provinces
of China, support for educational
programmes in Oakland, United
States, practical assistance for
a children’s home in St Petersburg,
a child cycling safety programme
in Vietnam, and Christmas
collections for needy members

\
of the‘l community in & number
of Iocjalities including Singapore.
Group CEQ David Lim led
Sing%pore-based employees in
a visi';t to the Cheshire Home
for senior citizens on one of the

l, .
Group's community visits.

In 2005 the Group committed

toa c;‘ontribution of $$10 million

over iO years to establish the
NOL Fellowship at the National
University of Singapore. The

aim is to develop a high quality,
multiﬁisciplinary programme of
research to enhance knowledge
and e-:xpertise in the field of global
cargo transportation and logistics.
The fund was officially launched in

\
early 2006.

Envirlonmental responsibility
Preve:nting damage to marine
habitz‘ats and reducing fuel
emis$ions have been pivotal to
the NOL Group’s approach to

-
environmental management. In

many:instances the Group has
instigated projects well in advance
of intérnational regulations and
policy“. The ship management arms
of NCJL have been early adopters of
a broad range of risk management,
quality and environmental
protection regimes, including

the I$O9001 quality standards,
the Irternational Safety
Mana:gement (ISM) Code, and
I1S014001 certification for
envircjmmental management.

In 20‘05, the NOL Group rolied out
a rangée of initiatives to further
reduqe impact on the environment.
This inctuded installing a system
of biiée primary tanks on board
vesséls to supplement existing
oily wjater separators, painting
ships“' bottoms with non-leaching
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The aftermath: The NOL Group and our employees supperted local communities following several natural calamities during the year. Pictured

from left: APL delivered fibregiass tents to remote regions of Pakistan for relief housing following the earthquake; APL Logistics’ Ken Tan,
pictured with children made homeless by the tsunami, was part of t1e Singapore reiief team to Banda Aceh; APL employees and equipment in

action in this Grand Lakes clothing drive to

and biocide-free anti-fouling

silicon paint as part of a continuing
programme, and testing a
shipboard ballast water treatment
system well in advance of possible
legislation in 2009.

Our fleet’s sulphur emission levels
have reduced by an average of
0.2% per annum and now stand
at 3.2%, well below the 4.5% level
mandated by Annex VI '

of MARPOL 73/78.

Developing our people

The Group is committed to
investing in the development of
staff. In 2005, a pilot Management
Development Programme brought
25 emerging executives from
across the globe to Singapore.
The programme, jointly developed
with the Singapore Management
University, helped participants
develop a range of practical
skills and explore emerging
business concepts. Participants
benefited from close interaction
with each other and regular
discussions with senior NOL
management ‘mentors’. The
entry-level Global Management
Trainee Programme continued to
attract young high-calibre graduates
into the organisation.

aid those affected by Hurricane Katrina.

Our offices across the globe
have been active in deploying
training programmes to enhance
skills and impart new knowledge.
Our programm:2s enhance skills
in areas as diverse as leading
people, innovation and creativity,
sales processes, effective
writing and presentations, and
improving personal effectiveness
in business environments.

Looking ahead, the Group has
developed a series of executive
education programmes in
collaboration with reputable
business schools {effective

from 2008) to develop promising
leaders within the organisation
and ensure a strong and active
‘pipeline’ of ta ent within the
NOL Group. )

The Group recognises work-life
balance as an important part of
maintaining a positive working
environment. Fecreationat
activities, such as team sports,
family days, and a range of social
activities are organised by offices
across the globe through in-house
recreational clubs and the Group
supports an active employee
volunteer programme.

The Group's contribution
of $$10 million over

10 years to the NOL
Fellowship is aimed

at developing a high
quality, multi-disciplinary
programme of research
to enhance knowledge
and expertise in the
field of global cargo
transportation

and logistics.
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Corporate Governance

The Bozrd of Directors (“the Board”) is committed to ensuring that the highest standard of corporate governance is practised
throughout Neptune Orient Lines Limited (“NOL" or “the Company”) and its subsidiaries (coll}gctively known as “the Group”).
This is fundamental to the discharge of its responsibilities to protect and enhance shareholdbr value and to ensure
transparency in reporting the financial performance of the Group. In its support of the Code df Corporate Governance (“the
Code”} as annexed to the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limitéd (“SGX-ST"}, the Board has
established various self-regulatory and monitoring mechanisms to ensure that effective corporate governance is practised.

Outlined below are the policies, processes and practices adopted by the Group in compliancé with the principles and spirit of
the Code. |

1 Board of Directors
Responsibilities
The Board delegates day-tc-day operations of the Group to Management.

It also delegates specific responsibilities to six Board Committees (Nominating, Executi\)e, Audit, Executive Resource and
Compensation, Enterprise Risk Management, and Approval Committees), details of which are set out in paragraph 4
below. These Committees have the authority to examine particular issues and report baék to the Board with their
recommendations, where appropriate. The ultimate responsibility for the final decision on all matters, however, lies with
the entire Board.

Matters which are specifically reserved for decision of the full Board include those involv‘ing corporate plans and budgets,
material acquisitions and disposals of assets, corporate or financial restructuring, share’ issuances, dividends and other
returns to shareholders.

Major investments or expenditures, other than operational expenditures that are requireﬂ-j:j in the normal course of
business and that are in line with Board-approved Business Plan and Budget, are subject to the approvai of the
Executive Committee and/or the Board.

Board Composition .
in 2005, two independent directors, Mr Timothy Harris and Mr Peter Wagner, were appoidted to the Board.
They will be standing for re-election at the Company’s Annual General Meeting (“AGM”") in April 2006.

NOL has 11 directors, 10 of whom are non-executive (including the Chairman) and are independent. The executive
director is the Group Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”). Collectively, the directors contribufé a range of relevant skills,
including accounting, iegal, finance, human resource, business, management, industry knowledge, strategic planning and
customer-based experience or knowledge, to the global operations of the Group. Key information on the directors can be
found in the “Board of Directors” section of the Annual Report.

As part of Board renewal, in the appointment of Directors process, the Nominating Committee considers the required mix
of skills and experience of the Board members, including the core competencies of eaca of the Non-Executive Directors.

To comply with the requirement in the Code that all Directors should submit themselves for re-nomination and re-glection
at regular intervals, the Company’s Articles of Association also require the CEO to submit himself for re-nomination
and re-election.

Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman, Mr Cheng Wai Keung, chairs the Board and Executive Committee meetings. He guides the Board in its
discussion on significant issues. In addition, he guides and motivates the Management towards achieving the Group’s
objectives. The CEQ, Mr David Lim, is responsible for the business directions and operational decisions of the Group.
The Chairman and CEQ are not related.




Dirgctors’ Training Needs |
NOL conducts an orientation programme for new Board members to familiarise them with the Group s businesses and
governance practices, including policies on disclosure of interests in securities, proh|bmons on deallng in the Company's
securities and restrictions on disclosure of price-sensit ve information. j,

Directors are at liberty to request for further explanations, briefings or informal dlscussmns on any aspect of the Group’s
operations or business issues from the Management. :’
The Company also arranges for its Board members to te kept abreast of developments in the shipping and logistics
industry through lunch talks and media updates. To keep pace with the fast-changing laws, regulations and commercial
risks, Directors have an on-going budget to receive further relevant training of theilr choice in connection with their duties
as Directors. They are also given unrestricted access tc professionals for consulta:tions as and when they deem
necessary at the expense of the Company. ;
|

Board Performance }

The Board performance evaluation process involves questionnaires being sent out, on an annual basis, to the
Non-Executive Directors to secure their feedback on the effectiveness of the Board as a whole; as well as the
Committees of the Board.

From the comments of Board members, an executive summary is prepared and tabled for discussion by the Nominating
Committee. The salient points, including proposed course of action in response t0 the feedback, are subsequently
tabled for the Board’s information.

Board’s conduct of its affairs ‘
The Board meets at least four times a year, with additional meetings convened asiand when nécessary.
The Articles of Association of the Company allow a Board meeting to be conducted by way of teleconference or

video-conference. During the financial year under review, the Board convened five r;neetings, which were fully attended.

v

The Chairman ensures that Board meetings are held as and when necessary. He also prepares the Board
meeting agenda in consuitation with the CEQ. The Chairman ensures that Board members are provided with
adequate and timely information. Management staff who are involved in the prepa}ation of Board papers,
or who can provide additional insight into the matters to be discussed, are invited to present the papers or
attend the Board meetings.

To address the competing time commitments of Directors, Board and Board Comm%ittee meeting dates are scheduled
in advance, before the beginning of each calendar year. § ‘

Board Committees |
The Company has six Board Commitiees:
(i) Nominating Committee !
(ii) Executive Committee ;
(iii) Audit Committee ! '
(iv) Executive Resource and Compensation Committee !
(v) Enterprise Risk Management Committee
(vi) Approval Committee |

i Nominating Committee (“NC")
The members of the NC are Messrs Ang Kong Hua (who assumed the chalrmansh:p from Mr Cheng Wai Keung on
31 August 2005), Cheng Wai Keung and Connal Rankin (appointed on 31 August 2005), who are Non-Executive and
Independent Directors.




iii

The NC makes recommendations to the Board on all Board appointments and re- appomtments It also decides on
the appointments of the members of the various Board Committees.

During the financial year, the NC had three meetings. Full attendance was recorded for the meetings.

Executive Committee (“Exco”)
The Exco comprises three Non-Executive and Independent Directors, Messrs Ang Kong Hua, Friedbert Malt and
Cheng Wai Keung, and one Executive Director (Mr David Lim). Mr Cheng chairs the Committee.

The Exco is delegated with ali the powers of the Board to conduct and supervise thg“ business of the Company

and its staff. Its responsibilities include: providing overall strategic direction to the Management and guiding
development policies and strategies for the Group; reviewing and approving business transactions recommended

by Management subject to a limit of US$100 million per transaction; reviewing and fecommending major business
transactions for the Board's approval, wherever required; reviewing and monitoring the financial performance and
progress of the Group; and evaluating the performance and determining the employinent terms and compensation
for the Executive Director. Over and above the general functions described above, tﬁé Exco may from time to time be
delegated powers by the Board to oversee specific matters and/or projects.

The Exco held five meetings during the financial year and these were fully attended 2xcept for one where a member
was absent. ;

Audit Committee (“AC”")

The AC consists of four Non-Executive Directors, all of whom are independent. Chair‘ed by Mr Willie Cheng, the other
three members of the Committee are Mr Christopher Lau, Mr Robert Holland, Jr (appomted on 26 April 2005) and Mr
Peter Wagner (appointed on 16 May 2005).

The AC is authorised by the Board to investigate any activity within its terms of refe(Fnce. It has unrestricted access
to information refating to the Group, to both the internal and external auditors, and i‘To the Management and staff. it
has full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer to attend its meetings. I' is also authorised by the Board

to obtain external lega! or other independent professional advice as necessary and at the expense of the Group.

The AC’s duties include:

(@) Reviewing with the external auditors the audit plan, the scope of the audits, thé evaluation of the internal
accounting controls, the audit reports and any matters which the external auditors wish to discuss (in the
absence of Management, where necessary); ‘

(b) Reviewing the cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the external auditors. Where the
auditors also supply a substantial volume of non-audit services to the Group, the AC keeps the nature and
extent of such services under review, seeking to balance the maintenance of o3Jjectivity and value for money;

{c) Reviewing with the internal auditors the internal audit plan, the scope and the resulis of internal audit
procedures and their evaluation of the overall internal control systems. The inﬁérnal control systems include
financial controls, operational and compliance controls and risk management policies and systems established
by the Management. The AC should ensure that a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls is
conducted at least annually. Such review can be carried out by the internal and/or public accountants, provided
that where the public accountant is also the external auditor of the Company, the AC should satisfy itself
that the independence of the public accountant is not compromised by any other material relationship
with the Group.

(d) Reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit function;




(e) Reviewing the assistance given by the Group's officers to the auditors; |
|

(f) Reviewing the significant financial reporting issues and judgements to ensure the mtegrlty of the financial
statements of the Group; ‘

(g) Reviewing the Group’s quarterly and year-end financial statements prior to subm|sston to the Board and/or
release to SGX-ST, focusing on:
~ going concern assumption ‘
- compliance with accounting and regulatory requirements
- any changes in accounting policies and practices
~ significant issues arising from the ‘audit
- major judgemental areas;

i
i
i
|
\
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|
|
1
i
|
|
»

(h) Making recommendations to the Board on the ajpointment, re-appointmer{t and removal of the external auditors,
and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors;

P

(iy Meeting with the external auditors, and with the internal auditors, without fhe presence of the Management, at
least annually; ‘

() Reviewing arrangements by which staff of the Group may, in confidence, raise concerns about possibie
improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters. The AC’s objective should be to ensure that
arrangements are in place for the independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up action;

(k) Monitoring Interested Person Transactions and conflict of interest situatioqs that may arise within the Group
including any transaction, procedure or course of action that raises questiéns of management integrity. The AC
is also required to ensure that Directors report such transactions quarte‘r!y’ via SGX-ST duarterly announcements
and annually to shareholders via the Annual Report;

() Undertaking any other functions agreed by the AC and the Board.

The AC conducts an annual review of the independence and objectivity of PricewaterhouseCoopers, the Company's
external auditors. For FY 2005, the AC undertook a review of the volume of ndn-audit services provided by the
external auditors to assess whether the nature and extent of those services rriight prejudice the independence and
objectivity of the auditors. The AC was satisfied that such services did not afféct the independence of the external
auditors. The AC also reviewed the cost-effectiveness of the audit conducted by the external auditors.

The AC convened four meetings during the financial year with full attendance from all members. In attendance at
these meetings were the Group Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ"), Group Chief Financial Officer (“CFQ") and Group
Internal Auditor. The external auditors attend these meetings, where required.

Internal Audit (“IA") ;
The IA's functions include assisting the AC and the 3oard in the evaluation of the internal controls financial and
accounting matters, compliance, business and finaricial risk management. The |A reports dxrectly to the Chairman of
the AC on audit matters, and to the CEO on administrative matters. i !

|
The AC reviews |A's reports on a quarterly basis. Thiz AC also reviews and approves the annual (A plan and resources.
The AC is satisfied that |A has adequate resources o perform its functions, aﬁd has apprdpriate standing within

the Company.

The Group Internal Auditor is @ member of The Institute of Internal Auditors, Ing. (“A™), and has adopted the
Standards for Professional Practice of Internal Auditing set by the HA.
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Executive Resource and Compensation Committee (“ERCC")
The ERCC performs three critical roles in support of sound Corporate Governance orinciples in the area of executive
reward management:

e It ensures compliance with the Singapore Code of Corporate Governance in the area of executive and
Board compensation;

e In particular, it recommends to the Board a framework of remuneration for the Board and members of the senior
executive team;

e It has responsibility to ensure that appropriate recruitment, development and succession planning programmes
are in place for the senior executives.

The ERCC is chaired by Mr Connal Rankin, an Independent and Non-Executive Dire¢tor. The other members, who are
also Non-Executive and Independent, are Mr Cheng Wai Keung, Dr Friedbert Malt, Mr Yasumasa Mizushima
(appointed on 26 April 2005) and Mr Timothy Harris (appointed on 16 May 2005).

In its delivery of the three critical roles listed above, the principal responsibilities of the ERCC include:

Endorsement of the reward philosophy, strategy and guiding principles relevant‘to NOL senior executives;
Authorisation of all remuneration arrangements that involve the issuance of shares,

Overall market positioning of the remuneration packages, individual base satar!es and increases;
Benefit entitlements (including retirement and pension arrangements); ‘

Service contracts for senior executives;

Recruitment specifications and appointments;

Development assignments;

e & & & 5 ¢ o o

Succession criteria and candidates.
In framing the Group's remuneration policy, the ERCC receives advice from external' consuitants.
Five meetings were convened by the ERCC during the financial period, with full attendance.

The remuneration for the Executive Director includes salary, bonus, share options, pen‘ormance shares and other
emoluments, while that for Non-Executive Directors includes directors’ fees and other emoluments. Other
emoluments (including benefits-in-kind) are computed based on the cost incurred by the Group and the Company.

NOL Executive Remuneration Policy !

The NOL remuneration strategy and policy was designed to ensure a strong linkage, between company performance
and individual reward elements. All policy matters on senior executive reward come under the purview of the ERCC.
For employees in the senior management group, their total annual remuneration is/managed within a “total rewards”
framework. This reward framework is benchmarked against the external market that includes the Company’s
competitive market for talent, worldwide. Pay surveys, conducted by external consultants are used to verify that the
packages are competitively positioned.

Annual incentive bonuses are linked to the achievement of overall corporate, busin;ess unit and individual objectives.
Both stock options and performance shares are awarded on the basis of meeting étretch financial goals, key
performance indicators and the demonstration of leadership competencies.

By aggressively managing the fixed cost elements of remuneration, such as salarie:s and benefits, the Group retains
the necessary flexibility to stay competitive in a cyclical industry. This also enablesi\NOL to adjust pay-at-risk
components (such as bonuses and share plans) to appropriately reward, motivate énd retain the top talent that it
needs to drive success.



Enterprise Risk Management Committee (“ERMC")

The ERMC was established on 11 August 2005 for the purpose of guiding an
management capability within the NOL Group. Chaired by Mr Robert Holland,
Messrs Christopher Lau, Timothy Harris and Peter Wagner.

In 2005, the ERMC convened one meeting which was fully attended.

vi  Approval Committee

!
1 providing direction on building up risk

Jr, the other n"members of the ERMC are

The Approval Committee was established to endorsie operational and procedural matters such as the appointment

of proxies to attend Annual General Meetings in subsidiaries and associated
powers of attorney relating to appointment of agentss to handie the business
authorise the affixing of the corporate seal.

The Committee currently consists of the Chairman and CEO, whose approvals

resolutions-in-writing.

5 Communication with Shareholders

The Group values dialogue with its investors. The CEO and CFO hold discussions
upon the announcement of the Company’s second quarter and financial year-end

companies within the Group, grant
perations of the Group, and to

i ,
are sought by way of

with the new$ media and analysts
:results to the SGX-ST. Presentations are

made, as appropriate, to explain the Group’s strategy, performance and major devielopments. However, any information
that may be regarded as undisclosed material information about the Group will ndt be given, without it being announced

through SGXNET.

The Group has an investor relations team which communicates with its investors

on a regular basis and attends to

b
their queries. All registered shareholders of the Company receive the Annual Report and Notices of General Meetings.
The Notices are also advertised in the newspaper and made available on the Cofﬁpany’s website: www.nol.com.sg.

Each shareholder of the Company may appoint up to two proxies to attend and vo

on a show of hands, only one proxy could vote.

y

te in place of the shareholder. However,

At each Annual General Meeting (“AGM™), the Board presents the progress and performance of the business and

encourages shareholders to participate in the question and answer session. The
ERCC and ERMC, and external auditors are available tc respond to shareholders’

!
CEO and Chairmen of the NC, Exco, AC,
guestions during the meeting.

Each item of special business included in the Notice of AGM is accompanied by a full explanation of the effects of

a proposed resolution. Separate resolutions are proposed for substantially separ

Dealings in Securities

The Group has adopted internai codes in relation to the dealing of the Company's

Group are prohibited from trading in the Company’s securities during the relevant

ate issues at the meeting.

securities. Directors and officers of the
blackout period prior to the

announcement of the Company’'s quarterly and full year results, in accordance with the guidelines set out by the SGX-ST
from time to time. They are also not expected to deal in the Company’s securities" on considerations of a short-term
nature. In addition, Directors and officers of the Company are required, at all timefs, to observe the insider trading rules

outlined in the Securities and Futures Act.
To enable the Company to monitor such transactions, Directors and officers of th
the Company Secretary within 24 hours of any dealing in the Company's securitie

Directors are disclosed publicly within the stipulated notice period.

Interested Person Transactions

e Company ajre required to report to
;. All securities transactions reported by
! I

The Company has also put in place an internal procedure to track interested persfon transactigns (“IPTs") of the
Company. The Corporate Finance Department is in charge of keeping a register of the Company's iPTs. All IPTs are

disclosed in the Company's Annual Report.




Interested Person Transactions

For the Financial Year Ended 30 December 2005

Aggregate value of all transactions conducted under a shareholders’ 2005 2004
mandate pursuant to Rule 920 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual uUss’000 Us$’000
Transactions for the Purchase of Goods and Services

Keppel Shipyard Limited and its associates 9,369 -
PSA Corporation Limited and its associates 88,108 91,904
Sembcorp Marine Ltd and its associates 1,317 1,686
Transactions for the Leasing-in of Assets

Sembcorp Marine Ltd and its associates 3,802 3,752
Aggregate value of all transactions during the financial year under review (exciuding

transactions conducted under a shareholders’ mandate pursuant to Rule 920 of the 2005 2004
SGX-ST Listing Manual) pursuant to Rule 907 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual US$'000 US$’000
Transactions for the Sale of Goods and Services

CWT Distribution Limited and its associates - 1,511
Keppe!l Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd and its associates 1,073 1,498
PSA Corporation Limited and its associates 1,575 881
Sembcorp Industries Limited and its associates 239 100
Sembcorp Marine Ltd and its associates 251 2,363
SNP Corporation Ltd and its associates 110 -
Transactions for the Purchase of Goods and Services

Capitaland Limited and its associates - 114
Keppel Telecommunications & Transportation Ltd and its associates 667 668
Pacific Internet Limited and its associates* - 119
PSA Corporation Limited and its associates** 15,763 15,852
Singapore Petroleum Company Limited and its associates 32,466 18,870
Treasury Transactions

SembCorp Marine Ltd and its associates*** - 32,128

The above relates to cumulative value of transactions (inclusive of GST) more than S$100,QpO.

* Purchases from subsidiary of Pacific Internet Limited (Safe2Travel Pte Ltd), which ceased to be an Interested Person of the Group

from the third quarter of 2005.
**  |ncludes purchases from subsidiaries of PSA International Pte Ltd.

*** Purchase of all the Fixed Rate Junior Mortgage-backed Bonds Due 2009 issued by Chenab investments Ltd from SembCorp Marine Ltd.




Analysis of Shareholding

As at 6 March 2006

Issued and Fuily Paid-Up Capital:
Number of Shares Issued:

Class of Shares:

Voting Rights:

$$1,560,499,174
1,455,833,5:40
Ordinary Shares
One Vote Per Shére

¢

Number of % of

‘Number of
Size of Shareholdings Shareholders Shareholders shares % of Shares
1-999 355 2.37 140,736 0.01
1,000 - 10,000 13,175 87.}74 42,007,443 2.88
10,001 - 1,000,000 1,463 9.?4 59,391,995 4.08
1,000,001 & Above 23 0.15 1,35?1,293,366 93.03
Total 15,016 100.00 1,455,833,540 100.00
| ;

t jNumber of % of

Breakdown of Shareholders i Shares Shares
Local ‘ 1,135,326,388 77.98
Foreign 320,507,152 22.02
Top 20 Registered Shareholders ;‘Number of % of
as at 6 March 2006 Shares Shares
DBS Trustee Ltd 585,192,970 40.20
Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited 383,465,362 26.34
DBS Nominees Pte Ltd 94,989,749 6.52
Raffles Nominees Pte Ltd 75,075,352 5.16
HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd ! 49,260,270 3.38
Citibank Nominees S'pore Pte Ltd 49,210,606 3.38
DBSN Services Pte Ltd 26,973,417 1.85
Startree Investments Pte Ltd 24,871,000 1.71
DB Nominees (S) Pte Ltd 14,784,000 1.02
United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 13,217,389 0.91
Merrill Lynch (S'pore) Pte Ltd 5,859,318 0.40
UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd ‘ 4,605,000 0.32
Gan Teck Yeow Sdn Bhd 4,500,000 0.31
Macquarie Securities (S) Pte Ltd 21,441,987 0.31
Morgan Stanley Asia (S’pore) Securities Pte Ltd 3,393,659 0.23
0CBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 3,386,351 0.23
Societe Generale S'pore Branch 2,153,752 0.15
Lo Kai Leong @ Loh Kai Leong 1,892,000 0.13
OCBC Securities Private Ltd 1,862,468 0.13
Phillip Securities Pte Ltd | 1,458,716 0.10
Total | 1,350,593,366 92.78
1 Direct Deemed

Substantial Shareholder Interest Interest™

Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited

* The deemed interest was held through the substantial shareholder's associated and

Shareholding in the Hands of the Public

383,465,:362 611,068,970

/or subsidiary companies.

The percentage of shareholding in the hands of the public is approximately 31.64% aqd hence the Company has complied
with Rule 723 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual, which states that an issuer must ensure that at least:10% of its equity

securities is at all times held by the public.

|




Key Executives

As at 28 February 2006 ‘

The following information covering NOL Group’s Key Executives, as required by Rule 1207(4)(c) supplements the details
provided on page 7 of this Annual Report for Executive Director David Lim.

Corporate Executives
Cedric Foo, Group Deputy President and President Asia/Middle East, NOL Group
Cedric Foo was appointed Group Deputy President of the NOL Group in April 2005, overseeing% the Group’s interests in
strategic planning, strategic investment, business development and risk management. In Octgber 2005 he assumed the
additional responsibilities of President Asia/Middle East.

il
Prior to joining NOL, Mr Foo was Singapore's Minister of State in both the Ministry of Defence;iand the Ministry for National
Development. He served as Senior Vice President at Singapore Airlines from 2000 to 2002. [\'/Ir Foo previously worked at
NOL from 1985 to 2000, and was Executive Vice President of Corporate Finance from 1997 fo 2000. A Member of
Singapore's Parliament since November 2001, Mr Foo is also Chairman of SPRING (Standards Productivity and Innovation
Board) Singapore, a position he has held since April 2003.

Mr Foo holds a Bachelor of Science in Engineering, (Nava!l Architecture and Marine Engineering) from the University of
Michigan, and a Master of Science (Ocean Systems Management) from Massachusetts Institite of Technology (MIT).
He is based at NOL Group’s head office in Singapore.

Patricia Leung, Chief Financial Officer, NOL Group ’
Patricia Leung joined the NOL Group as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) in May 2005. Ms Leung was previously CFO of Hong Kong-
based Pacific Century Premium Development, the property arm of Pacific Century Cyberworks\(PCCW) She was also CFO of the
Multimedia Unit of PCCW.

Before joining Pacific Century, she spent nine years with the Hutchison Group in Hong Kong i m a variety of financial and
leadership roles in the telecommunications area, including Executive Director of Hutchison Telecommumcatlon (Hong Kong)
and Managing Director of Hutchison Communications.

Prior to moving to Hong Kong in 1989, Ms Leung worked for IBM in Singapore and Australia znd later, Compagq, in finance and
accounting roles. She holds a Bachelor’'s degree in Accounting, Finance and Computing from f(he West Australian Institute

of Technology and a Master of Commerce degree in Finance, Management and Marketing froin the University of New South
Wales. She is based in NOL Group’s head office in Singapore.

Cindy Stoddard, Chief information Officer, NOL Group

Cindy Stoddard's responsibilities as Chief Information Officer for the NOL Group include overseeing strategy development,
design and implementation of a wide range of information systerﬁs and processes, to streamline and standardise day-to-day
business processes for the Group's customers worldwide.

Ms Stoddard joined NOL Group in 2001, as Vice President/Chief Information Officer of Enterprise Shared Services,
responsible for all NOL Group information technotogy support such as computer operations, telecommunications, networking,
messaging, security, Systems architecture and database management. She has more than 29 years’ experience as an IT
professional, specialising in the transportation and logistics field.

Previously Senior Vice President and Chief Information Officer with Circle International, Ms Stoddard has worked as Vice
President and Director of Information Services for Emery Worldwide, a subsidiary of CNF, a U3$2.4 billion worldwide airfreight
integrator and freight forwarder. Prior to that, she worked for Consolidated Freightways in 1981 as a systems analyst. She is
based in Oakland, California.

Kuok Lay Hoon, Chief Kuman Resources Officer, NOL Group
Kuok Lay Hoon joined the NOL Group in January 2006 as Chief Human Resources Officer. She is responsible for developing
human resources policies and practices across NOL and its operating companies globally.

Before joining NOL, Ms Kuok spent 11 years in the financial services sector with the JPMorgan Group, where she held a range
of senior human resources positions, including most recently, Head of Human Resources JPMorgan Asia Pacific. She spent the
early part of her career in industrial relations with Singapore’s National Trade Union Congress.

Ms Kuok holds a Bachelor of Business Administration qualification from the National University of Singapore. She has lived
and worked in New York, Hong Kong and Tokyo as well as Singapore. She is based in NOL Group's head office in Singapore.




Business Executives

Ron Widdows, Chief Executive Officer, APL
Ron Widdows has nearly 35 years’ experience in the shipp ng industry, including more than 25 years with APL, As CEO of APL
since January 2003, Mr Widdows has responsiblity for the commercial, financial and operational aetivities of the APL liner
organisation. Mr Widdows has held senior executive roles in Asia, the United States and Canada, With a particular focus on
operations.

In his previous role as Executive Vice President of Global Operations & Network, Mr Wrddows was responsible for the day-to-
day operations of NOL Group's APL liner business including the line-haul and feeder ﬂeets global equrpment management,
procurement, terminals and alliance refationships. ‘
In 1998, Mr Widdows was appointed Senior Vice President responsible for APL Americas Operations and Logistics, which
included management of US West Coast terminal operator company Eagle Marine Ser}vices and the Stacktrain Services
subsidiary. He was named APL Senior Vice President, Liner Operations in 1999 and then Executive Vice President in 2001.

Mr Widdows is based at NOL Group's head office in Singapore.

Brian Lutt, President, APL Logistics s

Brian Lutt was appointed President of APL Logistics in Octcber 2005 and is responsidle for overseeing the Company’s logistics
operations and managing the growth of APL Logistics globally. He has worked with thei NOL Group since 1983. Prior to his
current appointment, Mr Lutt was NOL's Regional President - Asia/Middle East, respoﬁsible for the Group’s liner and logistics
business operations in this key geography. :

Before moving to Singapore in 2003, Mr Lutt was based in Shanghai as the Presidentl Greater China managing the Group’s

liner business operations and developing strategy for APL Logistics' expansion in the Greater Chma market and was previously
Senior Vice President - Asia-Europe responsible for trade management teams in Smgapore and London

l i
Mr Lutt has also managed business units in South East and North Asia during his career holding a variety of senior
management positions in Singapore, Thailand and Japan. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in !nternat|ona| Relations/Political
Economics from San Francisco State University. He is currently based in NOL Group's Head Office |n Singapore.
David Appleton, President, Europe, NOL Group ‘ ;
David Appleton was appointed President, Europe in 2004 and is responsible for overseemg NOL Group activities and long-term
growth in both container transportation and end-to-end suply chain services in the Eu'rope region and the former Soviet Union.
Previously he held the roles of President APL Europe and Vice President, Sales and Marketlng APL Europe. Prior to that he
was responsible for the Trans-Atlantic trade management team, located in London and New Jersey

Mr Appleton has more than 25 years experience in the transport industry. Prior to joiniing APL in 1999, he spent 12 years
with Sea-Land Service where he held a variety of senior management positions, including general manager and managing
director roles in the United States, UK and Ireland and the former Soviet Union. Durmg this time, he was also involved
with management of joint venture activities in Russia and a ship owning entity in the UK Mr Appleton holds a B.Sc.
Honours Degree in Maritime Studies and is a Member of the Chartered Institute of Loglstrcs and Transport He is based
in Uxbridge, UK. i
|

John Bowe, President, Americas, NOL Group i

John Bowe oversees NOL Group businesses in the US, Canada and Latin America, and is responsmle for operations and
long-term growth in both container transportation and end-t>-end supply chain servrcee in the regrorr.

Mr. Bowe joined APL in 1987 and has more than 30 years' experience in the shipping industry in afwide variety of positions
including regional management, operations and network roles.

Prior 10 being appointed President, Americas in 2004, Mr Bowe was Vice-President ar\q Managing Director for APL in Hong
Kong and South China. He has also served as Vice President, Liner Planning, Vice President, Worldwide Logistics and
Managing Director, West Asia with APL. He is based in Oakland, California. :

Cedric Foo, President, Asia/Middle East, NOL Group | \
Mr Foo's profile is shown above in his role as Group Deputy President. ! i




Business Executives (continued)

Koay Peng Yen, President, Greater China, NOL Group

Koay Peng Yen was appointed President, Greater China in 2004. He leads NOL Group businesses in China, Hong Kong,
Chinese Taiwan and Macau, and is responsible for APL's and APL Logistics’ operations and long-term growth in the region. Mr
Koay was APL's President of Greater Ching since 2003 where he led the company's rapid growf(h in container shipping services
in the region.

Mr Koay began his career with the NOL Group in 1988 and has held a wide range of senior management positions. He was
most recently APL's Senior Vice President of Trans-Pacific Service (2002-2003) hased in Oaklafhd, California, and APL’s Vice
President of Intra-Asia, Middle East and Australia Service (2000-2002), based in Singapore. Iﬁ these positions, Mr Koay was
accountable for growing the trade management and profitability of the largest services for the‘:\Group. Mr Koay was NOL's Vice
President of Corporate Planning (1996-1999), where he participated in developing and executing the Group's strategic plans
and acquisition activities.

He holds a Master of Science in Ocean Systems Management from Massachusetts Institute of Technology, and a Civil
Engineering degree from the National University of Singapore. Mr Koay is based in Shanghai, thina.

Kenneth Glenn, Senior Vice President, South Asia/MD, India, NOL Group
Kenneth Glenn was appointed Senior Vice President, South Asia, and Managing Director, Indiaiin October 2005.
His responsibilities include the NOL Group operations in India, Sri Lanka, Bangladesh and Nepal.

Mr Glenn was previously Senior Vice President of APL's Asia-Europe liner trade. He joined NOL in 2000 from CSX Lines where
he was Chief Commercial Officer.

Mr Glenn has nearly 30 years’ experience in the shipping and maritime industry, including more than 20 years with Sea-Land
Service. He has lived and worked in a wide range of countries including the United States, United Kingdom, Hong Kong, Russia
and Singapore. He is based in Mumbai, India.




Directors’ Remuneration
For the Financial Year Ended 30 December 2005

Number of Directors in Remuneration Bands
Remuneration Bands 2005 2004
US$2,650,000 to US$2,799,999 - 1
US8$2,350,000 to US$2,499,999 1
US$2,050,000 to US$2,199,999 1 -
US$400,000 to US$549,999 1 -
US$100,000 to US$249,999 1 2
Below US$100,000 12 11
15 15

Remuneration Bands for the Directors of the Company

|

Fixed Pay VaLfiabIe Pay
Annual Base  Annual C§sh Equity Other

For the Financial Year Fees Salary Bonus Incentives Benefits Total
Ended 30 December 2005 % % | % % % %
Between US$5$2,050,000 to US$2,199,999 ‘
David Lim Tik En - 27 32 | 39 2 100
Between US$400,000 to US$549,999
Lim How Teck (retired as a Director on 26 April 2005 - 56 - - 44 100
and retired as an executive in June 2005) }
Between US$100,000 to US$249,999
Cheng Wai Keung 62 - - © 36 2 100

; i
Below US$100,000 ?
Friedbert Malt 57 - - 27 16 100
Ang Kong Hua 66 - - P31 3 100
Lock Sai Hung (retired on 26 April 2005) 100 - - - - 100
Yasumasa Mizushima 56 - - © 31 13 100
Timothy James Rhein (retired on 26 April 2005) 80 - - L= 20 100
James Connal Scotland Rankin 63 - - 27 10 100
Willie Cheng Jue Hiang 70 - - P27 3 100
Gan Chee Yen (retired on 26 April 2005) 100 - P b= 100
Robert Holland, Jr 63 - | - 28 9 100
Christopher Lau Loke Sam 66 - - . 30 a4 100
Timothy Charles Harris (appointed on 16 May 2005) 52 - - : 39 9 100
Peter Wagner (appointed on 16 May 2005) 53 - - 36 11 100

|
The total Directors’ Remuneration disclosed under the audited financial statements i§

computed based on the cost incurred

by the Group whereas the above remuneration bands for the Directors of the Company is derived based on the assumptions
|

as detailed below:

1. Variable incentives includes Annual Cash Bonus and Equity Incentives (Share Options and Performance Shares) that
relates to payments/awards for the performance year even though the actual compensation may be realised in different

calendar years.

2. The value of Share Options is derived using the Trinomial Option Valuation Methodplogy, while that of Performance Shares
is derived based on the average closing share price of MOL shares over the five tréding days fo}lowing the third day of the
announcement of the Group’s annual results for financial year 2005.

3. Benefits (including gratuity and aliowances) are based on cost to the Group.

4, Severance and redundancy costs are not included in Remuneration.




Key Executives’ Remuneration |

For the Financial Year Ended 30 December 2005 H

Remuneration Bands for the Top Five Key Management Staff who are not also Directors of the Company

Fixed Pay Variable Pay ‘
Annual Base Annual Cash Equity - Expatriate Other

For the Financial Year Salary Bonus Incentives Benefits Benefits Total
Ended 30 December 2005 % % % % % %
Between US$1,750,000 to US$1,899,999

Ronald Widdows 23 20 38 12 7 100
Between U$$1,300,000 to US$1,449,999

Brian Lutt 21 19 38 16 6 100
Between US$1,150,000 to US$1,299,999

Koay Peng Yen 19 16 32 30 3 100
David Appleton 25 22 42 - i1 100
Robert Sappio 23 23 44 - 10 100

The total remuneration of key management personnel disclosed under the audited financial s‘a;tatements is computed based
on the cost incurred by the Group whereas the above remuneration bands for the Top Five Kefy Management Staff who are not
also Directors of the Company is derived based ¢n the assumptions as detailed below:

1. Variable Incentives includes Annual Cash Bonus and Equity Incentives {Share Options and Performance Shares) that
relates to payments/awards for the performance year even though the actual compensation may be realised in different
calendar years.

2. The value of Share Options is derived using the Trinomial Option Valuation Methodology, vjhile that of Performance Shares
is derived based on the average closing share price of NOL shares over the five trading days following the third day of the
announcement of the Group's annual results for financial year 2005.

3. Expatriate and other Benefits are based on cost to the Group. Expatriate Benefits includé tax equalisation, housing, cost
of living allowances, education benefits, etc. Tax equalisation costs are derived based on best estimates of taxable
income, pending the final tax assessment.

4. Severance and redundancy costs are not included in Remuneration.
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Directors’ Report

For the Financial Year Ended 30 December 2005

The Directors present their report to the members together with the audited financial statements of the Group and
the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company, expressed in United States Dollars, for the
financial year ended 30 December 2005.

Directors

The Directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

Cheng Wai Keung (Chairman)

Friedbert Mait (Vice Chairman)

Ang Kong Hua (Vice Chairman)

David Lim Tik En (Group President & Chief Executive Officer)

Yasumasa Mizushima

James Connal Scotland Rankin

Willie Cheng Jue Hiang

Robert Holland, Jr

Christooher Lau Loke Sam

Timothy Charles Harris (Appointed on 16 May 2005)
Peter Wagner (Appointed on 16 May 2005)




Share Options and Performance Shares

Share options under the NOL Share Option Plan (“NOL SOP") are granted to Directors and employeés of the Group.

These options are granted at the average closing market price of the shares for the thr(fee trading days immediately
preceding the grant date. Individual awards to employees take into consideration the jo:b level, performance and leadership
potential of the employee. Pursuant to the terms of the NOL SOP, share options will veist after a spéciﬂed number of

years from the grant date. |

i ‘
i H
Performance shares under the Performance Share Plan (“PSP") are awarded to key executives conditional upon the Group
meeting or exceeding a prescribed financial target condition during the performance period, and alsb conditional on the
i ‘
participants meeting their performance conditions. Pursuant to the terms of the PSP, performance shares will vest after a

specified number of years from the end of the performance period. |
|

The Executive Resource and Compensation Committee (“ER(C") is responsibie for adnﬁministering the NOL SOP and PSP.
The ERCC currently comprises of five Non-Executive Directors: James Connal Scotland Bankin (Chairman), Cheng Wai Keung,

Friedbert Malt, Yasumasa Mizushima (appointed on 26 April 2005) and Timothy Charles Harris (appointed on 16 May 2005).




Share Options and Performance Shares (continued)

Details of options granted, adjusted, exercised and cancelled (due to staff resignation or expiry of options) under the
NOL SOP during the financial year ended 30 December 2005 were as follows:

Share Options (a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f)

Date option granted 03/05/00 19/10/00 26/03/01 19/10/D1 19/10/01 18/10/02

Exercise period* !
From 03/05/01 19/10/01 26/03/02 19/10/92 19/10/02 18/10/03

To 14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/D5 14/03/05 14/03/05
Exercise price per option S$$1.52 $$1.37 S$$1.30 $$1.00 $$1.00 $$1.00

Number of options
outstanding as at
1 January 2005 10,500 142,000 - 70,000 78,000 277,500

During the financial year
- Options granted? - - - - - -
- Options exercised (500) (112,000) - (70,000) (78,000) (257,500)
— Options cancelled (10,000) (30,000) - - - (20,000)

Balance as at
30 December 2005 - - - - - _

Directors’ Interests:

30 December 2005

— Cheng Wai Keung - - - - - _
- Friedbert Malt - - - - - -
- Ang Kong Hua - - - . - -
— David Lim Tik En - - - - - -
— Yasumasa Mizushima - - - - - -
- James Connal Scotland Rankin - - - - - _
- Willie Cheng Jue Hiang - - - - - -
- Robert Holland, Jr - - - - - -
~ Christopher Lau Loke Sam - - - - - -

* Following the acquisition of more than 50% of the Company’s shares on 15 September 2004 by Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited
(“Temasek”) and its subsidiaries, all previously unvested options granted prior to 15 September 2004 became vested on the same day, in
accordance with the rules of the NOL SOP. In addition, such vested options unexercised within six months from 15 September 2004
subsequently lapsed on 15 March 20085. As a result, options granted on the same date with different option terms would now have the
same exercise periods.

2 In accordance with the modified rules of the NOL SOP approved by shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM") held on
3 January 2008, and the advice of the independent financial advisor, the exercise price of the outstanding share options under the NOL SOP
was reduced by $$0.92 to S$2.06 as a resuit of the capital reduction and cash distribution exercise (refer to Note 38 to the financial
statements). The effect of this modification is insignificant to the financial statements of the Group and the Company.

* No share options were granted in the financial year 2005.




(g)

(h) (i) ) (k) | m Total
07/11/02 19/12/02 17/11/03 17/11/03 31/12/04 | 31/12/04
07/11/03 19/12/03 15/09/04 15/09/04 31/12/05 |  31/12/05
14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05 30/12/09 30/12/14
$$1.00 $$1.00 $$2.14 $$2.14 $$2.982 $$2.082
- 140,000 250,000 1,018,000 641,000 | 17,104,doo 19,731,000
- (140,000) (250,000) (964,000) - - (1,872,000)
- - - (54,000) - | (1,507,000) (1,621,000)
i :
| i
|
- - - - 641,000 | 15,597,000 16,238,000
- - - - 129,000 | - 129,000
- - - - 64,000 | - 64,000
- - - - 64,000 | - 64,000
- - - - - | 560,000 560,000
- - - - 48,000 | - 48,000
_ - - - 48,000 - 48,000
_ - - - 48,000 - 48,000
- - - - 48,000 - 48,000
- - - - 48,000 - 48,000




Share Options and Performance Shares (continued)

Details of options granted, adjusted, exercised and cancelled (due to staff resignation, expiry of options or option holders’
acceptance of the mandatory cash offer made by Lentor Investments Pte. Ltd. (“Lentor”), a subsidiary of Temasek) under the
NOL SOP during the financial year ended 31 December 2004 were as follows:

Share Options (a) (b} (c) (d) (e) (f) (g}
Date option granted 13/04/99 01/10/99 03/05/00 19/10/00 26/03/01 19/10/01 19/10/01
Exercise period*
From 13/04/00 01/10/00 03/05/01  19/10/01 26/q3/02 19/10/02 19/10/02
To 12/04/04  30/09/04  14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05
Exercise price per option $$1.00 $$2.05 S$1.52 $$1.37 $$1.30 $$1.00 $$1.00
Number of options

outstanding as at

27 December 2003 421,157 832,500 1,625,000 6,722,000 93,000 270,000 8,075,500
During the financial year

- Cptions granted - - - - - ~ -

- Options exercised (420,377) (672,500) (1,222,000) (4,494,000) (93,000) (170,000) (5,377,500)

- COptions cancelled (780) (160,000) (392,500) (2,086,000) - (30,000) (2,620,000)
Balance as at

31 December 2004 - - 10,500 142,000 - 70,000 78,000
Directors’ Interests:

31 December 2004

- Cheng Wai Keung - - ~ - - 40,000 -

- Friedbert Malt

— Ang Kong Hua

- David Lim Tik En

- Lim How Teck

— Lock Sai Hung

- Timothy James Rhein
- Yasumasa Mizushima

- James Connal Scotland Rankin -

— Willie Cheng Jue Hiang

- Gan Chee Yen
- Robert Holland, Jr

- Christopher Lau Loke Sam -

Following the acquisition of more than 50% of the Company's shares on 15 September 2004 by Temasek and its subsidiaries,

all previously unvested options granted prior to 15 September 2004 became vested on the same day, in accordance with the rules of the
NCL SOP. In addition, such vested options unexercised within six months from 15 September 2004 would subsequently lapse on
15 March 2005. As a result, options granted on the same date with different option terms would now have the same exercise periods.

°  As at 31 December 2004, there were 30,000 options exercised but for which shares have yet to be ailotted.

5  These include 15,419,530 options which had been cancelled due to option holders’ acceptance of the mandatory cash offer made by Lentor.




(h (1) m K U] (m) » {n) Total
18/10/02 07/11/02 19/12/02 17/11/03 17/11/03 31/12/04 31/12/04

18/10/03 07/11/03 19/12/03 15/09/04 15/09/04 31/12/05% 31/12/05
14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05 30/12/09 30/12/14
i

$$1.00 $$1.00 $$1.00 $$2.14 $$2.14 $$2.98 | $$2.98
!

10,268,000 3,245,000 320,000 430,000 12,445,000 - i - 44,747,157

- - - - - 641,000 17,104,000 17,745,000

(7,314,970)  (2,570,000)  (180,000) (30,000)  (2,107,000) - - (24,651,347)

(2,675,530)  (675,000) - (150,000)  (9,320,000) - - (18,109,810)
, ;

277,500 - 140,000 250,000 1,018,000 641,000 17,104,000 19,731,000
{ |

- - 80,000 80,000 - 129,000 | - 329,000

- - - 40,000 - 64,000 - 104,000

- - - 40,000 - 64,000 - 104,000

- - - - - - '560,000 560,000

- - - - - .- 373,000 373,000

- - - - - 48,000 f - 48,000

- - - - - 48,000 | - 48,000

- - 30,000 30,000 - 48000 - 108,000

- - 30,000 30,000 - 48,000 - 108,000

- - - 30,00C - 48,000 - 78,000

- - - - - 48,000 - 48,000

- - - - - 48,000 : - 48,000

- - 48,000 ‘ - 48,000




Share Options and Performance Shares (continued)

The Directors’ interests in the share options of the Company as at 20 January 2006 were the same as at
30 December 2005.

Pursuant to provisions of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) and
the Singapore Companies Act, in addition to information disclosed elsewhere in the report, it is reported that:

(i} Except as disclosed on pages 51 and 52, no options were granted by the Company or any subsidiary during the financial
year and there were no other unissued shares under option at the end of the financial year.

(i) No options were granted to controlling shareholders or their associates, or directors and employees of the parent group.
{iii) No employee has received 5% or more of the total number of options available under the NOL SOP.
(iv) No options have been granted at a discount during the financial year.

Subject to the terms and conditions of the PSP, the following table sets forth the number of performance shares awarded,
vested and cancelied during the financial year 2005:

Performance Shares (i) (ii) Total

Performance period
From 27/12/03 01/01/05
To 31/12/04 30/12/05"

Number of shares outstanding at beginning of financial year 2005 - - -
During financial year 2005

— Shares awarded 1,752,000 - 1,752,000
- Shares cancelled (340,000?) - (340,000)
Outstanding balance at end of financial year 2005 1,412,00C# - 1,412,000

Director’s Interests:
30 December 2005
- David Lim Tik En 307,000 . - 307,000

Performance shares for the performance period 1 January 2005 to 30 December 2005 wili be awarded in 20086 after the announcement
of the financial year 2005 annual results, upon review and approval by the ERCC.

8 From the end of the performance period, one-third of the performance shares awarded will each vest on 2 January 2006, 2 January 2007
and 2 January 2008. :

In accordance with the modified rules of the PSP approved by shareholders at the EGM held‘jon 3 January 20086, and the
advice of the independent financial advisor, additional 351,758 shares were awarded under the PSP to holders of the
outstanding awards as a result of the capital reduction and cash distribution exercise (refer to Note 38 to the financial
statements). The effect of this modification is insignificant to the financial statements of the Group and the Company.




Arrangements to Enable Directors to Acquire Shares and Debentures

Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any arrdngement whose object

|

was to enable the Directors of the Company to acquire bensfits by means of the acqujsition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate, other than as disclosed under “Share Options and Performance Shares” on

pages 50 to 55.

Directors’ interests in Shares or Debentures

According to the register of Directors’ shareholdings, none of the Directors holding office at the edd of the financial year had

any interest in the share capital or debentures of the Comrany except as follows: [
i

| ‘
Ordinary shares of $$1.00 each

Holdings registered in
name of Director or nominee

Holdings in which a Director
is deemed to have an interest

At 01/01/05

At 01/01/05

or date qf or date of

appointment, appointment,

At 30/12/05 if later At 30/12/05 if later

Cheng Wai Keung 250,000 50,000 - -
Friedbert Malt 40,000 L - -
Ang Kong Hua 40,000 L - -
David Lim Tik En 140,000 140,000 - -
James Connal Scotland Rankin 60,000 ’— : - -
Willie Cheng Jue Hiang 30,000 ;’- 5,000 5,000
Robert Holland, Jr 27,000 10,000 - -

Details of the Directors’ interests in the share options grarted under the NOL SOP and performanjce shares awarded under
the PSP have been separately disclosed under “Share Options and Performance Sharés" on pages 50 to 55.

The Directors’ interests in the share capital of the Company as at 20 January 2006 were the same as at 30 December 2005,
except for David Lim Tik En, whose holdings registered in his own name was 242,333 shares as ajt 20 January 20086.

According to the register of Directors’ shareholdings, none of the Directors holding oﬂ;ice at the end of the financial year had

any interest in the share capital or debentures of related corporations except as follo»\l/vs:
&
Holdings registered i\n
name of Director or nominee

Holdings in which a Director
is deemed to have an interest

At 30/12/05 At 01/01/05

At 30/12/05 At 01/01/05

Chartered Semiconductor Manufacturing Ltd
Ordinary shares of $$0.26 each
Willie Cheng Jue Hiang - —

SembCorp Logistics Limited
Ordinary shares of $$0.25 each
David Lim Tik En - -

SembCorp Marine Ltd
Ordinary shares of $$0.10 each
David Lim Tik En - —

- 15,000
- 5,000

10,000 Co-
I



Directors’ Interests in Shares or Debentures (continued)

Holdings registered in

name of Director or nominee

Holdings in which a

Director

is deemed to have an interest

At 30/12/05

At 01,/01/05

At 30/12/05 At 01/01/05

Singapore Airlines Limited
Ordinary shares of $$0.50 each
Cheng Wai Keung

David Lim Tik En

Singapore Computer Systems Limited
Ordinary shares of $$0.25 each
Willie Cheng Jue Hiang

Singapore Technologies Engineering Ltd
Ordinary shares of S$0.10 each

David Lim Tik En

Willie Cheng Jue Hiang

Singapore Telecommunications Limited
Ordinary shares of S$0.15 each

Cheng Wai Keung

Ang Kong Hua

David Lim Tik En

Willie Cheng Jue Hiang

Christopher Lau Loke Sam

SNP Corporation Ltd
Ordinary shares of S$0.50 each
Willie Cheng Jue Hiang

SP Australia Networks (Distribution) Ltd*

Ordinary shares
Cheng Wai Keung

SP Australia Networks (Transmission) Ltd*

Ordinary shares
Cheng Wai Keung

Starhub Ltd
Ordinary shares of S$0.10 each
Willie Cheng Jue Hiang

1,620
1,430
1,690

1,560

1,620
1,430
1,690
14,119
1,560

10,000

20,000
200

8,000

1,430

400,000

400,000

The Directors’ interests in the share capital of the related corporations as at 20 January 2006 were the same as at
30 December 2005, except for David Lim Tik En, whose deemed holdings in Singapore Technologies Engineering Ltd was

18,000 shares as at 20 January 2006.

The related corporations are related to the Company by virtue of a common ultimate holding company, Temasek.

*  Listed on the Australian Stock Exchange and SGX-ST as part of the stapled securities traded under the name of SP AusNet.

400

125,000

6,000
20,000

1,620

3,000
80,800

10,000




Directors’ Contractual Benefits

Replacement rights, which are cash settied, are awarded to ey executives conditional upon the participants meeting their
performance conditions. From the end of the performance period, 50% of the rep\acemént rights awarded will vest after two
years, and the remaining 50% after three years. Details of re placement rights awarded to Executive ‘Directors and empioyees
are as follows: ‘

Replacement Rights
Performance period®
From 29/12/01
To i 26/12/03
Number of rights outstanding at beginning of financial year 2005 2,391,000

During financial year 2005 ‘
~ Rights awarded . -

- Rights vested i -

- Rights cancelled . f (461,500)
‘Outstanding balance at end of financial year 2005 i 1,929,500
Directors’ Interests: V |
30 December 2005

- David Lim Tik En T 300,000
31 December 2004

— David Lim Tik En 300,000

- Lim How Teck j 450,000

®  For key executives who were not eligible during the period 29 December 2001 to 27 December|2002, their pérformance period starts from
28 December 2002 instead.

2 From the end of the performance period, 50% of the replacement rights awarded will vest on 33T December 2005 and the remaining 50%
will vest on 31 December 2006. ; :
Subsequent to the financial year ended 30 December 2005, 378,351 replacement rights were awarded to holders of
outstanding awards as a result of the capital reduction and cash distribution exercise (refer to Note 38 to the financial
statements). The effect of this modification is insignificant to the financial statements|of the Group and the Company.

/
\

Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director has received or become entitiéd to receivela benefit by reason of
a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the Director or with a firi'n of which he is a member, or with a

company in which he has & substantial financial interest, except as disclosed in the firpancial statements and in this report.

|




Audit Committee

At the date of this report, the Audit Committee (“AC") consists of four Non-Executive Directors, all of whom are independent.
Chaired by Mr Willie Cheng Jue Hiang, the other three members of the Committee are Mr Christopher Lau Loke Sam,
Mr Robert Holland, Jr (appointed on 26 April 2005) and Mr Peter Wagner (appointed on 16{May 2005).

The AC is authorised by the Board of Directors (“the Board”) to investigate any activity within its terms of reference. It has
unrestricted access to information relating to the Group, to both the internal and external guditors, and to the Management
and staff. It has full discretion to invite any Director or executive officer to attend its meetlngs It is also authorised by the
Board to obtain external legal or other independent professional advice as necessary and at the expense of the Group.

The AC’s duties include:

(@)

Reviewing with the external auditors the audit plan, the scope of the audits, the evaluation of the internal accounting
controls, the audit reports and any matters which the external auditors wish to discuss (in the absence of
Management, where necessary);

Reviewing the cost-effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the externa! auditors. Where the auditors
also supply a substantial volume of non-audit services to the Group, the AC keeps th]e nature and extent of such
services under review, seeking to balance the maintenance of objectivity and value for money;

Reviewing with the internal auditors the internal audit plan, the scope and the results§ of internal audit procedures

and their evaluation of the overall internal control systems. The internal control systems include financial controls,
operational and compliance controls and risk management policies and systems established by the Management.

The AC should ensure that a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s internal contr‘-jols is conducted at least annually.
Such review can be carried out by the internal and/or public accountants, provided tHat where the public accountant is
also the external auditor of the Company, the AC should satisfy itself that the |ndependence of the public accountant is
not compromised by any other material relationship with the Group.

Reviewing the effectiveness of the Group's internal audit function;

Reviewing the assistance given by the Group’s officers to the auditors;
Reviewing the significant financial reporting issues and judgements to ensure the int‘égrity of the financial statements
of the Group; ‘

Reviewing the Group's guarterly and year-end financial statements prior to submission to the Board and/or release to
SGX-ST, focusing on:

- going concern assumption

- compliance with accounting and regulatory requirements

— any changes in accounting policies and practices

- significant issues arising from the audit

- major judgemental areas;

Making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and reméva\ of the external auditors, and
approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors;

Meeting with the external auditors, and with the internal auditors, without the presence of the Management,
at least annually;

Reviewing arrangements by which staff of the Group may, in confidence, raise concerris about possibte improprieties in
matters of financial reporting or other matters. The AC's objective should be to ensuré that arrangements are in place
far the independent investigation of such matters and for appropriate follow-up action;



(k)  Monitoring Interested Person Transactions and conflict of interest situations that;may arise within the Group including
any transaction, procedure or course of action that raises questions of management integrity.: The AC is also required
to ensure that Directors report such transactions quarterly via SGX-ST quarterly announcements and annually to
shareholders via the Annual Report; ‘

n Undertaking any other functions agreed by the AC and the Board.

The AC conducts an annual review of the independence and -bjectivity of PricewaterhouseCoopers, ;he Company’s external
auditors. For the financial year 2005, the AC undertook a review of the volume of non-a}'udit services provided by the external
auditors to assess whether the nature and extent of those szrvices might prejudice the independence and objectivity of the
auditors. The AC was satisfied that such services did not af'ect the independence of tllwe external auditors. The AC also
reviewed the cost-effectiveness of the audit conducted by the: external auditors. w !

I
The AC convened four meetings during the financial year with full attendance from all m:embers. In attendance at these
meetings were the Group Chief Executive Officer, Group Chiel Financial Officer and Grou;p Internal Aqditor. The external

auditors attended these meetings, where required. 3
}
i

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoaopers will not be seeking re-election and Ernst and Young has been nominated td be the auditors for the
ensuing year. The appointment is subject to shareholders’ approval at the Annual General Meeting on 19 April 2006.

On behalf of the Directors i

L - A T

Cheng Wai Keung David Lim Tik En
Director Director

Singapore, 28 February 2006




Statement by Directors

In the opinion of the Directors,

(@) the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the
Group as set out on pages 63 to 155 are drawn up so0 as to give a true and fair view df the state of affairs of the
Company and of the Group at 30 December 2005, changes in equity of the Company é]nd of the Group and of the results
of the business and cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended; and

(b at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as
and when they fall due. .

On behalf of the Directors

AP

Cheng Wai Keung David Lim Tik En’
Director Director

Singapore, 28 February 2006



Auditors’ Report

To the Members of Neptune Orient Lines Limited !

i
'

We have audited the accompanying financia! statements of Neptune 0rient§Lines Limited set out on pages 63 to 155 for the
financial year ended 30 December 2005, comprising the balance sheet and statement bf changes in equity of the Company,
and the consolidated financial statements of the Group. These financial stétements are the responsibility of the Company's
Directors. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial sta;tements based on our audit.

| |
We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require that we plan and
perform our audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are‘ free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amobnts and disclosures in the financial statements.
An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signifjcant estimates made by the Directors, as well as
evealuating the overall financial statement preseritation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion,

(a) the accompanying balance sheet and staternr ent of changes in equity of the Company and consolidated financial
statements of the Group are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Cap 50 (“the Act”)
and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and féir view of the state of affairs of the Company and
of the Group as at 30 December 2005 and the changes in equity of the Company and of the Group for the financial year
ended on that date and the results and cast flows of the Group for the|financial year ended on that date; and

!

{b) the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries incorporated
in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance wgth the provisions of the Act.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore, 28 February 20086




Consolidated Income Statement

For the Financial Year Ended 30 December 2005

Group
2005 2004
Note: Us$’000 Uss$’'000
Revenue 5 7,271,080 6,544,756
Cost of sales 6 (5,678,185) (5,006,000)
Gross profit ' 71592875 1,538,756
Other gains (net)
- Miscellaneous 5 62,806 89,115
~ Finance and investment income 5 31,723 19,169
Expenses ‘
~ Administrative 5] (691,645) (603,075)
- Finance 7 (53,304) (96,962)
— Qther operating &' (84,493) (75,816)
Share of results of associated companies 14,26 12,928 (1,767)
Share of results of joint ventures 15 3,231 4,394
Profit before income tax 874,121 873,814
Income tax (expense)/credit 9 (62,595) 72,545
Net profit for the financial year 811,526 946,359
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company 803,872 942,707
Minority interest 7,654 3,652
811,526 946,359
Group
2005 2004
Earnings per share Note US cts US cts
Basic 10 55.35 65.47
Diluted 10 55.22 65.44

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Balance Sheets

As at 30 December 2005

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
Note Us$’'000 USS'OOO US$’000 Uss$'000
Assets
Current Assets ,
Cash and cash equivalents 11 1,160,946 674,527 9,099 2,597
Trade and other receivables 12 859,722 885,318 - 1,701,077 981,332
inventories at cost 97,898 69,772 - -
Other current assets 12 40,978 44,119 653 597
Total current assets 2,159,544 1,673,736 1,710,829 984,526
I
Non-current Assets ;
Investments in subsidiaries 13 - [ - 1,010,244 931,720
Investments in associated companies 14 5,898 [ 20 23 37
fnvestments in joint ventures 15 16,585 18,406 - -
Available-for-sale financial assets 16 13,848 5,782 13,589 5,742
Property, plant and equipment 17 2,259,778 2,318,118 51,519 53,289
Deferred charges 18 1,887 , 1,‘{(07 - 268
Intangible assets 19 27,492 34,471 35 37
Goodwill arising on consolidation 20 221,453 221,453 - -
Deferred income tax assets 9 34,366 41,825 - -
Derivative financial instruments 21 28,851 |- 28,851 -
Qther non-current assets 22 45,200 53,724 3,509 13,697
Total non-current assets 2,655,358 2,695,206 1,107,770 1,004,790
Total Assets 4,814,902 4,368,942 2,818,599 1,989,316
I
Liabilities ‘r
Current Liabilities %‘
Trade and other payables 24 871,247 757,966 50,449 29,836
Current income tax liabilities 9 65,638 30,317 11,182 13,640
Borrowings 25 197,077 40,260 6,763 16,605
Provisions 26 35,520 36,504 860 1,560
Derivative financial instruments 21 14,058 | - 476 -
Other current liabilities 24 184,211 186,198 - -
Total current liabilities 1,367,751 1,051,245 69,730 61,641
Non-current Liabilities . \
Borrowings 25 510,261 745,141 324,474 297,275
Provisions 26 91,191 118,462 ) - 11,895
Deferred income 27 15,180 20,025 - -
Deferred income tax liabilities 9 137,509 168,337 10,313 10,267
Other non-current liabilities 28 67,102 ' 70,786 - -
Total non-current liabilities 821,243 1,123,351 334,787 319,437
Total Liabilities - 2,188,994 2,174,%96 404,517 381,078
Net Assets 2,625,908 2,194,346 2,414,082 1,608,238
Equity i
Share capital 30 814,447 813,282 814,447 813,282
Share premium 30 556,586 555,692 556,586 555,692
Treasury shares®* 30 (1,399) l - - -
Foreign currency translation reserve 3,910 4,862 - -
Retained earnings 1,222,706 805,828 1,020,722 239,264
Share-based compensation reserve 15,182 ‘ - 15,162 -
Hedging reserve (14,577) P (852) -
Fair value reserve 8,238 = 8,017 -
Capital and reserves attributable to !
equity holders of the Company 2,605,073 2.179,565 2,414,082 1,608,238
Minority interest 20,835 14,681 - -
Total Equity 2,625,908 2,194,346 2,414,082 1,608,238
Net current assets 791,793 622,4;91 1,641,099 922,885

1 “Treasury shares” are accounted for in accordance with FRS 32 (revised 2004). For avoidance of[doubt, these do not have the same
meaning as “treasury shares” under the Companies {Amendment) Act 2005, | ‘

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the Financial Year Ended 30 December 2005

Group Note

Share
capital
us$’000

Share
premium
Us$'000

Treasury
shares
Uss$’'000

Balance at 1 January 2005 as previously reported

Effect of first time adoption of FRS 39

Balance at 1 January 2005 as restated

Effect of early adoption of Amendments to FRS 39

Balance at 1 January 2005 after early adoption of
Amendments to FRS 39

Cash flow hedges

Fair value gains on available-for-sale financial assets
Currency translation differences

Net (losses)/gains recognised directly in equity

Net profit for the financial year

Total (losses)/gains recognised for the financial year

Dividends to equity holders 31
Dividends to minority interest
Capital contribution by minority interest
Employee equity compensation schemes:

~ value of employee services

~ proceeds from shares issued 30
Purchase of shares by employee benefit trust 30

Balance at 30 December 2005

813,282

555,692

813,282

555,692

813,282

565,692

1,165

894

(1,399)

814,447

556,586

(1,399)

2 “Treasury shares” are accounted for in accordance with FRS 32 (revised 2004). For avoidance of doubt, these do not have the same

meaning as “treasury shares” under the Companies (Amendment) Act 2005.

3 The Group and the Company early adopted the Amendments to FRS 39 - The Fair Value Option, which is effective for annual periods

beginning on or after 1 January 2006,

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the Company

|
|
:
|

Foreign |
currency Share-based i :
translation Retained compensation Hedging Fair value‘; Minority Total
reserve earnings reserve reserve reserve interest equity
UsS$'000 US$'000 US$’000 US$’'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
4,862 805,829 - - -: 14,681 2,194,346
- 4,650 - 8,150 8,017 .= 20,817
4,862 810,479 - 8,150 8,017“ 14,681 2,215,163
- (173) - - 173 . - -
| 1
4,862 810,306 - 8,150 8,19(? 14,681 2,215,163
f :
- - - (22,727) 4 - (22,727)
- - - - 48 - 48
(952) - - - 1 57 (895)
(952) - - (22,727) 48 57 (23,574)
- 803,872 - - . 7,654 811,526
(952) 803,872 - (22,727) 48 17,711 787,952
|
|
- (391,472) - - T’ - (391,472)
- - - - < (1,785) (1,785)
- - - = 1 228 228
|
i
- - 15,162 - - ; - 15,162
- - - - L - 2,059
- - - - - - (1,399)
\
) 3,910 1,222,706 15,162 (14,577) 8,238 20,835 2,625,908




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (continued)

For the Financial Year Ended 30 December 2005

Capital and reserves attributable to *,
equity holders of the Company

Foreign (Accuinhulated

currency losses)/
Share Share translation ;Ptained Minority Total
capital premium reserve e,;arnings interest equity
Group Note Us$’000 Us$'000 Uss'000 Uss$’000  US$’000 Uss$’000
Balance at 27 December 2003 798,527 552,535 5,021 (%2,015) 11,200 1,315,268
Currency translation differences l - - (159) ! - (39) (198_)]
Net losses recognised directly
in equity - - (159) - (39) (198)
Net profit for the financial year - - - 942,707 3,652 946,359
Total (losses)/gains recognised
for the financial year - - (159) 942,707 3,613 946,161
Dividends to equity holders 31 - - - (84,863) - (84,863)
Dividends to minority interest - - - - (757) (757)
Capital contribution by minority
interest - - - - 220 220
Acquisition of additional interests
in subsidiaries - - - ‘ - 868 868
Disposal of a subsidiary - - - - (463) (463)
Proceeds from shares issued 30 14,755 3,157 - - - 17,912
Balance at 31 December 2004 813,282 555,692 4,862 805,829 14,681 2,194,346

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of Changes in Equity

For the Financial Year Ended 30 December 2005 |

Retained
earnings/  Share-based ‘
Share Share (accumulated compensétion Hedging Fair value Total
capital premium losses) reslerve reserve  reserve equity
Company Note US$'000 USS$’000 UsS$’000 US$'000 USS'000 US$'000  USS$'000
Balance at

1 January 2005 as 3

previously reported 813,282 555,692 239,264 - - - 1,608,238
Effect of first time |

adoption of FRS 39 - - 7,496 - (6,03:0) 8,017 9,483
Balance at }

1 January 2005 as restated 813,282 555,692 246,760 - (6,030) 8,017 1,617,721
Cash flow hedges - - - - 5,178 - 5,178
Net gain recognised i ‘

directly in equity - - - - 5178 - 5,178
Net profit for the I

financial year - - 1,165,434 - - - 1,165,434
Total gains recognised ‘

for the financial year - - 1,165,434 - 5,178 - 1,170,612
Dividends to equity holders 31 - - (391,472) - "- - (391,472)
Employee equity

compensation schemes:

- value of employee

services - - - 151162 - - 15,162

— proceeds from

shares issued 30 1,165 894 - - - ~ 2,059
Balance at | ‘

30 December 2005 814,447 556,58€ 1,020,722 153,162 (852) 8,017 2,414,082
Balance at

27 December 2003 798,527 552,53E (474,200) - - - 876,862
Net profit for the ‘

financial year - - 798,327 - - - 798,327
Dividends to equity holders 31 - - (84,863) - - ~ (84,863)
Proceeds from shares issued 30 14,755 3,157 - - - ~ 17,912
Balance at ]

31 December 2004 813,282 555,692 239,264 - - ~ 1,608,238
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

For the Financial Year Ended 30 December 2005

2005 2004
Us$’000 Us$’'000
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Profit before income tax 874,121 873,814
Adjustments for:
Amortisation of non-current assets and deferred income 4,261 8,995
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 242,552 231,562
Fair value gains on derivative financial instruments (3,005) -
Fair value losses on cross currency interest rate swap: fair value hedge 14,514 -
Fair value gains on bond: fair value hedge adjustment on bond (8,494) ~
Interest expense 40,002 87,096
Interest income (25,295) (12,799)
Investment income (6,360) (1,739)
Share-based compensation costs 16,821 (223)
Fair value fosses on treasury shares held under Staff Share Ownership Scheme 443 -
Write-off of intangible assets 8,677 36,655
Net profit on disposa! of property, plant and equipment {16,138) (6,990)
Net profit on disposal of subsidiaries {219) (8,083)
Net profit on acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary - (446)
Net profit on disposal of associated companies (8,659) (2,679)
Net (profit)/loss on disposal of available-for-sale financial assets {399) 110
Net loss on disposal of other non-current investments - 31
Net provision for impairment of loans and non-trade debts to associated companies 3,490 790
Net write-back of impairment of loans receivable (1,256) (4,402)
Net write-back of impairment in value of property, plant and equipment (3,871) (18,375)
Net write-back of impairment in value of a joint venture company - (1,575)
Net (write-back of)/provision for impairment in value of other non-current investments (606) 465
Net write-back of impairment in value of available-for-sale financial assets - (1,300)
impairment of goodwill arising on consolidation - 66,991
Net provision for/(write-back of) restructuring and termination costs 16 (11,100)
Net (write-back of)/provision for insurance, litigation and other claims (279) 30,333
Net provision for drydocking costs 2.624 1,716
Net write-back of provision for onerous contracts - leased vessels - (13,545)
Net provision for/({write-back of) provision for onerous contract - leased premises 96 (279)
Provision for impairment of other non-current assets 8.256 -
Share of results of associated companies (12,928) 1,767
Share of results of joint ventures (3.231) (4,394)
Unrealised translation gains (998) (929)
Operating cashflow before working capital changes 1,123,035 1,251,487
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisition and
disposal of subsidiaries:
Receivables 30,626 (183,8786)
Inventories (28,126) (10,610)
Payables 93,258 34,120
Net amount due from associated companies (3,514) (877)
Trading securities - (2)
Cash generated from operations 1,215,279 1,090,242
Interest paid (41,346) (100,074)
Interest received 24,257 12,404
Net income tax paid (51,204) (62,792)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 1,146,986 939,780

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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. 2005 2004
Uss’000 Us$'000
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries - (7,162)
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired* - 754
Net proceeds from loans receivable 2,987 2,643
Investment income received 6,360 1,916
Additions in other non-current investments (386) (954)
Investments in joint ventures - (9,923)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment?® (204,098) (207,5186)
Purchase of intangible assets (10,947) (9,291)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipmerit 39,200 20,221
Proceeds from disposal of associated companies 3,675 61
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale financial assets 569 44
Net cash (outflow)/inflow (net of transaction costs) from disposal
of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed** (210) 47,249
Net cash outflow from investing activities (162,850) (161,958)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities )
Proceeds from borrowings 192,274 50,064
Dividends paid to equity holders (391,472) (84,863)
Dividends paid to minority interest (1,785) (757)
Capital contribution by minority interest 228 220
Proceeds from issue of new ordinary shares 2,059 17,912
Redemption of bonds - (110,741)
Repayment of borrowings (298,006) (517,399)
Payment of costs incurred in connection with long term financing (1,015) (248)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (497,717) (645,812)
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 486,419 132,010
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Financial Year (Note 11) 674,527 542,517
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Financial Year (Note 11) 1,160,946 674,527

from disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed

Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired/Net cash (outfiow)/inflow (net of transactlon costs)

Please refer to Note 11 for the effect of acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries on the Groups cash flows."

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

During the financial year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate

cost of US$204.1 million

(2004: US$208.8 million). Cash payments of US$204.1 million (2004: US$207.5 million) were made for these property,

plant and equipment.

The accompanying nates form an integral part of these financial stetements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the Financial Year Ended 30 December 2005

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements
expressed in United States Dollars.

1.

General

The Company is domiciled and incorporated in Singapore and is publicly traded on thé Singapore Exchange.
The address of its registered office is as follows:

456 Alexandra Road, #06-00 NOL Building, Singapore 119962.

The principal activities of the Company are those of investment holding and the ownership and charter of shipping
vessels, including participation in ventures related to these activities. ‘

The principal activities of the subsidiaries are:

i} investment holding and the ownership and charter of shipping vessels and othér related assets;

i) the provision of supply chain management, warehousing, distribution and custémer logistics solutions
(by way of a global network of services spanning ocean, air and overland operéiions) to customers;

iif) participation in ventures related to the activities listed under (i) and (ii) above; and

iv) the provision of other related and complementary services inciuding ship management, engineering and
repairs to customers. '

The Group also engages in other incidental activities such as the disposals of shipping vessels and related assets as
well as non-core properties and assets from time to time,

There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the fimancial year.

The financial year of 2005 started on 1 January 2005 and ended on 30 December 2005 (2004: 27 December 2003
to 31 December 2004} as the Group and the Company adopted the last Friday of every calendar vear to be their
accounting year-end date.

The Company’s ultimate holding company is Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited (“Terﬁasek”), a company incorporated
in Singapore.

Significant Accounting Policies

2.1 Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards
(“FRS"). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed
in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise its judgement
in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies. It also requires the use of accounting estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during
the financial year. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and
actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates. Critical accounting estimates and
assumptions used that are significant to the financial statements, and areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, are disclosed in Note 4.

In view of the international nature of the Group's operations, most companies in the Group adopted the United
States Dollar as their functional and reporting currency.




| :
in 2005, the Group and the Company adoptec the new or revised FRS ar'jd Interpreta‘tiions of FRS (“INT FRS")
that are applicable in the current financial year. The 2005 financial state;ments have been prepared and its
comparatives amended as required, in accordance with the relevant tranEitional proviéions in the respective FRS
and INT FRS. The following are the FRS and INT FRS that are relevant to :the Group:
FRS 1 (revised 2004) Presentation of Financiz! Statements
FRS 2 (revised 2004) Inventories
FRS 8 (revised 2004) Accounting Policies, Chgnges in Accounting Estimayes and Errors
FRS 10 (revised 2004) Events after the Balance Sheet Date i
FRS 16 (revised 2004) Property, Plant and Equipment i
FRS 17 {revised 2004) Leases \i
FRS 21 (revised 2004) The Effects of Changes: in Foreign Exchange Rates
( |
!
5

|
r

FRS 24 (revised 2004) Related Party Disclosures

FRS 27 (revised 2004) Consolidated and Seperate Financial Statements|
FRS 28 (revised 2004) Investments in Associates |
FRS 31 (revised 2004) Interests in Joint Ventures i
FRS 32 (revised 2004) Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentatldn
FRS 33 (revised 2004) Earnings per Share l
FRS 39 (revised 2004) Financial Instruments: ecognition and Measurement !
FRS 102 Share-based Payment \ ‘
FRS 105 Non-current Assets Heid for Sale and Discontinued Operations i
INT FRS 101 Changes in Existing Decommissicning Restoration and Similar Liabilities,

Amendments to INT FRS 12 Consolidation — Spiecial Purpose Entities 1 '

’ |

In January 2006, the Council on Corporate Disclosure and Governance isksued Amendrnents to
FRS 39 - The Fair Value Option. This amendment is to be applied for anmi.ral periods b"eginning on or after
1 January 2006. However, early adoption of this amendment is encouraged. The Group and the Company have
elected to apply the amendment prospectively “‘rom the beginning of the financial year 2005.

|
The adoption of the above FRS and INT FRS dic not result in substantial c[hanges to the Group's accounting
policies except as disclosed in Note 3. " ;
|

Revenue recognition |
Revenue for the Group is earned from the provision of the Group’s servrces after eliminating sales within
the Group, and is recognised at the fair value of consideration received orr receivable for the rendering of

services, net of discount. t
:
Revenue from the liner service is recognised on an accrual basis, based on a percentage-of-completion of

i
service voyage. The percentage-of-completion o service voyage is calculated on an ongm-to discharge’ basis.

) . ) . | o
For vessels operating on time charters, revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
contract based on the total contracted amount. ‘

The majority of revenue from the logistics service are derived from the storage, handling and transportation

of customer products. Such revenue is recognised when the services are brovided. Forishipments in transit,
revenue is recognised on an accrual basis, based on the percentage-of—cori‘npletion of the voyage of a service. -
The percentage-of-completion of voyage is calculated on a ‘load-port to dis'charge -port’ basis. Recognition of
handling revenue is deferred until completion of the handling activity. Revenue is also recogmsed from fees
earned upon the performance of certain logistics outsourcing activities, such as frerght forwarding and customs
clearance services. In this capacity, Logistics business unit acts, in substance as an agent or broker on behalf
of its customers. i

1
! i
i
i

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.

i

r
; |
Rental income from operating leases of owned and leased assets is recognrsed ona stralght -line basis over
the lease term. ) ‘

l
i
[
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

2.2

23

Revenue recognition (continued)

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis, using the effective interest rate method. When a
receivable is being impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the
estimated future cashflow discounted at original effective interest rate of the instrument, and thereafter
amortising the discount as interest income.

Group accounting

(a)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has an interest
of more than one half of the voting rights or otherwise has power to govern the financial and operating
policies. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are
considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group to the date on
which that control ceases. The purchase method of accounting is used 1o account for the acquisition of
subsidiaries. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued or liabilities undertaken at the date of acquisition, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition.
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are
measured initially at their fair values on the date of acquisition, irrespective of the extent of any minority
interest. Please refer to Note 2.7 for the Group’s accounting policy on gooéiwill.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between groups of companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset trfansferred. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to enstre consistency of accounting
policies with those of the Group.

Minority interest is that part of the net results of operations and of the nét assets of a subsidiary
attributable to interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the droup. It is measured at the
minorities’ share of the fair values of the subsidiaries’ identifiable asseté: and liabilities at the date of
acquisition by the Group and the minorities’ share of changes in equity since the date of acquisition, except
when the losses applicable to the minority in a subsidiary exceed the minority interest in the equity of that
subsidiary. In such cases, the excess and further losses applicable to thé minority are attributed to the
equity holders of the Company, unless the minority has a binding obligation to, and is able to, make good
the losses. When that subsidiary subsequently reports profits, the profité applicable o0 the minority are
attributed to the equity hoiders of the Company until the minority’s share of osses previously absorbed by
the equity holders of the Company has been fully recovered.

A list of the Group's significant subsidiaries is shown in Note 41.

Please refer to Note 2.9 for the Company’s accounting policy on investments in subsidiaries.




{b)

Associated companies i

Associated companies are entities over which the Group has significant influence; but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between and including 20% and 50% of the voting rights.

Investments in associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated finadcial statements using the
equity method of accounting. [nvestments in associated companies ir\ the consolidated balance sheet
includes goodwill (net of accumulated amcrtisation up to 26 December 2003) |dent|f|ed on acquisition,
where applicable. Please refer to Note 2.7 for the Group's accountmg policy on goodwrll

r
Equity accounting involves recording invesiments in associated come’anies initially at cost, and recognising
the Group’s share of its associated companies’ post-acquisition results and its share of post-acquisition
movements in reserves against the carryir,g amount of the mvestments When the Group’s share of
losses in an associated company equals cr exceeds its interest in the assouated company, including
any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associated company.%

|

In applying the equity method of accounting, unrealised gains on traHsactions befween the Group and its
associated companies are eliminated to the extent of the Group's in'@erest in the associated companies.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provide‘s evidence of an impairment of the
asset transferred. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial stater‘nents of associated
companies to ensure consistency of accounting policies with those olf the Group. ;

i
There are no significant associated compenies in the Group. !

|
Please refer to Note 2.9 for the Company’s accounting policy on investments in associated companies.
Joint ventures |

Joint ventures are corporations, partnerships or other entities over which the GroLrp has contractual

agreements to jointly share the control with one or more parties. Thé Group's share of the consolidated

. . . . . | .
results of joint ventures are included in the consolidated financial statements under the equity method on

i

the same basis as associated companies. Please refer to Note 2.3(p).

There are no significant joint ventures in the Group. 3
| :

Please refer to Note 2.9 for the Company's accounting policy on investments in joint ventures.

Transaction costs
Costs directly attributable to an acquisition are included as part of the cost of acqwsmon
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

2.4 Property, plant and equipment

(a)

Measurement

Property, ptant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated der-‘reciation and accumulated
impairment losses (Note 2.11). The cost of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition for its intended use.
Dismantlement, removal or restoration cost are included as part of the cb‘st of property, plant and
equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is incurred as a consequence of
acquiring or using the asset. Cost may also include transfers from equity’of any gains/losses on qualifying
cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Upon acquisition of a vessel, the components of the vessel which are required to be replaced at the next
drydocking are identified. The cost of these components is depreciated over the period to the next
estimated drydocking date. Costs incurred on subsequent drydocking of vessels are capitalised and
depreciated over the period to the next drydocking date. When signiﬁcant:drydocking costs recur prior

to the expiry of the depreciation period, the remaining costs of the previm?;s drydocking are written off in
the month of the subsequent drydocking. '

No depreciation is provided on vessels under construction and freehold 1and. Depreciation on freehold
buildings and leasehold land and buildings is calculated using the straight line-method to allocate their
depreciable amount over their estimated lives or their lease terms, if shorter. The estimated useful lives
are as follows:

Freehold buildings 15 - 50 years
Leasehold land and buildings 5 - 66 years

Depreciation on vessels in operation is calculated to reduce the cost of such assets to their estimated
scrap value. The depreciable amount is allocated over the estimated useful lives using the straight-line
method. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Containerships 10 - 25 years

Ocean vessels 5 ~ 25 years

Depreciation on other property, plant and equipment is calculated using tﬁe straight-line method to
allocate their depreciable amount over their estimated useful lives. The estimated lives are as follows:

Plant & machinery and operating equipment 3 - 20 years
Computers and software 3 - Gyears
Motor vehicles, office equipment, furniture, fixtures and fittings 3- 1Cf years

The residual values and useful lives of property, plant and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted as
appropriate at each balance sheet date.

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure refating to property, plant and equipment that has afready been recognised is
added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future]bconomic benefits, in excess
of the standard of performance of the asset before the expenditure was nﬁade, will flow to the Group and
the cost can be retiably measured. Other subsequent expenditure is recognised as an expense during the
financial year in which it is incurred.

Disposal
On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and its carrying amount is taken to the income statement.
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2.6

2.7

2.8

Borrowing costs
The borrowing costs specifically incurred to finance the construction of vessels are capitalised as part of the
cost of vessels during the period that is required to complete and preparé the asset fc}r its intended use.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement on a tirr‘1e proportion basis using the effective
interest method.

The amount of borrowing cost capitalised on the asset is the actual borroi ing costs incurred during the period
less any investment income on the temporary investment of those borrowings. :

Deferred charges
Deferred charges relate to costs incurred in connection with long term financing facilities which are deferred and
amortised on a straight-line basis over the tenure of the credit facilities. ‘

Goodwill ‘
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition of subsidiaries, associate{d companies or joint
ventures over the fair value of the Group's share of their identifiable net assets at the date of acquisition.

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in goodwilt on consoli(ijation, goodwill on acquisitions of
associated companies and joint ventures is included in investments in as%ociated con:wpanies and joint
ventures respectively. From 27 December 2003, goodwill is tested at least annually for impairment and carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses (Note 2.11). Gains and Iossés on the disposal of subsidiaries,
associated companies and joint ventures include the carrying amount of goodwr!l relatlng to the entity sold.
‘ |
Intangible assets | i
Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated rmpalrment
losses (Note 2.11). ‘
(a) System technology and software l
Where system technology and software is not an integral part of the ‘related hardware, it is treated as an
intangible asset. Computer software that is an integral part of the reiated hardware is treated as part of
the hardware and classified as property, p ant and equipment (Note 2 4).

i
|
i
i
|
i

Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable :and unique software products
controlled by the Group and the Company, and that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding
costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Direct c@sts include fsoftware development

i

employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. |
|
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of ’the costs mcurred to acquire and

bring to use the specific software. Direct expenditure, which enhances or extends the performance

of computer software beyond its original specifications and which can be reliably measured is recognised
as a capital improvement and added to thz original cost of the software. Costs associated with maintaining

computer software are recognised as an expense as incurred. :
|

Software costs which are assessed as having no continuing economic value are written off to the

income statement.

(b) Contract and lease advantages
Contract and lease advantages are separately identified and recognised upon acquisitions of subsidiaries.
Contract and lease advantages represent the relevant contracts andilease agreements which have
favourable terms compared to market.
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Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

2.8

2.9

2.10

Intangible assets (continued) i

(c) Terminal berthing rights
This represents amounts paid to obtain absolute berthing priority rights at a terminal over a contract
period of 20 years. ‘

Intangible assets are amortised using the straight-line method over their estirﬁated useful lives which
are as follows:

System technology and software 3-5years
Contract and lease advantages 5 - 20 years
Terminal berthing rights 20 years

Investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures
Investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures are stated at cost less accumulated
impairment losses (Note 2.11) in the Company's balance sheet.

On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures, the difference between
I
net disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the investment is taken to thelincome statement.

Financial assets

(a) Classification ‘
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: Ioané-f and receivables and
available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purﬁjose for which the assets were
acquired or incurred. Management determines the classification of these<]ﬁnancial assets at initial
recognition and re-evaluates this designation at every batance sheet daté}.

(i) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed ?r determinable payments that
are not quoted in an active market. They arise when the Group provigi‘es money, goods or services
directly to a debtor with no intention of trading the receivable. They are included in current assets,
except those maturing more than 12 months after the balance sheeﬁ date. These are classified as
non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included in trade and!other receivables on the balance
sheet (Note 2.12). '

(ii}  Available-for-sale financial assets !
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assetsthat are either designated in this
category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are indljuded in non-current assets
unless management intends to dispose of the assets within 12 months after the balance sheet date.

(b) Recognition and derecognition
Purchases and sales of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised pn trade-date - the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Such financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows have expired or have been transferred and the Groud has transferred substantially all
risks and rewards of ownership.

For recognition and derecognition of loans and receivables, refer to Note 2.12.

(¢) Initial measurement
Financial assets are initialty recognised at fair value plus transaction costs.




(d)

2.11 Impairment of assets

(a)

Subsequent measurement ‘
Avaitable-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

|
|

Unrealised gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets

are recognised in the fair value reserve within equity. When available-for—sale financial assets are sold

or impaired, the accumulated fair value adjistments in the fair value ﬁeserve withih equity are included in

the income statement. ‘

|

Determination of fair value f

The fair values of quoted financial assets are based on current bid prices. If the market for a financial asset
is not active, the Group establishes fair valie by using valuation techniiques. Thesé include the use of recent
arm's length transactions, reference to other instruments that are sub;stantially the same, discounted cash

flow analysis, and option pricing models refined to reflect the issuer's Tspecific circumstances.
[

|
i :
Impairment |
t

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidehce that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. n the case of equity investjments class}fied as available for
sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investnﬁent below its cost is considered in
determining whether the investments are impaired. If any such evidence exists fof available-for-sale
financial assets, the cumulative loss, measured as the difference be;ween the acﬁuisition cost and

the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial assét previously recognised in the income
statement, is removed from the fair value reserve within equity and récognised inthe income statement.
Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity investments aref not reversed through
the income statement, until the equity investments are disposed of. 3

For impairment of loans and receivables, rafer to Note 2.12.

Goodwill
Goodwill is tested annually for impairment. as well as when there is any indicatioh that the goodwill
may be impaired. " ‘
|

For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, goodwill is allocate‘d to each of the Group's
cash-generating units (“CGU") expected to benefit from synergies of the business combination.

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement when the carrying amount of the CGU, including
the goodwill, exceeds the recoverable amcunt of the CGU. Recoveraﬂle amount of the CGU is the higher of
the CGU's fair value less cost to sell and value in use. 3

The total impairment loss is allocated firs: to reduce the carrying arriount of goodwili allocated to the CGU
and then to the other assets of the CGU pro-rata on the basis of the ca"rrying amount of each asset in the CGU.

Impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and joint venturgs
!
Intangible assets, property, plant and equ pment and investments insubsidiaries, associated companies
and joint ventures are reviewed for impairment whenever there is any indication that these assets may be
impaired. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount (i.e. ihe higher ofjthe fair value less cost to

sell and value in use) of the asset is estimated 1o determine the amount of impairment loss.
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Impairment of assets (continued)
(b) Intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment .
Investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures (continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing of these assets, recoverable amo@lmt is determined on an individual
asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largé‘\,ly independent of those from other
assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is determined for the CGLJ to which the asset belongs to.

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. The impairment loss is
recognised in the income statement. i

An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change

in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount sincé the last impairment loss was
recognised. The carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill is increésed to its revised recoverable
amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount ihat would have been determined
(net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recogliised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recogniéed in the income statement.

Trade and other receivabies i

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less allowance for impairment. An aIIowarfajoe for impairment of trade and
other receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Grd‘yp will not be able to collect all
amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. The amount o‘( the allowance is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the
original effective interest rate. The amount of the allowance is recognised in the income statement.

Borrowings :

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurﬁéd. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is taken to the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings which are due to be settled within twelve months after the balance| sheet date are included in
current borrowings in the balance sheet. Other borrowings due to be settled n{ore than twelve months after
the balance sheet date are included in non-current borrowings in the balance gheet.

Accounting for leases
(@) When a Group company is the lessee:
(i) Finance leases
Leases of assets in which where the Group has assumed substantially the risks and rewards of
ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the inception of the
lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum
lease payments,

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges so as to achieve a

constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance
charges, are included in borrowings. The interest element of the finance cost is taken to the income
statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance
leases are depreciated over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term in accordance
with the Group’s depreciation policy.




(i) Opera.ting leases |
Leases of assets in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by
the lessor are classified as operating eases. Payments made uﬁder operating leases (net of any
incentives received from the lessor) are taken to the income statement on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease. The difference between the actual lease jpayment and the amount taken to the
income statement is capitalised as deferred lease payables.

Contingent rent is that portion of the I2ase payments that is not fixed in amopnt but is based on a
factor other than just the passage of time, for example, market interest rates,

Profits on sale and leaseback transactions which constitute opeqating leases!are recognised
immediately in the income statement when such sale and Ieasebjack transacﬁions are established

at fair value. If the sale price is below fair value, any profit or Iosé shall be reéognised immediately
except that, if the loss is compensated for by future iease payménts at below. market price, it shall
be deferred and amortised in proportion to the lease payments dver the peridd for which the asset is
expected to be used. If the sale price s above fair value, the excess over fair:value shall be deferred
and amortised over the period for which the asset is expected to be used.

When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period ha§ expired, any payment required to be
made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised as an expense}in the period} in which termination
takes place. )

(b} When a Group company is the lessor:
(i) Operating leases :
Assets leased out under operating leases are included in property, plant and equipment and are

o N .
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Contingent rent is that portion of the lease receipts that is not fixed in amount but is based on a
factor other than just the passage of time, for example, market interest rates,

Rental income (net of any incentives given to lessees) is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. The difference between th2 actual lease receipt and the amount faken to the income
statements is capitalised as deferred lease receivables.

2.15 Inventories
Inventories mainly comprise bunkers and consumable stores. Inventories aiure stated atzthe lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is derived on a weighted average basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less th2 costs of completion and ‘selling expenses.

2.16 Trade and other payables :
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently re-measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.
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Taxation

No provision is made for taxation on qualifying shipping income derived from the Company’'s and Group’s vessels
which is exempt from taxation under Section 13A of the Singapore Income Tax Act and the Singapore’s Approved
International Shipping Enterprise Tax Incentive.

A concessionary tax rate is applied to certain qualifying shipping logistics income under the Approved Freight
and Logistics Incentive. The incentive also covers income from network companies for corporate management
services provided.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial §tatements. However, if the
deferred income tax arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting not taxable profit or loss, it is not
accounted for. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that futura taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, associated
companies and joint ventures, except where the timing of the reversal of the ‘emporary difference can be
controiled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Provisions

Provisions are recoghised when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settie the obligation“and a reliable estimate of the
amount can be made. Where the Group expects a provision to be reimbursed; for example under an insurance
contract, the reimbursement is' recognised as a separate asset but only when; the reimbursement is virtually
certain. The details and methodology for estimating the amount of provision f'equired is set out in Note 26.

Employee benefits

(a) Employee leave entitlement
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrueito employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services renderéd by employees up to the balance
sheet date.

{b) Post-employment benefit plans
(i)  Defined benefit plans
The Group has defined benefit pension plans which generally call for benefits ta be paid to eligible
employees of certain subsidiaries at retirement, based on either the “cash balance” credited to each
employee's account, or years of credited service pensionable comp2nsation. The Group's general
policy is to fund pension costs at no less than the statutory requirement.

In addition, certain subsidiaries in the Group contribute to a number of collectively bargained,
muiti-employer plans that provide pension benefits to certain union-represented employees. These
contributions are determined in accordance with the provisions of negotiated labour contracts.

For defined benefit plans, pension costs are assessed using the projected unit credit method: the
cost of providing pensions is charged to the income statement so &s to spread the regular cost over
the service lives of employees in accordance with the advice of the actuaries who carry out a full
valuation of the plans every year. The pension obligations, net of plan assets, is measured as the




(i)

(i)

(i)

present value of the estimated future cash outflows using intere;st rates of government securities
which have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the rela:ted liability. When pension obligations
exceeds plan assets, the balance is ciassified as non-current Iiability. When plan assets exceeds
pension obligations, the balance is classified as non-current assjet. Actuarial gains and losses are

recognised over the average service lives of employees. !

Defined contribution plans ! )
Defined contribution plans are post-ernployment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed
contributions into separate entities. The Group has no legal or constructlve o‘bhgatnon to pay further
contributions if any of the funds does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits
relating to employee service in the curent and prior financial years. i

| |
The Group pays contributions to publicly and privately administered post—emgloyment benefit plans on
a mandatory, contracted or voluntary hasis. The contributions are recognised, as employee benefit
expense in the financial year to which they relate. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments iis available.

'
|

Employee Share Option Plan
Share options under the NOL Share Option Plan (“NOL SOP”) aré granted to Directors and employees
of the Group. These options are grantad at the average closing n@arket price Qf the shares for the
three trading days immediately prececing the grant date. Individuial awards to employees take into
consideration the job level, performance and leadership potential% of the employee. Pursuant to the
terms of the NOL SOP, share options wil! vest after a specified n:umber of years from the grant date.

|

(c) Share-based compensation }

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for: the grant of the options is recognised
as an expense in the income statement with a corresponding inprease in share-based compensation
reserve. The total amount to be recognised over the vesting per:iod is determined by reference to the
fair value of the share options at the date of the grant and the r;umber of share options expected to
become exercisable by vesting date. Non-market vesting conditi%)ns are included in assumptions about
the number of options that are expected to become exercisable; on vesting date. At every balance
sheet date, the Group revises its estimates of the number of sh:are options that are expected to
become exercisable on vesting date. Any revision of this estimate is included in the income statement
and a corresponding adjustment to ejuity over the remaining vésting period.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital
and/or share premium when the options are exercised.

Performance Share Plan |
Performance shares under the Performance Share Plan (“PSP” )rare awarded 1o key executives
conditional upon the Group meeting or exceeding a prescribed ﬂnanmal target condition during the
performance period, and also conditional on the participants meetmg their performance conditions.
Pursuant to the terms of the PSP, performance shares will vestafter a specified number of years from
the end of the performance period. 5

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange foir the award of the performance shares
is recognised as an expense in the income statement with a corresponding increase in share-based
compensation reserve. The total amount to be recognised over{the vesting perrod is determined by
reference to the fair value of the performance shares at the date of the award and the number of
performance shares expected to be vested by vesting date. Nor\ -market vesting conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of performance sha“res that are expected to vest on vesting
date. At every balance sheet date, the Group revises its estlmates of the number of performance
shares that are expected to vest on vesting date. Any revision of this estomate is included in the
income statement and a corresponding adjustment to equity oyer the remaining vesting period.

I

|

|
\
|
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2.19 Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based compensation (continued)

(c)

(iif)

(iv)

Replacement Rights Plan

Replacement rights are awarded to key executives conditional upon the participants meeting their
performance conditions. Instead of shares, the participants receive the equivalent in cash computed
at the average closing market price of the shares for the last three days immediately preceding the
vesting date of the replacement rights. Pursuant to the terms of the Replacement Rights Plan,
replacement rights will vest after a specified number of years from the end of the performance period.

The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the award of the replacement

rights is recognised as an expense in the income statement with a corresponding increase in liability.
The total amount to be recognised over the vesting period as an expense in the income statement is
determined hy reference to the fair value of the replacement rights at the date of the award and the
number of replacement rights expected to be vested by vesting date. At every balance sheet date, the
Group revises its estimates of the number of replacement rights that are expected to vest by the
vesting date. Any revision of this estimate is included in the income statement and a corresponding
adjustment to liability over the remaining vesting period. Until the settlement of the replacement
rights, the fair value shall be remeasured at each reporting date anc: at the date of settlement,

with any changdes in fair value recognised in the income statement and a corresponding adjustment to
liability for the period.

Staff Share Ownership Scheme

The Group offers the Staff Share Ownership Scheme to all eligible Singapore employees. Certain
companies in the Group will make corresponding contributions of $$0.50 for every $$1.00 contributed
by the employees, up to a maximum of $$250 per month. All contributions collected will be credited
to an employee benefit trust fund which will be used to buy the sharas of the Company for issuance of
units to the employees. Cash is paid to employees when they exercise the right to redeem the units or
upon their last day of service with the Group. The employees can redeem the units twice a year. The
value of the units to be redeemed is based on the weighted average share price for the first three
business days immediately following the date of receipt of notificaticn by the Company to the trustee
of the redemption or the last day of service of the employees.

Contributions made are recognised in the income statement as expense when incurred.

The Group consolidates the employee benefit trust set up for the purpose of the Company’s
share-based compensation arrangement under the Staff Share Ownership Scheme in accordance with
INT FRS 12 (revised 2004). Arising from the consolidation of the trust, the Company's shares held by
the trust are accounted for as “treasury shares” in accordance with RS 32 (revised 2004).

(d) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or
whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognises

termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either: termingting the employment of current

employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination
benefits as result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy.

2.20 Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency

of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the fumctional currency”). The financial
statements of the Group and the Company are presented in United StatestDoHars, which is the functional
and presentation currency of the Company.

(@




{b) Transactions and batances
Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Currency
translation gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the transiation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the income statement, except for currency transtation differences on net investments in
foreign operations and borrowings and other currency instruments qualifying as net investment hedges
for foreign operations in the consolidated financial statements.

Currency translation differences on non-monetary items when the fair value gain or ioss is recognised in
profit or loss, such as equity investments held at fair value through profit or ioss, are reported as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Currency transiation differences on non-monetary items when the fair value
gain or loss is recognised directly in equity, such as equity investments classified as available-for-sale
financiat assets, are included in the fair velue reserve within equity.

(c) Translation of Group entities’ financial statements
The results and financial position of all the group entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a fun:tional currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

{I) Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date
of the batance sheet;

(i) Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rate (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates of the transactions); and

(iii} All resulting exchange differences are taken to the foreign currency translation reserve within equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity on or after 1 January 2005
are treated as assets and liabilities of the fareign entity and translated at the closing rate. For acquisitions
prior to 1 January 2005, the exchange rates at the dates of acquisition were used.

2.21 Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value or- the date the derivative contracts are entered into and are
subsequently re-measured at their fair value. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on
whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged.
The Group designates certain derivatives as either (1) hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or
liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedge); or (2) hedges of highly probable forecasted transactions
(cash flow hedge).

The Group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and
hedged items, as well as its risk management ob.ectives and strategy for undertaking various hedge
transactions. The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of
whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair
values or cash flows of hedged items.

(a) Fair value hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded
in the income statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are
attributable 10 the hedged risks.

The Group has entered into a cross currency interest rate swap which involves converting a fixed rate
liability into a floating rate liability. This derivative qualifies for hedge accounting.
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2.23

2.24

Derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)

(b) Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges are recognised in the hedging reserve within equity and transferred to the income statement in
the periods when the hedged items affect the income statement. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective
portion is recognised immediately in the income statement.

The Group has entered into:

(i) Foreign exchange forward contracts and bunker swaps that are cash flow hedges for the Group's
exposures to foreigh currency risks and price volatility risks of farecasted transactions respectively;

(i) Interest rate collars to hedge the variability in interest expense arising from floating rate borrowings of
the Group; and

(i) Cross currency interest rate swap to hedge against the currency risks arising from its borrowings.
This involves an exchange of principal and interest receipt in the foreign currency in which the
borrowing is denominated, for principal and interest payment in the Group's functional currency.

(¢) Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting
Changes in the fair value of any derivative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are
recognised immediately in the income statement.

Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as exchange-traded and over-the-counter
securities and derivatives) is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market
price used for financial assets heid by the Group is the current bid price; the appropriate quoted market price
for financial liabilities is the current ask price. The fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts is determined
using forward exchange market rates at the balance sheet date. The fair value of bunker swaps, cross currency
interest rate swap and interest rate collars are abtained from a number of reputable financia! institutions.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation
techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions
existing at each balance sheet date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used

for long-term debt. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair vaiue
for the remaining financial instruments.

The carrying amount of current receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values.
The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

Segment reporting

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged in providing praducts or services that are
subject to risks and returns that are different from those of other business segments. A geographical segment
is engaged in providing products or services within a particular economic environment that is subject to risks
and returns that are different from those segments operating in other economic environments.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the consoiidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand,
deposits with banks and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are included under borrowings in current liabilities on
the balance sheets.




2.25

2.26

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new equity
instruments, other than for the acquisition of businesses, are taken to equity as a deduction, net of tax,
from the proceeds. incremental costs directly attributabie to the issuance of new equity instruments for the
acquisition of businesses are included in the cost of acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.

Where any Group company purchases the Coripany's equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes), is deducted from equity
attributable to the Company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled, reissued or disposed of. Where
such shares are subsequently disposed or reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly attributable
incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity attributable to the
Company’s equity holders. Realised gain or lo:3s on disposal or reissue of treasury shares are included in
retained profits of the Company.

Dividends
Interim dividends are recorded in the financial year in which they are declared payable. Final dividends are
recorded in the financial year in which the dividends are approved by the shareholders.

Effects on Financial Statements on the Adoption of New or Revised FRS
The effects on adoption of the following FRS in 2005 are set out below:

3.1

3.2

FRS 27 (revised 2004) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
Previously, there was no requirement for the presentation of minority interests within equity. FRS 27 (revised
2004) requires minority interests to be presented within equity of the Group retrospectively.

FRS 39 (revised 2004) Financial Instruments:: Recognition and Measurement; FRS 32 (revised 2004)
Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and Amendments to FRS 39 (revised 2004) - The Fair
Value Option

(a) Classification and consequential accounting for financial assets and financial liabilities

(i) Previously, the Group's long-term equity investments were stated at cost and an allowance for
impairment was made where there i a decline other than temporary in the value of such investments.
The decline in value was recognised as an expense in the period in which the decline was identified.

In accordance with FRS 32 (revised :2004), the Group’s quoted equity investments were initially
designated as “fair value through profit and loss” and unquoted equity investments were classified
as “available-for-sale”.

The equity investments that were inizially designated as “fair value through profit and loss” were
re-measured to fair value at the balance sheet date with all gains and losses immediately recognised
in the income statement. This change was effected prospectively from 1 January 2005 and consequently
affected the foliowing balance sheet items as at 1 January 2005.

Group
Us$'000

Increase in:
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 173

Retained earnings 173




3. Effects on Financial Statements on the Adoption of New or Revised FRS (continued)

3.2 FRS 39 (revised 2004) Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement; FRS 32 (revised 2004)
Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and Amendments to FRS 39 (revised 2004) - The Fair
Value Option (continued)
(a) Classification and consequential accounting for financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

(i)

{iii)

The Group early adopted Amendments to FRS 39 - The Fair Value Option which limit the use of initial
designation as “fair value through profit and loss”. The Group’s quoted equity investments do not
satisfy the restricted criteria as specified in the Amendments to FRS 39. As such, the quoted equity
investments are reclassified to “available-for-sale” with effect from 1 January 2005 (Note 2.10).
With this early adoption, the following balance sheet items were affected as at 1 January 2005.

Group
US$’000

(Decrease)/Increase in:
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (173)
Retained earnings (173)
Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 16) 173
Fair value reserve 173

The effects on the balance sheet as at 30 December 2005 and income statement for the year ended
30 December 2005 are set out in Note 3.4.

The equity investments that are classified as “available-for-sale financial assets” are re-measured at
fair values at the balance sheet date with all gains and losses other than impairment loss taken to
equity. Impairment losses are taken to the income statement in the period they arise. On disposal,
gains and losses previously taken to equity are included in the income statement (Note 2.10(c), (d)
and (f)). This change was effected prospectively from 1 January 2005 and consequently affected the
following balance sheet items as at 1 January 2005.

Group and Corﬁpany

US$’000
Increase in:
Available-for-sale financial assets (Note 16) 8,017
Fair value reserve 8,017

The effects on the balance sheet as at 30 December 2005 and income statement for the year ended
30 December 2005 are set out in Note 3.4.

Previously, the Group’s trade and other payables and bank borrowings were stated at cost. Bank
borrowings were stated at the proceeds received and transaction costs on borrowings were classified
as deferred charges and amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the borrowings. These
financial liabilities are not held for trading and have not been designated as fair value through profit
and loss at inception on adoption of FRS 39 (revised 2004). In accordance with FRS 39 (revised
2004), they are initially recognised at fair value less transaction costs and subsequently accounted for
at amortised cost using the effective interest method (Note 2.13 and Note 2.16).

This change did not materially affect the financial statements for the year ended 30 December 2005.
Previously, the Group’s trade and other receivables were stated at original invoice amount less
allowance made for doubtful receivables. In accordance with FRS 39 (revised 2004), they are initially
recognised at fair value and subsequently accounted for at amortised cost using the effective interest

method (Note 2.12).

This change did not materially affect the financial statements for the year ended 30 December 2005.




(b}

Impairment and uncollectibility of financial assets

Previously, the Group made specific and general provision on trade and other receivables when there is
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms
of the receivables. On adoption of FRS 39 (revised 2004), the Group is now required to assess at each
balance sheet date if there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired (Note 2.12). Impairment loss shall be computed as the difference between the asset's carrying
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest
rate. Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are
estimated on the basis of historical loss experience and current observable data.

Previously, long-term equity investments were assessed for diminution in value that is other than temporary.
On adoption of FRS 39 (revised 2004), lang-term equity investments that are classified as “available-for-
sale” have to be assessed for objective evidence of impairment, which include a significant or prolonged
dectine in the fair value of the investment below its cost, Impairment loss shall be computed as the
difference between acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised
in the income statement.

This change was effected prospectively from 1 January 2005 and consequently affected the following
balance sheet items as at 1 January 2005.

Group and Company

Us$'000

" Increase in:
Other non-current assets 37
Retained earnings 37

The effects on the balance sheet as at 30 December 2005 and income statement for the year ended
30 December 2005 are set out in Note 3.4,

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Previously, the Group used the last transacted prices of quoted financial assets or liabilities as the market
values. Fair values of unquoted financial assets and liabilities were measured based on last transacted
prices of recent arm’s length transactions.

Fair value estimation is now carried out in accordance with the guidance set out in FRS 39 (revised 2004)
(Note 2.22).

This change did not materially affect the financial statements for the year ended 30 December 2005.

Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities

Previously, fair value gains or losses (exclusive of accrued interest or settled amount) arising from
derivatives entered into for hedging purpuses were not accounted for. The carrying amount of the hedged
item was not adjusted for changes in fair value attributable to hedged risks.

In accordance with FRS 39 (revised 2004), derivative financial instruments that qualify for fair value hedge
accounting are initially recognised at fair value on the date the contract is entered into. Changes in fair
value of derivatives are recorded in the income statement together with any changes in the fair value of the
hedged items that are attributable to the hedged risks (Note 2.21(a)).

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative financial instruments that qualify as cash flow
hedges are recognised in the hedging reseive within equity. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is
recognised immediately in the income statement, Amounts accumulated in equity are transferred to the income
statement in the periods when the hedged item affects the income statement (Note 2.21(b)).




3. Effects on Financial Statements on the Adoption of New or Revised FRS (continued)

3.2 FRS 39 (revised 2004) Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement; FRS 32 (revised 2004)
Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and Amendments to FRS 39 (revised 2004) — The Fair
Value Option (continued)
(d) Accounting for derivative financia! instruments and hedging activities (continued)

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are accounted for as fair value through profit or loss.

The Group has entered into the following derivative financial instruments to hedge its risks, namely:

(®

(i)

(iii)

()

Cross currency interest rate swap that is (a) fair value hedge for the interest rate risk; and (b) cash
flow hedge for the currency risk arising from the Group’s issued bond. The cross currency interest
rate swap involves the exchange of principal and fixed interest receipt in the foreign currency in
which the issued bond is denominated, for principal and floating interest payment in the Group’s
functional currency.

Interest rate collars that are cash flow hedges for the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk on its
borrowings. The interest rate collars combine the purchase of a cap and the sale of a floor within a
specified range in which the interest rates will fluctuate. This resuits in insulating the Group against
the risk of a significant rise in the floating rate, but limits the benefits of a drop in that floating rate.
Interest rate collars, which are not assigned to any borrowings due to early repayments of borrowings,
are not designated for hedge accounting.

Bunker swaps that are cash flow hedges for the Group's exposure to price volatility risk of forecasted
bunker fuel consumption. Bunker swaps allow the Group to purchase bunker fuel cil at variable price
and swap them into fixed price.

Foreign exchange forward contracts that are cash flow hedges for the Group's exposure to currency
risks arising from forecasted or committed expenses. Foreign exchange forward contracts are
agreements to buy or sell fixed amounts of foreign currency at agreed exchange rates to be settled
in the future.

The changes described above were effected prospectively from 1 January 2005 and consequently affected
the following balance sheet items as at 1 January 2005:

Group Company
us$’coo Us$’000
Increase in:
Trade and other receivables - 3,360
Derivative financial instruments (Note 21)
~ Current assets i 18,374 217
- Non-current assets 49,280 49,280
Increase in:
Derivative financial instruments (Note 21)
— Current lighilities (13,410} (9,774)
Borrowings (41,654) (41,654)
12,580 1,429
(Increase)/decrease in:
Retained earnings (4,440) (7,459)
Hedging reserve (8,150) 6,030

The effects on the balance sheet as at 30 December 2005 and income statement for the year ended
30 December 2005 are set out in Note 3.4.




3.3 FRS 102 Share-hased Payment

(a)

(b)

Equity-settled, share-based compensation plans

NOL Share Option Plan

Previously, the provision of share options to employees did not result in any charge in the income
statement. The Group and Company recogiised an increase in share capital and share premium when the
share options were exercised.

Performance Share Plan
Previously, the Group and the Company recognised an expense in the income statement with a
corresponding increase in liability for perfcrmance shares awarded under this plan.

The NOL Share Option Plan and Performance Share Plan are considered as equity-settled, share-based
compensation plans under FRS 102.

FRS 102 requires the Group and the Company to recognise an expense in the income statement with a
corresponding increase in the share-basec compensation reserve for share options granted or performance
shares awarded under these plans after 22 November 2002 and not vested by 1 January 2005

(Note 2.19(c)(i) and (ii)).

The adoption of FRS 102 did not result in any impact on the income statement for performance shares
awarded as previously, the Group and the Company recognised an expense in the income statement for
awards under the Performance Share Plan, determined by reference to the fair value of the performance
shares at the date of award. The impact on the balance sheet was an increase in the share-based
compensation reserve with a correspondirg decrease in trade and other payables of US$1.6 million
and US%$0.5 million for the Group and the Company respectively.

The effects on the balance sheet as at 30 December 2005 and income statement for the financial year
ended 30 December 2005 are set out in Mote 3.4.

Cash-settled, share-based compensation plan

Staff Share Ownership Scheme
Previously, the Group and Company recognised an expense in the income statement when contributions are
payable to the employee benefit trust.

The Staff Share Ownership Scheme is considered as a cash-settled, shared-based compensation plan
under FRS 102.

FRS 102 and revised INT FRS 12 require the Group to consolidate the employee benefit trust set up for
the purpose of the Company’s share-based payment arrangement under the Staff Share Ownership
Scheme. Arising from the consolidation of the trust, the Company’s shares heid by the trust are
accounted for as “treasury shares” in accordance with FRS 32 (revised 2004) (Note 2.19(c)(iv)).

The effects on the balance sheet as at 30 December 2005 and income statement for the financial year
ended 30 December 2005 are set out in Note 3.4.



3. Effects on Financial Statements on the Adoption of New or Revised FRS (continued)
3.4 Summary of effects on adoption of new or revised FRS on:

(a) Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 30 December 2005

Increase/(Decrease)
FRS 39

(revised 2004) FRS 102 Total
Description of changes uss$’000 Us$'000 Uss$’'000
Consolidated balance sheet items as at 30 December 2005
Treasury shares - 1.399 1,339
Retained earnings 2,803 (14,029) (11,226)
Share-based compensation reserve - 15,162 15,162
Hedging reserve (14,577) - (14,577)
Fair value reserve 8,238 - 8,238
Cash and cash equivalents - 43 43
Trade and other receivables - 1 1
Available-for-sale financial assets 8,238 - 8,238
Derivative financial instruments (Non-current Assets) 28,851 - 28,851
Other non-current assets 380 - 380
Trade and other payables (252) 1.886 1,634
Derivative financial instruments (Current Liabilities) 14,058 - 14,058
Borrowings (Non-current Liabilities) 27,199 - 27,199

(b) Consolidated Income Statement for the financial year ended 30 December 2005

Increase/(Decrease)
FRS 39

(revised 2004) FRS 102 Total
Description of changes Us$'000 US$'000 Us$’000
Consolidated Income Statement items for financial year

ended 30 December 2005

Administrative expenses - 14,029 14,029
Finance expenses 2,017 - 2,017
Other operating expenses (343) - (343)
Net profit for the financial year (1,674) (14,029) (15,703)
Basic Earnings per ordinary share (in US cents) (0.12) (0.97) (1.09)

Diluted Earnings per ordinary share (in US cents) (0.12) (0.97) (1.09)




(c)  Company Balance Sheet as at 30 December 2005
Increase/(Decrease)
FRS 39

(revised 2004) FRS 102 Total
Description of changes Uss$’'000 US$'000 Uss$’'000
Balance sheet items as at 30 December 2005
Retained earnings 2,819 (2,616) 203
Share-based compensation reserve - 15,162 15,162
Hedging reserve (852) - (852)
Fair value reserve 8,017 - 8,017
Trade and other receivables 411 - 411
Investment in subsidiaries - 12,004 12,004
Available-for-sale financial assets 8,017 - 8,017
Derivative financial instruments (Non-current Assets) 28,851 - 28,851
Other non-current assets 380 - 380
Trade and other payables - (542) (542)
Derivative financia! instruments (Current Liabilities) 476 - 476
Borrowings (Non-current Liabilities) 27,199 - 27,199

Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
defin_ition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year

are discussed below.

(iy Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 2.11(a). The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been
determined based on value-in-use calculations. The carrying amount of goodwill as at 30 December 2005

was US$221.5 million (2004: US$221.5 million). Details of the estimates used to calculate the

recoverable amounts are given in Note 20.
§

(i) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the capital allowances, deductibility of certain expenses, and taxability of certain income during
the estimation of the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
"Iiabilities for anticipated tax audit issues hased on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the provision for income tax and deferred income tax provisions in the period

in which such determination is made. The carrying amounts of'the Group's current income tax liabilities

and deferred income tax liabilities as at 30 December 2005 were US$65.6 million (2004: US$30.3 million)
and US$137.5 million (2004; US$168.9 million) respectively.



4, Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements (continued)

(@)

(b)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (continued)

(in

(iif)

Income taxes (continued)

If the final outcome (on the judgement areas) differs by 10% from management's estimates, the Group

would need to:

- increase the income tax liability by US$1.1 million and the deferred income tax liability by
US$0.8 million, if unfavourable; or

- decrease the income tax liability by US$1.1 million and the deferred income tax liability by
US$0.8 million, if favourable.

Impairment of prepaid lease rental estimation

The Group determines the impairment loss on the prepaid lease rental of office space, in accordance
with the accounting policy stated in Note 2.12. The recoverable amount of the asset has been
determined based on value-in-use calculations. More details of the estimates used in the calcutations are
given in Note 22.

If the discount rate used in the discounted cash flow analysis had been decreased by 1% from management's
estimates, the carrying amount of non-current assets would be an estimated US$0.2 million higher.

Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies

The following are the judgements made by management in the process of applying the Group's accounting
policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

()

(i)

Provision for impairment in value of associated companies

The Group foliows the guidance of FRS 36 (revised 2004) on determining whether it is necessary to
recognise any additional impairment loss with respect to the Group’s net investment in the associated
companies. This determination requires significant judgement, the Group evaluates, among other factors,
the duration and extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost; and the financial
health of and nearterm business outlook for the investee and the fair value of the properties heid by

the investee.

Impairment of trade receivables

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that trade receivables
have been impaired. Impairment loss is calculated based on a review of the current status of existing
receivables and historical collections experience. Such provisions are adjusted periodically to reflect actual
and anticipated experience.




Revenue and Other Gains (Net)

Group

2005 2004
Uss$'000 Uss$’000

Revenue from services rendered®

Other misceltaneous gains (net):

Net profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Net profit on disposal of subsidiaries

Net profit on acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary
Net profit on disposal of associated companies
Amortisation of deferred income (Note 27)

Sublease rental income

Contingent settlement arising from sale of a subsidiary
Deferred gain

Others

Finance and investment income:
Dividend income

interest income

Foreign exchange gain

Other finance income

Revenue and other gains (net)

7,271,060 6,544,756

16,138 6,990
219 8,063

- 446
8,659 2,679
5,416 5,411
2,840 3,648
9,974 41,424
11,218 11,218
8,342 9,236
62,806 89,115
6,360 1,739
25,295 12,799
68 1,603

- 3,028
31,723 18,169

7,365,589 6,653,040

15 Sublease rental income included in revenue from services rendered amounted to US$5.8 million (2004: US$23.9 million).

The Group’s business is organised and managed separately according to the nature of the services provided.

Please refer to Note 37, which presents revenue and profit information regarding business segments for the financial
vears ended 30 December 2005 and 31 December 2004 and certain assets and liabilities information of the

business segments as at those dates.



Expenses by Nature

Group
2005 2004
Us$’000 Us$'000
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment {(Note 17) 242,552 231,562
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 19) 9,142 10,821
Impairment of goodwill arising on consolidation (Note 20) - 66,991
Net write-back of impairment in value of property, plant and equipment (Note 17) (3,971) (18,375)
Net write-back of impairment in value of a joint venture company - (1,575)
Provision for impairment of other non-current assets (Note 22) 8,256 -
Net provision for impairment of loans and non-trade debts to associated companies 3,490 790
Net write-back of impairment of loans receivable (1,2586) (4,402)
Net (write-back of)/provision for impairment in value of other non-current investments (380) 465
Net write-back of impairment in value of available-for-sale financial assets (Note 16) - (1,300),
Total depreciation, amortisation and impairment 257,833 284,977
Auditors’ remuneration paid/payable to
- auditors of the Company 912 922
- affiliates of auditors of the Company 1,492 1,458
— other auditors 106 140
— under provision in respect of prior years 42 218
Non-audit fees paid/payable to
- auditors of the Company 211 301
— affiliates of auditors of the Company 834 1,468
— other auditors 772 876
Employee benefits (including US$0.2 million of fair value losses on foreign exchange
forward contracts: cash flow hedge) (Note 8) : 493,308 434,576
Fair value (gains)/losses on financial instruments:
- bunker swaps: cash flow hedge (33,522) -
- foreign exchange forward contracts: cash flow hedge 6,531 -
- foreign exchange forward contracts: not qualifying as hedges 356 -
Global cargo transportation expenses 2,921,670 2,595,188
Global logistics operating expenses 964,384 882,710
Inventories
- cost of inventories recognised as an expense (included in ‘cost of sales’) 684,992 473,392
Net foreign exchange toss/(gain) 3,721 (11,257)
Net provision for drydocking costs (Note 26) 2,624 1,716
Net write-back of provision for restructuring costs (Note 26) - (507)
Net provision for/(write-back of) provision for onerous contracts - leased
premises (Note 26) 26 (279)
Net write-back of provision for onerous contracts - leased vessels - (13,545)
Net (write-back of)/provision for insurance, litigation and other claims (Note 26) (279) 30,333
Rental expenses — operating leases
- minimum lease payment 828,760 756,566
~ contingent renta! 16,200 16,357
Write-off of intangible assets (Note 19) 8,677 36,655
Others 294,603 192,826

Total cost of sales, administrative and other operating expenses

6,454,323 5,684,891




Finance Expenses

Group
2005 2004
Us$'000 Us$'000
Interest expense:
- Finance leases 4,880 10,973
- Bank loans 32,457 74,226
-~ Others 266 1,897
- Interest rate collars: cash flow hedge 2,399 -
Fair value losses/(gains) on financial instruments:
- Interest rate collars: not qualifying as hedges 202 -
— Cross currency interest rate swap: fair value hadge 14,514 -
— Bond: fair value hedge adjustment on bond (9,494) -
Net foreign exchange loss:
~ Foreign exchange gain (2,650) -
- Cross currency interest rate swap: cash flow hedge 4,961 -
Financing fees 4,534 6,281
Amortisation of deferred charges (Note 18) 535 3,585
53,304 96,962
Employee Benefits
Group
2005 2004
US$'000 US$'000
Wages, salaries and bonus 434,704 406,824
Employer's contribution to defined contribution plans 24,662 22,856
Compensation expense relating to defined benefit plans (Note 32) 16,450 15,712
Share-based compensation costs
- Equity-settled 15,162 (472)
— Cash-settled 1,659 249
Termination costs (Note 26) 16 (10,593)
Fair value losses on treasury shares held under Staft Share Ownership Scheme 443 _
Fair value losses on foreign exchange forward contracts: cash flow hedge 212 -
493,308 434,576

Disclosures on employee benefits are found in Note 32.




9. Income Tax

(a)

Group
2005 2004
Income Tax Expense/(Credit) Us$'000 Us$'000
Income tax expense/(credit) attributable to current financial year’s results
is made up of:
Current income tax
Singapore 4,187 8,112
Foreign 76,255 45,362
80,442 53,474
Deferred income tax (16,740) (28,851)
63,702 24,623
Under/{over) provision in respect of prior financia! years:
Current income tax 6,356 (15,373)
Deferred income tax (7,463) (81,795)
62,595 (72,545)

The income tax expense for the financial year differs from the amount that would arise using the Singapore

standard rate of income tax due to the following factors:

Group

2005 2004

Uss'000 US$'000

Profit before income tax 874,121 873,814
Tax calculated at a tax rate of 20% (2004: 20%) 174,824 174,763
Effect of different tax rates in other countries (4,899) (13,432)
Qualifying shipping income exempt from taxation (123,978) (138,252)
Income not subject to tax (9,441) (14,009)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 23,933 12,091
Tax losses/temporary differences not recognised 3,319 3,465
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses/temporary differences (56) (603)

Effect of changes in tax rates

- 600

63,702 24,623




(b)

(c)

Group Company

Movements in Current Income Tax 2005 2004 2005 2004
Liabilities US$’'000 Uss'000 Uss’'000 Uss$'000
Balance at beginning of financial year 30,317 56,245 13,640 10,540
Net income tax (paid)/refunded (51,204) (62,792) (3,208) 2,559
Current financial year’s income tax expense 80,442 53,474 804 3,729
Under/(over) provision in respect of prior

financial years 6,356 (15,373) - (3,220)
Disposal of subsidiaries - (752) - -
Foreign currency translation (273) (485) (54) 32
Balance at end of financial year 65,638 30,317 11,182 13,640

Deferred Income Taxes

There has been no deferred income tax charged/(credited) to equity during the financial year.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that realisation of

the related tax benefits through future taxable profits is probable. The Group has unrecognised tax losses and
capital allowances of US$61.8 million and US$7.5 million (2004: US$49.7 million and US$7.6 million)
respectively, to carry forward and use to offset future taxable income subject to meeting certain statutory
requirements by those companies with unrecognised tax losses in their respective countries of incorporation.
These tax losses have no expiry dates except for amounts of US$0.4 million and US$1.7 million, which will
expire in 2009 and 2024 respectively (2004: US$2.7 million and US$$1.9 million, which will expire in 2009 and
2024 respectively). Unutilised capital allowances do not have expiry dates.

Movements in the Group's deferred income tax assets and liabilities (prior to offsetting of balances within the
same tax jurisdiction) during the financial year are as follows:

Group - 2005 Unremitted
Accelerated foreign Business
tax sourced combination
Deferred Income Tax depreciation income activities'’ Others Total
Liabilities arising from Us$’000 UsS$'000 US$’00C USS'000 USS’000
Balance at beginning of financial year 213,485 10,502 8,697 22,774 255,458
(Credited)/charged to income statement {21,380) 69 (320} (4,195) (25,826)
Foreign currency translation (3) (3) - (2) (8)
Balance at end of financial year 192,102 10,568 8,377 18,577 229,624
Unutilised
tax losses
and
unabsorbed Leasing
capital related
Deferred Income Tax Provisions allowances activities™ Others Total
Assets arising from UsS$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
Balance at beginning of financial year 134,042) (44,882) (14,507} (34,915) (128,346)
(Credited)/charged to income statement (8,083) 11,035 1,000 (2,329) 1,623
Disposal of subsidiaries 8 - - - 8
Foreign currency translation (15) 165 - 84 234
Balance at end of financial year 142,132) (33,682) (13,507) (37,160) (126,481)

17

assumed at their fair values, but no equivalent adjustment is made for tax purposes.

18

to sale and leaseback transactions,

Arises when the cost of business combinations is allocated by recognising the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities

Arises from deferred lease payables due to recognition of rental expense on a straight-line basis and deferred income due



9. Income Tasx (continued)
(c) Deferred Income Taxes (continued)

Group - 2004 Unremitted

Accelerated foreign Business

tax sourced combination
Deferred Income Tax depreciation income activities*® Others Total
Liabilities arising from US$’000 uss'000 US$’000 US$'000 USS’000
Balance at beginning of financial year 226,738 13,675 8,757 08,966 348,136
Credited to income statement (35,629) (3,187) (60) (76,183} (115,059)
Acquisition of a subsidiary 24,399 - : - - 24,399
Disposal of subsidiaries {(1,930) - - - (1,930)
Foreign currency translation (93) 14 - (9) (88)
Balance at end of financial year 213,485 10,502 8,697 22,774 255,458

Leasing

Unutilised related
Deferred Income Tax Provisions tax losses activities® Others Total
Assets arising from uss'000 Us$’'000 US$’000 USS’000 USS’000
Balance at beginning of financial year (26,802) (49,562) (20,645) (35,692) (132,701)
(Credited)/charged to income statement (7,362) 4,726 6,138 911 4,413
Disposal of subsidiaries 16 - - - 16
Foreign currency transiation 106 (46) - (134) (74)
Balance at end of financial year (34,042) (44,882) (14,507) (34,915) (128,346)

18 Arises when the cost of business combinations is allocated by recognising the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at their fair values, but no equivalent adjustment is made for tax purposes.

® Arises from deferred iease payables due to recognition of rental expense on a straight-line basis and deferred income due
to sale and leaseback transactions.

Company - 2005 Unremitted
foreign
sourced
income
Deferred Income Tax Liabilities arising from Us$’000
Balance at beginning of financial year 10,267
Charged to income statement 46
Balance at end of financial year __M
Company - 2004 Unremitted
foreign
sourced .
income
Deferred Income Tax Liabilities arising from US$’000
Balance at beginning of financial year 10,727
Effect of changes in tax rates (600)
Charged to income statement 140

Balance at end of financial year . 10,267




Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are cffset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
income tax assets against current income tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same
fiscal authority. The following amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown in the balance sheets:

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
Us$'000 Uss'000 Uss'000 Uss$'000
Deferred income tax assets (34,366) (41,825) - -
Deferred income tax liabilities 137,509 168,937 10,313 10,267
The amounts shown in the balance sheets included the following:
Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
Us$'000 UsS$'000 Us$'000 US$’000
Deferred income tax assets to be
recovered after 12 months (27,256) (1,518) - -
Deferred income tax liabilities to be
settled after 12 months 169,147 179,173 10,313 10,267
10. Earnings Per Share
Group
2005 2004
Net profit after income tax attributable to equity hoiders (US$'000) 803,872 942,707
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for basic
earnings per share ('000) 1,452,344 1,439,914
Adjustment for share options ('000) 2,091 584
Adjustment for performance shares ('000) 1,203 -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings
per share ('000) 1,455,638 1,440,498

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit after income tax attributable to equity holders by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue {excluding treasury shares) during the financial year.

For purposes of calculating diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue

is adjusted to take into account the dilutive effect arising from the exercise of all outstanding share options granted to
employees where such shares would be issued at a price lower than the fair value (average share price during the
financial year) and the vesting of all outstanding performance shares awarded to key executives. The difference
between the weighted average number of shares to be issued at the exercise prices under the options and the
weighted average number of shares that would have lbeen issued at the fair value based on the assumed proceeds
from the issue of these shares are treated as ordinary shares issued for no consideration. The number of such shares
issued for no consideration and the weighted average number of outstanding performance shares are added to the
number of ordinary shares outstanding in the computation of diluted earnings per share. No adjustment is made to

the net profit after income tax attributable to equity holders.




i4.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
Us$'000 Us$’000 Us$'000 Us$’'000
Fixed deposits 1,027,963 586,971 1.490 737
Bank and cash balances 132,983 87,556 7.609 1,860
1,160,946 874,527 9.099 2,597

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
UsS$'000 Us$’'000 Us$'000 USs$’'000
United States Dollar 1,024,746 533,220 1,706 672
Chinese Renminbi 66,561 85,752 - -
Euro 9,744 3,939 - -
Indian Rupee 6,836 6,585 - -
Singapore Dollar 3,410 2,835 554 779
Thai Baht 3,371 650 2,905 95
Others 46,278 41,546 3,934 1,051
1,160,946 674,527 9,099 2,597

Fixed deposits have an average maturity of 1 month (2004: 1 month) from the end of the financial year with the

following weighted average effective interest rates:

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
% : % % %
United States Dollar 4.2 2.2 4.2 1.9
Others 2.2 1.9 5.1 -

The exposure of cash and cash equivalents to interest rate risks and the periods in which they “reprice” are as follows:

Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004
Uss$’000 Us$'000 Us$’000 Us$’'000

Variable rates
— Less than 6 months 29,419 26,962 - -

Fixed rates

— Less than 6 months 998,544 560,001 1,490 737
-~ More than & months but less than 1 year - 8 - -
Non-interest bearing 132,983 87,556 7,609 1,860
1,160,946 674,527 9,099 2,597




Group

Summary of effect of acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries 2005 2004
on the Group’s cash flows us$'000 Us$’000
Net assets acquired:
Property, plant and equipment (Note 17) - 85,340
Intangible assets (Note 19) - 36,655
Current assets - 759
Current liabilities - (110,842)
Non-current liabilities - (24,399)
Net attributable liabilities acquired - (12,487)
Goodwill arising on consolidation (Note 20) - 12,487
Cost of acquisition of a subsidiary - *
Add: Cash of a subsidiary acquired - 754
Net cash inflow from acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired - 754

* Cost of acquisition was at a nominal price of S$1.

Net assets disposed:

Property, plant and equipment (Note 17) - 49,307
Intangible assets (Note 19) - 134
Other non-current assets 8 581
Current assets 1,351 18,174
Current liabilities (499) (8,567)
Non-current liabilities - (9,769)
Net attributable assets disposed 860 49,860
Less: Minority interest - (483)
Add: Foreign currency translation reserve 13 180
873 49,577

Profit on disposal of subsidiaries 219 8.0863
Net proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 1,092 57,640
Less: Cash of subsidiaries disposed (1,302) (7,959)
Less: Cash receivable from buyer of a subsidiary - (2,432)

Net cash (outflow)/inflow {net of transaction costs) on disposal of subsidiaries,
net of cash disposed (210) 47,249




12. Current Assets

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
Note US$'000 Uss$'000 Uss$’'c00 uss’000
(a) Trade and Other Receivables
Trade debtors (i) 839,648 805,164 14 14
Other debtors and recoverables 0] 16,53% 77,964 2,007 45,879
Amounts due from subsidiaries
(non-trade) (ii) - - 1,587,142 597,827
Amounts due from associated
companies (non-trade) {iii) 65 207 65 123
Loans to subsidiaries (iv) - - 110,440 336,551
Loans to associated companies (v} 770 798 770 798
Loans receivable (Note 23) 777 300 638 140
Accrued interest receivables 1,923 885 1 -
859,722 885,318 1,701,077 981,332
With the exception of accrued interest receivables, all amounts in the table above are stated net of
impairment provision.
Trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:
Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
Us$'000 Us$’000 Us$’000 Uss$’c00
United States Dollar 751,994 823,381 1,594,821 844,629
Euro 25,710 17,288 - -
Singapore Dollar 7,784 8,342 96,963 126,573
Others 74,234 36,307 9,293 10,130
859,722 885,318 1,701,077 981,332

The above trade and other receivables are non-interest bearing except as disclosed in the respective notes.

Note:

(iy tmpairment loss on trade debtors and other debtors and recoverables recognised as an expense and
included in “other operating expenses” in 2005 amounted to US$7.6 million. In 2004, US$9.3 million
of impairment loss was written back.

(iiy The non-trade balances with subsidiaries are unsecured, repayable on demand and interest free.

(i) The non-trade balances with associated companies are unsecured, repayable on demand and interest free.

(iv) The loans to subsidiaries are unsecured and repayable on demand. The loans bear interest at rates ranging
from 3.98% to 4.32% (2004: 2.06% to 2.27%) per annum at the balance sheet date, except for loans to
subsidiaries (excluding impairment provision) of US$157.0 million (2004: US$358.4 million), which are

interest free.




13.

{v) The loans to associated companies for the Group and the Company are unsecured except for loans
amounting to US$2.6 miltion (2004: US$2.4 million). None of the loans have a repayment period of more
than 12 months (2004: US$1.8 million). The loans bear interest at rates ranging from 5.29%to 9.25%
(2004: 3.24% to 8.88%) per annum at balance sheet date, except for loans to associated companies
(excluding impairment provision) for the Group and the Company of US$0.8 million (2004: US$2.6 million),
which are interest free.

The carrying amounts of trade and other trade-related receivables are considered to approximate their fair
values because most of these are (a) of negligidle credit risk after impairment provision and (b) either short
term in nature or repriced frequently.

The fair value of loans receivable is based on discounted cash flows using a discount rate based on the credit
rating of debtors.

Included in trade and other receivables for the Group for 2004 is US$0.7 million due from feliow subsidiaries
of the ultimate holding company. There were no amounts due from fellow subsidiaries of the ultimate holding
company for 2005. These balances are trade in nature.

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
us$'000 Us$'000 Us$’000 uss’000
(b)  Other Current Assets

Other current investment - 17 - -
Deposits and prepaid expenses 40,978 44,102 653 597
40,978 44,119 653 597

Market value of other current investment
at end of financial year - 19 - -

Included in other current assets for the Group is US$0.2 miltion (2004: US$0.2 million) due from a fellow
subsidiary of the ultimate holding company. These balances are trade in nature.

Investments in Subsidiaries

Company
2005 2004
Uss$’000 Us$'000
Unguoted equity shares, at cost 1,034,050 1,022,047
Provision for impairment in value (23,806) (90,327)
1,010,244 931,720

As a global cargo transportation and logistics company, there are operations in certain countries which impose foreign
exchange controls such that payment of dividends declared or principal repayment in respect of foreign currency-
denominated obligations is subject to the approval of the government authority. These operations are not significant to
the Group or the Company.

Details of the significant subsidiaries of the Group are set out in Note 41,




14.

Investments in Associated Companies

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
uss'000 Us$'000 Uss’'o000 Us$'000
Quoted equity shares, at cost - 5,985 - 5,985
Unguoted equity shares, at cost 5,846 2,151 2,122 2,255
5,846 8,136 2,122 8,240
Share of post-acquisition reserve:

Balance at beginning of financial year (2,998) (8,613) - -

Share of post-acquisition reserve transferred
from investments in joint ventures (Note 15) 1,323 - - -
Share of resuits after income tax* 2,150 609 - -
Dividend received from an associated company (1,514) (177) - -
Disposal of associated companies 947 5,184 - -
Foreign currency translation 144 (1) - -
Balance at end of financial year 52 (2,998) - -
Provision for impairment in value - (5,118) (2,099) (8,203)
5,898 20 23 37

2 There is no goodwill included in investments in associated companies as at 30 December 2005 (2004: US$0.2 million) as the

associated company had been disposed during the year.

The summarised financial information of associated companies are as follows:

Group
2005 2004
us$'000 Us$’000
Revenue 111,801 23,191
Net profit/(loss) after income tax 2,388 (1,439)
Total assets 58,336 67,866
Total liabilities 70,899 67,639
Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004
UsSs$’000 Us$'000 Uss’000 Us$’000

Market value of quoted equity shares at end of
financial year - 1,810 - 1,810

The market value of quoted investment in 2004 was determined by reference to the relevant stock exchange quoted

hid prices.

As a global cargo transportation and logistics company, there are operations in certain countries which impose foreign
exchange controls such that payment of dividends declared or principal repayment in respect of foreign currency-
denominated obligations is subject to the approval of the government authority. These operations are not significant to

the Group or the Company.

There are no significant associated companies in the Group.




15.

Investments in Jeint Ventures

Group
2005 2004
US$’000 Us$'000
Unguoted equity shares, at cost 17,561 21,336
Share of post-acquisition reserve:
Balance at beginning of financial year (2,930) (7,324)
Share of post-acquisition reserve transferred to investments in
associated companies (Note 14) (1,323) -
Share of results after income tax 3,231 4,394
Foreign currency translation 46 -
(976) (2,930)
Batlance at end of financial yaar 16,585 18,406
The Group's share of results of joint ventures are as ‘ollows:
Group
2005 2004
Us$'000 USs$'000
Revenue 24,046 38,428
Cost of sales (13,043) (27,734)
Other expenses (7,772) (6,300)
Profit after income tax 3,231 4,394
The Group's share of assets and liabilities of the joint ventures comprise of:
Group
2005 2004
US$'000 Uss$’000
Non-current assets 23,631 33,752
Current assets 29,849 51,882
Non-current liabilities (13,619) (18,4286)
Current liabilities (23,276) (48,802)
Net assets 16,585 18,406

There are no significant joint ventures in the Group.




16.

Available-For-Sale Financial Assets

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
Us$'000 US$'000 Uss'00c Us$’000
Balance at beginning of financial year
- At cost 8,999 9,153 8,959 8,959
— Provision for impairment in value (3,217) (4,517) (3,217) (4,517)
5,782 4,636 5,742 4,442
— Effect of first time adoption of FRS 39 on
1 January 2005 (Note 3.2(a)(i)) 8,017 - 8,017 -
As restated after adoption of FRS 39 13,799 4,636 13,759 4,442
~ Effect of early adoption of Amendments
to FRS 39 (Note 3.2(a)(i)) 173 - - -
As restated after early adoption of Amendments
to FRS 39 13,972 4,636 13,759 4,442
Disposals (170) (154) (170) -
Write-back of provision for impairment in value
(Note 8) - 1,300 - 1,300
Fair value gains transferred to equity 48 - - -
Foreign currency translation (2) - - -
Balance at end of financial year 13,848 5,782 13,589 5,742

Long term investments as at 27 December 2003 and 31 December 2004 have been reclassified into “available-for-
sale financial assets” and “other non-current assets” so as to conform to the presentation adopted in 2005. Avaitable-
for-sale financial assets are measured in accordance with the accounting policy as set out in Note 2.10 only with

effect from 1 January 2005.

The market value of quoted equity shares is determined by reference to the relevant stock exchange quoted bid prices.
The fair value of financial assets that are not traded in an active market is determined by using valuation techniques

described in Note 2.10(e).

Available-for-sale financial assets include the following:

Group Company
2005 2004 2004 2005 2004 2004
At carrying At carrying
At fair value At fair value value At fair value At fair value Value
Us$’000 Us$'000 US$'000 uss$’000 US$'000 USS'000
Quoted equity shares
~ Equity shares — United States 259 213 40 - - -
Unguoted equity shares:
- Equity shares - Thailand 12,850 12,850 4,833 12,850 12,850 4,833
- Equity shares — Singapore 739 9209 909 739 909 909
13,589 13,759 5,742 13,589 13,759 5,742
13,848 13,972 5,782 13,589 13,759 5,742




17. Property, Plant and Equipment

Plant &
Freehold Leasehold machinery Computers
Vessels in land and land and and operating and
operation  buildings  buildings equipment  software Others* Total

Group US$’000 US$'000 US$’000 USS’'000 US$’000 US$'000 USS'000
Cost
At 1 January 2005 2,316,062 120,598 105,498 920,492 113,453 35,675 3,611,778
Additions 3,940 188 9,611 164,071 22,893 3,385 204,098
Disposals (18,035) (4,833 (6,861) (36,749) (11,333) (2,373} (80,184)
Write-offs - - - - (4) - (4)
Reclassification - - (19) (67) 112 (26) -
Foreign currency translation - (1771 (655) (364) (171) 101 {1,266)
At 30 December 2005 2,301,967 115,776 107,574 1,047,383 124950 36,772 3,734,422
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2005 697,106 6,774 54,558 387,869 78,558 22,710 1,247,576
Additions (Note 6) 118,512 1,587 5,266 97,523 15,198 4,456 242,552
Disposals (4,842) (725) (2,739) (21,700) (11,196) (2,173} (43,375)
Write-offs - - - - 4) - (4)
Reclassification ~ 6 (12) - 101 (95) -
Foreign currency translation ~ 359 (356) (291) (130) (24) (442)
At 30 December 2005 810,776 8,011 56,718 463,401 82,527 24,874 1,446,307
Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January 2005 5,193 11,912 24,278 4,426 38 237 46,084
Impairment loss written back

during the financial year - (2,641) (1,330) - - - (3,971)
Disposals (5,193) (2,254) (2,763) (3,537) - - (13,747)
Foreign currency transiation - - (66) 28 2 7 (29)
At 30 December 2005 - 7,017 20,119 917 40 244 28,337
Net book value
At 30 December 2005 1,491,191 100,748 30,737 583,065 42,383 11,654 2,259,778

2 Consists of motor vehicles, office equipment, furniture, fixture and fittings.




17. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Plant &
Freehold Leasehold  machinery Computers
Vessels in land and land and and operating and
operation buildings buildings equipment software Others® Total

Group US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 USS’000 USS$'000
Cost
At 27 December 2003 2,442,054 43,761 106,207 765,888 104,517 35,356 3,497,783
Additions 6,373 36 5,635 180,878 12,880 2,964 208,766
Disposals - (8,331) (5,807) (17,437) (1,852) (1,837) (35,264)
Acquisition of a subsidiary

(Note 11) - 85,340 - - - - 85,340
Disposal of subsidiaries

(Note 11) {132,368) - (2,359) (9,353) (2,303) (642) (147,025)
Write-offs - - - - 4) - (4)
Reclassification - - 118 28 88 (234) -
Foreign currency translation 3 (208) 1,704 488 127 68 2,182
At 31 December 2004 2,316,062 120,598 105,498 920,492 113,453 35,675 3,611,778
Accumulated depreciation
At 27 December 2003 652,103 8,300 51,567 316,536 69,185 19,818 1,117,509
Additions (Note 6) 118,826 1,241 5,640 88,012 12,832 5,011 231,562
Disposals - (2,695) (2,320) (10,837)  (2,080) (1,573) (19,555)
Disposal of subsidiaries

(Note 11) (73,829) - (928) (6,412) (1,775) (496) (83,440)
Write-offs - - - - (4) - (4)
Reclassification - - (40) - 15 25 -
Foreign currency translation 6 (72) 710 570 365 (75) 1,504
At 31 December 2004 697,106 6,774 54,559 387,869 78,558 22,710 1,247,576

Accumulated impairment losses
At 27 December 2003 43,471 2,913 29,519 4,391 36 227 80,557
Impairment loss charged

during the financial year

(Note 6) - 6,176 - - - - 6,176
Impairment loss written back

during the financial year

(Note 6) (24,000) - (551) - - - (24,551)
Disposals - (849) (1,629) - - - (2,478)
Disposal of subsidiaries

{Note 11) (14,278) - - - - - (14,278)
Reclassification - 3,673 (3,673) - ~ - -
Foreign currency translation - (1) 612 35 2 10 658
At 31 December 2004 5,193 11,912 24,278 4,426 38 237 46,084

Net book value
At 31 December 2004 1,613,763 101,912 26,661 528,197 34,857 12,728 2,318,118




Freehold Leasehold Computers

Vessels i land and fand and and

operation  buildings buildings software Others® Total
Company UsS$'000  US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000
Cost
At 1 January 2005 50,34€ 377 - 1,679 8,075 60,477
Additions - - 1,279 1,067 244 2,590
Disposals - - ~ (29) (1886) (285)
Transfer to a subsidiary - - - (3) - (3)
At 30 December 2005 50,346 377 1,279 2,644 8,133 62,779
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2005 1,304 198 - 962 4,639 7,103
Additions 3,081 16 114 238 864 4,313
Disposals - - - (55) (186) (241)
At 30 December 2005 4,385 214 114 1,145 5,317 11,175
Accumulated impairment losses
At 1 January 2005 and 30 December 2005 - 85 - - - 85
Net book value
At 30 December 2005 45,961 78 1,165 1,499 2,816 51,519

®  Consists of motor vehicles, office equipment, furniture, fix:ure and fittings.




17.

Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Freehold Computers

Vessels in land and and

operation buildings software Others* Total
Company Uss'000 Uss'000 USS$'000 USS$’'000  US$’000
Cost
At 27 December 2003 - 4,333 1,364 7,938 13,635
Additions - - 469 227 696
Disposals - (3,956) (138) (Q0) (4,182)
Transfer from/(to) a subsidiary 50,346 - (18) - 50,328
At 31 December 2004 50,346 377 1,679 8,075 60,477
Accumulated depreciation
At 27 December 2003 - 1,809 901 3,888 6,598
Additions 1,304 132 212 832 2,480
Disposals - (1,743) (151) (81) (1,975)
At 31 December 2004 1,304 198 262 4,639 7,103
Accumulated impairment losses
At 27 December 2003 - 636 - - 636
Impairment loss charged during the financial year - 298 - - 298
Disposals - (849) - - (849)
At 31 December 2004 - 85 - - 85
Net book value
At 31 December 2004 49,042 94 717 3,438 53,289

2% Consists of motor vehicles, office equipment, furniture, fixture and fittings.

(@)  Aa at 30 December 2005, none of the vessels of the Group were under finance lease agreements. The net
book value of vessels of the Group under finance lease agreements as at 31 December 2004 amounted to
US$372.4 million. Net book value of other property, plant and equipment under finance lease agreements
amounted to US$0.05 million (2004: US$0.9 million).

Finance leases and instalment arrangements for acquisitions of property, plant and equipment are disclosed
under Note 29 to the financial statements.

(b) At the balance sheet date, the net book value of vessels of the Group charged by way of legal mortgages to
banks for term loans (Note 25) amounted to US$106.3 million (2004: US$148.0 million). There were no
other property, plant and equipment charged by way of legal mortgages to banks for term loans as at
30 December 2005 and 31 December 2004.

Securities provided by way of charges on vessels of the Group include assignments, in applicable
circumstances, of insurance claims and earnings relating to these vessels.




The details of the asset impairment loss of the Group are as follows:

{(iy The impairment loss written back/charged in 2005 and 2004 for freehold and leasehold land and buildings
relates to the “Others” business segment (Note 37). The recoverable amount was determined at the
individual property level and represents the fair value less costs to sell, determined by reference to market
prices of eguivalent assets.

(i) The reversal of impairment loss of US$24..0 million in 2004 for vessels in operation, due to the improved
shipping industry, relates to the “Others” business segment (Note 37). This was a result of the
impairment assessment for a subsidiary -- Automar {Bermuda) Ltd group, which owns the vessels. The
recoverable amount was determined based on the value-in-use method at the cash generating unit level.
In determining the value-in-use, the discount rate used was 9% per annum on a pre-tax basis.

The following shows the net book value of property, plant and equipment of the Group that are chartered/leased
out to third parties under operating leases:

Group
2005 2004
Us$'000 Us$’000
Vessels
Cost 221,711 282,157
Accumulated depreciation (58,208) (84,629)
Net book value 163,503 197,528
Non-Vessels
Cost 16,789 18,573
Accumulated depreciation (5,508) (5,706)
Net book value 11,281 12,867

The depreciation charge for vessels chartered out under operating leases in 2005 is US$12.6 million
(2004: US$14.6 million).

The depreciation charge for non-vessels leased out under operating leases in 2005 is US$0.5 miltion
(2004: US$0.5 million).



18. Deferred Charges

19.

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
Us$’000 US$’000 Uss$’000 Us$’000
Balance at beginning of financial year 1,407 4,746 268 335
Additions during the financial year 1,015 248 ~ -
Amount amortised during the financial year (Note 7) (535) (3,585) (268) (67)
Foreign currency translation - (2) - -
Balance at end of financia! year 1,887 1,407 - 268
Intangible Assets
Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
Us$’000 UsS$’000 Us$’'000 Us$°000
Contract and lease advantages 9,408 21,608 ~ -
System technology and software 51,247 61,825 743 686
Terminal berthing rights 14,000 7,000 ~ -
74,655 90,433 743 686
Accumulated amortisation (41,422) (50,221) (708) (649)
Accumulated impairment 10ss (5,741) (5,741) ~ -
Net book value 27,492 34,471 35 37
Net book value at beginning of financial year 34,471 36,445 37 198
Amount amortised during the financial year (Note 6) (9,142) (10,821) (59) (161)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 11) - 36,655 -~ -
Additions 10,947 9,291 57 -
Disposals - (318) ~ -
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 11) - (134) ~ -
Write-offs (Note 6} (8,677) (36,655) - -
Foreign currency translation (107) 8 ~ -
Net book value at end of financial year 27,492 34,471 35 37

During the financial year, intangible assets with a net book value of US$8.7 million was written off to the income
statement. This was recorded as a result of changes in the economic climate surrounding lease advantages and due
to technological obsolescence related to system technology.

The net book value of intangible assets in 2004 included US$0.2 million of internally generated system technology

and software. This was fully amortised in 2005,




20. Goodwill Arising on Consolidation

Group
2005 2004
Uss$'000 US$'000
Balance at beginning of financial year 221,453 . 267,898
Acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries - 8,059
Acquisition of a subsidiary (Note 11) - 12,487
Impairment loss charged during the financial year (Note 6) - (66,991)
Baiance at end of financial year 221,453 221,453
Cost 292,629 292,629
Accumulated impairment loss (71,176) (71,176}
Net book value at end of financial year 221,453 221,453
The impairment loss charged in 2004 was made up of US$54.5 million relating to the logistics business and
US$12.5 million relating to the acquisition of a subsidiary.
Impairment test for goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group's CGUs identified within the business segments.
A segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below.
2005 2004
Note Us$'000 UsS$’000
Liner (i 113,395 113,395
Logistics (il) 108,058 108,058
Net book value at end of financial year 221,453 221,453

(i} Liner

The recoverable amount of the tiner business is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
use discounted cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year
period. Assumptions used in the five-year cash flow projections are based on industry forecasts.

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rate of 5.0% per annum. The
growth rate does not exceed the long-term average growth rate for the industry in which the liner business operates.

The weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) of 8.0% per annum is used to determine the recoverable amount of
the liner business. The cost of equity component of WACC is derived using the capital asset pricing model.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions of which Liner’s recoverable
amount is based would not cause Liner's carrying amount to exceed its recoverable amount.



20. Goodwill Arising on Consolidation (continued)
(ii) Logistics

Goodwill for the logistics business was allocated to two CGUs, Global Contract Logistics (“GCL"} and International
Forwarding Services (“IFS"} as follows:

2005 2004

Uss$'000 US$'000

GCL 99,999 99,999
IFS 8,059 8,059
108,058 108,058

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined by using value-in-use calculations. These calculations use
cash flow projections based on financial budgets of the relevant tines of business approved by management
covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using growth rates of 4.0% per
annum and 7.5% per annum for the relevant lines of business of GCL and IFS respectively. The growth rates do not
exceed the long-term average growth rates for the markets in which the lines of business operate.

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations for the logistics business are as follows:

2005
GCL IFS
% %
Revenue growth rate 5.0to0 11.0 20.0
Discount rate 6.5 9.0

The discount rate is based on the CGUs’ WACC. The cost of equity component of WACC is derived using the
capital asset pricing model. Revenue growth rates are based on industry projections adjusted by historical growth
rates and considerations such as strategic directions and market share.

Impairment loss charged of US$54.5 million recognised in financial year ended 31 December 2004 arose due to
a change in management's estimate on the contribution margin achievable by the GCL line of business, where most
of the goodwill is residing. No impairment loss was recognised in financial year ended 30 December 2005.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in the key assumptions on which recoverable amounts
of the lines of business of GCL or IFS are based would not cause the respective carrying amounts of GCL or [FS
to exceed the respective recoverable amounts of those units.




24. Derivative Financial Instruments

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
Uss$'000 Uss$’000 uss$'000 Uss$’'000
Balance at beginning of financial year
- At cost - - - -
— Effect of adoption of FRS 39 on
1 January 2005 (Note 3.2(qd)) 54,244 - 39,723 -
As restated 54,244 - 39,723 -
Fair value (losses)/gains
- Included in income statement (16,724) - (18,475%) -
—- Included in hedging reserve (22,727) - 5,178 -
- Assigned to subsidiaries - - 2,949 -
Balance at end of financial year 14,793 - 28,375 -
Analysed as:
Group
Fair values
Assets Liabilities
As at 30 December 2005 US$'000 Uss$'000
Interest-rate collars — cash flow hedges - (317)
Bunker swaps - cash flow hedges - (8,979)
Cross currency interest rate swap - fair value and cash flow hedges 28,851 -
Foreign exchange forward contracts - cash flow hedges - (4,762)
Total 28,851 (14,058)
Less: Current portion - 14,058
Non-current portion 28,851 -
Company
Fair values
Assets Liabilities
As at 30 December 2005 US$’'000 us$’000
Interest-rate collars — cash flow hedges - (317)
Cross currency interest rate swap - fair value and cash flow hedges 28,851 -
Foreign exchange forward contracts - cash flow hedges - (159)
Total 28,851 (476)
Less: Current portion - 476
Non-current portion 28,851 -

For derivative financial instruments, estimated amounts of fair values are obtained from a number of reputable

financial institutions.




21. Derivative Financial Instruments (continued)

The Group’s policy is to use derivative financial instruments to hedge specific exposures.

To hedge the risks arising from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, interest rates and bunker fue! prices,
the Group enters into the following derivative financial instruments:

{

(i)

(iil)

(iv)

Cross currency interest rate swap
When the Medium Term Note of $$540 million was issued, the Group entered into a cross currency interest rate
swap to convert the S$ fixed rate liability to a US$ floating rate liability (US$297.3 million).

Interest rate collars

Between 1999 to 2001, the Group entered into interest rate collar contracts with a notional amount of

US$1.4 billion. The floor rate ranges from 4.5% - 5.5% per annum and the cap rate is 7% per annum. The collar
agreements terminate at various times between 2004 to 20086. The notional amount of interest rate collar
contracts remaining as at 30 December 2005 amounts to US$100 million (2004: US$650 million).

As at 30 December 2005, the Group’s interest rate collar contracts with a notional amount of US$4 million
(2004: US$150 million) was not assigned to any borrowings due to early repayments of loans and were not
considered in determining the effective interest rates after taking into account the effects of hedging as
disclosed in Note 25(e).

Bunker swaps

Bunker swap contracts are agreements to change the underlying bunker exposure from floating to fixed price

(or vice versa) with reference to a fixed price index, for example, PLATTS. The Group enters into bunker swap
agreements with the objective of hedging a portion of its bunker purchases to reduce its risk to price volatility.
Bunker swaps allow the Group to purchase bunker fuel oil at variable price and swap them into fixed price. As at
30 December 2005, the notional amount of the outstanding bunker swap agreements is US$192.8 million
(2004: US$80.6 million), with maturity dates of less than one year.

Foreign exchange forward contracts

Foreign exchange forward contracts are agreements to buy or sell fixed amounts of currency at agreed exchange
rates to be settled in the future. The Group enters into various foreign exchange forward contracts to reduce

its exposure on anticipated transactions and firm commitments, primarily for forecasted cash outflows
denominated in currencies other than the Group's functional currency. Consistent with the Group's policy on
covering transactional exposures, the purpose of the hedges is to eliminate the impact of movements in foreign
currency exchange rates on identified transactions. These foreign exchange forward contracts generally have
maturity dates of less than one year. '




At 30 December 2005, the settlement dates on open forward contracts ranged between 1 to 6 months, details

of which are set out below:

At average rates Group Company
Contracts to deliver United per USS1 2005 2004 ' 2005 2004
States Dollar and receive: 2005 2004 Uss'000 Uss$’000 US$’000 Us$’000
Euro 0.7716 0.7832 53,825 104,704 - -
Japanese Yen - 106.62 - 91,912 - -
Singapore Dollar 1.6349 1.6434 12,000 109,898 12,000 67,437
British Pound 0.5488 0.5557 6,195 25,913 - -
Korean Won - 1,119.51 - 25,011 - -
Canadian Dollar - 1.2163 - 19,731 - -
Australian Dollar - 1.3558 - 14,751 - -
72,020 391,920 12,000 67,437
22. Other Non-current Assets
Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
Note US$’000 Us$’000 Uss$’000 Uss’'000
Loans receivable (net of impairment

provision) (Note 23) 3,560 5,731 3,269 4,232
Long term deposits (i) 10,227 11,783 240 846

Net defined benefit pension plan assets
(Note 32) 5,359 7,800 - -
Other long-term investments (i) 14,935 14,768 - -
Others (iif) 11,119 13,642 - 8,619
45,200 53,724 3,509 13,697

(i) Long term deposits relate to deposits placed for the lease of terminals and buildings and are denominated in the

following currencies:

Group . Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
Us$’'000 UsS$'000 Us$’000 us$’000
United States Dollar 494 835 - ) 625
Japanese Yen 4,572 5,178 - -
indian Rupee 1,109 1,860 - -
Others 4,052 3,910 240 221
10,227 11,783 240 846




22. 0Other Non-current Assets (continued)

(i) Other long-term investments are not financial assets and do not fall under the categories described in FRS 39.

(iii) Included in other non-current assets (Others) for the Group is US$1.5 million (2004: US$1.7 million) due
from fellow subsidiaries of the ultimate holding company. These balances are trade in nature.

Also included in other non-current assets (Others) as at 30 December 2005 is an impairment loss of

US$8.3 million (Note 8) on the prepaid lease rental of office space over the next 24 years due to the decline

in the market rental income receivable from sub-leasing of the office space. This relates to the “Others” business
segment (Note 37). The recoverable amount was determined based on the value-in-use of the individual asset. In
determining this amount, the discount rate of 7.5% per annum is used.

23. lLoans Receivable

Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

Uss'000 US$'000 US$'000 Us$’000

Loans receivable 5,228 8,271 4,786 6,599
Provision for impairment loss (891) (2,240) (R79) (2,227)
4,337 6,031 3,907 4,372

Amount receivable within 12 months (Note 12) (777) (300) (538) (140)
Amount receivable after 12 months (Note 22) 3,560 5,731 3,269 4,232

The loans have effective interest rates ranging from 2% to 6% (2004: 2% to 7%) per annum at balance sheet date.

Loans receivable after 12 months {net of impairment provision) are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
US$’'000 Uss$'000 Uss$’000 Us$'000
United States Dollar 3,181 5,103 3,071 3,820
Singapore Dotlar 38 478 198 412
Others 341 152 - -

3,560 5,731 3,269 4,232




24. Current Liabilities

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004

Us$’000 Uss$'000 Uss$'000 Uss$'000

(a) Trade and Other Payables

Trade creditors 162,905 169,318 7,734 8,564
Accrued operating expenses 653,621 551,524 20,245 11,126
Accrued interest payable 5,371 7,436 108 612
Sundry creditors 49,078 298,620 4,822 3,838
Amounts due to subsidiaries (non-trade) - - 17,268 5,628
Amounts due to associated companies (non-trads) - 5 - 5
Dividend payable 272 63 272 63

871,247 757,966 50,449 29,836

Trade and other payables are denominated in the following currencies:

Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

Us$'000 Us$'000 UsS$'000 Us$'000

United States Dollar 598,816 518,327 35,208 24,954
Euro 50,219 49,552 - -
Singapore Dollar 31,779 23,356 12,640 2,328
Chinese Renminbi 30,904 23,151 - -
Others 159,529 143,580 2,601 2,554
871,247 757,966 50,449 29,836

The carrying amounts of trade and other payabless are considered to approximate their fair values given that
these are mostly short term in nature.

Included in trade and other payables for the Group is US$7.9 million (2004: US$8.5 million) due to fellow
subsidiaries of the ultimate holding company. These balances are trade in nature.

Group
2005 2004

Uss$'000 Us$'000

(b) Other Current Liabilities
Unearned revenue 184,211 186,198




25. Borrowings

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
Note Us$’000 Uss$'000 Us$’000 Us$’000
(a) Current
Secured:
Bank borrowings (i) 5,585 14,296 - -
Finance lease liabilities (Note 29) 399 24,895 - -
5,984 39,191 - -
Unsecured:
Bank borrowings (ii) 191,093 1,069 - -
Loans from subsidiaries (i) - - 6.763 16,605
191,093 1,069 6.763 16,605
Total current borrowings 197,077 40,260 6,763 16,605
{b) Non-current
Secured:
Bank borrowings (i) 92,959 96,299 - -
Finance lease liabilities (Note 29) 223 259,431 - -
93,182 355,730 - -
Unsecured:
Senior Debentures due 2024 (iv) 92,605 92,136 - -
Medium Term Note due 2008 (v)
— Cost 297,275 297,275 297,275 297,275
~ Changes in fair value of
hedged risk 29,638 - 29,638 -
— Changes in fair value of
call option (2,439) - (2,439) -
324,474 297,275 324,474 297,275
417,079 389,411 324,474 297,275
Total non-current borrowings 510,261 745,141 324,474 297,275
Total Borrowings 707,338 785,401 331,237 313,880
Note:

(i) Secured bank borrowings

The loans are secured mainly on vessels {(Note 17) and repayable in instalments pursuant to their respective

loan agreements.

(ii) Unsecured bank borrowings
These loan balances are repayable in instalments pursuant to their respective loan agreements.

(iii) Loans from subsidiaries
The loans from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.




(iv)

v

(c)

(d)

Senior Debentures due 2024

The Group issued 8% Senior Debentures in 1994. Coupon payments are due semi-annually. The Senior
Debentures had an effective interest rate of 10.50% (2004: 10.60%) per annum. The agreement on the Senior
Debentures contains, among other restrictions, a covenant that limits the Group’s ability to allow liens on assets.

Medium Term Note due 2008

The Company issued a 7-year Medium Term Note of $$540 million at a fixed rate of 4.09% in 2001. The purpose
of the issue was to support the expansion of the Group's businesses and to refinance existing borrowings.
Coupon payments are due semi-annually.

Previously, the Medium Term Note was recognised at cost, In 2005, with the adoption of FRS39 (revised 2004},
the changes in fair value of the hedged interest rate and currency risk of the Medium Term Note is recognised as
part of the note’s liability and in the income statement. There is a call option feature, which allows the Company
to redeem the note from 27 June 2006 and half-yearly thereafter. The change in fair value of the call option is
recognised in the income statement.

Carrying amounts and fair values information

The fair values of borrowings at the balance sheet date are based on expected future cash flows, discounted
using borrowing rates which the Directors expect would be available to the Group at the balance sheet date, or
where obtainable, an estimate from reputable financial institutions.

The following fair values are for information purposes only and are not recognised in the financial statements.

The estimated fair values of the Group and the Company's borrowings approximate their carrying amounts as
shown in the balance sheets except for certain borrowings disclosed as follows:

Carrying amounts Fair values
2005 2004 2005 2004
US$’000 US$’000 Uss$’000 US$’'000
Senior Debentures due 2024 92,605 92,136 121,718 123,464

Maturity profile of borrowings

The current borrowings are repayable within the next 12 months.

The maturity profile of non-current borrowings is as follows:

Group
As at 30 December 2005 Secured
Secured Unsecured finance
bank bank lease
loans®* loans liabilities® Total
Us$'000 Us$’'000 US$’000 Uus$’000
Amount repayable in:
2007 5,891 - 125 6,016
2008 6,230 324,474 75 330,779
2009 6,552 - 14 6,566
2010 6,911 - 8 6,919
Thereafter 67,375 92,605 1 159,981
92,959 417,079 223 510,261

The loans are secured mainly on vessels,

28 The finance lease liabilities are secured mainly on eguipment and motor vehicles.



25. Borrowings (continued)
{d) Maturity profile of borrowings (continued)

Group

As at 31 December 2004

Secured
Secured Unsecured finance
bank bank lease
loans* loans liabilities Total
Us$'000 Uss’000 uss$’000 Uss$’'000
Amount repayable in:
2006 5,585 - 26,439 32,024
2007 5,890 - 28,185 34,075
2008 6,200 297,275 30,033 333,508
2009 6,552 - 32,178 38,730
Thereafter 72,072 92,136 142,596 306,804
96,299 389,411 259,431 745,141
2 The loans are secured mainly on vessels.
= The finance lease liabilities are secured mainly on vessels.
Company
As at 30 December 2005 Unsecured
bank loans
Us$’000
Amount repayable in:
2007 -
2008 324,474
324,474
As at 31 December 2004 Unsecured
bank loans
Us$’000
Amount repayable in:
2006 -
2007 -
2008 297,275

297,275




(e) Effective interest rates

The effective interest rates as at the balance sheet date before taking into account the effects of hedging are

as follows:
Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004
% % % %
Secured loans 4,22 -7.75% 2.74 -3.45 - -
Unsecured loans 4.61-11.40 6.24 - 9.40 - -
Senior Debentures due 2024 10.60 10.60 - -
Medium Term Note due 2008 4.09 4.09 4,09 4.09
Finance lease liabilities 2.98 - 19.46% 3.03-3.24 - -

The effective interest rates as at the balance sheet date after taking into account the effects of hedging are

as follows:
Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004
% % % %
Secured loans 4.70~7.75 2.74-6.13 - -
Unsecured loans 4.61-11.40 6.24 -9.40 - -
Senior Debentures due 2004 10.60 10.60 - -
Medium Term Note due 2008 5.44 5.87-6.35 " 5.44 5.87 -6.35
Finance lease liabilities 2.98 - 19.46% 5.45-5.90 - -

2 These are primarily leases for various equipment used in the warehouse to service customers and cost is recovered from

these customers.

The exposure of bor%owings of the Group and the Company to interest rate changes and the periods in which the
borrowings “reprice” or mature, whichever is earlier, are as follows:

2007 2011 and

2006 to 2010 thereafter Total
As at 30 December 2005 Uss$'000 Uss$'000 Uss$'000 Uuss$’000
Group
Total borrowings (before interest rate swaps) 287,792 324,725 94,821 707,338
Effect of interest rate swaps 324,474 (324,474) - _
Total borrowings (after interest rate swaps) 612,266 251 94,821 707,338
Company
Total borrowings (before interest rate swaps) 6,763 324,474 - 331,237
Effect of interest rate swaps 324,474 (324,474) - _

Total borrowings (after interest rate swaps) 331,237 - - 331,237




25. Borrowings (continued)
(e) Effective interest rates (continued)

)

2006 2010 and

2005 to 2009 thereafter Total
As at 31 December 2004 us$'000 Us$’000 Uss$'000 uss’000
Group
Total borrowings (before interest rate swaps) 395,453 297,804 92,144 785,401
Effect of interest rate swaps 297,275 (297,275) - -
Total borrowings (after interest rate swaps) 692,728 529 92,144 785,401
Company
Total borrowings (before interest rate swaps) 16,605 297,275 - 313,880
Effect of interest rate swaps 297,275 (297,275) - -
Total borrowings (after interest rate swaps) 313,880 - - 313,880

The Group has US$611.9 million (2004: US$892.2 million) of borrowings at variable rates and US$95.4 million
(2004: US$93.2 million) at fixed rates after taking into account the effects of hedging. The Company only has
variable rate borrowings after taking into account the effects of hedging.

Currency risk

The carrying amount of total borrowings after taking into account the effects of hedging are denominated in the

following currencies:

Group Company

2005 2004 2005 2004

Uss$'000 uss’'000 Us$'000 Us$’000

United States Dollar 704,233 784,290 331,237 303,047
Indian Rupee 2,216 - - -
Singapore Dollar 43 42 - 2,383
Others 846 1,069 - 8,450
707,338 785,401 331,237 313,880




26. Provisions

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
Note UsSs$'000 Uss$'000 Uss$'000 us$’000
(a) Current
Provision for restructuring and
termination costs (i) 2,375 4,260 860 1,560
Provision for drydocking costs (ii) - 1,770 - -
Provision for onerous contract -
leased premises iii) Q6 - - -
Provision for insurance, litigation
and other claims (iv) 33,049 30,474 - -
35,520 36,504 860 1,560
(b) Non-Current
Provision for drydocking costs (ii) 891 39 - -
Provision for net defined benefit
pension plan obligations (Note 32) 32,395 29,885 - -
Provision for insurance, litigation and
other claims (iv) 49,585 64,174 - -
Provision for obligations in associatéd
companies (v) 8,520 24,364 - 11,895
91,491 118,462 - 11,885
Group Company
(i) Movements in provision for restructuring 2005 2004 2005 2004
and termination costs are as follows: US$'000 Us$'000 US$'000 Uss’'000
Baiance at beginning of financial year 4,260 22,986 1,560 14,921
Provision during the financial year
- termination costs (Note 8) 925 2,900 - 54
Utilised during the financial year (1,901) (7,626) - (2,264)
Write-back of provision during the financial year
- restructuring costs (Note 6) - (507) - -
- termination costs (Note 8) (209) (13,493) (700) (11,151)
Balance at end of financial year 2,375 4,260 860 1,560

Restructuring and termination provisions mainly comprise iease termination penaities and employee termination
payments. They are recognised in the financial year in which the Group becomes legally or constructively
committed to payment. Employee termination berefits are recognised only either after an agreement is in place
with the appropriate employee representatives specifying the terms of redundancy and the number of employees
affected, or after individual employees have been advised of the specific terms. Costs related to the on-going
activities of the Group are not provided in advance.

The Group’s restructuring and termination costs relate to certain organisational changes and the re-alignment of
business functions, including costs incurred to vacate certain office space and for the elimination of certain
positions. The costs related to restructuring activities were determined based on formal plans approved by
management using the best available information.

In 2004, the amounts ultimately incurred during the year changed as the execution of the initiatives to integrate
the business and re-align the organisation was ditferent from the original plans. This resulted in a write-back of
provision of US$14.0 million.




28. Provisions (continued)

Group

2005 2004

(i)  Movements in provision for drydocking costs are as follows: US$'000 US$’'000
Balance at beginning of financial year 1.809 2,107
Provision during the financial year (Note 6) 2,624 1,716
Utilised during the financial year (3,742) {563)
Disposal of subsidiaries - (1,451)
Batance at end of financial year 691 1,809

Provisions for drydocking costs relate to the estimated liability for future drydocking of vessels on operating
leases at balance sheet date where there is a legal/contractual obligation to send these vessels for drydocking.
These provisions are calculated based on past historical experience of the level of repairs and replacement required.

Group
(iii) Movements in provision for onerous 2005 2004
contract - leased premises are as follows: Us$’000 Uss$’'000
Balance at beginning of financial year - 4,000
Provision during the financial year (Note 6) 96 -
Utitised during the financial year - (3,721)
Write-back of provision during the financial year {Note 6) - (279)
Balance at end of financial year 96 -
The provision was made for onerous contracts in respect of leased premises under non-canceliable leases,
calculated based on the estimated net costs of exiting from the lease contracts.
Group
(iv) Movements in provision for insurance, 2005 2004
litigation and other claims are as follows: Us$’000 US$’000
Balance at beginning of financial year 94,648 78,525
Provision during the financial year (Note 6) 3,094 30,911
Write-back of provision during the financial year (Note 6) (13,373) (578)
Utilised during the financial year (10,863} (14,271)
Foreign currency translation (872) 61
Balance at end of financial year 82,634 94,648

In connection with the Group’s operational activities, it may become contingently liable for claims made by its
customers, employees and third parties. Other than provisions made above, management believes that the Group
is not liable under such claims, and/or that it is not possible to estimate the amount of additional losses, if any,

that might result from adverse judgements against the Group.




Group Company

(v) Movements in provision for obligations in 2005 2004 2005 2004
associated companies are as follows: Uss$’000 US$'000 Uss$’000 Us$'000
Balance at beginning of financial year 24,364 24,858 11,895 8,906
Provision during the financial year 3,837 2,376 - 2,289
Write-back of provision during the financial year (14,615) - (5,222) -
Disposal of associated companies (4,609) (3,044) (6,673) -
Foreign currency translation (457) 174 - -
Balance at end of financial year 8,520 24,364 ~ 11,885

Provision for obligations in associated companies relate to additiona! losses provided for to the extent that
the Group has incurred obligations or made paymants on behalf of the associated companies, to satisfy
obligations of the associated companies that the Group has guaranteed or otherwise committed.

27. Deferred Income

Group
2005 2004
Us$’000 Us$'000
Balance at beginning of financial year 20,025 25,421
Amount deferred during the financial year 571 12
Amount amortised during the financial year (Note 5) (5,416) (5,411)
Foreign currency translation - 3
Balance at end of financial year 15,180 20,025
Deferred income relates to the deferred gain on sale and leaseback of assets (refer to Note 2.14).
28. Other Non-current Liabilities
Group
2005 2004
Uss$'000 uss'000
Deferred lease payables 50,541 53,332
Others 16,561 17,454

67,102 70,786




29. Finance Lease Liabilities

Finance lease liabilities relate to other property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases (2004: vessels

and other property, plant and equipment)

Group

As at 30 December 2005

Others®
Future Lease Payments Us$’'000
Amount repayable in one year or less 466
Amount repayable in:
2007 297
2008 173
2009 53
2010 9
Thereafter 1
Minimum lease payments 999
Less: Future finance charges (377)
Provided for in the financial statements 622
Representing finance lease liabilities:’
Not later than one year (Note 25) 399
Later than one year (Note 25):
— later than one year but not later than five years 222
— later than five years 1
223
Total finance lease liabilities 622




Group

As at 31 December 2004

Vessels Others® Total
Future Lease Payments US$’'000 Us$’'000 uUs$’000
Amount repayable in one year or iess 34,598 582 35,180
Amount repayable in:
2006 38,086 349 38,435
2007 39,374 199 39,873
2008 40,653 24 40,677
2009 41,685 11 41,696
Thereafter 160,523 6 160,529
Minimum lease payments 354,919 1,171 356,090
Less: Future finance charges (71,651) (113) (71,764)
Provided for in the financial statements . 283,268 1,058 284,326
Representing finance lease liabilities:
Not later than one year (Note 25) 24,373 522 24,895
Later than one year (Note 25):
— later than one year but not later than five years 116,307 530 116,837
- later than five years 142,588 8 142,584
258,895 536 259,431
Total finance lease-liabilities 283,268 1,058 284,326

30 Others relate mainly to equipment and motor vehicles.

These leases terminate at various dates and the lease agreements provide options to purchase at specified values.
There are no significant finance lease arrangements entered into by the Group.




30. Share Capital and Treasury Shares

Number of shares Amount
Total
share
capital and
issued Share Share share Treasury
share Treasury capital premium premium shares
capital shares  US$'000 US$'000 Us$’'000 USS$'000
2005
Balance at beginning of
financial year 1,451,573,876 - 813,282 555,692 1,368,974 -
Proceeds from shares issued
under employee equity
campensation schemes 1,902,000 - 1,165 894 2,059 -
Purchase of shares by employee
benefit trust - (913,058) - - - (1,399)
Balance at end of financial year 1,453,475,876 (913,058) 814,447 556,586 1,371,033 (1,399)
2004
Balance at beginning of
financial year 1,426,468,029 - 798,527 552,535 1,351,062 -
Proceeds from shares issued
under employee equity
compensation schemes 25,105,847 - 14,755 3,157 17,912 -
Balance at end of financial year 1,451,573,876 - 813,282 555,692 1,368,974 -

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 3,000,000,000 shares (2004: 3,000,000,000 shares) with a par
value of S$1 per share (2004: S$1 per share). All issued shares are fully paid.

During the financial year ended 30 December 2005, the Company issued 1,902,000 (2004: 24,655,847} ordinary
shares of par value $$1.00 each, to the participants of the NOL SOP who exercised their options to purchase ordinary
shares at the subscription price of between §$1.00 to $$2.14 (2004: $$1.00 to 5$2.14) per share. As at

30 December 2005, there were no share options exercised for which shares have yet to be allocated

(2004: 30,000 options). '

During the financial year ended 31 December 2004, 450,000 ordinary shares of par value $$1.00 each were
issued to the participants of the PSP. There were no performance shares vested for the financial year ended
30 December 2005.

The newly issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with the previously issued shares.

Treasury shares

The Company has set up an employee benefit trust fund whose purpose is to purchase and hold the Company’s shares
acquired from the Singapore Exchange for issuance of units to employees under the Staff Share Ownership Scheme.
Such shares are designated as treasury shares.




31. Dividends

Group and Company

2005 2004
Uss$’'000 uss'coo
Ordinary dividends paid or proposed
Final tax exempt (one-tier) dividend of 14.69 Singapor2 cents per share and
special tax exempt (one-tier) dividend of 21.69 Singapore cents per share
paid in respect of the previous financial year (2004: 3.85 Singapore cents
per share, less 20% tax) 320,956 26,318
Interim tax exempt (one-tier) dividend paid in respect of the current financial
year of 8.00 Singapore cents per share (2004: 8.75 Singapore cents per
share, less 20% tax) 70,516 58,545
391,472 84,863

In view of the cash distribution of $$0.92 per ordinary share (Note 38), which is significantly higher than the
Company's dividend policy, the Company will not declare a final dividend for the financial year ended 30 December 2005.




32. Emplo

yee Benefits

(a) Equity Compensation Benefits

The Group offers the following employee equity compensation plans:

(i)
(if)
(i)
(

iv)

(i)

Share Options

Employee Share Option Plan
Performance Share Plan
Replacement Rights Plan

Staff Share Ownership Scheme

Employee Share Option Plan

Share options under the NOL SOP are granted to Directors and employees of the Group. These options

are granted at the average closing market price of the shares for the three trading days immediately
preceding the grant date. Individual awards to employees take into consideration the job level, performance
and leadership potential of the employee. Pursuant to the terms of the NOL SOP, share options will vest
after a specified number of years from the grant date.

Details of options granted, adjusted, exercised and cancelled (due to staff resignation or expiring of options)
under the NOL SOP during the financial year ended 30 December 2005 were as follows:

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f

Date option granted 03/05/00 19/10/00 26/03/01 19/10/01 19/10/01 18/10/02

Exercise period™

From
To

Exercise price
Number of opt

outstandin
1 January

03/05/01 19/10/01 26/03/02 19/10/02 19/10/02 18/10/03
14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05

per option S$1.52 $$1.37 $$1.30 S$$1.00 S$1.00 $$1.00
ions

g as at

2005 10,500 142,000 - 70,000 78,000 277,500

During the financial year
— Options granted® - - - - _ -

- Options
- Options

Balance as at
30 Decem

31

32

3

exercised (500) (112,000} - - (70,000) (78,000) (257,500)
cancelled (10,000) (30,000) - - - (20,000)
ber 2005 - - - - - -

Following the acquisition of more than 50% of the Company’s shares on 15 September 2004 by Temasek and its subsidiaries,
all previously unvested options granted prior to 15 September 2004 became vested on the same day, in accordance with the
rules of the NOL SOP. In addition, such vested options unexercised within six months from 15 September 2004 subsequently
lapsed on 15 March 2005. As a result, options granted on the same date with different option terms would now have the
same exercise periods.

In accordance with the modified rules of the NOL SOP approved by sharehoiders at the Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM™)
held on 3 January 20086, and the advice of the independent financial advisor, exercise price of the outstanding share options
under the NOL SOP was reduced by $S$0.92 to $$2.06 as a result of the capital reduction and cash distribution exercise
(Note 38). The effect of this modification is insignificant to the financial statements of the Group and the Company.

No share options were granted in the financial year 2005.



~ (g) (hy () (1) (k) (M Total
07/11/02 19/12/02 17/11/03 17/11/03 31/12/04 31/12/04
07/11/03 19/12/03 15/09/04 15/09/04 31/12/05 31/12/05
14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05  30/12/09 30/12/14

$$1.00 $$1.00 $$2.14 $52.14 $$2.98% $$2.98%

- 140,000 250,000 1,018,000 641,000 17,104,000 19,731,000

- (140,000) (250,000) (96:4,000) - - (1,872,000)

- - - (54,000) - (1,507,000) (1,621,000)

- - - - 641,000 15,597,000 16,238,000




32. Employee Benefits (continued)
(a) Equity Compensation Benefits (continued)

(i) Employee Share Option Plan (continued)
Details of options granted, adjusted, exercised and cancelled {due to staff resignation, expiry of options or
option holders’ acceptance of the mandatory cash offer made by Lentor Investments Pte. Ltd. (“Lentor”),
a subsidiary of Temasek) under the NOL SOP during the financial year ended 31 December 2004 were
as follows:

Share Options (a) (b) (c) {d) (e) (f (g)

Date option granted 13/04/99 01/10/89 03/05/00 19/10/00 26/03/01 19/10/01 19/10/01

Exercise period®*

From 13/04/00 01/10/00 03/05/01 19/10/01 26/03/02 19710702 19/10/02
To 12/04/04 30/09/04 14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05
Exercise price per option $$1.00 $%$2.05 $$1.52 $$1.37 $$1.30 $$1.00 $$1.00

Number of options
outstanding as at
27 December 2003 421,157 832,500 1,625,000 6,722,000 93,000 270,000 8,075,500

During the financial year
- Options granted - - - - - - -
- Options exercised (420,377) (672,500) (1,222,000) (4,494,000) (93,000) (170,000) (5,377,500)
~ Options cancelled (780) (160,000) (392,500) (2,086,000) - {30,000) (2,620,000)

Balance as at
31 December 2004 - - 10,500 142,000 - 70,000 78,000

3 Following the acquisition of more than 50% of the Company's shares on 15 September 2004 by Temasek and its subsidiaries,
all previously unvested options granted prior to 15 September 2004 became vested on the same day, in accordance with the
rules of the NOL SOP. In addition, such vested options unexercised within six months from 15 September 2004 would
subsequently lapse on 15 March 2005. As a result, options granted on the same date with different option terms would
now have the same exercise periods.

3 As at 31 December 2004, there were 30,000 options exercised but for which shares have yet to be allotted.

% These include 15,419,530 options which had been cancelled due to option holders’ acceptance of the mandatory cash offer
made by Lentor.




(h)

(1

)]

(k)

O]

(m)

(n)

Total

18/10/02

07/11/02 19/12/02 17/11/03 17/11/03 31/12/04 31/12/04
18/10/03 07/11/03 19/12/03 15/09,/04 15/09/04 31/12/05 31/12/05
14/03/05 14/03/05 14/03/05  14/03/05 14/03/05 30/12/09 30/12/14
$$1.00 $$1.00 $$1.00 $$2.14 $$2.14 $$2.98 $$2.98
10,268,000 3,245,000 320,000 430,000 12,445,000 - - 44,747,157
- - - - - 641,000 17,104,000 17,745,000
(7,314,970) (2,570,000} (180,000) (30,000) (2,107,000} - - (24,651,347)%
(2,675,530) (675,000) - (150,000) (9,320,000} - - (18,109,810)®
277,500 - 140,000 250,000 1,018,000 641,000 17,104,000 19,731,000




32. Employee Benefits (continued)
(a) Equity Compensation Benefits (continued)

(M

{in

Employee Share Option Plan (continued)

Out of the outstanding options on 16,238,000 shares (2004; 19,731,000), no options (2004: 1,986,000) are
exercisable as at 30 December 2005. Options exercised in 2005 resulted in 1,872,000 shares (2004:
24,651,347) being issued at a weighted average price of $$2.59 (2004: S$1.83) each.

The fair value of NOL share options granted on 31 December 2004 determined using the Trinomial valuation
mode! on the date of grant was US$15.1 million. The significant inputs into the model were the share price

of $$3.00 on the grant date, exercise prices as shown on pages 135 and 136, option lives based on the
contractual lives shown on pages 135 and 136, expected share price volatility of 55.0%, expected dividend yield
ranging from 3.7% to 3.9% and annual risk-free interest rates ranging from 2.1% to 2.6%. The expected share
price volatility is determined with reference to a statistical analysis of the continuously compounded daily rates
of return on the shares from January 1998 to date of grant.

Performance Share Plan

Performance shares are awarded to key executives conditional upon the Group meeting or exceeding a prescribed
financial target condition during the performance period, and also conditional on the participants meeting their
performance conditions. Pursuant to the terms of the PSP, performance shares will vest after a specified

number of years from the end of the performance period. Details of performance shares awarded to Executive
Directors and employees are as follows:

Performance Shares (a) (b) Total
Performance period

From 27/12/03 01/01/05

To 31/12/04 30/12/05%

Number of shares outstanding at beginning
of financial year 2005 - - -
During financial year 2005

— Shares awarded 1,752,000 - 1,752,000
- Shares cancelled (340,000) - (340,000)
Outstanding balance at end of financial year 2005 1,412,000% - 1,412,000

37 Performance shares for the performance period 1 January 2005 to 30 December 2005 will be awarded in 20086 after the
announcement of the financial year 2005 annual results, upon review and approval by the ERCC.

% From the end of the performance period, one-third of the performance shares awarded will each vest on 2 January 20086,
2 January 2007 and 2 January 2008.

The fair value of NOL performance shares awarded on 24 February 2005 using the Black Scholes option pricing
model on the date of award was US$3.4 million. The significant inputs into the model were the share price of
$$3.62 on the date of award, nil exercise price, option lives based on the contractual lives ranging from 312 days
to 1,042 days, expected share price volatility of 55.0%, expected dividend yield ranging from 6.1% to 11.8% and
annual risk-free interest rates ranging from 1.6% to 2.0%. The expected share price volatility is determined with
reference to a statistical analysis of the continuously compounded daily rates of return on the shares from
January 1998 to the date of award.



(iii)

(iv)

In accordance with the modified rules of the PSP approved by shareholders at the EGM held on 3 January 2006,
and the advice of the independent financial advisor, additional 351,758 shares were awarded under the PSP to
holders of the outstanding awards as a result of the capital reduction and and cash distribution exercise (Note
38). The effect of this modification is insignificant to the financial statements of the Group and the Company.

Replacement Rights Plan

Replacement rights, which are cash settled, are awarded to key executives conditional upon the participants
meeting their performance conditions. From the end of the performance period, 50% of the replacement rights
awarded will vest after two years, and the remaining 50% after three years. Details of replacement rights awarded
to Executive Directors and employees are as follows:

Replacement Rights
Performance period®

From 29/12/01
To 26/12/03
Number of rights outstanding at beginning of financial year 2005 2,391,000
During financial year 2005

- Rights cancelled (461,500)
Outstanding balance at end of financial year 2005 1,929,500

3 For key executives who were not eligible during the period 29 December 2001 to 27 December 2002, their performance
period starts from 28 December 2002 instead.

“ From the end of the performance period, 50% of the replacement rights awarded will vest on 31 December 2005 and the
remaining 50% will vest on 31 December 20086.

The fair value of NOL repiacement rights determined on 30 December 2005 was US$1.4 million.

For replacement rights to be vested on 31 December 2005, the fair value was computed based on the average
closing market price of NOL shares for the last three trading days immediately preceding the vesting date.

For replacement rights to be vested on 31 December 2006, the fair value was determined using the Black
Scholes option pricing model. The significant ingputs into the model were the share price of $$3.36 as at

30 December 2005, nil exercise price, option life based on the contractual life of 366 days, expected share price
volatility of 55.0%, expected dividend yield of 28.5%, and annual risk-free interest rate of 2.6%. The expected
share price volatility is determined with reference to a statistical analysis of the continuously compounded daily
rates of return on the shares from January 199¢& to the balance sheet date.

Subsequent to the financial year ended 30 December 2005, 378,351 replacement rights were awarded to holders
of outstanding awards as a result of the capital "eduction and cash distribution exercise (Note 38). The effect of
this modification is insignificant to the financial statements of the Group and the Company.

Staff Share Ownership Scheme

The Group offers the Staff Share Ownership Scheme to all eligible Singapore employees. Certain companies in
the Group will make corresponding contributions of $$0.50 for every $$1.00 contributed by the empioyees, up to
a maximum of S$250 per month. All contributions collected will be credited to an employee benefit trust fund
which will be used to buy the shares of the Company for issuance of units to the employees. Cash is paid to
employees when they exercise the right to redeem the units or upon their last day of service with the Group.

The Group consolidates the trust and the Company’s shares held by the trust are accounted for as “treasury
shares” as set out in Note 2.25.

The fair value of the shares held under the Staff Share Ownership Scheme was determined based on the closing
share price of NOL shares as at 30 December 2005.

The number of treasury shares held as at 30 December 2005 is disclosed in Note 30.




32. Employee Benefits (continued)
(b} Post-Employment Defined Benefit Plans

The Group has several defined benefit pension plans covering eligible employees of certain subsidiaries.

The Group also shares the cost of its health care benefits with eligible retired employees of certain subsidiaries
and recognises the cost of providing heaith care and other benefits to retirees over the term of employee service.

The following tables summarise the components of net benefit expense recognised in the consolidated income
statement and the funded status and amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet.

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

Net Benefit Expense

Defined benefit

Post-retirement

pension plans benefits

2005 2004 2005 2004

US$’000 UsS$'000 US$'000 US$’000

Current service cost 10,669 10,038 722 653
Interest cost on benefit obligation 12,868 12,480 1,706 1,512
Expected return on plan assets (12,743) (11,408) - -
Net actuarial foss recognised 1,905 1,634 453 154
Past service cost 546 325 324 324
Net benefit expense 13,245 13,069 3,205 2,643
Actual return on plan assets (16,092) (18,192) - -

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:

Net Benefit Liability

Defined benefit

Post-retirement

pension plans benefits

2005 2004 2005 2004

Us$'000 Us$'000 Us$’000 Us$'000

Present value of funded benefits obligation 236,271 231,219 35,959 28,393

Fair value of plan assets (177,065) (168,045) - -

59,206 63,174 35,959 28,393

Unrecognised net actuarial losses (46,206) (52,390) (13,757) (7,789)

Unrecognised past service cost (5,366) (6,199) (2,800) (3,104)

Net benefit tiability 7,634 4,585 19,402 17,500
Represented by:

Non-current asset (Note 22) (5,359) (7,800) - -

Non-current liability (Note 26) 12,993 12,385 19,402 17,500

Net benefit liability 7,634 4,585 19,402 17,500




Movements in the net benefit iiability during the financial year are as follows:

Movements in Net Benefit Liability

Defined benefit Post-retirement

pension plans benefits
2005 2004 2005 2004
Us$’000 Us$'000 Us$’'000 UsSs$'000
Benefit liability, beginning of the financial year 4,585 8,307 17.500 16,145

Net benefit expense recognised in the income ‘
statement as shown on the previous page 13,245 13,069 3,205 2,643
Contributions (10,454) (16,859) (1,303) (1,288)
Foreign exchange impact 258 68 - -
Benefit liability, end of the financial year 7,634 4,585 19,402 17,500

The principal actuarial assumptions used in determining pension and post-retirement benefit obligations for the
Group’s plans are shown below:

Defined Benefit Pension Plans 2005 2004
Weighted average discount rate 5.5% 5.6%
Rate of increase in compensation levels 4.2% 4.2%
Expected long term rate of return on plan assets 7.9% 7.9%
Post-retirement Benefits 2005 2004
Weighted average discount rate 5.8% 6.0%
Rate of increase in cost of post-retirement benefits 9.0% 10.5%

The rate of increase in cost of post-retirement benefits is assumed to reduce to 5.5% by 2008 and thereafter.

33. Contingent Liabilities

Protection and indemnity Insurance

Protection and Indemnity (“P&I") insurance has been arranged by the Company to cover the legal liability of the Group
for its shipping operations. Vessels operated by the Company are entered in P&l Clubs — the United Kingdom P&
Club or the Britannia P&| Club or the West of England P&l Club which are mutual protection and indemnity associations
and members of the International Group of P&| Clubs. A member of the mutual association is subject to calls

payable to the associations based on the member’s claims records as well as the claim records of all other members
in the International Group of P&! Clubs. In a mutual association, premiums are paid as advance calls during the policy
year and these premiums form a basic fund out of which claims and other outgoings are met. This fund is invested
and any income earned is added to it. This fund is supplemented, if necessary, by calls made after the end of the
policy year so that when the policy year is finally closed there is neither profit nor loss. A contingent liability
(unsecured) exists for the Group to the extent that the aggregate claims records of all the members of the
associations show significant deterioration which may result in additional calls on the members, the guantum of which
is not ascertainable at the present time.

Litigation and Claims

In connection with the Group’s operational activities, it may become contingently liable for claims made by its
customers, employees and third parties. Other than the provision made in the consolidated financial statements,
management believes that the Group is not liable under such claims, and/or that it is not possible to estimate the
amount of additional losses, if any, that might result from adverse judgements against the Group.




33. Contingent Liabilities (continued)

Pension Plan Obligations

Except as noted below, the Group has not undertaken, and does not presently intend, to withdraw from any muiti-
employer plans to which it contributes, nor are there any known intentions to terminate the plans. Under the Multi-
employer Pension Plan Amendments Act of 1980 in the United States of America, should either event occur with
respect to a plan, the Group may be liable for its proportionate share of the plan's unfunded vested benefits. Based
on information provided by plan administrators, the estimated share of these unfunded vested benefits attributable to
operations of the Group was US$26.2 million as at 30 December 2005 (2004; US$16.6 million}.

The Group ceased contributing to several muiti-employer plans in November 1997. One of those plans had unfunded
vested benefits; however, because the Group met certain legal requirements through transactions with the charterer
of certain vessels of the Group, the Group did not incur any withdrawal liability at that time. The charter agreements

with the charterer have been terminated during the year. A subsidiary has assumed ship management activities from
the charterer and this company commenced contributing to the pfan during the year.

Under certain agreements with the charterer, the Group’s subsidiary may be required to compensate the charterer
for withdrawal liability attributable to the Group’s vessels, should the charterer withdraw from the plan in the future.
The Group and charterer are pending response from plan administrators on the proposal to assume respective
responsibility to the plan. Based on information provided by plan administrators, the charterer’s total potential
withdrawal liability was approximately US$30.4 million as at 30 December 2005 (2004: US$22.4 million), a portion
of which was attributable to the Group’s vessels.

Employment Agreements

The Group has entered into employment agreements with certain of its executive officers. Each of the agreements
provides for certain payments to the officer upon termination of employment by the Group other than as a result of
death, disability (in most cases), or justified cause, as defined. In addition, the agreements with certain senior
executives provide for certain payments to the officer if the officer terminates his or her employment under certain
circumstances following a change in control of the respective legal entities. The estimated maximum future
commitment under the foregoing termination provisions of these employment agreements, in the aggregate, was
US$10.2 million as at 30 December 2005 (2004: US$11.3 miilion}.

Tax Exposures

The Group may become contingently liabie for assessments by the tax authorities for its operational activities.

There are ongoing discussions with the tax authorities on the scope of exemption of internationat shipping income, in
respect of which the Group received in late December 2005 a protective tax assessment for the year of assessment
1999 from the Singapore tax authority. The discussions are still on-going and based on professional advice, the
Group believes that it has strong grounds to refute the tax authority’s claim. Other than the provision made in the
consolidated financial statements, management on the basis of the advice given believes that the Group is not liable
under such assessments.



34.

Guarantees
In addition to the above, the Group and the Company have contingent iiabilities in respect of:

Group Company
2005 2004 2005 2004
US$’000 US$'000 Us$’000 USsS$’'000
Guarantees for bank loans and other drawn facilities
received by:
- Subsidiaries - - 361,383 185,105
- Associated companies - 18,456 - 18,456
- Others 15,583 18,075 15,583 18,075
15,583 36,5631 376,966 221,636

Excluded from the above figures are:

a) Guarantees given by subsidiaries to third parties of US$36.9 million (2004: US$27.9 million) required for
their operations.

b) Estimated maximum guarantees of US$1.1 billion (2004: US$0.9 billion) provided by the Company to lessors for
default payments on leasing of vessels, containars, chassis and land by subsidiaries. The guarantee amounts
will reduce accordingly upon lease payments made by the subsidiaries.

c) Guarantees of US$830.0 million (2004: US$988.1 million) provided by the Company for facilities granted to
subsidiaries which are unutilised as at balance sheet date.

The Group is a party to other various inquiries, administrative proceedings, litigation and other matters arising in

the normai course of business. While any proceeding or litigation has an element of uncertainty, based upon
information presently available, and in light of legal and other defences and insurance coverage and other potential
sources of payment available to the Group, management believes that the final outcome of these matters will not have
a material adverse impact on the Group's consolidated financial position or operations.

Commitments

(a) Capital Commitments
Capitai expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date but not recognised in the financial statements
are as follows:

Group

2005 2004
Uss$’000 US$'000

Capital commitments in respect of property, plant and equipment 292,607 278,449




34. Commitments (continued)

(b) Operating Lease Commitments — Where the Group and Company are Lessees
The aggregate minimum lease payments (including contingent rent) under non-cancellable operating leases

are as follows:

Group

As at 30 December 2005 Vessels Containers Terminals Chassis Others* Total
USS’000 US$’000 US$’'000 USS$’000 US$’'000 US$'000
Amount repayable in one year or less 413,003 44,994 78,346 33,717 64,268 634,328

Amount repayable in:
2007 348,983 37,261 69,166 31,153 49,342 535,905
2008 363,105 20,276 56,560 28,678 37,970 506,589
2009 350,495 12,115 52,295 15,002 30,864 460,771
2010 321,400 513 51,690 9,739 20,818 404,160
Thereafter 1,710,431 - 836,623 36,729 59,357 2,643,140
3,507,417 115,159 1,144,680 155,018 262,619 5,184,893
As at 31 December 2004 Vessels Containers Terminals Chassis Others* Total
USS'000 USS'000 US$'000 USS'000 US$'000 USS’000
Amount repayable in one year or less 404,712 48,346 77,520 25,240 63,758 619,576

Amount repayable in:
2006 284,264 40,757 78,905 25,099 50,430 479,455
2007 197,397 33,003 68,523 22,533 34,931 356,387
2008 184,012 15,958 55,184 20,055 27,744 302,953
2009 173,460 7,765 50,481 6,326 23,656 261,688
Thereafter 400,714 67 854,445 889 49,095 1,305,210
1,644,559 | 145,896 1,185,058 100,142 249,614 3,325,269




The aggregate minimum lease payments (excluding contingent rent) under non-cancellable operating leases
" are as follows:

Group

As at 30 December 2005 Vessels Containers Terminals Chassis Others* Total
Us$’000 USS$'000 USS’000 US$’000 US$’000 USS$’'000

Amount repayable in one year or less 413,003 44,994 61,819 33,717 64,268 617,801
Amount repayable in:

2007 348,983 37,281 52,639 31,153 49,342 519,378
2008 363,105 20,276 40,033 28,678 37,970 490,062
2009 350,495 12,115 35,768 15,002 30,864 444,244
2010 321,400 513 35,163 9,739 20,818 387,633
Thereafter 1,710,431 - 544,653 38,729 59,357 2,351,170

3,507,417 115,159 770,075 155,018 262,619 4,810,288

As at 31 December 2004 Vessels Containers Terminals Chassis Others** Total
USS$'000 US$000 USS'000 USS’000 UsS$'000 USS'000

Amount repayable in one year or less 404,712 48,346 62,700 25,240 63,741 604,739
Amount repayable in:

2006 284,264 40,757 64,085 25,099 50,430 464,635
2007 197,397 33,003 53,703 22,533 34,931 341,567
2008 184,012 15,958 40,364 20,055 27,744 288,133
2009 173,460 7,765 35,661 6,326 23,656 246,868
Thereafter 400,714 67 577,810 889 49,095 1,028,575

1,644,559 145896 834,323 100,142 249,597 2,974,517

4t QOthers relate mainly to warehouse space, warehouse equipment, office space and iand.

Significant leasing arrangements entered into by the Group as a lessee:

The main operating lease arrangements for the Group are long-term non-canceliable lease agreements

for vessels. These leases have different terms and terminate at various dates. Specific clauses like rental
escalation, renewal rights and purchase options can be found in some of these lease agreements.

The contingent rent component for the terminal lease agreement is determined based on any rental agreement
entered into by the lessor with another lessee at a rate lower than that contracted with the Group.

For purposes of the above disclosures, current annual rental payments are used to compute the contingent rent
component for terminals.



34. Commitments (continued)

(b) Operating Lease Commitments — Where the Group and Company are Lessees (continued)
The aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Company .

As at 30 December 2005 Others*
Uss$'000

Amount repayable in one year or less 25

“2  Others relate mainly to housing rental.

There is no contingent rent component for the leases above.

The Company has no future minimum lease payments to be paid under non-cancellable operating leases as at
31 December 2004,

{c) Operating Lease Commitments - Where the Group and Company are Lessors
(i)  For Leased-in Assets

The future minimum lease payments to be received under non-cancellable sub-leases relating to a lease-in
and a simultaneous lease out arrangement are as follows:

Group
As at 30 December 2005 Terminals
Us$’000
Amount receivable in one year or less 761
Amount receivable in:
2007 140
2008 140
2009 46
1,087
As at 31 December 2004 Terminals
Us$’000
Amount receivable in one year or less 761
Amount receivable in:
2006 761
2007 140
2008 140
2009 46
1,848

There is no contingent rent component included under the above non-cancellable sub-leases relating to a
lease-in and a simultaneous lease out arrangement for the Group for 2005 and 2004.

There are no significant operating lease arrangements for leased-in assets entered into by the Group as
a lessor.



(ii}

Company

The Company has no future minimum lease payments to be received under non-cancellable sub-leases
relating to a lease-in and a simultaneous lease out arrangement as at 30 December 2005 and

31 December 2004.

.

For owned assets

The future minimum lease payments to be received under non-cancellable leases relating to a lease out

arrangement for owned assets are as follows:

Group

As at 30 December 2005 Vessels Others® Total
Us$’000 Uss$'000  USS$'000
Amount receivable in one year or less 9,898 1,353 11,351

Amount receivable in;
2006 - 1,156 1,156
2007 - 683 683
2008 - 546 546
2009 - 312 312
Thereafter - 711 711
9,998 4,761 14,759
As at 31 December 2004 + Vessels Others™® Total
US$'000 USS$’000 USS’'000
Amount receivabie in one year or less 28,582 904 29,486

Amount receivable in:
2006 10,518 373 10,891
2007 - 168 168
2008 - 131 131
39,100 1,576 40,676

4 Others relate mainly to office space, land anc buildings.

There is no contingent rent component included under the above non-cancellable leases relating to a lease

out arrangement for assets owned by the Group for 2005 and 2004.

There are no significant operating lease arrangements for owned assets entered into by the Group as

a lessor.

Company

The Company has no future minimum leas: payments to be received under non-cancellable leases relating

to a lease out arrangement for owned assets as at 30 December 2005 and 31 December 2004.



35. Financial Risk Management

Financial Risk Factors

The Group is exposed to various market risks which include fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, interest
rates and bunker fuel prices. The Group’s risk management program seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
its financial performance. Derivative financial instruments are empioyed to hedge certain risk exposures but are not

used for trading purposes.

(i

(ii)

{iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

Currency risk

The Group’s revenue is denominated primarily in United States Dollars, the measurement and reporting currency
of the Company. There are some exposures through local operating costs in other currencies, the most significant
of which are the Euro, Hong Kong Dollar, Chinese Renminbi, Singapore Dollar and Japanese Yen.

The Group uses foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge its future foreign exchange exposures.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate exposure relates primarily to its debt obligations. The interest rate risk management
program aims at optimising net interest cost and reducing interest rate volatility.

To hedge against adverse interest rate changes on the underlying debt obligations, the Group uses interest rate
collars and a cross currency interest rate swap.

Credit risk

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The Group has implemented policies to ensure

that credit sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit standing.
Furthermore, the concentration of credit risk with respect to amounts receivable from customers is limited due to
the large number of customers making up the debtor balance, and who are also internationally reputed.

Liquidity risk
In liquidity risk management, the Group maintains an adeguate level of cash, cash equivalents and committed
credit facilities to support its businesses and mitigate the effects of cash flow fluctuations.

Bunker fuel price risk
The Group's earnings are affected by changes in bunker fuel prices. To manage bunker fuel price risk, the Group
uses bunker swap contracts.

Counterparty risk

To manage counterparty risk associated with its currency, interest rate and bunker fuel price risk

management programs, the Group selects counterparties based on their credit ratings and limits its exposure to
any individual counterparty. Such counterparty exposures are regularly reviewed, and adjusted as necessary. This
mitigates the risk of material loss arising in the event of non-performance by counterparties.




36. Related Party Transactions

(a) Sale and Purchase of Goods and Services

(b)

(c)

In addition to the related party information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following
significant transactions between the Group and related parties, consisting of fellow subsidiaries of the ultimate
holding company or associated companies of the Group, took place during the financial year at terms agreed
between the parties:

Group
2005 2004
US$'000 Us$'000
Purchases of services from fellow subsidiaries of the ultimate holding company 109,857 34,512
Services rendered to fellow subsidiaries of the ultimate holding company (2,197) (1,765)
Interest income received/receivable from associated companies (1,995) (1,536)

Share Options Granted to Directors

There were no share options granted to the Directors of the Company during the financiat year (2004: 1,574,000).
The share options were given on the same terms and conditions as those offered to other employees of the
Company except for share options granted to Non-Executive Directors, which have exercise periods of five years
(Note 32). For share options granted to Non-Executive Directors from 1 January 2004 and thereafter, a
moratorium on the disposal of shares arising from the exercise of the share options is applicable during their
term of service as a member of the Board of Directors of the Company, until six months after their term of office
has been completed, and/or six months after resignation or retirement. The outstanding number of share options
granted to the Directors of the Company at the 2nd of the financial year was 1,057,000 (2004: 2,004,000).

Key Management Personnel

(i) Loans to key management personnel
Loans given under the Group's approved housing, car and renovation loans scheme to key management
personnel are as follows:

Group
2005 2004
Us$’000 US$'000
Housing, car and renovation loans receivabile 63 530
Less: current portion - (77)
Non-current portion 63 453

The current and non-current portions of housing, car and renovation loans receivable are included in current
and non-current assets as loans receivable (Notes 12 and 22). The effective interest rate of the loans given to
key management personnel is 4.25% (2004: 4.25% to 6.63%) per annum at balance sheet date.




36. Related Party Transactions (continued)

(¢} Key Management Personnel (continued)

(i)

Key management personnel remuneration
The remuneration of the key management personnel includes base salary, performance bonus, share options,
performance shares, repiacement rights, gratuities, allowances and benefits and Directors’ fees.

The total remuneration of key management personnel disclosed under this note is computed based on

the cost incurred by the Group whereas the remuneration information disclosed under the 'Remuneration
Bands for the Directors of the Company’ and ‘Remuneration Bands for the Top Five Key Management Staff
who are not also Directors of the Company’ is derived based on the assumptions specified in the Corporate
Governance report.

Key management personnel remuneration is as follows:

Group
2005 2004
Us$'000 uss$’'c00
Salaries, other short-term employee benefits and Directors’ fees 10,212 10,157
Post-employment benefit plans 639 446
Share-based compensation 6,104 1,076
16.955 11,679

Included in the above is total compensation to Directors of the Company amounting to US$4.8 million
(2004: US$3.8 million).

Notes:

(a)

()

Key management personnel for 2005 and 2004 include:

-~ Executive Directors: David Lim Tik En (Group President & Chief Executive Officer) and Lim How Teck
(Group Chief Financial Officer - retired as a Director in April 2005 and retired as an executive in
June 2005).

- Non-Executive Directors: Cheng Wai Keung, Friedbert Malt, Ang Kong Hua, Yasumasa Mizushima,
James Connal Scotland Rankin, Willie Cheng Jue Hiang, Robert Holland, Jr, Christopher Lau Loke Sam,
Lock Sai Hung (retired in April 2005), Timothy James Rhein (retired in April 2005) and
Gan Chee Yen (retired in April 2005).

— Corporate: Cindy Stoddard (Group Chief Information Officer), Jim McAdam (Senior Vice President,
Supply Chain Solutions & Strategic Account Management) and Gordon Simpson (Chief Human Resources
Officer - resigned in October 2005).

- Business Units: Ronald Widdows (Chief Executive Officer, APL), Brian Lutt (President, APL Logistics) and
Hans Hickler (Chief Executive Officer, APL Logistics - resigned in May 2005).

— Regional Heads: David Appleton (President, Europe), Koay Peng Yen (President, Greater China) and
John Bowe (President, Americas).

Included in 2005, but not in 2004, are the remuneration for:

- Non-Executive Directors: Timothy Charles Harris {appointed in May 2005) and Peter Wagner (appointed
in May 2005).

— Corporate: Cedric Foo (Group Deputy President and President, Asia/Middle East), Patricia Leung (Group
Chief Financial Officer), Marjorie Wee (Group General Counsel) and Timothy Windle (Vice President &
General Counsel, Americas).

- Regional Head: Kenneth Glenn (Senior Vice President, South Asia and Managing Director, India).

Tax equalisation costs are derived based on best estimates of taxable income, pending the final tax assessment.




37. Financial Information by Industry and Geographical Segments
Primary Segment Reporting By Business Segments
The principal activities of the Group include those relating to:

1. Liner - Globat cargo transportation operations. It offers container shipping services in major trade lanes
such as Trans-Pacific, Intra-Asia, Trans-Atlantic, Latin America and Asia-Europe.

2. Logistics — Global logistics provider with a comprehensive network of facilities and services to support the
global supply chain management needs of customers. The range of services include consolidation,
warehousing, global freight management (ocean, air, truck and rail), domestic distribution networks,
international deconsolidation and information technologies that provide timely and accurate
information to effectively manage supply chain activities.

The terms of inter-segment sales are established by negotiation between the various business units,

Unallocated income statement items represent incorne tax expense or credit, interest expense and interest income.
However, costs are sometimes incurred at the entergprise level on behalf of a segment. Such costs are segment
expenses if they relate to the segment’s operating activities and they can be directly attributed or allocated to the
segment on a reasonable basis.

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, goodwill arising on consolidation,
inventories, receivables, operating cash and other investments and exclude fixed deposits and deferred income tax
assets. Segment liabilities comprise primarily of operating liabilities and exclude items such as income tax liabilities
and borrowings.

Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, excluding those
acquired through business combinations.



37.

Financial Information by Industry and Gecgraphical Segments (continued)

Primary Segment Reporting By Business Segments — Financial Year Ended 30 December 2005

Liner Logistics Others  Elimination Total
US$’000 US$’000 Uss$'000 Us$’000 Us$’000
Revenues
External sales 5,940,918 1,289,832 40,310 - 7,271,060
Inter-segment sales 21,314 52 75,782 (97,148) -
Total revenue 5,962,232 1,289,884 116,092 (97,148) 7,271,080
Segment result 821,872 56,087 (5,290) - 872,669
Interest expense (40,002)
Interest income 25,295
Share of results of associated companies - 2,150 10,778 - 12,928
Share of results of joint ventures - 380 2,851 - 3,231
Profit before income tax 874,121
Income tax expense (62,595)
Net profit for the financial year 811,526
Segment assets 3,030,896 432,347 1,834,123 (1,567,276) 3,730,090
Associated companies 20 5,878 - - 5,898
Joint ventures - 7,579 9,006 - 16,585
Unallocated assets 1,062,329
Consolidated total assets 4,814,902
Segment liabilities 2,523,099 218,590 104,096 (1,567,276) 1,278,509
Unallocated liabilities 910,485
Consolidated total liabilities 2,188,994
Other segment items:
Capital expenditures
—- property, plant and equipment 190,345 9,793 3,960 - 204,098
— intangible assets 7,683 3,207 57 - 10,947
Depreciation 221,068 8,537 12,947 - 242 552
Amortisation 1,202 2,817 242 - 4,261
Net (write-back of)/provision for impairment (226) - 6,139 - 5,913
Other non-cash expenses 19,583 8,867 (1,259) - 27,191




Primary Segment Reporting By Business Segments - Financial Year Ended 31 December 2004

Liner Logistics Others  Elimination Total
Us$'000 Uss$’000 uss’'000 US$’'000 us$’000
Revenues
External sales 5,284,273 1,167,119 93,364 - 6,544,756
inter-segment sales 20,974 128 63,590 (84,692) -
Total revenue 5,305,247 1,167,247 156,954 (84,692) 6,544,756
Segment result 895,090 (19,648) 70,042 - 945,484
interest expense (87,096)
Interest income 12,799
Share of results of associated companies - - (1,767) - (1,767)
Share of resuits of joint ventures - 1,284 3,110 - 4,394
Profit before income tax 873,814
Income tax credit 72,545
Net profit for the financial year 946,359
Segment assets 3,052.857 370,703 1,083,362 (785,202} 3,721,720
Associated companies 20 - - - 20
Joint ventures - 12,218 6,188 - 18,406
Unallocated assets 628,796
Consolidated total assets 4,368,942
Segment liabilities 1,506,673 385,329 83,141 (785,202) 1,189,941
Unallocated liabitities 984,655
Consolidated total liabilities 2,174,596
Other segment items:
Capital expenditures
~ property, plant and equipment 190,402 8,541 9,823 - 208,766
- intangible assets 7,278 2,001 12 - 9,291
Depreciation 208,876 9,108 13,580 - 231,562
Amortisation 4,172 4,449 374 - 8,995
Net (write-back of)/provision for impairment (917) 54,504 (10,993) - 42,594
Other non-cash expenses (8,516) 554 14,283 - 6,321




37. Financial Information by Industry and Geographical Segments (continued)

Secondary Segment Reporting By Geographical Segments
In respect of liner activities which covers the world's major shipping lanes, the geographical segments of external
sales are reported as follows:

Geographical Segments Trade Lanes
Asia/Middle East Intra-Asia
Europe Asia-Europe

Trans-Atlantic

Americas Trans-Pacific
Latin America

In respect of logistics activities, the geographical segments of external sales are reported based on the country where
the services were significantly performed.

In respect of other activities, the geographical segments of external sales are reported based on the country of
domicile of customers.

The Directors of the Company consider that the nature of the Group's business precludes a meaningful allocation of
vessels, drydocking costs and containers to specific geographical segments as defined under FRS 14 “Segment
Reporting”. These vessels, together with the related drydocking costs, and containers are primarily utilised across
geographic markets for shipment of cargoes throughout the world. This is in line with the industry practice.

Secondary Segment Reporting By Geographical Segments

Sales Total Assets

2005 2004 2005 2004

Us$'000 Us$'000 UsS$’000 Us$’000

Asia/Middle East 1,472,126 1,215,555 1,663,288 1,190,431
Europe ) 1,588,826 1,363,498 208,056 190,220
Americas 4,210,108 3,965,703 1,007,657 990,717
Sub total 7,271,060 6,544,756 2,879,001 2,371,368
Vessels - - 1,491,191 1,613,763
Containers* - - 407,576 357,209
Drydocking costs* - - 37.134 26,602

Total 7,271,060 6,544,756 4,814,902 4,368,942




38.

Capital Expenditure Capital Expenditure

- Fixed Assets* - Intangible Assets
2005 2004 2005 2004
US$’000 Us$’'000 Us$'000 Us$'000
Asia/Middle East 17,541 14,588 7,338 7,111
Europe 978 1,076 - 9
Americas 33,938 16,467 3,609 2,171
Sub total 52,457 32,131 10,947 9,291
Vessels* 3,940 6,373 - -
Containers* 119,301 158,538 - -
Drydocking costs* 28,400 11,724 - -
Total 204,098 208,766 10,947 8,291

a3

Containers and drydocking costs are included in the plant & machinery and operating equipment category under property,
plant and eguipment.

45

The capital expenditure incurred on IT equipment anc software for 2005 was US$23 million (2004: US$13 million).

“  The breakdown of capital expenditure incurred on vesisels was as follows:

2005 2004

US$ million US$ million

i) Containerships 4 5
i) Tankers — 1%
4 6

* Relates to the acquisition of additional interests in a subsidiary prior to the sale of Neptune Associated Shipping Pte Ltd
group on 16 March 2004.

Events Occurring After Balance Sheet Date

Capital reduction and cash distribution exercise

On 7 December 2005, the Company announced a proposed capital reduction exercise pursuant to which a cash
distribution of $$0.92 was proposed to be made tc shareholders for each ordinary share (at par value of $$1.00)
in the capital of the Company held as at the books closure date (27 January 2008). No cancellation of shares or
change in the number of shares held by shareholders was proposed to be made through the proposed capital
reduction exercise.

On 3 January 2008, the Company announced that the proposed capital reduction exercise has been approved by
shareholders at an EGM held on that day. Court approval for the proposed capital reduction exercise and effective
date for the capital reduction exercise were annourced by the Company on 11 and 27 January 2006 respectively.
Pursuant to the capital reduction exercise, the Corrpany paid a total of approximately $$1.34 billion (US$0.82 billion)
in cash to shareholders on 21 February 2006.

Further, in accordance with the modified rules of the NOL SOP and PSP approved by shareholders at the EGM,

and the advice of the independent financial advisor, adjustments had been made to the exercise price of the outstanding
share options under the NOL SOP and the number of shares comprised in the outstanding awards granted under the
PSP. Exercise price of the outstanding share options was reduced by $$0.82 to $$2.06 while additional 351,758
shares were awarded under the PSP to holders of the outstanding awards as a result of the capital reduction exercise.
The effect of these modifications are insignificant to the financial statements of the Group and the Company.



39.

40.

41.

New Accounting Standards and FRS Interpretations

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are mandatory for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2006. The Group's assessment of those standards and interpretations that is relevant
to the Group are set out below.

INT FRS 104 Determining whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease

The Group will adopt INT FRS 104 on 1 January 2006, which is the effective date of the Interpretation.
Implementation of INT FRS 104 is not expected to significantly affect the financial statements of the Group
for the financial year ended 30 December 2005.

Authorisation of Financial Statements
These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Directors on
28 February 2006.

Listing Of Significant Subsidiaries
Details of significant subsidiaries of the Group are as follows:

Effective group Country of
equity interest incorporation/
2005 2004 Place of
Subsidiaries % % operation Principal activities
Direct Interest:
APL (Bermuda), Ltd 100 100 Bermuda Shipping
APL Logistics Ltd 100 100 Singapore Logistics services
Indirect Interest:
American President Lines, Ltd* 100 100  United States Ocean carrier
of America
APL Co. Pte Ltd 100 100 Singapore Shipping
APL Logistics Hong Kong, Limited* 100 100 Hong Kong SAR Logistics services
APL Logistics Transportation Management 100 100  United States Logistics services
Services, Ltd.* of Ametica
APL Logistics Warehouse Management 100 100  United States Logistics services
Services, Inc.” of America
APL Logistics Warehouse Management 100 100 Mexico Logistics services
Services de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.-
Vascor, Ltd* 50 50  United States Logistics services
of America
Notes:

All subsidiaries are audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers, Singapore except for the following:
+ Audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers firms outside Singapore.
++ Not required to be audited, but their unaudited financial statements are reviewed as part of the Group audit.

In accordance with Rule 716 of the SGX-ST Listing Manual, the Audit Committee and Board of Directors of the
Company confirmed that they are satisfied that the appointment of different auditors for its subsidiaries would not
compromise the standard and effectiveness of the audit of the Group.




Value Added Statement

For the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2005

2005 2004
Us$’000 Uss$'000
Revenue 7,271,060 6,544,756
Less: cost of sales and operating expenses (5,716,831) (5,008,274)
Value added from business unit operations 1,554,229 1,536,482
Share of results of associated companies 12,928 (1,767)
Share of results of joint ventures 3,231 4,394
Other gains (net) 94,529 108,284
Value added available for distribution 1,664,917 1,647,393
Distribution:
To employees in employee benefits 493,308 434,576
To providers of capital on:
(a) interest on borrowings 40,002 87,096
(b) dividends to equity holders 391,472 84,863
To government in income and freight taxes 85,183 (48,548)
Retained for reinvestment and future growth:
(a) depreciation 242,552 231,562
(b) retained earnings 412,400 857,844
1,664,917 1,647,393
2005 2004
us$ uss
Value added per employee 140,464 145,735
Value added per US$ employment cost 3.38 3.79
Value added per US$ investment in property, plant and equ'pment (before depreciation) 0.45 0.46
Value added per US$ sales 0.23 0.25
2005 2004
Additional Information:
Average number of employees 11,853 11,304
Cost of property, plant and equipment (before depreciation) in US$'000 3,734,422 3,611,778

The Value Added Statement does not form part of the audited financial statements.




Simplified Group Financial Position

As at 30 December 2005

2005 2004
What We Owned UsS$’000 Uss$’000

4,814,902 4,368,942

Us$'000 %

Property, plant and equipment 2,259,778 46.9
Trade debtors 839,648 17.5
Inventories at cost 97,898 2.0
Other assets 1,617,578 33.6
2005 2004

What We Owed Us$'000 UsS$’'000

4,814,902 4,368,942

US$'000 %
Share capital 814,447 16.9
Reserves 1,790,626 37.2
Borrowings 510,261 10.6
Current liabilities 1,367,751 28.4
Deferred income & other non-current liabilities 331,817 6.9

The Simplified Group Financial Position does not form part of the audited financial statements.



Five Year Group Financial Statistics

2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
US$’000 Uss$’000 Us$'000 Uss’000 US$'000

Income
Revenue 7,271,060 6,544,756 5,522,583 4,641,818 4,729,950
Profit/{loss} before income tax and minority interest 874,121 873,814 456,723 {317,810) (34,835)
Profit/(loss) after income tax and minority interest £03,872 942,707 428,826 (330,156) (56,366)

Selected Balance Sheet Data

Current assets 2,159,544 1,673,736 1,309,093 1,049,674 1,187,751
Investments in associated companies 5,898 20 44 10,406 15,234
Investments in joint ventures 16,585 18,406 1,503 2,975 848
Available-for-sale financial assets 13,848 5,782 4,507 10,333 10,13¢
Property, plant and equipment 2,259,778 2,318,118 2,299,717 3,169,440 3,091,336
Deferred charges 1,887 1,407 4,746 8,271 8,626
Intangible assets 27,492 34,471 36,445 58,196 83,627
Goodwilt arising on consolidation 221,453 221,453 267,898 291,853 308,695
Deferred income tax assets 34,366 41,825 41,024 32,464 10,011
Derivative financial instruments 28,851 - - - -
Other non-current assets 45,200 53,724 98,760 135,665 201,872
Total Assets 4,814,902 4,368,942 4,063,737 4,769,477 4,918,139
Current liabilities © 1,367,751 1,051,245 1,071,023 1,062,829 833,456
Borrowings 510,261 745,141 1,147,126 2,550,275 2,613,527
Deferred income 15,180 20,025 25,421 30,509 35,643
Deferred income tax liabilities 137,509 168,937 256,459 284,747 307,499
Provisions and other non-current liabilities 158,293 189,248 248,440 253,633 212,089
Total Liabilities 2,188,994 2,174,596 2,748,469 4,181,993 4,002,214
Net Assets 2,625,908 2,194,346 1,315,268 587,184 915,925
Share capital and reserves 2,605,073 2,179,665 1,304,068 556,053 885,477
Minority interest 20,835 14,681 11,200 31,131 . 30,448

2,625,908 2,194,346 1,315,268 587,184 915,925

Dividends (Gross) 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Interim dividend (Singapore Cents per share) 8.00% 8.75% - - -
Final dividend (Singapore Cents per share) - 14.69* 3.85% - -
Special dividend (Singapore Cents per sha're) - 21.69% - - -
Dividend cover (times) 11 2 16 n.m. n.m.
Selected Ratios ‘ 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Return on ordinary share capital and reserves

- after extraordinary items 34% 54% 53% -46% 6%
Return on total assets

- after extraordinary items 18% 22% 10% 7% -1%
Net tangible assets per S$1 share (in US$) 1.66 1.37 0.79 0.27 0.50
Current assets to current liabilities 158% 159% 122% 99% 143%
Share capital and reserves to total assets 54% 50% 32% 12% 18%

n.m. = not meaningful

7 Final taxable dividend

* Interim taxable dividend

9 Final tax exempt (one-tier) dividend

% Special tax exempt (one-tier) dividend

5 Interim tax-exempt {one-tier) dividend

The Five Year Group Financial Statistics does not form part of the audited financial statements.




Five Year Group Financial Statistics
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The Five Year Group Financial Statistics does not form part of the audited financial statements.
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1. NOL'S 37™ ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (“AGM”) AND
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING (“EGM”) HELD ON 19
APRIL 2006 at 11.00 A.M. AND 12.10 P.M. RESPECTIVELY

2. CHANGES IN NOL AUDIT COMMITTEE

1. NOL'’S 37™M AGM AND EGM

Pursuant to Rule 704(14) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (*SGX-ST"), the Board of Directors of Neptune
Orient Lines Limited (“the Company” or “NOL") wishes to announce that at the
37" AGM and EGM of the Company held on 19 April 2006 at 11.00 a.m. and
12.10 p.m. respectively, all the Resolutions as set out in the Notices of AGM
and EGM dated 28 March 2006, and put to the meeting, were duly passed.

The Company wishes to highlight shareholders’ approval of the following
items at the AGM:

Re-election of Board Members

The following Board members, who were subject to re-election, were re-
elected at the AGM and remained as members of the NOL Board Committees
reflected against their names:

Name of Director Committee
Mr Cheng Wai Keung Executive Committee (Chairman)
Chairman Approval Committee (Chairman)

Nominating Committee
Executive Resource & Compensation
Committee

Mr Ang Kong Hua Nominating Committee (Chairman)
Vice Chairman Executive Committee



Mr Timothy Charles Harris Executive Resource & Compensation
Committee
Enterprise Risk Management Committee

Mr Peter Wagner Audit Committee
Enterprise Risk Management Committee

Mr Willie Cheng, who did not seek re-election at the AGM, retired as Director
with effect from 19 April 2006 and relinquished his chairmanship of the NOL
Audit Committee.

The Board of Directors would like to take the opportunity to place on record its
appreciation to Mr Willie Cheng for his invaluable contribution to the NOL
Group during his tenure as a Board Member and as Chairman of the NOL
Audit Committee.

Appointment of New Auditors

Messrs Ernst & Young were appointed as the new Auditors of the Company
for the Financial Year 2006, in place of Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers who
retired at the Company’s AGM cn 19 April 2006.

2. Changes in NOL Audit Committee

Pursuant to Rule 704(8) of the SGX-ST Listing Manual, the Board of Directors
of NOL wishes to announce that Mr Christopher Lau Loke Sam, a current
member of the NOL Audit Committee, has been appointed as Chairman of the
said Committee with effect from 19 April 2006. Mr Christopher Lau, an
independent director appointed to the NOL Board on 18 May 2004, is also a
member of the Enterprise Risk Management Committee.

With the above appointment, the members of the NOL Audit Committee now
comprise: Mr Christopher Lau (Chairman), Mr Robert Holland, Jr. and Mr
Peter Wagner.

By Order of the Board

Marjorie Wee/Wong Kim Wah (Ms)
Company Secretaries

19 April 2006




APPENDIX

28 March 2006

This Appendix is circulated to Shareholders of Neptune Orient Lines Limited (the “Company”) together
with the Company’s Annual Report. Its purpose is to provide Shareholders with the information, and to
explain the rationale, for the proposed modifications to, and renewal of, the Shareholders’ Mandate to be
tabled at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 19 April 2006 at 11.00 a.m. at the Lecture Theatre,
4th Storey, NOL Building, 456 Alexandra Road, Singapore 119962.

If you are in any doubts as to the action that you should take, you should consult your stockbroker, bank
manager, solicitor, accountant or other professional advisers immediately.

The Notice of Annual General Meeting and a Proxy Form are enclosed with the Annual Report.

The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any
of the statements made, reports contained or opinions expressed in this Appendix.

NEPTUNE ORIENT LINES LIMITED
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For the purpose of this Appendix, the foliowing definitions apply throughout unless otherwise stated:-

“Act”

HAGM!!

“Annual Report”

“associated company”

“Audit Committee”

“Appendix”’

“CDP”

“Company” or “NOL”

“‘controlling shareholder’

“Depositors”

“‘Depository Agent’

“‘Depository Register’
“‘Directors”

“Interested Persons”

“KPMG Corporate Finance” or
“IFA!,

“Latest Practicable Date”

“Listing Manual”

“‘Mandate”

“NOL Board”

The Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore, as amended or
modified from time to time.

Annual General Meeting of the Company, to be held on 19 April
2006.

The annual report of the Company.

A company in which at least 20% but not more than 50% of its
shares are held by the listed company or group.

The audit committee of the Company comprising the Independent
Directors, Willie Cheng Jue Hiang (Chairman), Christopher Lau
Loke Sam, Robert Holland, Jr., and Peter Wagner.

This appendix dated 28 March 2006.

The Central Depository (Pte) Limited.

Neptune Orient Lines Limited.

A person who:-

(@) holds directly or indirectly 15% or more of all voting shares in
the company; or

(b) infact exercises control over a company.

A person being a Depository Agent or a holder of a securities
account maintained with CDP but does not include a holder of a
sub-account maintained with a Depository Agent.

An entity registered as a Depository Agent with CDP for the
purpose of maintaining securities sub-accounts for its own account
and for the account of others.

A register maintained by CDP in respect of book-entry securities.

The directors of the Company as at the date of this Appendix.

Persons defined as “interested persons” in Chapter 9 of the Listing
Manual and as set out in paragraph 6 of this Appendix.

KPMG Corporate Finance Pte Ltd.

6 March 20086, being the latest practicable date prior to the printing
of this Appendix.

The listing manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force.

The Shareholders’ Mandate for the Company, its subsidiaries and.
associated companies which are considered to be “entities at risk”
to enter into certain categories of interested person transactions as
described in paragraph 7 of this Appendix.

The NOL Board comprising the Directors of NOL.




“NOL Exco”

“NOL Group”
“SGX-ST”
“Shares”

“Shareholders”

“subsidiary”

“Temasek Holdings”
E(S$” Or H$’!

nussn

The Executive Committee of the Company comprising Cheng Wai
Keung (Chairman), Dr. Friedbert Malt, Ang Kong Hua, and David
Lim Tik En (Group President & Chief Executive Officer).

The Company and its subsidiaries and associated companies.
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

Ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

Persons who are for the time being registered as holders of the
Shares (other than CDP) in the Register of Members of the
Company and Depositors who have Shares entered against their
names in the Depository Register.

A company in which more than 50% of its shares are held by the
listed company or group.

Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited.
Singapore Dollars.

United States Dollars.

For the purpose of this Appendix, words importing the singular shall include the plural and vice versa and
words importing one gender shall inciude the other genders. Words importing persons include
corporations. Any reference in this Appendix to any enactment is a reference to that enactment as for the
time being amended or re-enacted. Any word defined under the Act, or any statutory modification thereof
and used in this Appendix shall have the mearing assigned to it under the Act unless otherwise defined in

this Appendix.

All timing referred to in this Appendix is made by reference to Singapore time.
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NEPTUNE ORIENT LINES LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
Company Registration Number: 196800632D

Introduction

On 10 November 1999, the Company secured the Mandate for Interested Person Transactions
pursuant to Chapter 9A of the then SGX-ST Listing Manual. The Mandate has since been renewed
at each Annual General Meeting of the Company. Pursuant to Chapter 9 of the existing Listing
Manual, the Directors of the Company are proposing to seek Shareholders’ approval to modify and
renew the Mandate in order to enable the NOL Group to enter into the categories of transactions
(“Interested Person Transactions” or “IPTs”) set out in paragraph 7 below with the specified
classes of NOL’s Interested Persons set out in paragraph 6 below in the ordinary course of
business, provided such Interested Person Transactions are made on normal commercial terms
and will not be prejudicial to the interests of NOL and its minority Shareholders.

The purpose of this Appendix, to be circulated to Shareholders together with the Company’s
Annual Report, is to provide Shareholders with the information and to explain the rationale for the
proposed modifications to, and renewal of, the Mandate to be tabled at the AGM.

The SGX-ST takes no responsibility for the accuracy of any statements or opinions made or
expressed in this Appendix.

The Proposed Modifications to, and Renewal of, the Mandate

Temasek Holdings is NOL's controlling shareholder, holding a direct and deemed interest of
68.31% in the Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date.

The existing Mandate enables the Company and its subsidiaries and associated companies, which
are considered to be “entities at risk” (the “EAR Group”) within the meaning of Rule 904(2) of the
Listing Manual, in their ordinary course of businesses, to enter into categories of transactions with
specified classes of the Company’s Interested Persons, provided that such transactions are
entered into on an arm’s length basis and on normal commercial terms. In particular, the existing
Mandate only covered specific transactions with specific identified subsidiary and associated
companies of Temasek Holdings, namely, PSA Corporation Limited and its associates, SembCorp
Marine Ltd and its associates and Keppel Shipyard Limited and its associates.

Temasek Holdings and its associates (the “Temasek Group”) comprise many other companies in
diverse businesses and industries and the EAR Group may from time to time transact with any of
these other companies in the ordinary course of the business of the EAR Group. It would be of
benefit to the EAR Group to be able to obtain competitive quotes from various companies within
the Temasek Group and (provided the review procedures are complied with and the terms provided
by, or obtained from, companies within the Temasek Group are on an arm’s length basis and on
normal commercial terms and not prejudicial to the interests of NOL and its minority Shareholders)
enter into transactions with such companies within the Temasek Group.

The Directors also consider it timely for the Mandate to take into account the range of the principal
activities undertaken by the EAR Group in the ordinary business of the EAR Group as described in
paragraph 7.1 below, namely, the Port-related Activities, Ship-related Activities, Fuel-related
Activities and other general activities which the EAR Group may undertake in the normal course of
business of the EAR Group and/or which are necessary for the day to day operations of the EAR
Group.

In view of the expanded scope of the modified Mandate, the review procedures have been
expanded to include the internal control guidelines in relation to the EAR Group obtaining services
or purchasing products and the EAR Group providing services or selling products.
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3.1

3.2

3.3

Accordingly, the Directors are proposing| to modify the Mandate to take into account the following:

(i the expansion of the classes of Interested Persons with whom the EAR Group may transact,
namely, companies within the Temasek Group;

(i) the range of principal activities undertaken by the EAR Giroup; and
{ii)  the modified review procedures for undertaking Interested Person Transactions.

The adoption of the modified Mandate will enhance the ability of companies in the EAR Group to
pursue business opportunities with companies in the Temasek Group which are time-sensitive in
nature or which are recurrent in nature, provided that such transactions between the EAR Group
and the Temasek Group are made ori normal commercial terms, and are not prejudicial to the
interests of the Company and its minority Shareholders.

Details of the Mandate, as modified, including the rationale for and the benefits to the Company,
the review procedures for determining transaction prices with its Interested Persons and other
general information relating to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, are set out in paragraphs 3 to 8
below. The proposed modifications are lined for Shareholders’ ease of reference.

The Shareholders’ Mandate

Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual governs transactions by a listed company, as well as transactions
by its subsidiaries and associated companies that are considered to be at risk, with the listed
company’s interested persons. The purpose is to guard against the risk that interested persons
could influence the listed company, its subsidiaries or associated companies to enter into
transactions with interested persons that may adversely affect the interests of the listed company
or its shareholders.

In accordance with Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, the listed company is required to make an
immediate announcement of, or to make an immediate announcement and seek its shareholders’
approval for, an interested person transaction if the value of that transaction alone or on
aggregation with other transactions conducted with the same interested person during the financial
year reaches, or exceeds, certain materiality thresholds.

Except for certain transactions which, by reason of the nature of such transactions, are not
considered to put the listed company at risk to its interested persons and hence are excluded from
the ambit of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, immediate announcement and shareholders’ approval
would be required in respect of transactions with interested persons if certain financiai thresholds
(which are based on the value of the transaction as compared with the listed company’s latest
audited consolidated net tangible assets (“NTA")) are reached or exceeded. In particular,
shareholders’ approval is required for an interested person transaction of a value equal to, or
exceeds:

(i) 5% of the group’s latest audited consolidated NTA; or

(i) 5% of the group’s latest audited consolidated NTA, when aggregated with other transactions
entered into with the same interested person (as defined under Chapter 9 of the Listing
Manual) during the same financial year. However, a transaction which has been approved by
shareholders, or is the subject of aggregation with another transaction that has been
approved by shareholders, need not be included in any subsequent aggregation.

However, the above does not apply to any transaction below $$100,000.
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3.4

3.5

3.6

In relation to NOL, for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, 5% of the latest audited
consolidated NTA of the NOL Group would be approximately US$121.00 million. This is computed
based on the latest audited consolidated NTA of the NOL Group for the financial year ended 30
December 2005 of approximately US$2,419.96 million.

Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual permits a listed company, however, to seek a general mandate
from its shareholders for recurrent transactions of a revenue or trading nature or those necessary
for its day-to-day operations, such as the purchase and sale of supplies and materials or services
(but not in respect of the purchase or sale of assets, undertakings or businesses) that may be
carried out with the listed company’s interested persons.

Under the Listing Manual;
(i) an “entity at risk” means:
1) the listed company;

2) a subsidiary of the listed company that is not listed on the SGX-ST or an approved
exchange; or

3) an associated company of the listed company that is not listed on the SGX-ST or an
approved exchange, provided that the listed company and/or its subsidiaries (the
“listed group”), or the listed group and its interested person(s), has control over the
associated company;

(i)  an “interested person” means a director, chief executive officer or controlling shareholder of
the listed company or an associate of such director, chief executive officer or controlling
shareholder;

(i) an “associate” in relation to an interested person who is a director, chief executive officer or
controlling shareholder includes an immediate family member (that is, the spouse, child,
adopted-child, step-child, sibling or parent) of such director, chief executive officer or
controlling shareholder, the trustees of any trust of which the director/his immediate family,
the chief executive officer/his immediate family or controlling shareholder/his immediate
family is a beneficiary or, in the case of a discretionary trust, is a discretionary object, and
any company in which the director/his immediate family, the chief executive officer/his
immediate family or controlling shareholder/his immediate family has or have an aggregate
interest (directly or indirectly) of 30% or more, and, where a controlling shareholder is a
corporation, its subsidiary or holding company or fellow subsidiary or a company in which it
and/or they have (directly or indirectly) an interest of 30% or more;

(iv) an “approved exchange” means a stock exchange that has rules which safeguard the
interests of shareholders against interested person transactions according to similar
principles to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual,

(v} an “interested person transaction” means a transaction between an entity at risk and an
interested person; and

(vi)  a “transaction” includes:-
1) the provision or receipt of financial assistance;
2) the acquisition, disposal or leasing of assets;
3) the provision or receipt of services;

4) the issuance or subscription of securities;
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4.1

4.2

4.3

5.1

5.2

5) the granting of or being granted options; and
6) the establishment of joint ventures or joint investments;
whether or not in the ordinary course of business, and whether or not entered into directly or

indirectly.

Rationale for the Modifications to, and Renewal of, the Mandate

The principal activities of the NOL Group are:

(i investment_holding_and the ownership and charter of shipping vessels and other related
assets;

(i)  the provision of supply chain management, warehousing, distribution and customer logistics
solutions (by way of a global network of services spanning ocean, air and overland

operations) to customers;

(i)  paricipation in ventures related to the activities listed uncler (i} and (ii) above; and

(iv) the provision of other related and complementary services_including ship management,
engineering and repairs to custorrers,

Fhe ”G.Iz 'GIBHB '8 _an.aetn.e partieipantin bu_smesses_ con pln.me.ntaw to-its-eargo EI,aIlSBBIEaEIBII
ices: ; | : E’GIEIGIISI ee'm.puses s "pp 'S |ela' t_e_el s‘emr—:'es l land Iaa_sed'
property-leasing-and-management:

The NOL Group also_engages in_other incidental activities such as the disposals of shipping
vessels and related assets as well as non-core properties and assets from time to time.

It is envisaged that in the ordinary course of business, transactions between companies within the
NOL Group and NOL's Interested Persons are likely to occur from time to time. Such transactions
are as described in paragraph 7 below.

The Mandate is intended to facilitate transactions contemplated therein which are entered into in
the ordinary course of business and which are transacted from time to time with the Interested
Persans, provided that they are carriec out at arms’ length and on normal commercial terms and
are not prejudicial to the interests of NCL Group and its minority Shareholders.

Benefits to Shareholders

Due to the time-sensitive nature of commercial transactions, the obtaining of a general mandate
pursuant to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual will enable the NCL Group, in the ordinary course of its
businesses, to enter into the-eategeriesot-transactions—{Interested Person Transactions® set out
in paragraph 7 below with the speeified—eclasses—of-NOLs-nterested—persons—{the—Interested
Persons® set out in paragraph 6 below, provided such Interested Person Transactions are made
on normal commercial terms.

The Mandate (as modified) and the renewal thereafter on an annual basis eliminates the need to
convene separate general meetings from time to time to seek Shareholders’ approval as and when
the need to enter or renew the transactions with Interested Persons arises, thereby reducing
substantially the administrative time and expense in convening such meetings, without
compromising the corporate objectives and adversely affecting the business opportunities available
to the NOL Group.
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6.1

6.2

7.1

Classes of Interested Persons

The renewed Mandate will apply to the Interested Person Transactions (as described in paragraph

7 below) which are carried out with subsidiaries-and-associated-companies-of- Femasek-Heldings

the Temasek Group. namely. Temasek Holdings and its associates.

Transactions with Interested Persons that do not fall within the ambit of the renewed Mandate shall
be subject to the relevant provisions of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual.

Scope of the Renewed Mandate and Interested Person Transactions

The types of Interested Person Transactions which are to be covered by the prepesed Mandate (as
modified and renewed) relate to transactions for the provision or obtaining of products and services

in the normal course of the EARNOL Group’s business with the—subsidiaries—and-asseciated
companies-of Femasek-Holdings the Temasek Group as set out below:-

(a)

Port-related Activities

(b)

The products and services under this sub-category are:

(1) the obtaining of cargo and container handling services:

2 the obtaining_of docking, stevedoring, barge, tug boats and pilotage services;

(3) __ the obtaining of container maintenance and repair services;

{4) _the obtaining of general depot, pre-trip inspections, storage services, and diesel;

(5) __the obtaining of warehouse leasing services;

(6) the provision of inter-gateway and inter-terminal haulage services;

(7)__the provision of container depot management services_including container repair and

storage; and
(8) the provision or the obtaining of such other products and/or services which are
incidental to or in connection with the provision or obtaining of products and/or

services in sub-paragraphs (1) to (7) above.

The transactions set out in sub-paragraphs (1) to (7) arise in the normal course of business
of the EAR Group, while the transactions set out in sub-paragraph (8) will be those which are
necessary for the day-to-day operations of the EAR Group.

Ship-related Activities

The products and services under this sub-cateqgory are:

(1} the obtaining of ship repair and maintenance services;
(2)  the obtaining of ship-building services:

(3) _the obtaining of marine-engineering-related services such as dry-docking and_ship

conversion services;

{(4) _ the obtaining of ship leasing services;

(5) _the provision of vessel chartering services:

(6) _the provision of other ship-related services such as ship management, engineering,
repairs, and blasting and painting of steel plates; and

(7) _the provision or the obtaining of such other products and/or services which are
incidental to or in _connection with the provision or obtaining of products and/or

services in sub-paragraphs (1) to {6) above.
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7.2

7.3

(c)

The transactions set out in sub-paragraphs (1) to (6) arise in the normal course of business
of the EAR Group. while the transactions set out in sub-paragraph (7) will be those which are
necessary for the day-to-day operations of the EAR Group.

Fuel-related Activities

(d)

The products and services under this sub-category are:

(1) the obtaining or purchase f bunker fuel; and

(2) the provision or the obtaining of such other products and/or services which are
incidental to_or in_connection with the provision or obtaining of products and/or
services in sub-paragraph (1) above. :

The transactions set out in sub-paragraph (1) arise in the normal course of business of the
EAR_Group, while the transactions set out in sub-paragraph (2) will be those which are
necessary for the day-to-day operations of the EAR Group.

Other Activities

The products and services under this sub-category are:

(1) the obtaining or the purchase of electronic and engineering equipment, security
systems, material handling systems, computer systems, components and equipment,
software licences and information technology services;

(2)  the leasing and/or purchase of telecommunication equipment and/or system;

(3) __ the leasing of premises and the obtaining of property maintenance services;

(4) _ the obtaining of management service;

(5)__the obtaining of printing and publication products and services:

(6) the obtaining of transportation and logistics services;

(7) __the obtaining of travel-related services, including travel agency service;

(8) the obtaining or the purchase of oil and fuel (excluding bunker fuel) and related
services;

(9)__ the provision of global cargo transportation services;

(10) the provision _of supply chain management, consolidation/deconsolidation,
warehousing, distribution, and customer logistics solutions; and

(11) the provision or the obtaining of such other products and/or services which are
incidental to or in connection with the provision or obtaining of products and/or
services in sub-paragraphs (1) to (10) above.

The transactions set out in sub-paragraphs (1) to (10) arise in the normal course of business
of the EAR Group, while the transactions set out in sub-paragraph (11) will be those which
are necessary for the day-to-day operations of the EAR Group.

The renewed Mandate, as-medified; will not cover any transactions by a company in the EARNGOL
Group with an Interested Person that is below S$$100,00Q in value as the threshold and
aggregation requirements of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual would not apply to such transactions.

The EAR Group will benefit from havirig access to competitive guotes from different companies in

7.34

the different industries within the Temasek Group, in addition to obtaining quotes from, or

transacting with, non-Interested Persoris.

Transactions with interested-persens-{ineluding-the-tnterested-Persons)-Interested Persons that do

not fall within the ambit of the renewed Mandate will be subject to the provisions of Chapter 2 of the
Listing Manual and/or other applicable provisions of the Listing Manual.
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8.1

8.2

Review Procedures for Interested Person Transactions

The Company has in place an internal control system to ensure that transactions with Interested
Persons are made on commercial terms, supported by independent valuation where appropriate,
and consistent with the EAR Group’s usual policies and practices.

The internat control systems include the following guidelines:-

(i)

Obtaining of services or purchases of products

(ii)

(a)

all contracts entered into or transactions with Interested Persons are to be carried out

(b)

by obtaining at least 2 gquotations (wherever possible or available) prior to the entry
into such transactions, in order to determine whether the price and the terms offered
by the Interested Person are comparable to those offered by unrelated third parties for

the same or substantially similar specifications and services:

where there are publicly available rates for the services or goods provided by the

(c)

Interested Person, the EAR Group will seek to negotiate better rates to ensure that the
terms and rates provided by Interested Persons are no less favourable than the usual
commercial terms provided by unrelated third parties (including, where applicable,
preferential rates/prices/discounts accorded to corporate customers or for bulk
purchases) or otherwise in accordance with applicable industry norms;

in_the event that such competitive quotations or publicly available rates cannot be

(d)

obtained (for instance, if there are no unrelated third party vendors of simitar products
or services, or if the product is a proprietary item), the senior management staff of the
relevant company in the EAR Group (with no interest, direct or indirect in the
transaction), will determine whether the price and terms offered by the Interested
Person are fair and reasonable; and

in evaluating the terms offered by Interested Persons for such services or products,

factors such as, but not limited to, guantity. volume, consumption, customer
requirements, specifications, duration of contract and strategic purposes of the
transaction will be taken into account.

Provision of services or sales of products

(a)

all contracts entered into or transactions with Interested Persons are to be carried out

(b)

at the prevailing market rates or prices of the service or product providers, on terms
which are no more favourable to the Interested Person than the usual commercial
terms extended to unrelated third parties (including, where applicable, preferential
rates/prices/discounts accorded to corporate customers or for bulk purchases) or
otherwise in accordance with applicable industry norms:

where the prevailing market rates or prices are not available due to the nature of

(c)

service to be provided or the product to be sold. the EAR Group’s pricing for such
services to be provided or products to be sold to Interested Persons is determined in
accordance with the EAR Group’s usual business practices and pricing policies,
consistent with the usual margin to be obtained by the EAR Group for the same or
substantially similar type of contract or transaction with unrelated third parties; and

in_evaluating the terms to be offered to Interested Persons for such services or

products, factors such as, but not limited to, guantity, volume, consumption, customer
requirements, specifications, duration of contract and strategic purposes of the
transaction will be taken into account.
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8.3

In addition, the following review and approval procedures have been implemented:-

(1)

(2)

Approval Limits For Obtaining of Services or Purchases of Products

() Transactions up to the equivalent of below US$5 million require the approval of eanbe
approved-by the respective line managers and finance managers with the appropriate
fimits of approval. Fhe-Group-President-and-ChicfExeeutive-Officer-has-the—authority
to—approve—transactions—tip—to—the—equivalentof-US$10-millien—Transactions above
between the equivalent of US$5 million and up to US$10 million require the approval
of both the Group President & Chief Executive Officer and the Group Chief Financial

Officer-reed-the-approval-of-the-Group-Rresident-and-Chief-Exeeutive-Officer-and-in
his-absenee;-the- NOLExes.

(i)  Fhe-NOLExco-has—the—autherityto—approve—iransactions—up—to—the—equivalentof
US$100-millien—Transactions above between the equivalent of US$10 million and up
to US$100 million need require the approval of the NOL Exco or, in its absence, the
NOL Board.

(iiy FheNOLBoard-has-the-autherity-to-approve-Transactions above the equivalent of
US$100 million require the: approval of the NOL Eioard.

, . I I Lo is—bol 5% of tho , itod
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entry:

The NOL Board and/or the NOL Exco and/or the Group President and & Chief
Executive Officer (or such other senior executive designated in his place) may, as ithe
deems fit, request for additional information pertaining to the transaction under review
from independent sources or advisers, including the obtaining of valuations from
independent professional valuers, if necessary.

Guidelines for Provision of Products and Services

(4)

Interested Person Transactions with a value in excess of 5% of the latest audited
consolidated NTA of the NOL Group must be approved by the NOL Board prior to entry.

The NOL Board and/or the NOL Exco and/or the Group President & Chief Executive Officer
(or such other senior executive designated in his place) may, as itthe deems fit, request for
additional information pertaining to the transaction under review from independent sources
or advisers.

Abstention from voting at NOL Board and/or NOL Exco meeting

Any member of the NOL Board and/or the NOL Exco, including any Executive Director who
has an interest in a transaction, is required to abstain from participating in the review and
approval process in relation to that transaction.

Register
The Company maintains a register of Transactions carried out with Interested Persons

ineluding—these pursuant to the Mandate (recording the basis, including the quotations
obtained to support such basis, cn which they are entered into).

10
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All Interested Person Transactions entered into in the relevant financial year-reludingthese
pursuant to the Mandate, are reviewed by the Group’s internal/external auditors pursuant to
their annual audit plan.

(5)  Periodic Reviews

(i) The internal or external auditors shall, on a quarterly basis, carry out audit reviews on
Interested Person Transactions and will report to the Audit Committee on their findings;

(i) The internal or external auditors shall, on an annual basis, carry out audit reviews to

ascertain that the established guidelines and procedures for Interested Person
Transactions are appropriate and have been complied with; and

(i) The Audit Committee shall review these internal/external audit reports on Interested
Person Transactions,

8.54

8.65

Further, NOL'’s internal/external audit plan will incorporate a review of all transactions entered into
in the relevant financial year pursuant to the Mandate.

If, duringpetiediereviews on its review of the internal/external audit reports-by-the-Audit-Gommittee,

the Audit Committee is of the view that the guidelines and review procedures as stated have
become inappropriate or insufficient in view of changes to the nature of, or the manner in which,
the business activities of the EARNOLE Group are conducted, NOL will revert to Shareholders for a
fresh mandate based on new guidelines and review procedures to ensure that the Interested
Person Transactions will be en-an at arm’s length and on normal commercial basis.

Validity Period of the Renewed Mandate

The Mandate (as modified and renewed) will take effect from the passing of the ordinary resolution
relating thereto, and will (unless revoked or varied by NOL in general meeting) continue in force
until the next annual general meeting of NOL. Approval from Shareholders will be sought for the
renewal of the Mandate at the next annual general meeting and at each subsequent annual
general meeting of NOL, subject to satisfactory review by the Audit Committee of its continued
application to the transactions with Interested Persons.

11




INTEREOITEVY FEROUN I RANOAVITIUNO

10.

10.1

10.2

11.

12.

Disclosures

Under Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, the aggregate value of transactions conducted with
Interested Persons pursuant to the Maridate in force during the financial year must be disclosed in
the NOL Group Annual Report of that financial year.

NOL will announce the aggregate value of transactions conducted with Interested Persons
pursuant to the Mandate for the quarterly financial periods which NOL is required to report on
pursuant to the Listing Manual and within the time frame required for the announcement of such
report.

Audit Committee’s Statements

The Audit Committee has reviewed the terms of the Mandate, as proposed to be modified, and is
satisfied that the review procedures for Interested Person Transactions, as well as the reviews to
be made periodically by the Audit Cormmittee (with internal/external audit assistance) in-relation
thereto, are sufficient to ensure that Interested Person Transactions will be made with the relevant
class of Interested Persons in accordance with the EAR Group’s normal commercial terms, and are
hence not prejudicial to NOL and its minority Shareholders.

If, on its review of the internal/external audit reports, the Audit Committee is of the view that the
established guidelines and procedures are not sufficient to ensure that the Interested Person
Transactions will be on the EAR Group’s normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the
interests of NOL and its minority Shareholders, NOL will revert to Shareholders for a fresh mandate
based on new guidelines and procedures for transactions with Interested Persons.

Directors’ and Substantial Shareholder’s Interests

(a) Directors’ Interests

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors’ interests in Shares as recorded in the
Register of Directors’ Shareholdings are as follows:

Number of Shares Number of Shares
: comprised in
Direct Deemed outstanding
Director Interest % Interest % Options/Awards
Cheng Wai Keung 250,000 0.017 - - 129,000
Dr. Friedbert Malt 40,000 0.003 - - 64,000
Ang Kong Hua 40,000 0.003 - - 64,000
David Lim Tik En 242,333 0.017 - - 764,667
Yasumasa Mizushima - - - - 48,000
James Connal Scotland Rankin 60,000 0.004 - - 48,000
Willie Cheng Jue Hiang 30,000  0.002 5,000" nm® 48,000
Robert Holland, Jr. 27,000 0.002 - - 48,000
Christopher Lau Loke Sam - - - - 48,000

Timothy Charles Harris - - - - - _
Peter Wagner - - - - -

Notes:
“ Willie Cheng Jue Hiang is deemed tc be interested in the 5,000 Shares held by his spouse.

?  “am” means not meaningful.

12
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13.

14.

(b)  Substantial Shareholder’s Interests

As at the Latest Practicable Date, the interests of the substantial Shareholder in Shares as
recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders are as follows:

Number of Shares
Substantial Direct Deemed Total Number
Shareholder Interest % Interest % of Shares %
Temasek
Holdings 383,465,362 26.34 611,068,970 41.97 994,534,332 68.31
Note:

" Temasek Holdings is deemed to be interested in the 611,068,370 Shares held by its associated companies and
subsidiaries.

Independent Financial Adviser’s Opinion

Pursuant to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, KPMG Corporate Finance Pte Ltd (‘KPMG Corporate
Finance”) has been appointed as the independent financial adviser (“IFA”) to the Independent
Directors to opine as to whether the methods and procedures for determining the transaction prices
of the IPTs are sufficient to ensure that the IPTs will be carried out on normal commercial terms
and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority Shareholders.

Based on the current analysis undertaken and subject to the qualifications and assumptions made
in their letter to the Independent Directors dated 28 March 2006, KPMG Corporate Finance is of
the opinion that the methods and procedures for determining transaction prices of the IPTs as set
out in paragraph 8 of this Appendix, if applied strictly, are sufficient to ensure that the IPTs will be
carried out on normai commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company
and its minority Shareholders. A copy of their letter to the Independent Directors dated 28 March
2006 is reproduced in Annexure 1 to this Appendix.

Independent Directors’ Recommendations

The Directors who are considered independent for the purposes of the proposed modifications to,
and renewal of, the Mandate are Dr. Friedbert Malt, Ang Kong Hua, Yasumasa Mizushima, James
Connai Scotland Rankin, Willie Cheng Jue Hiang, Robert Holland, Jr., Christopher Lau Loke Sam,
Timothy Charles Harris and Peter Wagner (the “Independent Directors”).

The Independent Directors are of the view that the entry into the Interested Person Transactions
(as described in paragraph 7 of this Appendix) with the Interested Persons (as described in
paragraph 6 of this Appendix) in the ordinary course of its business is in the best interests of the
Company.

The Independent Directors are of the opinion that the methods or procedures for
determining the transaction prices are sufficient to ensure that the transactions will be
carried out on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of NOL
and its minority Shareholders. For the reasons as set out in paragraphs 4, 5 and 7.3 of this
Appendix, the Independent Directors recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of the
Ordinary Resolution relating to the proposed modifications to, and renewal of, the Mandate
at the AGM.

13
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15.

16.

16.1

16.2

17.

18.

The Independent Directors, in rendering their recommendation, and the IFA, in rendering its
opinion, have not had regard to the spacific investment objectives, financial situation, tax position
or unique needs and constraints of any Shareholder.

As different Shareholders have different investment objectives, the Independent Directors
recommend that any individual Shareholder who may require specific advice in relation to his
Shares should consult his. stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant or other professional
advisers.

Action to be Taken by Shareholders

If a Shareholder is unable to attend the AGM and wishes to appoint a proxy to attend and vote on
his behalf, he should complete, sign and return the Proxy Form in accordance with the instructions
printed thereon, so as to reach the Cempany Secretary not later than 11 a.m. on 17 April 20086.
Completion and return of the Proxy Form by a Shareholder will not prevent him from attending and
voting at the AGM if he so wishes.

Abstention from Voting

Temasek Holdings and its associates will abstain from voting their Shares (if any) in respect of the
Ordinary Resolution relating to the proposed modifications to, and renewat of, the Mandate at the
AGM.

Mr. Cheng Wai Keung, who holds an advisory position in Temasek Holdings, will abstain from
voting his Shares (if any) in respect of the Ordinary Resolution relating to the proposed
modifications to, and renewal of, the Mandate at the AGM. He will also decline to accept
appointment as proxy for any Shareholder to vote in respect of such Ordinary Resolution, unless
the Shareholder concerned shall have given instructions in the Proxy Form as to the manner in
which his votes are to be cast in respect of such Ordinary Resolution.

Directors’ Responsibility Statement

The Directors collectively and individuatlly accept responsibility for the accuracy of the information
given in this Appendix and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their
knowledge and belief, the facts stated and the opinions expressed in this Appendix (excluding
those expressed by KPMG Corporate Finance in their letter to the Independent Directors dated 28
March 2006) are fair and accurate and that there are no material facts the omission of which would
make any statement in this Appendix misleading. In respect of KPMG Corporate Finance's letter to
the Independent Directors dated 28 March 2006, the sole responsibility of the Directors has been to
ensure that the facts stated with respect to the NOL Group are fair and accurate in all material
respects.

Consent
KPMG Corporate Finance has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of this

Appendix with the inclusion of its name, its letter to the Independent Directors dated 28 March 2006
and all references thereto, in the form and context in which they appear in this Appendix.

14
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19.

Documents for Inspection

Copies of the following documents may be inspected at the registered office at 456 Alexandra
Road, #06-00 NOL Building, Singapore 119962 during normal business hours from the date of this
Appendix to the date of the AGM:

(i) the letter from KPMG Corporate Finance to the Independent Directors dated 28 March 2006;
and

(iiy  the letter of consent from KPMG Corporate Finance referred to in paragraph 18 above.
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LETTER FROM KPMCG CORPORATE FINANCE PTE LTD

TO THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

The Independent Directors
Neptune Orient Lines Limited
456 Alexandra Road

#06-00 NOL Building
Singapore 119962

28 March 2006

Dear Sirs

The Proposed Modifications to, and Renewal of, the Mandate for Interested Person Transactions

1.

Introduction

* Neptune Orient Lines Limited (“NOL” or the “Company”) is proposing to modify the shareholders’

mandate (the “Mandate”) to enable the entering into of certain categories of transactions
(“Interested Person Transactions”) with specified classes of the Company’s interested persons
(“Interested Persons”), as set out in paragraphs 7 and 6 respectively of the appendix to the AGM
Notice to the Shareholders dated 28 March 2006 (the “Appencdlix”).

This letter has been prepared for the use of the Directors who are deemed independent for the
purposes of the Mandate (the “Independent Directors”) for the purposes of their consideration of
the proposed modifications to, and renewal of, the Mancate (“Modified Mandate”). Unless
otherwise defined, all terms in the Appendix have the same meaning in this letter.

Terms of Reference

The objective of this letter is to provide an independent opinion on whether the methods and
procedures set out in the Modified Mandate for determining the prices of Interested Person
Transactions are sufficient to ensure that the transactions will be carried out on normal commercial
terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its minority shareholders.

KPMG Corporate Finance’s views as et forth in this letter are based on prevailing market and
economic conditions, and our analysis of the information provided in the Appendix, as well as
information provided to us by the Company, as of 28 March 2006. Accordingly, this opinion does
not take into account any events or conditions which occurred after this date.

It is not within our terms of reference to evaluate or comment on the merits and/or associated risk,
whether commercial, financial or othenvise of any Interested Person Transactions entered into or
about to be entered into, and as such, we do not express an opinion thereon. Such evaluations or
comments are and remain the sole responsibility of the Directors although we may draw upon their
views or make such comments in respect thereof (to the extent deemed necessary or appropriate
by us) in arriving at our opinion.

In the course of our evaluation of the rnethods or procedures adopted for determining transaction
prices in connection with the Modified Mandate, we have held discussions with certain senior
managers of the Company (“Senior Management”). We have also relied on the information
contained in the Appendix. We have not independently verified such information furnished by the
Senior Management or any representatfion or assurance made by them, whether written or verbal,
and accordingly cannot and do not warrant- or accept responsibility for the accuracy or
completeness of such information, representation or assurance. Nevertheless, the Senior
Management has confirmed to us that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, the information
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provided to us (whether written or verbal) as well as the information contained in the Appendix
constitutes a full and true disclosure, in all material respects, of all material facts relating to the
Modified Mandate and there is no material information the omission of which would make any of
the information contained herein or in the Appendix inaccurate, incomplete or misleading in any
material respect.

We have also made reasonable enquiries and used our judgement in assessing such information
and have found no reason to doubt the reliability of such information. We have further assumed
that all statements of fact, belief, opinion and intention made by the Independent Directors in the
Appendix have been reasonably made after ‘due and careful enquiry. We have not conducted a
comprehensive review of the business, operations or financial condition of the Company or the
transactions described in paragraph 7 of the Appendix.

Our opinion is delivered solely for the use and benefit of the Independent Directors for their
deliberation on the Modified Mandate, and the recommendations made by the independent
Directors shall remain the responsibility of the Independent Directors. Qur opinion should not be
relied on as a recommendation to any Shareholder as to how such Shareholder should vote on the
Modified Mandate or any matter related thereto. Each Shareholder may have different investment
objectives and considerations and should seek professional advice.

We are not required to conduct and have not conducted any review of the historical or current
Interested Person Transactions carried out by the EAR Group. Accordingly, we do not express any
opinion on whether such Interested Person Transactions were or are in compliance with the review
procedures set out under the Modified Mandate. The implementation of such review procedures is
the responsibility of the Directors.

We are not required or authorised to obtain, and we have not obtained, any quotations or
transaction prices from third parties for products or services similar to those which are to be
covered by the Modified Mandate, and therefore are not able to, and did not, compare the
Interested Person Transactions with similar transactions with third parties.

The Directors have collectively and individually accepted responsibility for the accuracy of the
information contained in the Appendix, and have confirmed, having made all reasonable enquiries,
that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the facts stated in the Appendix are fair and accurate
as at the date of the Appendix and there are no material facts the omission of which would make
any statement in the Appendix misleading.

Our opinion in relation to the Modified Mandate should be considered in the context of the
entirety of this letter and the Appendix.

Modified Mandate
(a) Background

It is envisaged that, in the ordinary course of business of the Company and its subsidiaries
and associated companies which are considered to be “entities at risk” within the meaning of
Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual (together the “EAR Group”), transactions between the EAR
Group and its Interested Persons are likely to occur from time to time. Such transactions are
as described in paragraph 7 of the Appendix.

Due to the time-sensitive nature of commercial transactions, the obtaining of a general
mandate pursuant to Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual will enable the NOL Group, in the
ordinary course of its businesses, to enter into Interested Person Transactions (as set out in
paragraph 7 of the Appendix) with the Interested Persons (as set out in paragraph 6 of the
Appendix), provided such Interested Person Transactions are made on normal commercial
terms and are not prejudicial to the interests of NOL and its minority Shareholders.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

The Modified Mandate does not cover any Interested Person Transactions which has a value
of less than S$100,000 as the threshold and aggregation requirements of Chapter 9 of the
Listing Manual do not apply to such transactions.

Interested Person Transactions
Salient information on the Interested Person Transactions including:

(i) the rationale for the Modified Mandate;

(i)  the scope of the Modified Mandate;

(i}  the benefit to the Company of the Modified Mandate;

(iv) the classes of Interested Persons;

(v) the categories of Interested Person Transactions; and

(vi) the review procedures for Interested Person Transactions

is set out in paragraphs 2 to 8 of the Appendix.
Validity Period of the Modified Mandate

If approved by Shareholders at the AGM, the Modified Mandate will take effect from the
passing of the Ordinary Resolution relating thereto at the AGM, and will (unless revoked or
varied by the Company in general meeting) continue in force until the next AGM of the
Company. Approval from Shareholders will be sought for the renewal of the Modified
Mandate at the next AGM and at each subsequent AGM of the Company, subject to
satisfactory review by the Company’s Audit Committee of its continued application to
transactions with Interested Persons.

Disclosure

In accordance with the requirements of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual, disclosure is
required to be made in the Company’s Annual Report of the aggregate value of all Interested
Person Transactions conducted with Interested Persons pursuant to the Modified Mandate
during the current financial year, and in the Annual Reports for subsequent financial years
that the Modified Mandate continues in force. The Company will also announce the
aggregate value of transactions conducted pursuant to the Modified Mandate for the financial
periods that it is required to report on pursuant to Rule 705 of the Listing Manual (which -
relates to quarterly reporting by listed companies) within the time required for the
announcement of such report. :

Other Transactions with Interested Persons

The Independent Directors should note that any transaction between any company within the
EAR Group and the Interested Fersons which does not fall within the ambit of the Modified
Mandate (as set out in paragraphs 3 to 8 of the Appendix and in respect of which approval is
sought from the Shareholders at the AGM) shall be subject to the relevant provisions of
Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual and/ or other applicable provisions of the Listing Manual.

Such transactions will, unless specifically excluded from the ambit of Chapter 9 of the Listing
Manual, require an immediate announcement where:-

)] the transaction is of a value equal to, or more than, 3% of the group’s latest audited
consolidated net tangible assets; or

(i) the aggregate value of all transactions entered into with the same Interested Person

during the same financial year amounts to 3% c¢r more of the group’s latest audited
consolidated net tangible assets.
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Shareholders’ approval (in addition to an immediate announcement) is required where:-

(i) the transaction is of a value equal to, or more than, 5% of the group’s latest audited
consolidated net tangible assets; or

(i) the transaction, when aggregated with other transactions entered into with the same
Interested Person during the same financial year, is of a value equal to, or more than,
5% of the group’s latest audited consolidated net tangible assets.

4. Conclusion

In arriving at our opinion on whether the methods and procedures for determining transaction
prices of Interested Person Transactions as set out in paragraph 8 of the Appendix are sufficient to
ensure that the Interested Person Transactions will be carried out on normal commercial terms and
will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and/ or the minority Shareholders, we have
considered the following:-

i) the rationale for and the benefit to the Company of the Modified Mandate;

(i) the classes of Interested Persons and the categories of Interested Person Transactions
covered by the Modified Mandate; and

(i)  the review procedures for Interested Person Transactions.

Based on the analysis undertaken and subject to the qualifications and assumptions made
herein, KPMG Corporate Finance is of the opinion that the methods and procedures for
determining the transaction prices of the Interested Person Transactions as set out in
paragraph 8 of the Appendix, if applied strictly, are sufficient to ensure that the transactions
will be carried out on normal commercial terms and will not be prejudicial to the interests of
the Company and/or the minority Shareholders.

We have prepared this letter solely for the use of the Independent Directors of the Company in
connection with and for the purposes of their consideration of the Modified Mandate. No other
person may reproduce, disseminate or quote this letter (or any part thereof) for any other purpose
at any time and in any manner except with KPMG Corporate Finance’s prior written consent in
each specific case.

Yours faithfully
For and on behalf of
KPMG Corporate Finance Pte Ltd

Satyanarayan R Vishal Sharma
Director Director
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NEPTUNE ORIENT LINES LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
Company Registration Number: 196800632D

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the 37th Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held on
Wednesday, 19 April 2006 at 11.00 a.m. at the Lecture Theatre, 4th Storey, NOL Building, 456 Alexandra
Road, Singapore 119962, to transact the following businesses:

Ordinary Business

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Accounts for the year ended
30 Detember 2005 and the Auditors’ Report thereon. Resolution 1

2, To approve payments to Non-Executive Directors of S$845.591 (FY2004: ‘
S$$913,768). Resolution 2

3. To re-elect the following Directors pursuant to:

Article 99 of the Company’s Articles of Association:
(Directors due to retire by rotation and are eligible for re-election.)

(a)  Mr Cheng Wai Keung [See Explanatory Note (i)] " Resolution 3
{(b)  Mr Ang Kong Hua [See Explanatory Note (i)] Resolution 4

Mr Willie Cheng is also due to retire by rotation under Article 99 at the 37th
Annual General Meeting but is not seeking re-election thereat.

Article 102 of the Company’s Articles of Association:

(Directors appointed to fill casual vacancy and/or were added to the Board
after the 36th Annual General Meeting, who hold office until the 37th Annual
General Meeting, and are eligible for re-election.)

(¢)  Mr Timothy Charles Harris [See Explanatory Note (i)] Resolution 5

(d) MrPeter Wagner [See Explanatory Note '(i)] Resolution 6
4, To appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as the new Auditors and to authorise the

Directors to fix their remuneration. [See Explanatory Note (ii)] Resolution 7
Special Business
Ordinary Resolutions

5.1. Renewal of Mandate for Directors to allot and issue shares subject to Limits

“That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to:

{a) i) issue shares in the capital of the Company (“shares”) whether
by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or




(b)

(i) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively,
“Instruments”) that might or would require shares to be issued,
including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as
adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments
convertible into shares,

at any time and upon .such terms and conditions and for such
purposes and to such persons as the Directors may in their absolute
discretion deem fit; and

(notwithstanding the authority conferred by this Resolution may have
ceased to be in force) issue shares in pursuance of any Instrument
made or granted by the Directors while this Resolution was in force,

provided that:

1)

the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to this
Resolution (including shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments
made or granted pursuant to this Resolution) does not exceed 50 per
cent of the issued shares in the capital of the Company (as calculated
in accordance with sub-paragraph (2) below), of which the aggregate
number of shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to
shareholders of the Company (including shares to be issued in
pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this
Resolution) does not exceed 20 per cent of the issued shares in the
capital of the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-
paragraph (2) below);

(subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited ("SGX-ST")) for the
purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares that may be
issued under sub-paragraph (1) above, the percentage of issued
shares shall be based on the number of issued shares in the capital of
the Company at the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:
(i) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any
convertible securities or share options or vesting of share
awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time this
Resolution is passed; and

(i)  any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares;

in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company
shall comply with the provisions of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST
for the time being in force (unless such compliance has been waived
by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association for the time being of
the Company; and

{unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) the
authority conferred by this Resolution shall continue in force until the
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the
date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is
required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.” [See Explanatory
Note (iii)]

Resolution 8




NOTES:

1.

Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository
Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of
Shares. If you have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. If
you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register
of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and
registered in your name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies
shall be deemed to relate to all the Shares held by you.

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies
to attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointmenis ‘shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his
shareholding (expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 456 Alexandra
Road #06-00, NOL Building, Singapore 119962 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Annual General
Meeting. :

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in
writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy, or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under
its seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised. :

A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it
thinks fit to act as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act,
Chapter 50 of Singapore. :

General:

The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed or
ilegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may
reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered
against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting, as
certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.
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NEPTUNE ORIENT LINES LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
Company Registration Number: 196800632D

PROXY FORM

{(Name)

of

(Address)

being a member/members of Neptune Orient Lines Limited (the “Company”) hereby appoint the
Chairman of the Meeting™ and/or*:

NRIC/

Name Address Passport No.

Proportion of
Shareholding

and/or*

as my/our* proxy/proxies* to attend and to vote for me/us* on my/our* behalf and, it necessary, to
demand a poll, at the 37th Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 19 April 2006 at 456
Alexandra Road, #04-00 (Lecture Theatre), NOL Building, Singapore 119962 at 11.00 a.m. and at any
adjournment thereof.

*Delete as appropriate

(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or against
the Ordinary Resolutions as set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting. In the absence of specific
directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as he/they may think fit, as he/they will on any other
matter arising at the Annual General Meeting.)

Resolution
Number Subject For Against
1 To adopt the Directors’ Report and Accounts for the year ended
30 December 2005 and the Auditors’ Report thereon,
2 To approve payments to Non-Executive Directors of S$845,591.
3 To re-elect Mr Cheng Wai Keung as Director.
4 To re-elect Mr Ang Kong Hua as Director.
5 To re-elect Mr Timothy Charles Harris as Director.
6 To re-elect Mr Peter Wagner as Director.
7 To appoint Messrs Emst & Young as the new Auditors and to
authorise the Directors to fix their remuneration.
8 To renew the Mandate for Directors to Allot and Issue Shares subject
to Limits.
9 To renew the Mandate for Interested Person Transactions.
Dated this

day of 2006 Total Number of Shares held

Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF




5.2.

Renewal of Mandate for Interested Person Transactions

“That for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual (“Chapter 9”) of
the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited:

(a)

(b)

(©)

approval be and is hereby given for the Company, its subsidiaries and
associated companies that are entities at risk (as defined in Chapter
9), or any of them, to enter into any of the transactions falling within
the types of Interested Person Transactions, particulars of which are
set out in paragraph 7 of the Appendix to the 2005 Annual Report of
the Company, with any party who is of the class of Interested Persons
described in paragraph 6 therein, provided that such transactions are
made on an arm’s length basis ard on normal commercial terms;

such approval (the “Mandate”) shall, unless revoked or varied by the
Company in General Meeting, remain in force until the next Annual
General Meeting of the Company; and

the Directors and/or Company Secretary be and are hereby
authorised to complete and do all such acts and things (including
executing all such documents as may be required) as they may
consider expedient or necessary or in the interest of the Company to
give effect to the Mandate and/cr this Resolution.” [See Explanatory
Note (iv)]

To transact any other business

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Marjorie Wee/Wong Kim Wah (Ms)
Company Secretaries

28 March 20086, Singapore

Resolution 8




Explanatory Notes:

(i)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

Resolutions 3 to 6

If re-elected, the respective Directors will remain as Members of the following Committees:

Name of Director Committee
Mr Cheng Wai Keung Executive Committee (Chairman)
Approval Committee (Chairman)
Nominating Committee
Executive Resource & Compensation Committee

Mr Ang Kong Hua Nominating Committee (Chairman)
Executive Committee

Mr Timothy Charles Harris Executive Resource & Compensation Committee
Enterprise Risk Management Committee

Mr Peter Wagner Audit Committee

Enterprise Risk Management Committee

Resolution 7 seeks to obtain shareholders’ approval to appoint Messrs Ernst & Young as the
Company’s new auditors for Financial Year 2006, in place of Messrs PricewaterhouseCoopers,
who will be retiring at the 37th Annual General Meeting. A copy of the notice of nomination of the
proposed new auditors, Messrs Ernst & Young, from a shareholder of the Company is enclosed
with the Company’s 2005 Annual Report.

Resolution 8 seeks to authorise the Directors to issue shares and to make or grant instruments
(such as warrants or debentures) convertible into shares, and to issue shares in pursuance of such
instruments, up to a number not exceeding in total 50 per cent of the issued shares in the capital of
the Company, with an aggregate sub-limit of 20 per cent for any issue of shares not made on a pro
rata basis to existing shareholders. For the purpose of determining the aggregate number of shares
that may be issued, the percentage of issued shares shall be based on the number of issued
shares in the capital of the Company at the time that Resolution 8 is passed, after adjusting for (a)
new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or share options or
vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time that Resolution 8 is
passed, and (b) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares.

Resolution 9 is to renew the annual mandate to aliow the Company, its subsidiaries and
associated companies that are entities at risk, or any of them, to enter into certain Interested
Person Transactions with persons who are considered “Interested Persons” (as defined in Chapter
9 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited). Certain
modifications are also being proposed to be made to the terms of the annual mandate. Please refer
to the Appendix to the 2005 Annual Report of the Company for further details.

Other Notes:

1.

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to
appoint not more than twa proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member
of the Company.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the
Company at 456 Alexandra Road #06-00, NOL Building, Singapore 119962 not less than 48 hours
before the time of the Annual General Meeting.

NOL’s 2005 Annual Report will be available at NOL's website http://www.nol.com.sg from 3 April
2006. CPF Holders of NOL shares who wish to receive a printed copy of the Annual Report may
send their request to the Vice President of Corporate Affairs at Neptune Orient Lines Limited,
456 Alexandra Road #06-00, NOL Building, Singapore 119962 (Tel. No. 6371-5171).
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NEPTUNE ORIENT LINES LIMITED M aep 2s p 0
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
Company Registration Number: 196800632D

Directors: ‘ Registered Office:

Cheng Wai Keung, Chairman 456 Alexandra Road, #06-00
Dr. Friedbert Malt, Vice Chairman NOL Building

Ang Kong Hua, Vice Chairman Singapore 119962

David Lim Tik En, Group President & CEQO
Yasumasa Mizushima

James Connal Scotland Rankin

Willie Cheng Jue Hiang

Robert Holland, Jr.

Christopher Lau Loke Sam
" Timothy Charles Harris

Peter Wagner

28 March 2006

To:.  The Shareholders of
Neptune Orient Lines Limited

Dear Sir/Madam
APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers have stated that they are not seeking re-appointment as auditors of
the Company at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting scheduled on Wednesday, 19 April 2006
at 11.00 a.m. The Directors wish to express their appreciation for the services rendered by
PricewaterhouseCoopers.

The Company has received notice of the nomination of Ernst & Young for appointment as auditors of
the Company at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting and in accordance with Section 205(12) of the
Companies Act, Chapter 50, a copy of the said notice is attached (see reverse).

Yours faithfully
For and on behalf of the Company

AR

Cheng Wai Keung
Chairman




NOTICE OF NOMINATION

T E M A S E K Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited
{Regn. No: 197401143C)
60B Orchard Road #06-18 Tower 2
The Atrium@0Orchard .

H OLDIN‘ ; S Singapore 238891
Tel: (65) 6828 6828 » Fax: (65) 6821 1188

17 March 2006

The Board of Directors
Neptune Orient Lines Limited
456 Alexandra Road #06-00
NOL Building

Singapore 119962

Dear Sirs

Notice of Nomination

Pursuant to Section 205 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50, We, Temasek Holdings
(Private) Limited, being a shareholder of Neptune Orient Lines Limited (“NOL”),
hereby nominate Emst & Young of 10 Collyer Quay, #21-01 Ocean Building,
Singapore 049315, for appointment as auditors of NOL in place of the retiring auditors,

PricewaterhouseCoopers, at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of NOL.

Yours faithfully

MANAGING DIRECTOR
FINANCE




CIRCULAR DATED 28 MARCH 2006

THIS CIRCULAR IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION.

if you are in any doubt as to the course of action you should take, you should consult your stockbroker
bank manager, sclicitor, accountant or other professional adviser immediately.

If you have sold your ordinary shares in the capital of Neptune QOrient Lines Limited (the “Company”), you
should immediately forward this Circular and the Proxy Form attached to this Circular to the purchaser or

to the stockbroker or other agent through whom the sale was effected for onward transmission to the
purchaser.
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NEPTUNE ORIENT LINES LIMITED ||
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" (Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore) \ =""ZZCTION
Company Registration Number: 196800632D

CIRCULARTO SHAREHOLDERS
IN RELATION TO
(1) the proposed alterations to the Articles of Association; and

(2) the proposed renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate.
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IMPORTANT DATES AND TIMES: R

Last date and time for lodgement of Proxy Form : 17 April 2006 at 11.15 a.m.

Date and time of Extraordinary General Meeting : 19 April 2006 at 11.15 am. (or as soon
thereafter following the conclusion or
adjournment of the 37th Annual General
Meeting of the Company to be held at 11.00 a.m.
on the same day and at the same place)

Place of Extraordinary General Meeting 456 Alexandra Road

#04-00 (Lecture Theatre)
NOL Building

Singapore 119962
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In this Circular, the following definitions apply throughout unless otherwise stated:

“2005 AGM”

“Articles”

“CDP”

“2005 Circular”

“Companies Act’

“Companies (Amendment) Act”
“Company” or “NOL”
“Directors”

“EGM”

A(EPS”
“Group”'

“Latest Practicable Date”
“Listing Manual’

“Market Day”
“NAV”

“Securities Accounts”

“SGX-ST”

“Share Purchase Mandate”

“Shareholders”

“Shares”

“Take-over Code”
“Temasek”

us$n, usn and ncentsn

The annual general meeting of the Company held on 26 April
2005.

The Articles of Association of the Company.
The (Central Depository (Pte) Limited.

The Company’s Circular to Shareholders dated 6 April 2005.

" The Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

The Companies (Amendment) Act 2005 of Singapore.
Neptune Orient Lines Limited.
The directors of the Company for the time being.

The extraordinary general meeting of the Company, notice of
which is given on pages 64 to 66 of this Circular. ‘

Earnings per Share.
The Company and its subsidiaries.

The latest practicable date prior to the printing of this Circular,
being 6 March 2006.

The listing manual of the SGX-ST, including any amendments
made thereto up to the Latest Practicable Date.

A day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading in securities.

Net asset value.

Securities accounts maintained by Depositors with CDP, but not
including securities sub-accounts maintained with a Depository
Ageni.

Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.

The mandate to enable the Company to purchase or otherwise
acquire its issued Shares.

Registered holders of Shares except that where the registered
holdet is CDP, the term “Shareholders” shall, in relation to such
Shares and where the context admits, mean the Depositors whose
Securities Accounts are credited with Shares.

Ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

The Singapore Code on Take-overs and Mergers.
Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited.

Singapore dollars and cents, respectively.




“Us$” :  United States of America dollars.
“%” or “per cent.” :  Per centum or percentage.

The terms “Depositor’, “Depository Agent’ and “Depository Register’ shall have the meanings
ascribed to them respectively in Section 130A of the Companies Act.

Words importing the singular shall, where applicable, include the plural and vice versa. Words importing
the masculine gender shall, where applicable, include the feminine and neuter genders. References to
persons shall include corporations.

Any reference in this Circular to any enactment is a reference to that enactment as for the time being
amended or re-enacted. Any word defined under the Companies Act or any statutory modification thereof
and not otherwise defined in this Circular shall have the same meaning assigned to it under the
Companies Act or any statutory madification thereof, as the case may be.

The headings in this Circular are inserted for convenience only and shall be ignored in construing this
Circular.

Any reference to a time of day in this Circular is made by reference to Singapore time uniess otherwise
stated.

Any discrepancies in the tables in this Circular between the listed amounts and the totals thereof are due
to rounding.
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Dear Sir/Madam
1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 EGM. The Directors are convening an EGM to be held on 19 April 2006 to seek Shareholders’
approval for the following proposals:

(a) the proposed alterations to the Articles; and
{b) the proposed renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate.

1.2 Circular. The purpose of this Circular is to provide Shareholders with information relating to the
proposals to be tabled at the EGM.

1.3 SGX-ST. The SGX-ST takes no respcnsibility for the accuracy of any statements or opinions made
in this Circular.

2. THE PROPOSED ALTERATIONS TC THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

2.1 The Companies (Amendment) Act. The Companies (Amendment) Act, which came into operation
on 30 January 2006, introduced key amendments to the Companies Act resulting in significant
changes to the company law regime. These amendments include the abolition of the concepts of
par value and authorised capital, and allowing repurchased shares to be held as treasury shares.

With the abolition of the concept of par value pursuant to the Companies (Amendment) Act, shares
of a company no longer have any par or nominal value. The concepts of share premium and the
issue of shares at a discount have also been abolished accordingly. All amounts standing to the
credit of a company’s share premium account and capital redemption reserves (if any) as at 30
January 2006 would have become part of the company’s share capital.

The Companies (Amendment) Act also introduced new provisions on share buy backs and treasury
shares. Under these new provisions, a company can repurchase shares out of capital, as well as
from distributable profits. Ordinary shares which are the subject of a share repurchase by a
company can be held by that company as treasury shares instead of being cancelled. The right to
attend and vote at meetings and the right to dividends or other distributions will be suspended for
so long as the repurchased shares are held in treasury.




2.2

2.3

Alterations to the Articles. The Articles need to be altered as a result of the above changes
introduced by the Companies (Amendment) Act. The Company is also taking this opportunity to
streamline and rationalise certain other provisions in the Articles.

Summary of Alterations. The following is a summary of the main proposed alterations to the
Articles:

2.31

2.3.2

2.3.3

2.3.4

2.35

236

Article 1

Article 1 is the interpretation section of the Articles, and is proposed to be altered to provide
for the following:

(a) the alteration of the definition of “Member” to exclude the Company in relation to
shares in the Company held by the Company as treasury shares;

(b) the inclusion of the expression “treasury shares” which will have the meaning
ascribed to it in the Companies Act, namely, shares which were (or are treated as
having been) purchased by the Company in circumstances in which Section 76H of
the Companies Act applies, and have been held by the Company continuously since
the treasury shares were so purchased; and

(¢) the inclusion of the provision that any reference in the Articles to any enactment is a
reference 1o that enactment for the time being amended or re-enacted.

Article 2

Article 2 provides that the regulations contained in Table A in the Fourth Schedule to the
Companies Act shall not apply to the Company except so far as the same are repeated or
contained in the Articles. Article 2 is proposed to be amended to delete the words “except so
far as the same are repeated or contained in these Articles”.

Article 5

Article 5 states the authorised share capital of the Company, and is proposed to be deleted
following the abolition of the concept of authorised capital pursuant to the Companies
(Amendment) Act.

Article 7

Article 7 empowers the Directors to issue shares subject to the prior approval of
shareholders in general meeting. Article 7 provides (inter alia) that no shares are to be
issued at a discount except in accordance with the Companies Act, and is proposed to be
deleted following the abolition of the concept of the issue of shares at a discount pursuant to
the Companies (Amendment) Act.

Article 7(1)

Article 7(1) provides for the rights of preference shareholders. As required by the Listing
Manual, it also provides that in the event of preference shares being issued, the total
nominal value of issued preference shares shall not at any time exceed the total nominal
value of the issued ordinary shares. In view of the abolition of the concept of par value, it is
proposed that this provision be amended so as to provide that preference shares may be
issued subject to such limitation thereof as may be prescribed by any stock exchange on
which the shares in the Company may be listed.

Article 7(2)(a)

Article 7(2)(a) provides for the holding of separate general meetings of holders of different
classes of shares (if the share capital of the Company is divided into different classes of




2.3.7

2.3.8

2.3.9

shares) where their rights are proposed to be varied or abrogated by special resolution.
Article 7(2)(a) provides that the rights attached to any class may be varied either with the
consent in writing of three-quarters in nominal vaiue of the issued shares of the class
concerned or with the approval of a Special Resolution passed at a separate general
meeting of the holders of shares of that class. This Article further provides that the quorum
for such general meetings shall be two persons at least holding or representing by proxy at
least one-third in nominal value of the issued shares of that class and that where the
necessary majority for a special resolution is not obtained at such general meeting, the
consent in writing if obtained from the holders of three-quarters in nominal value of the
issued shares of the class coricerned within two months of such general meeting shall be as
valid and effectual as a specizl resolution carried at such general meeting.

Following the abolition of the concept of nominal or par value pursuant to the Companies
(Amendment) Act, Article 7(2)(a) is proposed to be altered to delete references to the
nominal value of the issued shares of that class.

New Article 8A

New Article 8A on treasury shares is proposed to be inserted. This new Article will provide
that the Company may not exercise any right in respect of treasury shares other than as
provided by the Companies Act but that subject thereto, the Company may hold or deal with
its treasury shares in the manner authorised by, or prescribed pursuant to, the Companies
Act.

Article 9

Article 9 provides that the Company may exercise the powers of paying commissions
conferred by (inter alia) the Companies Act. Section 67 of the Companies Act relating to the
power to pay certain commissions was repealed pursuant to the Companies (Amendment)
Act. However, since the Company may nevertheless retain the power to pay commissions
under the Articles, Article 9 is proposed to be altered to provide that the Company may pay
commissions or brokerage on any issue of shares at such rate or amount and in such
manner as the Directors may deem fit.

Article 12

Article 12 on share certificatess provides (infer alia) that every share certificate must specify
the number and class of shares to which it relates and the amount paid thereon. This Article
is proposed to be altered to provide that the amount (if any) unpaid on the shares must also
be specified in the share certificate, in order to be in line with Section 123 of the Companies
Act, as amended pursuant to the Companies (Amendment) Act.

2.3.10 Article 13

2.3.1

Article 13 on share certificates is proposed to be altered to delete the references to stamp
duty payable on share certificates since, under current law, no stamp duty is payable on
share certificates.

Articles 20, 22 and 24

Article 20 provides that Directors may from time to time make calls on members in respect
of moneys unpaid on their shares (whether on account of the nominal value of the shares or
by way of premium). Article 20 is proposed to be altered to delete the words in parenthesis
referred to above.

Article 22 provides that any sum (whether on account of the nominal value of the shares or
by way of premium) which becomes payable upon allotment or at any fixed date shali, for
the purposes of the Articles, be deemed to be a call duly made and payable on the date on



which, by the terms of issue, it becomes payable. Article 22 is proposed to be altered to
delete the words in parenthesis referred to above.

Articie 24 provides that Directors may from time to time accept payment in advance from
members in respect of moneys unpaid on their shares (whether on account of the nominal
value of the shares or when permitted by way of premium). Article 24 is proposed to be
altered to delete the words in parenthesis referred to above.

These Articles are proposed to be altered in line with the abolition of the concepts of
nominal value and share premium pursuant to the Companies (Amendment) Act.

2.3.12 Article 28

Article 28 provides for the circumstances under which the Directors may refuse to register
any instrument of transfer. Article 28 is proposed to be altered to delete the references to
stamp duty payable on share certificates since, under current law, no stamp duty is payable
on share certificates, as well as to provide that the Directors may refuse to register any
instrument of transfer of shares unless (inter alia) the amount of stamp duty with which each
instrument of transfer is chargeable has been paid;and that any instrument of transfer
deposited for registration purposes has to be accompanied by a cerificate of payment of
stamp duty (if any).

2.3.13 Article 29(3)

Article 29(3) provides that for the purposes of Articles 26 to 31, all references to “share” or
“shares” shall, unless the context otherwise requires, mean the ordinary shares of $1.00
each in the share capital of the Company. Article 29(3) is not necessary as there is only one
class of shares in the capital of the Company, namely, ordinary shares.

2.3.14 New Article 31A

New Article 31A is proposed to be inserted to provide for the circumstances under which the
Company shall be entitled to destroy (inter alia) instruments of transfer.

2.3.15 Article 46

Article 46 empowers the Directors, subject to shareholders’ approval, to convert paid-up
shares into stocks and re-convert stock into paid-up shares of any denomination. The words
“of any denomination” are proposed to be deleted following the abolition of the concept of
par or nominal value of shares pursuant to the Companies (Amendment) Act.

2.3.16 Articles 47 and 48

Article 47 refers to rights of holders of stock to transfer such stock. Following the abolition of
the par or nominal value of shares, a drafting change is proposed to Article 47 to replace the
reference to “amount of stock” which the holders can transfer with a reference to “number of
stock units” and to remove the proviso that the minimum amount of stock which may be
transferred shall not exceed the nominal amount of the shares from which the stock arose.

Article 48 provides that holders of stock shall, according to the amount of stock held by them,
have the same rights and privileges as if they held the shares from which the stock arose.
Drafting changes are proposed to Article 48 to (inter alia) replace the references to “amount
of stock” with references to “number of stock units”.

2.3.17 Article 50

Article 50 provides that the Company may by ordinary resolution increase its capital by such
sum to be divided into shares of such amounts as the resolution shall prescribe, and is




proposed to be deleted following the abolition of the concepts of par value and authorised
capital pursuant to the Companies (Amendment) Act.

2.3.18 Article 51

Article 51 provides for all new shares to be offered to existing members in proportion (as
nearly as possible) to the amount of the existing shares to which they are entitled. This
Article is proposed to be altered to replace the reference to “amount” of existing shares with
a reference to “number” of existing shares following the abolition of the concept of par value
pursuant to the Companies (Amendment) Act.

2.3.19 Article 52

Article 52 relates to the general share issue mandate. It provides that the Company may by
ordinary resolution give the Directors a general authority to issue shares and to make or
grant offers, agreements or options that might or would require shares to be issued,
including the creation and issue of warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible
into shares, and (notwithstanding that such authority may have ceased to be in force) to
issue shares in pursuance of n instrument made or granted while the authority was in force.

Article 52 further provides that the aggregate number of shares that may be issued pursuant
to the ordinary resolution cannot exceed 50% of the issued share capital of the Company, of
which the aggregate number of shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to
sharehoiders does not exceed 20% of the issued share capital of the Company. For these
purposes, the percentage of the issued share capital is to be based on the issued share
capital of the Company at the time that the ordinary resolution is passed, after adjusting for
(a) new shares arising upon the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities or
share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time that
the ordinary resolution is passed, and (b) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of
shares.

The specific limits and mannar of calculation currently contained in Article 52 follow the
specific provisions of Rule 806 of the Listing Manual. Article 52 is proposed to be altered to
delete the references to these specific limits and manner of calculation, and to instead
provide that the aggregate number of shares which may be issued pursuant to the general
share issue mandate is to be subject to such limits and manner of calculation as may be
prescribed by the SGX-ST frorn time to time.

The proposed alteration to Arlicle 52 will obviate the necessity for the Company to alter its
Articles as and when the relevant provisions of the Listing Manual relating to the general
share issue mandate are altered by the SGX-ST. Any ordinary resolution passed pursuant
to Article 52, as proposed to be altered, will continue to be subject to the specific limits and
manner of calculation prescribed by the Listing Manual from time to time.

2.3.20 Article 54(1)
Article 54(1) provides that the Company may by ordinary resolution (inter alia):

(a) consolidate and divide all or any of its share capital into shares of larger amount than
its existing shares;

(b) cancel any shares which have not been taken by any person and diminish the amount
of its capital by the amount of the shares so cancelled; and

(c) subdivide its shares into shares of smaller amount.
The provisions referred to in sub-paragraphs (a) and (c) above are proposed to be altered to

delete the references to the “emount” of shares following the abolition of the concept of par
value pursuant to the Companies (Amendment) Act.




2.3.21

The provision referred to in sub-paragraph (b) above is proposed to be deleted altogether
following the abolition of the concept of authorised capital pursuant to the Companies
{(Amendment) Act.

In addition, Article 54(1) is proposed to be altered by providing that the Company may by
ordinary resolution, subject to the Companies Act, convert any class of shares into any other
class of shares.

Article 54(2)

Article 54(2) provides that the Company may reduce its share capital or capital redemption
reserve fund, share premium account or other undistributable reserve as authorised by law.
This Article is proposed to be altered to delete the references to the capital redemption
reserve fund and the share premium account since under the Companies (Amendment) Act,
any amounts standing to the credit of the Company’s capital redemption reserve and share
premium account would have become part of its share capital.

Article 54(2) also permits the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire its issued shares
and, if required by the Companies Act, to cancel such shares purchased by it. The
Companies (Amendment) Act enables the Company to either cancel ordinary shares
purchased by it or to hold such ordinary shares as treasury shares. Article 54(2) is proposed
to be altered to take into account such amendments.

2.3.22 Article 60(1)

Article 60(1) relates to notices of General Meetings. It provides that notices of General
Meetings shall be given to all members (except those who have not supplied to the
Company the registered address for the giving of notice to them). Aricle 60(1)(a) is
proposed to be altered to provide that notices of General Meetings need not be given to
members who are not entitled to receive such notices under the provisions of the
Companies Act. This is to make it clear that no notice of General Meeting needs to be given
to the Company where it is a member by reason of its holding of its shares as treasury
shares.

Article 60(1)(b) further provides that notices of General Meetings shall also be given to
every person upon whom ownership of a share devolves by reason of his being a legal
personal representative or a trustee in bankruptcy of a member whom the member but for
his death or bankruptcy would be entitled to receive notice of the meeting. Article 36 (on
transmission of shares) provides that a person entitled to a share by transmission shall not
be entitled to receive notices of General Meetings unless and until he shall have become a
member in respect of such share. Article 60(1)(b) is proposed to be deleted as such a
person, if he has become a member in respect of such share, would be a member entitled
to receive notices pursuant to Article 60(1)(a).

2.3.23 Article 62

Article 62 provides for the quorum at General Meetings. Drafting changes are proposed to
Article 62. The second sentence of Article 62 provides that two members present in person
or by proxy and entitled to vote shall be a quorum at a general meeting. The last sentence
of Article 62 also provides that the quorum at any general meeting shall be two members
present in person or by proxy provided that if only proxies appointed by CDP attend, any
two such proxies (not being proxies for the same Depositor) shall suffice to establish both
plurality and quorum. The last sentence of Article 62 is proposed to be deleted as firstly, it
repeats the two member quorum requirement in the second sentence and secondly, as
Depositors have been recognised under law as members, CDP no longer appoints proxies
for the benefit of Depositors.




2.3.24 Articles 65 and 66

Article 65 provides for the Chairman, with the consent of or if directed by shareholders, to
adjourn a general meeting from time to time and from place to place. Article 65 is proposed
to be amended to enable the Chairman to adjourn a general meeting sine die (that is,
indefinitely). Consequential arnendments are proposed for Article 66.

2.3.25 Article 67

Article 67 provides that at any General Meeting, a resolution put to the vote shall be decided
by a show of hands unless a polt is demanded by (inier alia):

(a) any member present in person or by proxy and entitied to vote; or

(b) a member present in person or by proxy and holding shares in the Company
conferring a right to vote being shares on which an aggregate sum has been paid up
equal to not less than one-tenth of the total sum paid on all the shares conferring that
right.

The provision in sub-paragreph (a) above is proposed to be altered to provide for the
demanding of a poll to be made by two members, present in person or by proxy, and to
make clear that the members referred to are members entitled to vote at the meeting at
which the resolution is put to the vote, to be in line with Section 178(b)(i) of the Companies
Act.

The provision in sub-paragraph (b) above is proposed to be altered to provide that a poll can
be demanded by a member present in person or by proxy and holding not less than 10% of
the total number of paid-up shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares), following
the abolition of the concept of par value and the introduction of provisions on treasury
shares pursuant to the Companies (Amendment) Act.

2.3.26 Article 70

The proviso in Article 67 provides that no poll shall be demanded on the choice of a
Chairman. It also provides that no poll shall be demanded on the guestion of adjournment.

Article 70 which provides that (a) no poll may be demanded on the election of a Chairman
and (b) a poll demanded on a question of adjournment shall be taken at a meeting without
adjournment is both repetitive and inconsistent with the proviso in Article 67 and is proposed
to be deleted.

2.3.27 Article 71

Article 71 provides that subject and without prejudice to any special privileges or restrictions
as to voting attached to any special class of shares, each member entitled to vote at a
General Meeting may vote in person or by proxy. This Article is proposed to be altered to
make it subject also to new Article 8A, which will provide that the Company shall not
exercise any right (including the right to attend and vote at General Meetings) in respect of
treasury shares other than as provided by the Companies Act.

2.3.28 Article 75(1)

Article 75(1) provides for the procedures relating to the appointment of proxies. Article
75(1)(b) provides that the instrument appointing a proxy which shall be in writing shall be
either given under its common seal or signed on its behalf by an attorney or a duly
authorised officer of the corpcration or, in the case of CDP or its nominees, signed by its
duly authorised officer by some method or system of mechanical signature as CDP or its
nominee may deem appropriate.




Under the law, the Depositors themselves are recognised as members and not CDP and
accordingly, the provision retating to CDP or its nominees signing an instrument of proxy by
some method or system of mechanical signature is no longer necessary and is proposed to
be deleted.

2.3.29 Article 76

Article 76 provides for the deposit of any power of attorney or instrument appointing a proxy
at the Company’s registered office. Article 76 is proposed to be amended to clarify that such
power of attorney or instrument shall, unless the contrary is stated thereon, be valid for the
meeting to which it relates as weil as any adjournment of such meeting.

2.3.30 Article 79

2.3.31

Article 79 provides (inter alia) that no member is entitled to be present or vote on any
question (whether personally or by proxy) at a general meeting or upon a poll or be counted
in a quorum in respect of any share upon which any call or other sum shall be due and
payable to the Company, whether alone or jointly with another person.

Article 79 is repetitive of Article 25 and is proposed to be deleted.
Articles 80 and 102

Article 80 provides that, unless otherwise determined by a general meeting, the number of
Directors shall not be less than two or more than 16. Article 102 empowers the Directors to
appoint Directors, either to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the existing Directors
provided that the total number of Directors shall not exceed the maximum number fixed in
the Articles.

Article 80 is proposed to be amended to remove a maximum limit on the number of
Directors as this is not required under law. Consequentially, the proviso in Article 102 is
proposed to be deleted.

2.3.32 Article 88(1)

Article 88(1) relates to the general power of the Directors to manage the Company’s
business. Drafting changes are proposed to align Article 88(1) with Section 157A(2) of the
Companies Act (which is a new provision incorporated into the Companies Act in May 2003)
which provides that directors may exercise all the powers of a company except any power
that the Companies Act or the memorandum and articles of association of the company
require the company to exercise in general meeting.

2.3.33 Articles 93(2) and 93(4)

Article 93(2) provides that a Director shall not vote in respect of any contract or arrangement
in which he is interested, unless the nature of his interest has been declared at a meeting of
the board of Directors in accordance with Section 156 of the Companies Act. If a Director
shall do so, his vote shall not be counted nor, except as provided under Article 93(4), will the
Director be counted in a quorum but such restrictions shall not apply in relation to the
arrangements or contracts set out in Article 93(2)(a) to (d).

Article 93(4) provides that a Director, notwithstanding his interest, may be counted in a
quorum for the purposes of any meeting where he is appointed to hold any office or place of
profit under the Company where the terms of any such appointment are being determined.

Paragraph (9)(e) of Appendix 2.2 of the Listing Manual (which sets out the provisions which
may be contained in the articles of association of a listed company) provides specifically that
a director shall not vote in regard to any contract or proposed contract or arrangement in
which he has directly or indirectly a personal material interest.
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Article 93(2) is proposed to be altered, in line with good corporate governance, to provide
that a Director shall not vote in respect of any contract or arrangement or any other proposal
whatsoever in which he has any personal material interest, directly or indirectly, and that a
Director shall not be counted in the quorum at a meeting in relation to any resolution on
which he is debarred from voting. Article 93(4) is proposed to be deleted.

2.3.34 Article 96

Article 96 provides for the events under which the office of a Director will be vacated. Article
96(d) provides for the vacation of the office of a Director if he is prohibited from being a
Director by an order made under the Companies Act. Article 96(d) is proposed to be
amended to provide that such office will be vacated if the Director is prohibited by law from
acting as a Director. ’

2.3.35 Article 100

Article 100 provides that the Company may at a meeting at which a Director retires fill the
office vacated by electing the retiring Director or some: other person eligible for appointment.
In default, the retiring Director is deemed to have been re-elected, unless at such meeting it
is expressly resolved not to fill such vacated office or the resolution for a re-election has
been put to the meeting and lost.

Article 100 is proposed to be altered so as to additionally provide that the retiring Director is
deemed to be re-elected except where such Director is disqualified under the Companies
Act from holding office as a Director or has given notice in writing to the Company that he is
unwilling to be re-elected. A retiring Director who is re-elected or deemed to have been re-
elected will continue in office without a break.

2.3.36 Article 101

Article 101 provides for notice to be given in relation to a proposed appointment of a person
(not being a Director retiring at a general meeting) as a Director. Article 101 provides for the
appropriate notices to be given not less than 11 clear days before the date appointed for the
meeting. Article 101 is propose:d to be amended to provide that the appropriate notices shall
be given not less than 11 nor more than 42 clear days (exclusive of the date on which the
notice is given) before the appointed date of the meeting.

2.3.37 Article 112

Article 112 provides for the procedures for committee meetings. Article 112 is proposed to
be amended to provide that the procedures for committee meetings shall be governed, to
the same extent by the provisions of the Articles relating to the Directors’ meetings insofar
as they are not superseded by any regulations made by Directors when forming any such
committee. This alteration will also permit a committee to pass resolutions by circulation as
opposed to passing resolutions at a committee meeting.

2.3.38 Article 120

Article 120 provides that no person shall be appointed or hold office as a Secretary who is
either a sole Director of the Company or the sole Director of a corporation who is the sole
Director of the Company. This Article is inapplicable to the Company which is a listed
company and is proposed to be deleted.

2.3.39 Article 123

Article 123 provides for the payment of dividends to be made in proportion to the amount
paid in respect of the shares. Article 123 on the apportionment of dividends is proposed to
be altered, following the abolition of the concept of par value pursuant to the Companies
(Amendment) Act, to provide that all dividends are to be paid in proportion to the number of
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shares held (as opposed to according to the amounts paid on the shares). Article 123 (as
proposed to be altered) will also provide that where shares are partly paid, ail dividends
must be apportioned and paid proportionately to the amounts paid or credited as paid.

2.3.40 New Article 129A

2.3.41

New Article 129A is proposed to be inserted. This new Article provides for the position in
relation to dividends which remain unclaimed after first being payable.

Articles 133, 134 and 135

Article 133 provides (inter alia) for the capitalisation of profits or reserves and the distribution
thereof in paying up in full either at par or at such premium any unissued shares of the
Company to its members and to participants of any share incentive or performance plan for
the time being implemented by the Company which have been approved by shareholders in
general meetings. Article 134 provides for the capitalisation of surplus moneys arising from
the realisation or revaluation of any capital assets of the Company, or any investments
representing the same, or any other undistributed profits of the Company not subject to
charge for income tax and the distribution thereof to members on the footing that they
received the same as capital. Article 135 empowers the Directors to take such action as
they may consider expedient to give effect to such capitalisation.

in addition to being able to issue bonus shares by way of the capitalisation of any amount
standing to the credit of the Company’s reserves accounts or other undistributable reserve
or any sum standing to the credit of the profit and loss account, Article 133 is proposed to be
altered to permit the Directors to issue bonus shares for which no consideration is payable.
Article 133 is also proposed to be altered to remove all references to the share premium
account and the capital redemption reserve fund since under the Companies (Amendment)
Act, any amounts standing to the credit of the Company’s share premium account and the
capital redemption reserve would have become part of its share capital. Articles 134 and
135 are redundant and proposed to be deleted.

2.3.42 New Article 147(2) and Article 143

The Companies Act was amended with effect from 1 April 2004 to provide for documents
required under the Companies Act or the memorandum and articles of association of a
company to be given, sent or served on members, auditors and officers of a company, to be
so given, sent or served using electronic communications. It is proposed that new Aricle
147(2) be included to provide for service of notices and documents to be effected by
electronic communications in accordance with Sections 387A and 387B of the Companies
Act and/or any applicable regulations or procedures.

Consequential amendments are proposed to Article 143.

2.3.43 Article 152

Article 152 provides (inter alia) for the indemnity of every Director, officer or servant of the
Company. It provides that, subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, every Director,
officer or servant of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified by the Company
against all costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by him in the execution
and discharge of his duties.

Section 172(2)(b) of the Companies Act extends the giving of an indemnity to an auditor of
the Company. Section 172(2)(b) also permits the Company to indemnify any Director,
auditor or other officer of the Company against any liability incurred by him in defending any
proceedings, civil or criminal, which relate to anything done or omitted or alleged to have
been done or omitted by him as an officer or employee of the Company and in which
judgment is given in his favour or in which he is acquitted or in connection with any
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2.4

3.1

3.2

3.3

application under any statute for relief from liability in respect of any such act or omission in
which relief is granted to him by the court.

. Accordingly, Article 152 is proposed to be amended to reflect the provisions of Section
172(2)(b) of the Companies Act.

The Appendix. The text of the Articles which are proposed to be altered are set out in the
Appendix to this Circular. The proposed alterations to the Articles are subject to Shareholders’
approval.

THE PROPOSED RENEWAL OF THE SHARE PURCHASE MANDATE

Background. Shareholders had approved the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate at the 2005
AGM. The authority and limitations on the Share Purchase Mandate were set out in the 2005
Circular and Ordinary Resolution 9 set out in the Notice of the 2005 AGM under “Special Business”.

The Share Purchase Mandate was expressed to take effect on the date of the passing of Ordinary
Resolution 9 at the 2005 AGM and will expire on the date of the forthcoming 37th Annual General
Meeting to be held on 19 April 2006. Accordingly, Shareholders’ approval is being sought for the
renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate at the EGM, immediately following the 37th Annual
General Meeting of the Company convened to be held on the same date.

Rationale for the Share Purchase Mandate. The rationale for the Company to undertake the
purchase or acquisition of its Shares, as previously stated in the 2005 Circular, is as follows:

{a) Share purchases give the Company a relatively convenient, expedient and cost-efficient
mechanism to facilitate the return of funds which are surplus to its requirements.

{b) Share purchase is one of the ways in which the return on equity of the Company may be
enhanced.

(c) Share purchase programmes provide the Directors with a means to buffer short-term price
volatility and off-set the effects of short-term investors, which in turn bolsters shareholder
confidence.

(d) The flexibility provided by the Share Purchase Mandate allows the Directors to better
manage the Company’s capital structure, dividend payout and cash reserves.

The purchase of Shares may, depending on market conditions and funding arrangements at the
time, lead to an enhancement of EPS and/or net asset value per Share, and will only be made
when the Directors believe that such purchases would benefit the Company and increase
economic value for Shareholders. No purchase of Shares will be made in circumstances which
may or would have a material adverse effect on the liquidity and capital of the Company and the
Group.

Authority and Limits of the Share Purchase Mandate. The authority and limitations placed on
the Share Purchase Mandate, if renewed at the EGM, are the same as were previously approved
by Shareholders at the 2005 AGM, anc are summarised below:

3.3.1 Maximum Number of Shares

The total number of Shares which may be purchased or acquired by the Company pursuant
to the Share Purchase Mandate is limited to that number of Shares representing not more
than 10% of the total number of issued Shares of the Company as at the date of the EGM.
Foliowing the introduction of the Companies (Amendment) Act, any of the Company’s
Shares which are held as treasury shares will be disregarded for purposes of computing the
10% limit.
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3.3.2

3.3.3

Based on the number of issued and paid-up Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date and
assuming no further Shares are issued, and no Shares are held by the Company as
treasury shares, on or prior to the EGM, the purchase by the Company of up to the
maximum limit of 10% of its issued Shares will result in the purchase or acquisition of
145,583,354 Shares.

Duration of Authority

Purchases or acquisitions of Shares may be made, at any time and from time to time, on
and from the date of the EGM, at which the renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate is
approved, up to:

(a) the date on which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is held or
required by law to be held; or

(b)  the date on which the authority conferred by the Share Purchase Mandate is revoked
or varied,

whichever is the earlier.

Manner of Purchases or Acquisitions of Shares

Purchases or acquisitions of Shares may be made by way of:

() on-market purchases (“Market Purchases”) transacted on the SGX-ST; and/or

(b) off-market purchases (“Off-Market Purchases”) effected pursuant to an equal access
scheme.

The Directors may impose such terms and conditions which are not inconsistent with the
Share Purchase Mandate, the Listing Manual and the Companies Act as they consider fit in
the interests of the Company in connection with or in relation to any equal access scheme
or schemes. ‘

An Off-Market Purchase must, however, satisfy all the following conditions:

(i) offers for the purchase or acquisition of Shares shall be made to every person who
holds Shares to purchase or acquire the same percentage of their Shares;

(i)  all of those persons shall be given a reasonable opportunity to accept the offers
made; and

(i)  the terms of all the offers shall be the same, except-that there shall be disregarded (1)
differences in consideration attributable to the fact that offers may relate to Shares
with different accrued dividend entitlements and (2) differences in the offers
introduced solely to ensure that each person is left with a whole number of Shares.

If the Company wishes to make an Off-Market Purchase in accordance with an equal
access scheme, it will issue an offer document containing at least the following information:

(1) terms and conditions of the offer;
(2) period and procedures for acceptances; and

(8) information required under Rules 883(2), (3), (4) and (5) of the Listing Manual.
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3.4

3.5

3.3.4 Purchase Price

The purchase price (excluding brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax
and other related expenses) to be paid for a Share will be determined by the Directors. The
purchase price to be paid for the Shares must not exceed:

(a) in the case of a Market Purchase, 105% of the Average Closing Price of the Shares;
and

(b) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase, 110% of the Average Closing Price of the
Shares,

in either case, excluding related expenses of the purchase or acquisition.
For the above purposes:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of the Shares
over the last five Market Days on which transactions in the Shares were recorded on the
SGX-ST preceding the day of the relevant Market Purchase or, as the case may be, the
date of the making of the offer pursuant to an Off-Market Purchase and deemed to be
adjusted in accordance with the Listing Manual for any corporate action that occurs after the
relevant five-day period; and

“date of the making of the offer” means the date on which the Company announces its
intention to make an offer for an Off-Market Purchase, stating the purchase price (which
shall not be more than the Maximum Price) for each Share and the relevant terms of the
equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase.

Status of Purchased Shares. A Share purchased or acquired by the Company is deemed
cancelled immediately on purchase or acquisition (and all rights and privileges attached to the
Share will expire on such cancellation) unless such Shares are held by the Company as treasury
shares. The total number of issued Shares will be diminished by the number of Shares purchased
or acquired by the Company and which are not held as treasury shares.

Treasury Shares. Under the Companies Act, as amended by the Companies (Amendment) Act,
Shares purchased or acquired by the Company may be held or dealt with as treasury shares.
Some of the provisions on treasury shares under the Companies Act, as amended by the
Companies (Amendment) Act, are summarised below:

3.5.1 Maximum Holdings

The number of Shares held as treasury shares cannot at any time exceed 10% of the total
number of issued Shares.

3.5.2 Voting and Other Rights

The Company cannot exercise any right in respect of treasury shares. In particular, the
Company cannot exercise any right to attend or vote at meetings and for the purposes of
the Companies Act, the Company shall be treated as having no right to vote and the
treasury shares shall be treated as having no voting rights.

In addition, no dividend may be paid, and no other distribution of the Company’s assets may
be made, to the Company in respect of treasury shares. However, the allotment of shares
as fully paid bonus shares in respect of treasury shares is allowed. A subdivision or
consolidation of any treasury share into treasury shares of a smaller amount is also allowed
so long as the total value of the treasury shares after the subdivision or consolidation is the
same as before. ‘
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3.6

3.7

3.5.3 Disposal and Cancellation
Where Shares are held as treasury shares, the Company may at any time;
(a) sell the treasury shares for cash;

(b) transfer the treasury shares for the purposes of or pursuant to an employees’ share
scheme;

(c) transfer the treasury shares as consideration for the acquisition of shares in or assets
of another company or assets of a person;

(d) cancel the treasury shares; or

(e) sell, transfer or otherwise use the treasury shares for such other purposes as may be
prescribed by the Minister for Finance.

Source of Funds. Previously, any payment made by the Company in consideration of the
purchase or acquisition of its Shares may only be made out of the Company’s distributable profits.
The Companies (Amendment) Act now permits the Company to also purchase or acquire its
Shares out of capital, as well as from its distributable profits.

The Company will use internal resources or external borrowings or a combination of both to fund
purchases of Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate. In purchasing or acquiring Shares
pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate, the Directors will, principally, consider the availability of
internal resources. In addition, the Directors will also consider the availability of external financing.
However, in considering the option of external financing, the Directors will consider particularly the
prevailing gearing level of the Group. The Directors will only make purchases or acquisitions
pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate in circumstances which they believe will not result in any
material adverse effect to the financial position of the Company or the Group.

Financial Effects. The financial effects on the Group arising from purchases or acquisitions of
Shares which may be made pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate will depend on, inter alia,
whether the Shares are purchased or acquired out of profits and/or capital of the Company, the
number of Shares purchased or acquired and the price paid for such Shares and whether the
Shares purchased or acquired are held in treasury and/or cancelled. The financial effects on the
Group, based on the audited financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 30
December 2005, are based on the assumptions set out below.

3.7.1 Purchase or Acquisition out of Profits and/or Capital

Under the Companies Act, as amended by the Companies Amendment Act, purchases or
acquisitions of Shares by the Company may be made out of the Company’s profits and/or
capital.

Where the consideration paid by the Company for the purchase or acquisition of Shares is
made out of profits, such consideration (excluding brokerage, commission, applicable goods
and services tax and other related expenses) will correspondingly reduce the amount
available for the distribution of cash dividends by the Company.

Where the consideration paid by the Company for the purchase or acquisition of Shares is
made out of capital, the amount available for the distribution of cash dividends by the
Company will not be reduced, but the capital will be reduced.




3.7.2 Number of Shares Acquirec or Purchased

Based on the number of issued and paid-up Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date and
assuming no further Shares are issued, and no Shares are held by the Company as
treasury shares, on or priot to the EGM, the purchase by the Company of up to the
maximum fimit of 10% of its issued Shares will result in the purchase or acquisition of
145,583,354 Shares.

3.7.3 Maximum Price Paid for Shares Acquired or Purchased

In the case of Market Purchases by the Company and assuming that the Company
purchases or acquires 145,583,354 Shares at the maximum price of $$2.51 for one Share
(being the price equivalent to 5% above the Average Closing Price of the Shares for the five
consecutive Market Days on which the Shares were traded on the SGX-ST immediately
preceding the Latest Practicable Date), the maximum amount of funds required for the
purchase or acquisition of 145,583,354 Shares is US$224,904,889'.

In the case of Off-Market Purchases by the Company and assuming that the Company
purchases or acquires 145,583,354 Shares at the maximum price of $$2.63 for one Share
(being the price equivalent t¢ 10% above the Average Closing Price of the Shares for the
five consecutive Market Days on which the Shares were traded on the SGX-ST immediately
preceding the Latest Practicable Date), the maximum amount of funds required for the
purchase or acquisition of 145,583,354 Shares is US$235,657,314".

3.7.4 lllustrative Financial Effects

The financial effects on the Group arising from purchases or acquisitions of Shares which
may be made pursuant to the proposed Share Purchase Mandate will depend on, inter alia,
whether the purchase or acquisition is made out of profits and/or capital, the aggregate
number of Shares purchased or acquired and the consideration paid at the relevant time
and whether the Shares purchased or acquired are cancelled or held in treasury.

For illustrative purposes only and on the basis of the assumptions set out in paragraphs
3.7.2 and 3.7.3 above, the financial effects of the purchase or acquisition of Shares by the
Company pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate on the audited financial statements of
the Group for the financiat year ended 30 December 2005 are set out below, assuming the
following:

(a) the purchase or acquisition of 145,583,354 Shares by the Company pursuant to the
Share Purchase Mandate by way of Market Purchases made entirely out of profits
and/or capital and cancelled or held in treasury; and

(b) the purchase or acquisition of 145,583,354 Shares by the Company pursuant to the
Share Purchase Mandzte by way of Off-Market Purchases made entirely out of profits
and/or capital and cancelled or held in treasury.

' Exchange rate used for conversion from S$ to US$ is 1.62475.
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Scenario 1(A)

Market Purchases made entirely out of profits and cancelled

Group
Before Share After Share

Purchase Purchase

US$’000 Us$'000
As at 30 December 2005
Share Capital and Share Premium 1,371,033 820,693
'Retained Earnings 1,222,706 728,859
Share-Based Compensation Reserve 15,162 12,647
Other Reserves (2,429) (2,429)

2,606,472 1,659,770
Treasury Shares held by Trust (1,399) (1,399)
Shareholders’ Funds 2,605,073 1,558,371
Current Assets 2,159,544 1,112,842
Current Liabilities 1,367,751 1,367,751
Total Borrowings 707,338 707,338
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,160,946 114,244
Number of Shares ('000) 1,453,476 1,310,250
Financial Ratios
Basic EPS (US$) 0.55 0.61
NAV per Share (US$) 1.79 : 1.19
Net Gearing (times) ’ (0.17) 0.38
Current Ratio (times) 1.58 0.81

Note:
%" The figures for the Group are based on the audited financial statements as at 30 December 2005, adjusted for
the financial effects of (a) the capital reduction and cash distribution exercise which took effect on 27 January
2006; and (b) share options exercised and performance shares vested from 31 December 2005 to the Latest
Practicable Date.
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Scenario 1(B)

Market Purchases made entirely out of profits and held in treasury

Group
Before Share After Share
Purchase Purchase
US$°000 Us$'000
As at 30 December 2005
Share Capital and Share Premium 1,371,033 820,693
Retained Earnings 1,222,706 953,764
Share-Based Compensation Reserve 15,162 12,647
Other Reserves (2,429) (2,429)
2,606,472 1,784,675
Treasury Shares Held by Trust (1,399) (1,399)
Treasury Shares Held/Purchasad by the
Company - (224,905)
Shareholders’ Funds 2,605,073 1,558,371
Current Assets 2,159,544 1,112,842
Current Liabilities 1,367,751 1,367,751
Total Borrowings 707,338 707,338
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,160,946 114,244
Number of Shares ("000) 1,453,476 1,310,250
Financial Ratios
Basic EPS (US$) 0.55 0.61
NAV per Share (US$) 1.79 1.19
Net Gearing (times) (0.17) 0.38
Current Ratio (times) 1.58 0.81

Note:

s}

Practicable Date.
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The figures for the Group are based on the audited financial statements as at 30 December 2005, adjusted for
the financial effects of (a) the capital reduction and cash distribution exercise which took effect on 27 January
2006; and (b) share options exercised and performance shares vested from 31 December 2005 to the Latest




Scenario 1(C)

Market Purchases made entirely out of capital and cancelled

Group
Before Share After Share

Purchase Purchase

Us$’000 Us$'000
As at 30 December 2005
Share Capital and Share Premium 1,371,033 595,788
Retained Earnings 1,222,706 953,764
Share-Based Compensation Reserve 15,162 12,647
Other Reserves (2,429) (2,429)

2,606,472 1,559,770
Treasury Shares Held by Trust (1,399) (1,399)
Shareholders” Funds 2,605,073 1,558,371
Current Assets 2,159,544 1,112,842
Current Liabilities 1,367,751 1,367,751
Total Borrowings 707,338 707,338
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,160,946 114,244
Number of Shares ('000) 1,453,476 1,310,250
Einancial Ratios
Basic EPS (US$) 0.55 0.61
NAV per Share (US$) 1.79 1.19
Net Gearing (times) (0.17) 0.38
Current Ratio (times) 1.58 0.81

Note:

" The figures for the Group are based on the audited financial statements as at 30 December 2005, adjusted for
the financial effects of (a) the capital reduction and cash distribution exercise which took effect on 27 January
2008; and (b) share options exercised and performance shares vested from 31 December 2005 to the Latest
Practicable Date.
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Scenario 1(D}

Market Purchases made entirely out of capital and held in treasury

Group
Before Share After Share
Purchase Purchase
Us$’000 Us$'000
As at 30 December 2005
Share Capital and Share Premium 1,371,033 820,693
Retained Earnings 1,222,706 953,764
Share-Based Compensation Reserve 15,162 12,647
Other Reserves (2,429) (2,429)
2,606,472 1,784,675
Treasury Shares Held by Trust (1,399) (1,399)
Treasury Shares Held/Purchased by the
Company - (224,905)
Shareholders’ Funds 2,605,073 1,558,371
Current Assets 2,159,544 1,112,842
Current Liabilities 1,367,751 1,367,751
Total Borrowings . 707,338 707,338
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,160,946 114,244
Number of Shares ("000) 1,453,476 1,310,250
Financial Ratios
Basic EPS (US$) 0.55 0.61
NAV per Share (US$) 1.79 1.19
Net Gearing (times) ' (0.17) 0.38
Current Ratio (times) 1.58 0.81

Note:
" The figures for the Group are based on the audited financial statements as at 30 December 2005, adjusted for
the financial effects of (a) the capital reduction and cash distribution exercise which took effect on 27 January
2006; and (b} share options exercised and performance shares vested from 31 December 2005 to the Latest
Practicable Date.
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Scenario 2(A)

Off-Market Purchases made entirely out of profits and cancelled

Group
Before Share After Share
Purchase Purchase
Us$’000 Us$’000
As at 30 December 2005
Share Capital and Share Premium 1,371,033 820,693
Fetained Earnings 1,222,706 718,106
Share-Based Compensation Reserve 15,162 12,647
Other Reserves (2,429) (2,429)
2,606,472 1,548,017
Treasury Shares Held by Trust (1,399) (1,399)
Shareholders’ Funds 2,605,073 1,647,618
Current Assets 2,159,544 1,102,089
Current Liabilities 1,367,751 1,367,751
Total Borrowings 707,338 707,338
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,160,946 103,491
Number of Shares ('000) 1,453,476 1,310,250
Financial Ratios
Basic EPS (US$) 0.55 0.61
NAV per Share (US$) 1.79 1.18
Net Gearing (times) (0.17) 0.39
Current Ratio (times) 1.58 0.81

Note:

 The figures for the Group are based on the audited financial statements as at 30 December 2005, adjusted for
the financial effects of (a) the capital reduction and cash distribution exercise which took effect on 27 January
20086; and (b) share options exercised and performance shares vested from 31 December 2005 to the Latest
Practicable Date.

22




Scenario 2(B)

Off-Market Purchases made entirely out of profits and held in treasury

Group
Before Share After Share
Purchase Purchase
Us$’000 Us$’000
As at 30 December 2005
Share Capital and Share Premium 1,371,033 820,693
Retained Earnings 1,222,706 953,764
Share-Based Compensation Reserve 15,162 12,647
Other Reserves (2,429) (2,429)
2,606,472 1,784,675
Treasury Shares Held by Trust (1,399} (1,399)
Treasury Shares Held/Purchased by the
Company - (235,658)
Shareholders’ Funds 2,605,073 1,547,618
Current Assets 2,159,544 1,102,089
Current Liabilities 1,367,751 1,367,751
Total Borrowings 707,338 707,338
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,160,946 103,491
Number of Shares ("000) 1,453,476 1,310,250
Financial Ratios
Basic EPS (US$) 0.55 0.61
NAV per Share (US$) 1.79 1.18
Net Gearing (times) (0.17) 0.39
Current Ratio (times) 1.58 0.81

Note:

{1

Practicable Date.
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The figures for the Group are based on the audited financial statements as at 30 December 2005, adjusted for
the financial effects of (a) the capital reduction and cash distribution exercise which took effect on 27 January
2006; and (b) share options exercised and performance shares vested from 31 December 2005 to the Latest




Scenario 2(C)

Off-Market Purchases made entirely out of capital and cancelled

Group
Before Share After Share

Purchase Purchase

Us$’000 Us$’000
As at 30 December 2005
Share Capital and Share Premium 1,371,033 585,035
Retained Earnings 1,222,706 953,764
Share-Based Compensation Reserve 15,162 12,647
Other Reserves (2,429) (2,429)

2,606,472 1,549,017
Treasury Shares Held by Trust (1,399) (1,399)
Shareholders’ Funds 2,605,073 1,647,618
Current Assets 2,159,544 1,102,089
Current Liabilities 1,367,751 1,367,751
Total Borrowings 707,338 707,338
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,160,946 103,491
Number of Shares ('000) 1,453,476 1,310,250
Financial Ratios
Basic EPS (US$) 0.55 0.61
NAV per Share (US$) 1.79 1.18
Net Gearing (times) (0.17) 0.39
Current Ratio (times) 1.58 0.81

Note:

" The figures for the Group are based on the audited financial statements as at 30 December 2005, adjusted for
the financial effects of (a) the capital reduction and cash distribution exercise which took effect on 27 January
2006; and (b) share options exercised and performance shares vested from 31 December 2005 to the Latest
Practicable Date.
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Scenario 2(D)

Off-Market Purchases macle entirely out of capital and held in treasury

Group
Before Share After Share
Purchase Purchase
us$’000 US$'000
As at 30 December 2005
Share Capital and Share Premium 1,371,033 820,693
Retained Earnings 1,222,706 953,764
Share-Based Compensation Fleserve 15,162 12,647
Other Reserves (2,429) (2,429)
2,606,472 1,784,675
Treasury Shares Held by Trust (1,399) (1,399)
Treasury Shares Held/Purchased by the
Company - (235,658)
Shareholders’ Funds 2,605,073 1,547,618
Current Assets 2,159,544 1,102,089
Current Liabilities 1,367,751 1,367,751
Total Borrowings 707,338 707,338
Cash and Cash Equivalents 1,160,946 103,491
Number of Shares ('000}) 1,453,476 1,310,250
Einancial Ratios
Basic EPS (US$) 0.55 0.61
NAV per Share (US$) 1.79 ‘ 1.18
Net Gearing (times) (0.17) 0.39
Current Ratio (times) 1.58 ° 0.81

Note:

" The figures for the Group are based on the audited financial statements as at 30 December 2005, adjusted for
the financial effects of (a) the capital reduction and cash distribution exercise which took effect on 27 January
2006; and (b) share options exercised and performance shares vested from 31 December 2005 to the Latest
Practicable Date.

The financial effects set out above are for illustrative purposes only. Although the
Share Purchase Mandate would authorise the Company to purchase or acquire up to
10% of the issued Shares, the Company may not necessarily purchase or acquire or
be able to purchase or accjuire the entire 10% of the issued Shares. In addition, the
Company may cancel all or part of the Shares repurchased or hold all or part of the
Shares repurchased in treasury.
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3.8

3.8

Listing Status of the Shares. The Listing Manual requires a listed company to ensure that at least
10% of equity securities (excluding preference shares and convertible equity securities) in a class
that is listed is at all times held by the public. As at the Latest Practicable Date, Temasek, a
substantial Shareholder, has a direct and deemed interest in approximately 68.31% of the issued
Shares as at that date. Approximately 31.64% of the issued Shares are held by public
Shareholders.

The Company is of the view that there is a sufficient number of Shares in issue held by public
Shareholders which would permit the Company to undertake purchases or acquisitions of its
Shares through Market Purchases up to the full 10% limit pursuant to the proposed Share
Purchase Mandate without affecting the listing status of the Shares on the SGX-ST, causing
market illiquidity or affecting orderly trading.

Take-over Implications. Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code contains the Share Buy-Back
Guidance Note. The take-over implications arising from any purchase or acquisition by the
Company of its Shares are set out below.

3.9.1 Obligation to make a Take-over Offer

If, as a result of any purchase or acquisition by the Company of its Shares, the proportionate
interest in the voting capital of the Company of a Shareholder and persons acting in concert
with him increases, such increase will be treated as an acquisition for the purposes of Rule
14 of the Take-over Code. Consequently, a Shareholder or a group of Shareholders acting
in concert with a Director could obtain or consolidate effective control of the Company and
become obliged to make an offer under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code.

3.9.2 Persons Acting in Concert

Under the Take-over Code, persons acting in concert comprise individuals or companies
who, pursuant to an agreement or understanding (whether formal or informal), co-operate,
through the acquisition by any of them of shares in a company, to obtain or consolidate
effective control of that company.

Unless the contrary is established, the Take-over Code presumes, inter alia, the following
individuals and companies to be persons acting in concert with each other:

(a) the following companies:

(i) a company;

(i)  the parent company of (i);

(i)  the subsidiaries of (i);

{(iv) the fellow subsidiaries of (i);

(v)  the associated companies of any of (i), (ii), (iii) or (iv); and

(vi) companies whose associated companies include any of (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) or (v);
and

(b) a company with any of its directors (together with their close relatives, related trusts
as well as companies controlled by any of the directors, their close relatives and
related trusts).

The circumstances under which Shareholders, including Directors and persons acting in
concert with them respectively, will incur an obligation to make a take-over offer under Rule
14 of the Take-over Code after a purchase or acquisition of Shares by the Company are set
out in Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code.
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3.9.3 Effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2

In general terms, the effect of Rule 14 and Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code is that, unless
exempted, Directors and persons acting in concert with them will incur an obligation to make
a take-over offer under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code if, as a result of the Company
purchasing or acquiring Sheres, the voting rights of such Directors and their concert parties
would increase to 30% or more, or in the event that such Directors and their concert parties
hold between 30% and 50% of the Company’s voting rights, if the voting rights of such
Directors and their concert parties would increase by more than 1% in any period of six
months.

Under Appendix 2 of the Take-over Code, a Shareholder not acting in concert with the
Directors will not be required to make a take-over offer under Rule 14 of the Take-over
Code if, as a result of the Company purchasing or acquiring its Shares, the voting rights of
such Shareholder would increase to 30% or more, or, if such Shareholder holds between
30% and 50% of the Company’s voting rights, the voting rights of such Shareholder would
increase by more than 1% in any period of six months. Such Shareholder need not abstain
from voting in respect of the resolution authorising the Share Purchase Mandate.

Based on substantial shareholder notifications received by the Company under Division 4,
Part IV of the Companies Act as at the Latest Practicable Date as set out in paragraph 4.2
below, the substantial Shareholder would not become obliged to make a take-over offer for
the Company under Rule 14 of the Take-over Code as a result of the purchase by the
Company of the maximum limit of 10% of its issued Shares as at the Latest Practicable
Date.

Shareholders who are in doubt as to their obligations, if any, to make a mandatory
take-over offer under the Take-over Code as a result of any purchase or acquisition of
Shares by the Company should consult the Securities Industry Council and/or their
professional advisers at the earliest opportunity.

3.10 Reporting Requirements. The Listing Manual specifies that a listed company shall report all

3.11

purchases or acquisitions of its shares to the SGX-ST not later than 9.00 a.m. {a) in the case of a
Market Purchase, on the market day following the day of purchase or acquisition of any of its
shares and (b) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase under an equal access scheme, on the
second market day after the close of acceptances of the offer. Such announcement (which must be
in the form of Appendix 8.3.1 to the Listing Manual) must include details of the date of the purchase,
the total number of shares purchased, the purchase price per share or the highest and lowest
prices paid for such shares, as applicable, and the total consideration (including stamp duties and
clearing charges) paid or payable for the shares.

No Previous Purchases. The Company has not undertaken any purchase or acquisition of its
Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate approved by Shareholders at the 2005 AGM.
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4.1

4.2

5.1

5.2

DIRECTORS’ AND SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS

Directors’ Interests. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors’ interests in Shares as
recorded in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings are as follows:

Number of Shares Number of Shares
Direct Deemed ?ﬂ&:ﬁﬁ?ng‘

Director Interest % Interest % Options/Awards
Cheng Wai Keung 250,000 0.017 - - 129,000

Dr. Friedbert Malt 40,000 0.003 - - 64,000

Ang Kong Hua 40,000 0.003 - -~ 64,000
David Lim Tik En 242,333 0.017 - - 764,667
Yasumasa Mizushima - - - - 48,000
James Connal Scotland Rankin 60,000 0.004 - -~ 48,000
Willie Cheng Jue Hiang 30,000 0.002 5,000" nm® 48,000
Robert Holland, Jr. 27,000 0.002 - ~ 48,000
Christopher Lau Loke Sam - - - - 48,000
Timothy Charles Harris - - - - -
Peter Wagner - - - ~ -
Notes:

' willie Cheng Jue Hiang is deemed to be interested in the 5,000 Shares held by his spouse.

@ “am” means not meaningful.

Substantial Shareholder’s Interests. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the interests of the
substantial Shareholder in Shares as recorded in the Register of Substantial Shareholders are as
follows: “

Number of Shares

Substantial Direct Deemed Total Number
Shareholder Interest % Interest % of Shares %
Temasek 383,465,362 26.34 611,068,970 4197 994,534,332 68.31
Note:

" Temasek is deemed to be interested in the 611,068,970 Shares held by its associated companies and subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ RECOMMENDATIONS

The Proposed Alterations to the Articles. The Directors are of the opinion that the proposed
alterations to the Articles are in the best interests of the Company. Accordingly, they recommend
that Shareholders vote in favour of Resolution 1, being the Special Resolution relating to the
proposed alterations to the Articles to be proposed at the EGM.

The Proposed Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate. The Directors are of the opinion that
the proposed renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate is in the best interests of the Company.
Accordingly, they recommend that Shareholders vote in favour of Resolution 2, being the Ordinary
Resolution relating to the proposed renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate to be proposed at the
EGM.
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7.2

EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

The EGM, notice of which is set out on pages 64 to 66 of this Circular, will be held at 456
Alexandra Road, #04-00 (Lecture Theatre), NOL Building, Singapore 119962, on 19 April 2006 at
11.15 a.m. (or as soon thereafier following the conclusion or adjournment of the 37th Annual
General Meeting of the Company to be held at 11.00 a.m. on the same day and at the same place)
for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing with or without modifications the Special
and Ordinary Resolutions set out in the Notice of EGM.

ACTION TO BE TAKEN BY SHAREHOLDERS

Appointment of Proxies. Shareholders who are unable to attend the EGM and wish to appoint a
proxy to attend and vote at the EGM on their behalf, should complete, sign and return the attached
Proxy Form in accordance with the instructions printed thereon as soon as possible and, in any
event, so as to reach the registered office of the Company at 456 Alexandra Road, #06-00, NOL
Building, Singapore 119962 not later than 48 hours before the time fixed for the EGM. The
completion and return of the Proxy Form by a Shareholder will not prevent him from attending and
voting in person at the EGM in place of his proxy if he wishes 1o do so.

When Depositor regarded as Shareholder. A Depositor shall not be regarded as a Shareholder

entitled to attend the EGM and to speak and vote thereat unless his name appears on the
Depository Register at least 48 hours before the time fixed for the EGM.

INSPECTION OF DOCUMENTS

The following documents are available for inspection at the registered office of the Company at 456
Alexandra Road, #06-00, NOL Building, Singapore 119962 during normal business hours from the
date of this Circular up to the date of the EGM:

(a) the Annual Report of the Company for the financial year ended 30 December 2005;

(b) the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company; and

(c}y  the 2005 Circular.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors collectively and individually accept responsibility for the accuracy of the information
given in this Circular and confirm, having made all reasonable enquiries, that to the best of their
knowledge and belief, the facts stated and the opinions expressed in this Circular are fair and
accurate and that there are no material facts the omission of which would make any statement in
this Circular misleading. '

Yours faithfully

for and on behalf of

the Board of Directors
Neptune Orient Lines Limited

A

Cheng Wai Keung
Chairman
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THE PROPOSED ALTERATIONS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The alterations which are proposed to be made to the Articles are set out below. For ease of reference
and where appropriate, the full text of the Articles proposed to be altered has also been reproduced and
the principal alterations underlined.

1.  EXISTING ARTICLE 1

1. In these Articles unless there be something in the subject or context Interpretation.
inconsistent therewith:-

“Act” means the Companies Acf, Cap 50, and any subsequent
amending legisiation concerning companies and affecting the
Company. :

“Articles” means the Articles of Association and the regulations of the
Company for the time being in force.

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company for the time
being.

“CDP” means The Central Depository (Ple) Limited and, where the
context requires, shall include any person specified by it, in a notice
given to the Company, as its nominee.

“Company” means NEPTUNE ORIENT LINES LIMITED.
“Court” means any court having requisite jurisdiction. -

“Depositor” means a Depository Agent or a Direct Account Holder to
whose Security Account are credited any shares in the Company.

“Depository Agent” means an entity registered with CDP as a
depository agent and maintaining with CDP securities sub-accounts for
its own account or for the account of others.

“Direct Account Holder” means the holder of a direct securities
account maintained with CDP.

“Dividend” includes bonus.

“Directors” means the Directors for the time being of the Company
and includes alternate Directors.

“In writing” or “written” means and include words printed,
lithographed, photographed, typed, represented, or reproduced in any
mode in a visible form.

“Market Day” means a day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading in
securities.

“Member” means the holder of shares in the capital of the Company
and shall exclude CDP except where otherwise provided in these
Articles or where the holder is construed to be the registered holder
and, where the context so requires, be deemed to include references to
Depositors whose names are entered in the Depository Register in
respect of those shares and ‘holding” and “held” shall be construed
accordingly.

30




“Month” means calendar month.

“Office” means the registered office for the time being of the
Company.

“Register” means the Register of Members to be kept pursuant fo
section 190 of the Act.

“Seal” means the Common Seal or Share Seal of the Company.

“Secretary” includes any person appointed fo perform the duties of
Secretary temporarily.

“Securities Account” mears in the case of a Direct Account Holder
the direct securities account of the Direct Account Holder maintained
with CDP, and in the case of a Depository Agent, ali the securities sub-
accounts of such Depository Agent maintained with CDP as a whole.

“SGX-ST” means “Singapore Exchange Securities T rading Limited”.

“Special Resolution” has the meaning assigned thereto by section
184 of the Act.

“Statutes” means the Act and every other Act for the time being in
force concerning companies and affecting the Company.

Words importing the singular number only include the plural number
and vice versa.

Words importing the masculine gender only include the feminine
gender.

Words importing persons include corporations. Subject as aforesaid
any words defined in the Act shall if not inconsistent with the subject or
the context bear the same meaning in these Articles.

The marginal noteé are inserted for convenience and shall not affect
the construction of these Articles.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 1

By:

(@)

deleting the definition of “Member’” and substituting therefor the
foliowing:

“Member’ means the holder of shares in the capital of the Company
and shall exclude CDP and the Company where it is a member by
reason of shares held by it as treasury shares except where otherwise
provided in these Articles or where the holder is construed to be the
registered holder and, where the context so requires, be deemed to
include references to Depositors whose names are entered in the
Depository Register in respect of those shares and “holding” and “held”
shall be construed accordingly;
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(b) inserting after the definition of “Statutes” the following:

The expression “treasury shares” shall have the meaning ascribed to it
in the Act.

Any reference in these Articles to_any enactment is a_reference to that
enactment as for the time being amended or re-enacted.

EXISTING ARTICLE 2

2. The regulations contained in Table A in the Fourth Schedule to the Act
shall not apply to the Company except so far as the same are repeated
or contained in these Articles.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 2

By deleting Article 2 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:
2. The reguiations contained in Table A in the Fourth Schedule to the Act
shall not apply to the Company, exeept—so—far—as—the—same—are
I nod-in it Artiotos,

EXISTING ARTICLE 5

SHARE CAPITAL

5. The authorised share capital of the Company is $3,000,000,000
divided into 3,000,000,000 ordinary shares of $1.00 each.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 5

By deleting the headnote “SHARE CAPITAL” and Article 5 in their entirety.

EXISTING ARTICLE 7

7. Subject to the Act no shares be issued by the Board without the prior
approval of the Company in General Meeting but subject thereto, and
fo these Articles and any special rights attached to any shares for the
time being issued, the Board may allot or grant options over or
otherwise dispose of the same to such persons on such terms and
conditions and for such consideration and at such time and subject or
not to the payment of any part of the amount thereof in cash, and has
full power to give to any person the call of any shares either at par or at

a premium as the Board may determine. Such shares may be issued’

with preferential, deferred, qualified or special rights, privileges or
conditions as the Board may think fit. Preference shares may be issued
which are, or at the option of the Company are, liable to be redeemed,
and the terms and manner of redemption will be determined by the
Board provided always that.-

(a) no shares shall be issued at a discount, except in accordance
with the Act;

(b)  (subject to any direction to the contrary that may be given by the
Company in General Meeting) any issue of shares for cash to
members holding shares of any class shall be offered to such
members in proportion as nearly as may be to the number of
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shares of such class then held by them and the provisions of the
second sentence of Article 51 with such adaptations as are
necessary shall apply, and

(c)  any other issue of shares, the aggregate of which would exceed
the limits referred to in Article 52, shall be subject to the approval
of the Company in General Meeting.

The Company has power to issue further preference capital ranking
equally with, or in priority to, preference shares already issued.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 7

By deleting Article 7 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

7.

Subject to the Act and to these Articles, no shares be issued by the
Board without the prior approval of the Company in General Meeting
but subject thereto, and to these Articles and any special rights
attached to any shares for the time being issued, the Board may allot
or grant options over or otherwise dispose of the same to such persons
on such terms and conditions and for such consideration and at such
time and subject or not to the payment of any part of the amount
thereof in cash, and has full power to give to any person the call of any
shares eitherat-parer-ata-premitm as the Board may determine. Such
shares may be issued with preferential, deferred, qualified or special
rights, privileges or conditions as the Board may think fit. Preference
shares may be issued which are, or at the option of the Company are,
liable to be redeemed, and ths terms and manner of redemption will be
determined by the Board provided always that:-

{b)(a) (subject to any direction to the contrary that may be given by the
Company in General Meeting) any issue of shares for cash to
members holding sharas of any class shall be offered to such
members in proportion as nearly as may be to the number of
shares of such class than held by them and the provisions of the
second sentence of Aricle 51 with such adaptations as are
necessary shall apply; and

{e}(b) any other issue of shares, the aggregate of which would exceed
the limits referred to in Article 52, shalf be subject to the approval
of the Company in General Meeting.

The Company has power to issue further preference capital ranking
equally with, or in priority to, preference shares already issued.

5. EXISTING ARTICLE 7(1)

7.

(1) In the event of preference shares being issued the total nominal
value of issued preference shares shall not at any time exceed
the total nominal value of the issued ordinary shares and
preference shareholders shall have the same rights as ordinary
shareholders as regards receiving of notices, reports and
balance sheets and attending General Meetings of the
Company, and prefererice shareholders shall also have the right
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fo vote at any meeting convened for the purpose of reducing the
capital or winding-up or sanctioning a sale of the undertaking or
where the proposal to be submitted to the meeting directly affect
their rights and privileges or when the dividend on the preference
shares is more than six months in arrear.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 7(1)

By defeting Article 7(1) in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

7.

(1)

I“ ltlne e; 'ent ° F'e'eF ence-s| 'a|es be'mg” ssued-the ts.tal RO naI,
Preference shares may be is ubject to such limitation
thereof as may be prescrib any Stock Exchan on
which shares in the Company may be listed. pPreference
shareholders shall have the same rights as ordinary
shareholders as regards receiving of notices, reports and
balance sheets and attending General Meetings of the
Company, and preference shareholders shall also have the right
to vote at any meeting convened for the purpose of reducing the
capital or winding-up or sanctioning a sale of the undertaking or
where the proposal to be submitted to the meeting directly
affects their rights and privileges or when the dividend on the
preference shares is more than six months in arrear.

6. EXISTING ARTICLE 7(2)(a)

7.

(2)

(a)  Whenever the share capital of the Company is divided info
different classes of shares, subject to the provisions of the
Statutes, preference capital other than redeemable
preference capital may be repaid and the special rights
attached to any class may be varied or abrogated either
with the consent in writing of the holders of three-quarters
in nominal value of the issued shares of the class or with
the sanction of a Special Resolution passed at a separate
General Meeting of the holders of the shares of the class
(but not otherwise) and may be so repaid, varied or
abrogated either whilst the Company is a going concern or
during or in contemplation of a winding up. To every such
separate General Meeting all the provisions of these
presents relating to General Meetings of the Company
and to the proceedings thereat shall mutatis mutandis
apply, except that the necessary quorum shall be two
persons at least holding or representing by proxy at least
one-third in nominal value of the issued shares of the
class and that any holder of shares of the class present in
person or by proxy may demand a poll and that every
such holder shall on a poll have one vote for every share
of the class held by him, Provided always that where the
necessary majority for such a Special Resolution is not
obtained at such General Meeting, consent in writing if
obtained from the holders of three-quarters in nominal
value of the issued shares of the class concerned within
two months of such General Meeting shall be as valid and
effectual as a Special Resolution carried at such General
Meeting. The foregoing provisions of this Article shall
apply to the variation or abrogation of the special rights




aftached to some only of the shares of any class as if
each group of shares of the class differently treated
formed a separate class the special rights whereof are fo
be varied.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 7(2)(a)

By deleting Articie 7(2)(a) in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

7.

()

(a)

Whenever the share capital of the Company is divided into
different classes of shares, subject to the provisions of the
Statutes, preference capital other than redeemable
preference capital may be repaid and the special rights
attached to any class may be varied or abrogated either
with the consent in writing of the holders of three-quarters
inneminal-value of the issued shares of the class or with
the sanction of a Special Resolution passed at a separate
General Meeting of the holders of the shares of the class
{but not otherwise) and may be so repaid, varied or
abrogated either whilst the Company is a going concern or
during or in contemplation of a winding up. To every such
separate General Meeting all the provisions of these
presents Adicles relating to General Meetings of the
Company and to the proceedings thereat shall mutatis
mutandis apply, except that the necessary quorum shall

be two persons at least holding or representing by proxy

at least one-third ir-remiralvalue of the issued shares of
the class and that any holder of shares of the class
present in person or by proxy may demand a poll and that
every such holder shall on a poll have one vote for every
share of the class heid by him, Provided always that
where the necessary majority for such a Special
Resolution is not obtained at such General Meeting,
consent in writing if obtained from the holders of three-
quarters in-reminakvalue of the issued shares of the class
concerned within two months of such General Meeting
shall be as valid and effectual as a Special Resolution
carried at such General Meeting. The foregoing provisions
of this Article shall apply to the variation or abrogation of
the special rights attached to some only of the shares of
any class as if each group of shares of the class differently
treated formed a ‘'separate class the special rights whereof
are to be varied.

NEW ARTICLE 8A

New headnote “TREASURY SHARIES” and new Article 8A shall be inserted
immediately before Article 8 as follows:

8A.

TREASURY SHARES
mpany shall not exercise any right in respect of treasury shares

other than as provided by the Act. Subject thereto, the Company may

deal with its treasury shares ir the manner authorised by, or prescribed
pursuant to, the Act,
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8. EXISTING ARTICLE 9

9. The Company may exercise the powers of paying commissions Powers of paying

conferred by Section 67 of the Act, provided that the rate per centum of ~ commission and
the amount of the commission paid or agreed to be paid shall be  Prokerage.
disclosed in the manner required by the said section and the rafe of
commission shall not exceed the rate of 10 per centum of the price at
which the shares in respect whereof the same is paid are issued or an
amount equal to 10 per centum of such price, as the case may be.
Such commissions may be satisfied by the payment of cash or the
allotment of fully or partly paid shares, or partly in one way and partly in
the other. The Company may also on any issue of shares pay such
brokerage as may be lawful.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 9

By deleting Article 9 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

9. The Company may pay commissions or brokerage on any issue of Powers of paying

shares at such rate or amount and in_such manner as the Directors ~ commission and
may deem fit. Such commissions or brokerage ma atisfied by the ~ Prokerage.

payment of cash or the allotment of fully or partly paid shares or partl
in one way and partly in the other.

9. EXISTING ARTICLE 12

12.  The cettificate of title to shares in the capital of the Company shall be Issue of
issued under the Seal in such form as the Directors shall from time to ~ certificates to be
time prescribe and shall bear the autographic or facsimile signatures of ~ under seal
at least one Director and the Secretary or some other person appointed
by the Board, and shall specify the number and class of shares to
which it relates and the amounts paid thereon. The facsimile signatures
may be reproduced by mechanical or other means provided the
method or system of reproducing signatures has first been approved by
the Auditors of the Company.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 12

By deleting Article 12 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

t2.  The certificate of title to shares in the capital of the Company shall be Issue of
issued under the Seal in such form as the Directors shall from time to certificates to be
time prescribe and shall bear the autographic or facsimile signatures of under seal.
at least one Director and the Secretary or some other person appointed
by the Board, and shall specify the number and class of shares to
which it relates anrd-the—ameounts—paid-thereon_and the amounts paid
and amounts (if any) unpaid thereon. The facsimile signatures may be

reproduced by mechanical or other means provided the method or
system of reproducing signatures has first been approved by the
Auditors of the Company.

10. EXISTING ARTICLE 13

13.  Subject to the payment of all or any part of the stamp duty payable (if Share certificate.
any) on each share certificate prior to the delivery thereof which the
Directors in their absolute discretion may require, every person whose
name is entered as a member in the Register of Members shall be
entitled to receive, within ten Market Days (or such other period as may
be approved by any stock exchange upon which the shares in the
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Company may be listed) of the closing date of any application for shares
or, as the case may be, the date of lodgement of a registrable transfer,
one certificate for all his shares of any one class or several cettificates in
reasonable denominations each for a part of the shares so allofted or
transferred. Where such a member transfers part only of the shares
comprised in a certificate or where such a member requires the
Company to cancel any certificate or certificates and issue new
cettificates for the purpose of subdividing his holding in a different
manner, the old certificate or certificates shall be cancelled and a new
certificate or certificates for the balance of such shares issued in lieu
thereof and such member shall pay all or any part of the stamp duty
payable (if any) on each share certificate prior to the delivery thereof
which the Directors in their absolute discretion may require and a
maximum fee of $2 for each new certificate or such other fee as the
Directors may from time to time determine having regard to any limitation
thereof as may be prescribed by any stock exchange upon which shares
of the Company may be listec!.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 13

By deleting Article 13 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

13.

Subjestie-the-paymentof-all-or-any-part-of-the-stamp-duty-payablef
Directors—in—their—abselute--diseretion—may—require,—eEvery person
whose name is entered as a member in the Register of Members shall
be entitled to receive, within ten Market Days (or such other period as
may be approved by any stock exchange upon which the shares in the
Company may be listed) of the closing date of any application for
shares or, as the case may be, the date of lodgement of a registrable
transfer, one certificate for all his shares of any one class or several
certificates in reasonable denominations each for a part of the shares
so allotted or transferred. Where such a member transfers part only of
the shares comprised in a certificate or where such a member requires
the Company to cancel any certificate or certificates and issue new
certificates for the purpose of subdividing his holding in a different
manner, the old certificate or certificates shall be cancelled and a new
certificate or certificates for the balance of such shares issued in lieu

thereof and such member shall pay all-erany-par-—of-the-stamp-duly

payable—{ifany)-en-each-share—certificate priorto-the-delivery thereof -

which—the—Direectors—in—their—abselute—diseretion—+nay—require—and-a
maximum fee of $2 for each new certificate or such other fee as the
Directors may from time to time determine having regard to any
limitation thereof as may be prescribed by any stock exchange upon
which shares of the Company may be listed.

11. EXISTING ARTICLE 20

20.

The Board may from time to time make calls upon the Members in
respect of any moneys unpaid on their shares or on any class of their
shares (whether on account of the nominal value of the shares or by
way of premium and not by the conditions of allotrment thereof) made
payable at fixed time, and each Member shall (subject to his having
been given at least twenty-cight days’ notice specifying the time or
times and place of payment) pay to the Company at the time or times
and place so specified the amount called on his shares. A call may be
made payable by instalments. A call may be revoked or postponed as
the Board may determine. A call shall be deemed to have been made
at the time when the resolution of the Board authorising the call was
passed.
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Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 20

By deleting Article 20 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

20. The Board may, subject always to the terms of issue of such shares, Calls, and when

from time to time make calls upon the Members in respect of any  Payable.
moneys unpald on thenr shares oron any c)ass of thelr shares twhether

aqe—net—by—me—eenémeﬁs-e#—ale%meﬂ%%hereeﬁ) made payable at flxed

time, and each Member shall (subject to his having been given at least
twenty-eight days’ notice specifying the time or times and place of
payment) pay to the Company at the time or times and place so
specified the amount called on his shares. A call may be made payable
by instalments. A call may be revoked or postponed as the Board may
determine. A call shall be deemed to have been made at the time when
the resolution of the Board authorising the call was passed.

12. EXISTING ARTICLE 22

22.  Any sum which by the terms of allotment of a share is made payable Non-payment of

upon issue or at any fixed date whether on account of the nominal calls.

value of the share or by way of premium and any instalment of a call

shall for all purposes of these Articles be deemed to be a call duly

made and payable on the date fixed for payment, and in the case of

non-payment the provisions of these Articles as to payment of interest

and expenses forfeiture and the like, and all other relevant provisions

of the Act or of these Articles shall apply as if such sum were a call

duly made and notified as hereby provided.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 22

By deleting Article 22 in its entirety and substituting therefor the foliowing:

22,  Any sum which by the terms of allotment of a share is made payable Non-payment of
upon issue or at any fixed date whe%her—eﬁ—aeeetm—ef—the—neﬂmaa# calls.
and any instalment of a call
shall for all purposes of these Articles be deemed to be a call duly
made and payable on the date fixed for payment, and in the case of
non-payment the provisions of these Articles as to payment of interest
and expenses forfeiture and the like, and all other relevant provisions
of the Act or of these Articles shall apply as if such sum were a call
duly made and notified as hereby provided.

13. EXISTING ARTICLE 24

24.  The Directors, may, if they think fit, receive from any Member willing to Advance on calls.
advance the same all or any part of the moneys (whether on account of
the nominal value of the shares or by way of premium) uncalled and
unpaid upon the shares held by him and such payments in advance of
calls shall extinguish, so far as the same shall extend, the liability upon
the shares in respect of which it was made, and upon the moneys so
received or so much thereof as from time to time exceeds the amount
of the calls then made upon the shares concerned the Company may
pay interest at such rate not exceeding eight per centum per annum as
the Member paying such sum and the Directors agree upon. Capital
paid on shares in advance of calls shall not whilst carrying interest
confer a right to participate in profits.
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Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 24

By deleting Article 24 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

24. The Directors, may, if they think fit, receive from any Member willing to Advance on calls.
advance the same all or any part of the moneys {whether-on-acecount-of
the-nominalvalue—of-the-shares—or-by-way-ef-preraium) uncalled and
unpaid upon the shares held by him and such payments in advance of
calls shall extinguish, so far as the same shall extend, the liability upon
the shares in respect of which it was made, and upon the moneys so
received or so much thereof as from time to time exceeds the amount
of the calls then made upon the shares concerned the Company may
pay interest at such rate not exceeding eight per centum per annum as
the Member paying such sum and the Directors agree upon. Capital
paid on shares in advance of calls shall not whilst carrying interest
confer a right to participate in profits.

14. EXISTING ARTICLE 28

28.  The Directors may, in their sole discretion, refuse to register any Right of refusal to
instrument of transfer unless:- requiter.

(a) all or any part of the stamp duty (if any) payable on each share
certificate and such fee not exceeding $2 as the Directors may
from time to time require, is paid to the Company in respect
thereof;

(b)  the instrument of transfer is deposited at the Office or at such
other place (if any) as the Directors may appoint accompanied
by the certificates of the shares to which it relates, and such
other evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show
the right of the transferor to make the transfer and, if the
instrument of transfer is executed by some other person on his
behalf, the authority of the person so to do;

(c) the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of
shares; and

(d)  the amount of the proper duty with which each share certificate
to be issued in consequence of the registration of such transfer
is chargeable under any law for the time being in force relating to
stamps is tendered.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 28

By deleting Article 28 in its entirety and by substituting therefor the following:

28. The Directors may, in their sole discretion, refuse to register any Right of refusal to
instrument of transfer unless:- requiterregister.

(a) all-eranypart-of-thestamp-duty{if-any)payable-on-ecach-share
eertificate-and such fee not exceeding $2 as the Directors may
from time to time require; is paid to the Company in respect

thereof;

(b) the amount of proper duty (if any) with which each instrument of
transfer is_chargeable under any law for the time being in force
relating to stamps is paid;
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15.

16.

b)(c) the instrument of transfer is deposited at the Office or at such
other place (if any) as the Directors may appoint accompanied
by a certificate of payment of stamp duty (if any), the certificates
of the shares to which the transfer it relates, and such other
evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show the
right of the transferor to make the transfer and, if the instrument
of transfer is executed by some other person on his behalf, the
authority of the person so to do; and

{e}(d) the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of
~ shares.;and

the E"'.'EH"E S.I the-proper-duty-with ”I"e.h ea'sl shafe-certificate
_ts Iale |ssus| dl A eslnsequelneeF of ltl'e. eglsl t'a. t|s|_| SFI sueh It'a.”SIE'
stamps-istendered-:

EXISTING ARTICLE 29(3)

29. (3} Forthe purposes of Articles 26 to 31, all references to “share” or
“shares” shall, unless the context otherwise requires, mean
ordinary shares of $1.00 each in the share capital of the
Company.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 29(3)

By deleting Article 29(3) in its entirety.

NEW ARTICLE 31A

By inserting new Article 31A immediately after Articie 31 as follows:

31A. Th ompany shall ntitied to troy all instruments of transfer

which have been registered at any time after the expiration of six years
from the date of registration thereof and all dividend mandates _and
notifications of change of address at any time after the expiration of six
rs from the date of recording thereof and all shar rtificates which
have been cancelled at any time after the expiration of six years from
the date of the cancellation thereof and it shall conclusivel
presumed_in favour of the Company that every entry in the Register of
Member rporting to have been made on the basis of an instrument

of transfer or other document so destroved was duly and properly

mac nd_ev instrument of transfer so tr was a valid an
ffective instrument | n roperly reqister n v har
cerificate so destroved was a valid and effective certificate duly and
roperly cancell nd ev other document hereinbefore mention
0 tro w valid and effective document in rdance with
the _recor rticulars thereof in the books or records of th
Company; Provided always that:
(a) the provisions aforesaid shall ly only to th
document _in _good faith _and without noti of an laim
reqardl of th rties thereto) to which the document might
be relevant;
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17.

18.

{b)y nothing herein contained shall be construed as imposing upon

the Company any liability in respect of the destruction of any
such document eariier than as aforesaid or in_any other
circumstances_which would not attach to th mpany_in_th

(c) references herein to the destruction of any document include
references to the dispcsal thereof in any manner.

EXISTING ARTICLE 46

46.

The Board may, from time to time, with the sanction of the Company
previously given in General Meeting, convert any paid-up shares info
stock, and may from time to time, with the like sanction, convert such
stock into paid-up shares of any denomination.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 46

By deleting Article 46 in its entirety znd substituting therefor the following:

46. The Board may, from time to time, with the sanction of the Company
previously given in General Meeting, convert any paid-up shares into
stock, and may from time to time, with the like sanction, convert such
stock into paid-up shares, efary-denomination:

EXISTING ARTICLE 47

47.  When any shares have been converted into stock, the several holders

of such stock may transfer their respective inferests therein or any part
of such interests in such manner as the Company in General Meeting
shall direct, but in default of any such direction then in the same
manner and subject to the same regulations as and subject to which
the shares from which the stcck arose might previously to conversion
have been transferred, or as near thereto as circumstances will admit.
But the Board may, if they think fit, from time to time fix the minimum
amount of stock transferable, provided that such minimum shall not
exceed the nominal amount of the individual shares from which the
stock arose.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 47

By deleting Article 47 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

47.

When any shares have been converted into stock, the several holders
of such stock may transfer their respective interests therein or any part
of such interests in such manner as the Company in General Meeting
shall direct, but in default of any such direction then in the same
manner and subject to the same regulations as and subject to which
the shares from which the stock arose might previously to conversion
have been transferred, or as naar thereto as circumsfances will admit.
But the Board may, if they thirk fit, from time to time fix the minimum
ameunt-of-stoek—number of siock units transferable _;—previded—that
such-minimum-shall-net-exceed-thenominal-amount-of-the-individual
sharesfrom-which-the-steck-arose:
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19.

20.

21.

EXISTING ARTICLE 48

48.

The several holders of stock shall be entitled to participate in the
dividends and profits of the Company according to the amount of their
respective interests in such stock, and such interest shall, in propottion
to the amount thereof, confer on the holders thereof respectively the
same privileges and advantages for the purposes of voting at meetings
of the Company and for other purposes as if they held the shares from
which the stock arose, but so that none of such privileges or
advantages, except the participation in the dividends, profit and assets
of the Company, shall be conferred by any such aliquot part of
consolidated stock as would not, if existing in shares, have conferred
such privileges or advantages.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 48

By deleting Article 48 in its entirety and by substituting therefor the following:

48.

The holders of stock shall, according to the number of stock units held

them, have the same right rivile n vanta regar
ividend, return of ital, voting and other matter, if they held th
shares from which t to rose; but no h privil or advanta
xcept regar adicipation in _the profits or assets of th
Company) shall onfer the number of stock units which woul
not, if existing in shares, have conferr uch privil r advant
and no such conversion shall affect or prejudice any preference or
other special privileges attached to the shares so converted.

EXISTING ARTICLE 50

50.

The Company may from time to time by ordinary resolution, whether all
the shares for the time being authorised shall have been issued, or all
the shares for the time being issued shall have been fully called up or
not, increase its capital by the creation and issue of new shares, such
aggregate increase to be of such amount and to be divided into shares
of such respective amount as the Company by the resolution
authorising such increase directs.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 50

By deleting Article 50 in its entirety.

EXISTING ARTICLE 51

51.

Subject to any direction to the contrary that may be given by the
Company in General Meeting or except as permitted under the SGX-
ST’s listing rules, all new shares shall, before issue, be offered to such
persons as at the date of the offer are entitled to receive notices from
the Company of General Meetings in proportion, as nearly as the
circumstances admit, to the amount of the existing shares to which
they are entitled. The offer shall be made by notice specifying the
number of shares offered, and limiting a time within which the offer, if
not accepted, will be deemed to be declined, and after the expiration of
that time, or on the receipt of an intimation from the person to whom
the offer is made that he declines to accept the shares offered, the
Directors may dispose of these shares in such manner as they think
most beneficial to the Company. The Directors may likewise so
dispose of any new shares which (by reason of the ratio which the new
shares bear fo shares held by persons entitled to an offer of new
shares) cannot, in the opinion of the Directors, be conveniently offered
under this Article.
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Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 51

By deleting Article 51 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

51. Subject to any direction to the contrary that may be given by the Offer for new
Company in General Meeting or except as permitted under the SGX- shares.
ST’s listing rules, all new shares shall, before issue, be offered to such
persons as at the date of the offer are entitled to receive notices from
the Company of General Meetings in proportion, as nearly as the
circumstances admit, to the ameunt number of the existing shares to
which they are entitled. The offer shall be made by notice specifying
the number of shares offered. and limiting a time within which the offer,
if not accepted, will be deemed to be declined, and after the expiration
of that time, or on the receipt of an intimation from the person to whom
the offer is made that he declines to accept the shares offered, the
Directors may dispose of these shares in such manner as they think
most beneficial to the Company. The Directors may likewise so
dispose of any new shares which (by reason of the ratio which the new
shares bear to shares held by persons entitied to an offer of new
shares) cannot, in the opinion of the Directors, be conveniently offered
under this Article.

22. EXISTING ARTICLE 52

52.  Notwithstanding Article 51, the Company may by Ordinary Resolution
in General Meeting give to the Directors a general authority, either
unconditionally or subject to such conditions as may be specified in the
Ordinary Resolution, to:-

(a) (i) issue shares in the capital of the Company (“shares’)
whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise, and/or

(i)~ make or grant oifers, agreements or options (collectively,
“Instruments”) that might or would require shares to be
issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue
of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or
other instrurments convertible into shares; and

(b)  (notwithstanding the authorily conferred by the Ordinary
Resolution may have ceased fo be in force) issue shares in
pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors
while the Ordinary Resolution was in force,

provided that:-

(1)  the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the
Ordinary Resolution (including shares to be issued in pursuance
of Instruments made or granted pursuant to the Ordinary
Resolution) does not exceed 50 per cent. (or such other limit as
may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) of the issued share capital of
the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph
(2) below), of which the aggregate number of shares to be
issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders of the
Company (including shares to be issued in pursuance of
Instruments made or granted pursuant to the Ordinary
Resolution) does not exceed 20 per cent. (or such other limit as
may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) of the issued share capital of
the Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph
(2) below);
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(2)

3

(4)

(subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by
the SGX-ST) for the purpose of determining the aggregate
number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (1)
above, the percentage of issued share capital shall be based on
the issued share capital of the Company at the time that the
Ordinary Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:-

(i new shares arising upon the conversion or exercise of
any convertible securities or share options or vesting of
share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the
lime that the Ordinary Resolution is passed; and

(i) any subsequent consolidation or subdivision of shares;

in exercising the authority conferred by the Ordinary Resolution,
the Company shall comply with the provisions of the Listing
Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force (unless such
compliance is waived by the SGX-ST) and these Articles; and

(unless revoked or varied by the Company in General Meeting)
the authority conferred by the Ordinary Resolution shall not
continue in force beyond the conclusion of the Annual General
Meeting of the Company next following the passing of the
Ordinary Resolution, or the date by which such Annual General
Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, or the
expiration of such other period as may be prescribed by the
Statutes (whichever is the earliest).

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 52

By deleting Article 52 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

52.

Notwithstanding Article 51, the Company may by Ordinary Resolution
in General Meeting give to the Directors a general authority, either
unconditionally or subject to such conditions as may be specified in the
Ordinary Resolution, to:-

provided that:-

(i) issue shares in the capital of the Company (“shares”)
whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

(i)  make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively,
“Instruments”) that might or would require shares to be
issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue
of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or
other instruments convertible into shares; and

(notwithstanding the authority conferred by the Ordinary
Resolution may have ceased to be in force) issue shares in
pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the Directors
while the Ordinary Resolution was in force,

General authority.




th r n r of shares to be issued pursuant o the
Qrdinary Resolution (including shares to be issued in pursuance
of Instruments made or granted pursuant to the Qudinary
Resolution) shall be subject to such limits _and manner of

calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-8T;

£3)(2) in exercising the authority conferred by the Ordinary Resolution,

the Company shall comply with the provisions of the Listing
Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in fcrce (unless such
compliance is waived by the SGX-ST) and these Articles; and

4(3) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in General Meeting)

the authority conferred by the Ordinary Resolution shall not
continue in force beyond the conclusion of the Annual General
Meeting of the Company next following the passing of the
Ordinary Resolution, or the date by which such Annua!l General
Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, or the
expiration of such other period as may be prescribed by the
Statutes (whichever is the earliest).

23. EXISTING ARTICLE 54(1)

54.

(1)

The Company may by ordinary resolution:-

{a) consolidate and divide its capital into shares of larger
amount than its existing shares; or

(b)  cancel any shares which at the date of the passing of the
resolution have not been taken or agreed to be taken by
any person and diminish the amount of its share capital
by the amount of the shares so cancelled.

(¢c) by subdivision of its existing shares or any of them divide

its capital, or any part thereof into shares of smaller
amount than is fixed by its Memorandum of Association
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and so that as between the holders of the resulting shares
one or more of such shares may by the resolution by
which the subdivision is effected be given any preference
or advantage as regards dividend, capital, voting or
otherwise over the others or any other of such shares, or

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 54(1)

By deleting Article 54(1) in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

54,

(1

The Company may by eQrdinary rResolution:-

(a) consolidate and divide &s—eaﬁftal—m%e—shafes—ef—lafgef
ameountthanits-existing-shares all or any of its shares; or

) | I hict hed " . ”
resolution-have-not-been-taken-or-agreed-to-be-taken by

erirricht o ol il
by-the-ameount-efthe shares-so-cancelled-

'by sulad‘ms’nsn ot its-existing st afes-orany ot therm-divide
S sapntall 5'. EIF"W F EIHE .H'E;E’EI o lsha er !sl snlnalllm

ivi har or f them ject
ggvgrthgl_g_gg, to the provisions of the Statutes), and so
that as between the holders of the resulting shares one or
more of such shares may by the resolution by which the
subdivision is effected be given any preference or
advantage as regards dividend, capital, voting or
otherwise over the others or any other of such shares.; or

{c) ject to the provisions of the Statut
- of shares into any other class of shares.

24. EXISTING ARTICLE 54(2)

54.

(2)

The Company may reduce its share capital, any capital
redemption reserve fund or any share premium account or any
undistributable reserve, in any manner and with, and subject to
any incident authorised and consent required by law. The
Company may, subject to and in accordance with the Act,
purchase or otherwise acquire shares in the issued share capital
of the Company on such terms and in such manner as the
Company may from time to time deem fit. If required by the Act,
any share which is so purchased or acquired by the Company
shall be deemed to be cancelled immediately on purchase or
acquisition. On the cancellation of a share as aforesaid, the
rights and privileges atfached to that share shall expire, and the
nominal amount of the issued share capital of the Company
shall be diminished by the nominal amount of the share so
cancelled. In any other instance, the Company may deal with
any such share which is purchased or acquired by it in such
manner as may be permitted by, and in accordance with, the
Act.

46

Power to
consolidate,
subdivide and
convert shares.




Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 54(2)

By deleting Article 54(2) in its entirely and substituting therefor the foliowing:

54. (2) The Company may reduce its share capital—any—ecapital Power to reduce
redemption—reserve-furd-or-any-share-premivm—aceount or any capital and
undistributable reserve, in any manner and with, and subject to undertake share
any incident authorised and consent required by law. The purchases.
Company may, subject to and in accordance with the Act,
purchase or otherwise acquire its_issued shares in-the—issued
share—capital—efthe—GCempany on such terms and in such
manner as the Company may from time to time deem fit. If
required by the Act, any share which is so purchased or
acquired by the Company shall,_unless bheld in treasury in
accordance with the Act, be deemed to be cancelled
immediately on purchase or acquisition. On the cancellation of a
share as aforesaid, the rights and privileges attached to that
share shall expire, and the reminal-ameunt-of the-issued-share
eapital number of issued shares of the Company shall be
diminished by the neminal-ameunt pumber of the shares so
cancelled,__and where_any such cancelied shares were
purchased or acquired out of the capital of the Company, the
amount of share capital of the Company shall be reduced
accordingly. In any other instance, the Company may_nold or
deal with any such share which is purchased or acquired by it in
such manner as may be permitted by, and in accordance with,
the Act.

25. EXISTING ARTICLE 60(1)

60. (1) Notice of every General Meeting shall be given in any manner To whom given.
authorised by these Articles to.-

(a) Every Member except those who have not supplied to the
Company a registered address for the giving of notice to
them; and

(b}  Every person uporr whom ownership of a share devolves
by reason of his being a legal personal representative or
a trustee in bankruptcy of a Member whom the Member
but for his death or bankruptcy would be entitled to
receive notice of the meeting;

(c) The Directors (including alternate Directors) of the
Company; and

(d)  The Auditors for the time being of the Company.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 60(1)

By deleting Article 60(1) in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

60. (1) Notice of every General Meeting shall be given in any manner To whom given.
authorised by these Articles to:-

(a)  All Every Members other than those as are not under the

provisions of these Articles and the Act entitled to receive
such notices from thie Company; except-those-who-have
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{e}(b) The Directors (including alternate Directors) of the
Company; and

{d}{c) The Auditors for the time being of the Company.

26. EXISTING ARTICLE 62

62.

No business shall be transacted at any General Meeting unless a
quorum is present when the mesting proceeds fo business. Two
Members, present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall be a
quorum at a General Meeting. For the purpose of this Article a
corporation which is a Member of the Company shall whether present
by its authorised representative or by proxy, be deemed to be present
in person. No business other than the appointment of a Chairman
shall be transacted at any General Meeting unless a quorum is
present at the time when the meeling proceeds to business. Save as
herein otherwise provided, the quorum at any General Meeting shall
be two Members present in person or by proxy, provided that if only
proxies appointed by the CDP attend any two such proxies (not being
proxies for the same Depositor) shall suffice to establish both plurality
and quorum.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 62

By deleting Article 62 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

62.

No business shall be transacted at any General Meeting uniess a
quorum is present when the meeting proceeds to business. Two
Members, present in person or by proxy and entitied to vote shall be a
quorum at a General Meeting. For the purpose of this Aricle a
corporation which is a Member of the Company shall whether present
by its authorised representative or by proxy, be deemed to be present
in person. No business other than the appointment of a Chairman
shall be transacted at any General Meeting unless a quorum is
present at the time when the meeting proceeds to business. Save-as

27. EXISTING ARTICLE 65

65.

The Chairman of the meeting may, with the consent of any meeting at
which a quorum is present, and shall, if so directed by the meeting,
adjourn the meeting from time to time and from place to place, but no
business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting other than the
businesses left unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment
took place.
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28.

29,

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 65

By deleting Article 65 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

85.

The Chairman of the meeting may, with the consent of any meeting at
which a quorum is present, and shall, if so directed by the meeting,
adjourn the meeting from time to time (or sine die} and from place to
place, but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting
other than the businesses left unfinished at the meeting from which
the adjournment took place. Where a meeting is adiourned sine die,

the time and place for the adjourned meeting shall be fixed
Directors.

EXISTING ARTICLE 66

66.

When a mesting is adjourned for thirty days or more, notice of the
adjourned meeting shall be given as in the case of an original
meeting. Save as aforesaid it shall not be necessary to give notice of
an adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned
meeting.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 66

By deleting Article 66 in its entirety ard substituting therefor the following:

66.

When a meeting is adjourned for thirty days or maore gr sine dje, natice
of the adjourned meeting shall be given as in the case of an original
meeting. Save as aforesaid it shall not be necessary to give notice of
an adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned
meeting.

EXISTING ARTICLE 67

67.

At any General Meeting a resolution put to the vole of the meeting
shall be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is (before or on the
declaration of the result of the show of hands) demanded by:-

{a)  the Chairman of the meeling; or

(b}  not less than two Members present in person or by proxy and
entitled to vote; or

(c) any Member present in person or by proxy holding or
representing, as the case may be, not less than one-tenth of
the total voting rights of all the Members having the right to vote
at the meeting, or

(d) any Member present in person ‘or by proxy holding or
representing, as the case may be, shares in the Company
conferring a right to vote at the meeting being shares on which
an aggregate sum has been paid up equal to not less than one-
tenth of the total sum paid on all the shares conferring that
right,

Provided always that no poll shall be demanded on the choice of a

Chairman or on a question of acjournment. A demand for a poll may
be withdrawn only with the approval of the meeting.
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30.

31.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Atticle 67

By deleting Article 67 in its entirety and by substituting therefor the following:

67. At any General Meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting
shall be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is (before or on the
declaration of the result of the show of hands) demanded by:-

(a)- the Chairman of the meeting; or

(b) not less than two Members present in person or by proxy and
entitled to vote at the meeting; or

(¢} any Member present in person or by proxy halding or
representing;—as—the-ease-may-be; not less than one-tenth of
the total voting rights of all the Members having the right to vote
at the meeting; or

(d) any Member present in person or by proxy holding or
representing;—as—the—case—nay—be,—shares—in—the—GCompany

b of it | ; i | tori I
right—not less than 10 per cent. of the total number of paid-up
hares of the Company (excluding treasury shar

Provided always that no poll shall be demanded on the choice of a

Chairman or on a question of adjournment. A demand for a poll may

be withdrawn only with the approval of the meeting.

EXISTING ARTICLE 70

70.  No polf shall be demanded on the election of a Chairman of a meeting

and a poll demanded on a question of adjournment shall be taken at a
meeting without adjournmerit.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 70

By deleting Article 70 in its entirety.

EXISTING ARTICLE 71

71.

Subject and without prejudice to any special privileges or restrictions
as to voting for the time being attached to any special class of shares
for the time being forming part of the capital of the Company, each
Member entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy. On a show of
hands, every Member who is present in person or by proxy shall have
one vote (provided that in the case of a Member who is represented
by two proxies, only one of the two proxies as determined by that
Member or, failing such determination, by the Chairman of the
meeting (or by a person authorised by him) in his sole discretion shall
be entitled to vote on a show of hands) and on a poll, every Member
who 'is present in person or by proxy shall have one vote for every
share which he holds or represents. For the purpose of determining
the number of votes which a Member, being a Depositor, or his proxy
may cast at any General Meeting on a poll, the reference to shares
held or represented shall, in relation to shares of that Depositor, be
the number of shares entered against his name in the Depository
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Register as at 48 hours before the time of the relevant General
Meeting as certified by CDP to the Company.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 71

By deleting Article 71 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

71.

Subject and without prejudice to any special privileges or restrictions
as to voting for the time being attached to any special class of shares
for the time being forming part of the capital of the Company and to
Article 8A, each Member entitled to vote may vots in person or by
proxy. On a show of hands, every Member who is present in person or
by proxy shall have one vote (provided that in the case of a Member
who is represented by two proxies, only one of the two proxies as
determined by that Member or, failing such determination, by the
Chairman of the meeting (or by a person authorised by him) in his sole
discretion shall be entitled to vote on a show of hands) and on a poll,
every Member who is present in person or by proxy shall have one
vote for every share which he holds or represents. For the purpose of
determining the number of vctes which a Member, being a Depositor,
or his proxy may cast at any General Meeting on a poli, the reference
to shares held or represented shall, in relation to shares of that
Depositor, be the number of shares entered against his name in the
Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time of the relevant
General Meeting as certified by CDP to the Company.

32. EXISTING ARTICLE 75(1)

75.

(1) Aninstrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing in any usual
or common form (inclucling any form approved from time to time
by the Depository) or in any other form which the Directors may
approve and.-

(a) in the case of an individual, shall be signed by the
appointor or his attorney; and

(b)  in the case of a corporation, shall be either given under its
common seal or signed on jts behalf by an attorney or a
duly authorised officer of the corporation or, in the case of
the Depository or its nominee, signed by its duly
authorised officer by some method or system of
mechanical signature as the Depository or its nominee
may deem appropriate. .

An instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to inciude the right
to demand or join in demanding a poll, to move any resolution or
amendment thereto and to speak at the meeting.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 75(1)

By deleting Article 75(1) in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

75.

(1)  Aninstrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing in any usual
or common form (including any form approved from time to time
by the-Bepesitery CDP) or in any other form which the Directors
may approve and:-

{a) in the case of an individual, shall be signed by the
appointor or his aftorney; and
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(b) in the case of a corporation, shall be either given under its
common seal or signed on its behalf by an attorney or a
duly authorised officer of the corporation, er—inthe—ease
of “s. 5 EBESIE.EW oF—Hs—romiree; —sigred—by —is—duly
e 'e' S.Edl e.|||ee| B sa'meE ”'EH.'Ed of .sySEE'“. o
may-deermappropriate:

An instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to include the right
to demand or join in demanding a poll, to move any resolution or
amendment thereto and to speak at the meeting.

33. EXISTING ARTICLE 76

76.

The Power of Attorney (if any) or the instrument appointing a proxy
and the Power of Attorney (if any) under which it is signed or an office
copy or notarially certified copy thereof shall be deposited at the office
not less than forty-eight hours before the time for the holding of the
meeting or adjourned meeting as the case may be at which the person
named in such instrument proposes to vote. A Member not resident in
Singapore may by cable or other telegraphic communication appoint
some person who need not be a Member of the Company as proxy to
vote for him at any meeting of the Company provided (a) such cable or
other telegraphic communication shall have been received at the office
not less than forty-eight hours before the time for the holding of the
meeting or adjourned meeting as the case may be at which the person
named in such cable or other telegraphic communication proposes fo
vote and (b) the Directors are satisfied as to the genuineness of such
cable or other telegraphic communication.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 76

By deleting Article 76 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

76.

The Power of Attorney (if any) or the instrument appointing a proxy
and the Power of Attorney (if any) under which it is signed or an office
copy or notarially certified copy thereof shall be deposited at the office
not less than forty-eight hours before the time for the holding of the
meeting or adjourned meeting as the case may be at which the person
named in such instrument proposes to vote._The Power of Attorney (if
ny) or instrument shall, uniess the contrary is stated thereon, be vali
as well for an journment of the meetin for the meeting to which
it relates. A Member not resident in Singapore may by cable or other
telegraphic communication appoint some person who need not be a
Member of the Company as proxy to vote for him at any meeting of the
Company provided (a) such cable or other telegraphic communication
shall have been received at the office not less than forty-eight hours
before the time for the holding of the meeting or adjourned meeting as
the case may be at which the person named in such cable or other
telegraphic communication proposes to vote and (b) the Directors are
satisfied as to the genuineness of such cable or other telegraphic
communication.
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34,

35.

36.

EXISTING ARTICLE 79

79.  No Member shall be entitled to be present or to vote on any question
either personally or by proxy or as proxy for another Member at any
General Meeting or upon a pcll or be reckoned in a quorum in respect
of any share upon which ary call or other sum shall be due and
payable to the Company whether alone or jointly with any other.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 79

By deleting Article 79 in its entirety.

EXISTING ARTICLE 80

80. Until otherwise determined by a General Meeting the number of
Directors shall riot be less than two or more than sixteen. The first two
Directors of the Company were Hon Sui Sen and Eric Khoo Cheng
Lock.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Aiticle 80
By deleting Article 80 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:
80. Until otherwise determined by a General Meeting the number of

Directors shall not be less than two. ermere-than-sixteen—The first two
Directors of the Company were Hon Sui Sen and Eric Khoo Cheng

Lock.
EXISTING ARTICLE 88(1)
88. (1) The business and affairs of the Company shall be managed by

or under the direction of the Directors. The Directors may
exercise all such powers of the Company as are not by the
Statutes or by these presents required to be exercised by the
Company in General Meeting, subject nevertheless to any
requlations of these presents and to the provisions of the
Statutes. The general powers given by this Article shall not be
limited or restricted by any special authority or power given to
the Directors by any othar Article.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 88(1)

By deleting Article 88(1) in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:
88. (1) The business and affairs of the Company shall be managed by
or under the direction of the Directors. The Directors may
exercise all such powers of the Company as are not by the
Statutes or by these presents Articles required to be exercised
by the Company in General Meeting. —subject-neverthelessto
Statutes: The general powers given by this Article shall not be
limited or restricted by any special authority or power given to
the Directors by any other Article.
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37.

38.

EXISTING ARTICLE 93(2)

93. (2) Unless the nature of his interest has been declared as by
paragraph (1) of this Article provided, a Director shall not vote in
respect of any contract or arrangement in which he is interested,
and if he shall do so his vote shall not be counted, nor, save as
by paragraph (4) of this Article provided shall he be counted in
the quorum present at the meeting, but neither of these
prohibitions shall apply to:-

(a)  Any arrangement for giving any Director any security or
indemnity in respect of money lent by him to or obligations
undertaken by him for the benefit of the Company; or

(b)  Any arrangement for the giving by the Company of any
security to a third party in respect of a debt or obligation of
the Company for which the Director himself has assumed
responsibility in whole or in part under a guarantee or
indemnity or by the deposit of security; or

(c)  Any contract by a Director to subscribe for or underwrite
shares or debentures of the Company; or

(d)  Any contract or arrangement with any other company in
which he is interested only as an officer of the Company
or as holder of shares or other securities in that company;

Provided that these prohibitions may at any time be suspended or
relaxed to any extent, and either generally or in respect of any
particular contract, arrangement or transaction, by the Company by
Ordinary Resolution.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 93(2)

By deleting Article 93(2) in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

93. (2) A _Director shall not vote in respect of any contract or
arrangement or any other proposal whatsoever in which he has
any personal material interest, directly or indirectly. A Director
shall not be counted in_the quorum_at a meeting in relation to
any resolution on which he is debarred from voting.

EXISTING ARTICLE 93(4)

93. (4) A Director, not withstanding his interest, may be counted in the
quorum present at any meeting whereat he or any other Director
is appointed to hold any such office or place of profit under the
Company or whereat the terms of any such appointment are
arranged and he may vote on any such appointment or
arrangement other than his own appointment or the
arrangement of the terms thereof.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 93(4)

By deleting Article 93(4) in its entirety.
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39. EXISTING ARTICLE 96

96. Subject to the provisions of any agreement for the time being
subsisting the office of a Director shall be vacated:- '

(a)

(b)
()
(d)

(e)

if a receiving order is made against him, or he makes any
arrangement or composition with his creditors;

if he becomes of unsound mind;
if by notice in writing to the Company he resigns his office;

if he is prohibited from being a Director by an order made under
the Act; and

if he is removed from office pursuant to a resolution passed
under the provisions of Article 103 or under the provisions of
Section 152 of the Act.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 96

By deleting Article 96 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

96. Subject to the provisions of any agreement for the time being
subsisting, the office of a Director shal! be vacated:-

(a)

(b)
(©
(d)

(e)

if a receiving order is made against him, cr he makes any
arrangement or composition with his creditors;

if he becomes of unsound mind;

if by notice in writing to the Company he resigns his office;

if he is prohibited by law_from being a Director by-an-ordermade
under-the-Aet; and

if he is removed from office pursuant to a resolution passed
under the provisions of Article 103 or under the provisions of
Section 152 of the Act.

40. EXISTING ARTICLE 100

100. The Company at the meeting at which a Director retires in manner
aforesaid may fill the vacated office by electing a person thereto, and
in default the retiring Director shall if offering himself for re-election bé
deemed to have been re-elected, unless at such meeting it is
expressly resolved not to fill such vacated office or unless a resolution
for the re-election of such Director shail have been put to the meeting
and lost.
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Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 100

By deleting Article 100 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

100.

The Company at the meeting_at which a Director retires under an

rovision of these Articles m rdinary Resolution fill the office
being vacat electing thereto the retiring Director or some other
rson eligible for intment. In default the retiring Director shall

deemed to have been re-elected except in any of the following cases:

{a) where at such meeting it is expressly resolved not to fill such
office or a resolution for the re-election of such Director is put to
the meeting and lost; or

(b) where such Director is disqualified under the Act from holding
office as a Director or has given notice in writing to the Compan
that he is unwilling to be re-elected.

A _retiring Director who is re-elect or _deem to_have en

re-elected will continue in office without a break.

41. EXISTING ARTICLE 101

101.

No person other than a Director retiring at an Annual General Meeting
shall be eligible for appointment as a Director at any General Meeting,
unless not less than eleven clear days before the day appointed for the
meeting there shall have been left at the Office notice in writing sighed
by a Member duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which
such notice is given of his intention to propose such person for election
and also notice in writing duly signed by the nominee giving his
consent to the nomination and signifying his candidature for the office
or the intention of such Member to propose him, provided that in the
case of a person recommended by the Directors for election nine clear
days’ notice only shall be necessary. Notice of each and every
candidature for election shall be served on all Members at least seven
clear days prior to the meeting at which the election is to take place.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 101

By deleting Article 101 in its entirety and by substituting therefor the following:

101.

No person other than a Director retiring at an Annual General Meeting
shall be eligible for appointment as a Director at any General Meeting,
unless not less than eleven nor more than 42 clear days (exclusive of
the date on which the notice is given) before the day appointed for the
meeting there shall have been left at the Office notice in writing signed
by a Member duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for which
such notice is given of his intention to propose such person for election
and also notice in writing duly signed by the nominee giving his
consent to the nomination and signifying his candidature for the office
or the intention of such Member to propose him, provided that in the
case of a person recommended by the Directors for election nine clear
days’ notice only shall be necessary. Notice of each and every
candidature for election shall be served on all Members at least seven
clear days prior to the meeting at which the election is to take place.
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42,

43.

EXISTING ARTICLE 102

102. The Board shall have power at any time, and from time to time, to
appoint any person to be a Director, either to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the existing Directors, but so that the total number of
Directors shall not at any time exceed the number fixed in accordance
with these Articles. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only
until the next following Annual General Meeting, and shall then be
eligible for re-election but shall not be taken into account in
determining the Directors who are to retire by rotation at such meeting.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 102

By deleting Article 102 in its entirety and by substituting therefor the following:

102. The Board shall have power at any time, and from time to time, to
appoint any person to be a Director, either to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the existing Directors,_;-but-so-that-the-total numberof
with—these-Asticles: Any Director so appointed shall hold office only
until the next following Annual General Meeting, and shall then be
eligible for re-election but shall not be taken into account in
determining the Directors who are to retire by rotation at such meeting.

EXISTING ARTICLE 112

112. A committee may meet and adjourn as it thinks fit. Questions arising at
any meeting shall be determined by a majority of votes of the members
present, each member having one vote.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 112

By deleting Article 112 in its entirety and by substituting therefor the following:

112. The meetings and_proceedings of any such commiliee consisting of
two_or more members shall be governed mutatis mutandis by the

provisions of these Articles requlating the meetings and proceedings of

the Directors, so far as the same are not superseded by any
regulations made by the Direclors under Article 110.

EXISTING ARTICLE 120

120. No such person shall be appointed or hold office as Secretary who is:-
(a)  The sole Director of the Company; or

(b)  The sole Director of a corporation which is the sole Director of
the Company.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 120

By deleting Article 120 in its entirety.
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EXISTING ARTICLE 123

123. Subject as hereinafter provided, and to any rights or privileges for the Payment of
time being attaching to any shares in the capital of the Company dividends.
having preferential or special rights in regard to dividend, the profits or
other moneys of the Company determined by the Board to be available
for dividend shall be applied in payment of dividends upon the shares
of the Company in proportion to the amounts paid up or credited as
paid up thereon respectively otherwise than in advance of calls.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 123

By deleting Article 123 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

123. Subject as hereinafter provided, and to any rights or privileges for the Payment of
time being attaching to any shares in the capital of the Company dividends.
having preferential or special rights in regard to dividend, the profits or
other moneys of the Company determined by the Board to be available
for dividend shall be applied in payment of dividends upon the shares

of the Company. in-prepertien-to-the-ameunts—paid-up-oreredited-as
pard—up—the%een—respeemfely—e%heﬁme—than—m—advaﬁee—ef—ea#&
Subject to an¥ rights or restrictions attached to any shares or class o

shares an t as otherwi rmitted under the Act:

(a) Il dividends in r t of shares must be paid in_proportion to
the number of shares hel a member but where shar
artl id all dividen must ortion n i
roportionately to the amount id or credited id on th

partly paid shares; and
(b) * all dividends must be apportioned and paid proporionately to

the amounts so paid or credited as paid during any portion or
ortions of the period in_r ct of which the dividend i id.
of this Articl n amount paid or credit

Fol rpo
a share in advance of a call is to be ignored.
NEW ARTICLE 129A

By inserting new Article 129A immediately after Article 129 as follows:

129A. The ment the Directors of any unclaimed dividends or other Unclaimed

mon ayable on or in r t of a share into a rate_account dividends.
hall not constitute the Company a trustee in respect thereof. All
dividen nd other moneys payable on or in r t of h that
re_unclaimed after first omin able m inv r
otherwise mad f by the Directors for th nefit of the Compan
ividend or an h_mon unclaimed after
from th te they are first le m forfeit nd_if

s@gl! revert to _the Company but t Directors m t any tim
thereafter at their absolute discretion annul any such forfeitur
the mon o forfeited to the person entitl hereto prior to the

forfeiture. If CDP returns any such dividend or moneys to the
Company, the relevant Depositor shall not have any right or claim in

ct of h_dividend or mon inst the Co ny if a period of
ix years has elapsed from the date of th claration of such divi
or the date on which h other mon re first le.
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47.

EXISTING ARTICLE 133

CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS AND RESERVES

133. The Directors may, with the sariction of an ordinary resolution of the
Company (including any ordinary resolution passed pursuant to Article
52), capitalise any moneys, investments, or other assets forming part

of the undivided profits of the Company standing to the credit of the .

reserve fund, or any capital redemption reserve fund, or in the hands
of the Company and available for the dividend or representing
premiums received on the issue of shares and standing to the credit of
the share premium account, and distribute them amongst such of the
shareholders as would be entitled to receive the same if distributed by
way of dividend and in the same proportions on the footing that they
become entitled thereto as capital and that all or any part of such
capitalised fund be applied on behalf of such shareholders in paying
up in full either at par or at such premium as the resolution may
provide, any unissued shares or debentures of the Company which
shall be distributed accordingly or in or towards payment of the
uncalled Jiability on any issued shares or debentures, and that such
distribution or payment shall be accepted by such shareholders in full
satisfaction of their interest in the said capitalised sum.

in addition to and without prejudice to the power to capitalise profits
and reserves provided for in the preceding provisions of this Article

133, the Directors shall have power to capitalize any undivided profits
or other monies of the Company not required for the payment or
provision of the fixed dividend on any shares entitled to fixed
cumulative or non-cumulative dividends (including profits or monies
carried and standing to any reserve or reserves) and fo apply such
profits or monies in paying up in full at par unissued shares (or, subject
fo any special rights previously conferred on any shares or class of
shares for the time being issued, unissued shares of any other class
not being redeemable shares) for allotment of such shares credited as
fully-paid to, or to be held by or for the benefit of, participants of any
share incentive or performance plan, for the time being implemented
by the Company and which plan has been approved by the Company
in General Meeting. Provided always that the aggregate number of
shares paid up and issued pursuant to this provision shall not exceed
15 per centum (or such other amount as may from time to time be
prescribed by the Listing Rules of the SGX-ST and/or the Statutes) of
the issued shares in the capital of the Company for the time being.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 133

By deleting the headnote “CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS AND
RESERVES” and Article 133 in their entirety and by substituting therefor the
following:

BONUS ISSUES AND CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS AND RESERVES

133. (1) The Directors may, with the sanction of an eQrdinary
tResolution of the Company (inciuding any eQrdinary
tResolution passed pursuant to Article 52):

(a) issue bonus shares for which no consideration is payable
to the Company fo the persons registered as holders of
shares in the Regqister of Members or (as the case may
be) in the Depository Register at the close of business on:
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i th te of the Ordin Resolution (or h other

dat m e ified therein or determin
therein provi . or
i in_th f an Ordinary Resolution pa

rsuant to Article 52) such other dat m
determined by the Directors,

in proportion to their then holdings of shares; and/or

italise_an m_standing to the credit of any of th
ompany's reserv nts or other undistributabl
reserve or an m standing to the credit of profit lo
account by appropriating such sum to the persons
registered as holders of shares in the Register of

Members or (as th may be) in the D sito
Register at the close of business on:

i the date of th rdinary Resolution (or such other
date m ecified therein or determined as
therein provi .or

ii in_the case of an Ordinary Resolution ssed

rsuant to Article 52 h other dat m

determined by the Directors,
in proportion to their then holdings of shares and applving such

sum _on_their behalf in ing up_in_full uni har r
ubject to an ial_rights previously conferred on hares
or class of shares for the time being issued, unissued shares of
ny other class not being_redeemable shares) for allotment and
istribution_credit full i to_and ongst them
bonus shares in the proportion aforesaid.
2 The Directors may do all acts and things considered necessa Eowerof
or_expedient to give effect to any such bonus issue andfor Directors to give
capitalisation under Anicle 133(1), with full power 1o th effect to bonus

issues and

Directors to make such provisions as they think fit for any ORI
capitalisations.

fractional entitlements which would arise on the basis aforesaid
includin rovisions whereby fractional entitliements are

disregarded or the benefit thereof accrues to the Company
rather than to the members concerned). The Directors may
authorise any person to enter on behalf of all the members

interested _into an agreement with the Company providing for
n h bonus issue or italisation and _matters incidental
thereto and any agreement made under such authority shall

effective and binding on all concerned.

In_addition and without prejudice to the powers provided for b fE‘—‘"OWG;\ to issue
Article 133(1)_and Adicle 133(2), the Directors shail hav wer iIée shares
to issue shares for which no consideration i le and/or to andor o

T = ; capitalise
capitalise any undivided profits or other moneys of the Company reserves for

not required for the payment or provision of any dividend on_any employee share-

shares_entitled to cumulative or_nan-cumulative preferential based incentive
dividends (includin rofits _or other mone carried and plans.

tanding to any reserve or reserves) and to apply such profits or

other moneys in paving up in full unissued shares, in each case
on terms that such shares shall, upon issue, be held or for
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48.

49.

50.

the benefit of paricipants of any share incentive or option
scheme or plan implemented by the Company and approved by
shareholders in General Meeting and on such terms as the
Directors shall think fit.

EXISTING ARTICLE 134

134. A General Meeting may resolve that any surplus moneys arising from
the realisation or revaluation of any capital assets of the Company, or
any investments representing the same, or any other undistributed
profits of the Company not subject to charge for income tax, be
distributed among the Members on the footing that they receive the
same as capital.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 134

By deleting Article 134 in its entirety.

EXISTING ARTICLE 135

135. For the purpose of giving effect to any resolution under the two last
preceding Articles the Board may settle any difficulty which may arise
in regard to the distribution as they think expedient, and in particular
may issue fractional certificates, and may fix the value for distribution
of any specific assets, and may dztermine that cash payments shall be
made to any Member upon the footing of the value so fixed or that
fractions of less value than $1 may be disregarded in order to adjust
the right of all parties, and may vest any such cash or specific assets
in trustees upon such trusts for the persons entitled to the dividend or
capitalised fund as may seem expedient to the Board. Where requisite,
a proper contract shall be delivered to the Registrar for registration in
accordarnce with Section 63 of tha Act and the Board may appoint any
person to sign such contract on behalf of the persons entitled to the
dividend or capitalised fund, and such appointment shall be effective.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 135

By deleting Article 135 in its entirety.

EXISTING ARTICLE 143

143. A person entitled to a share in ccnsequence of the death or bankruptcy
of a Member upon supplying to the Company such evidence as the
Directors may reasonably require to show his title to the share, and
upon supplying also to the Company or (as the case may be) CDP an
address within Singapore for the service of notices, shall be entitled to
have served upon or delivered to him at such address any notice or
document to which the member but for his death or bankruptcy would
have been entitled, and such service or delivery shall for all purposes
be deemed a sufficient service or delivery of such notice or document
on all persons interested {whethar jointly with or as claiming through or
under him) in the share. Save as aforesaid any notice or document
delivered or sent by post to or left at the address of any Member in
‘pursuarice of these Articles shall, notwithstanding that such Member
be then dead or bankrupt or in liquidation, and whether or not the
Company shall have notice of his death or bankruptcy or liquidation, be
deemed to have been duly served or delivered in respact of any share
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51.

52.

registered in the name of such Member in the Register of Members or,
where such Member is a Depositor, entered against his name in the
Depository Register as sole or first-named joint holder.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 143

By deleting Article 143 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

143.

A person entitled to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy
of a Member upon supplying to the Company such evidence as the
Directors may reasonably require to show his title to the share, and
upon supplying also to the Company or (as the case may be) CDP an
address within Singapore for the service of notices, shall be entitled to
have served upon or delivered to him at such address any notice or
document to which the member but for his death or bankruptcy would
have been entitled, and such service or delivery shall for all purposes
be deemed a sufficient service or delivery of such notice or document
on all persons interested {whether jointly with or as claiming through or
under him) in the share. Save as aforesaid any natice or document
delivered or sent by post to or left at the address of any Member or

iven, sent or served to any Member using electronic communications
in pursuance of these Articles shall, notwithstanding that such Member
be then dead or bankrupt or in liquidation, and whether or not the
Company shall have notice of his death or bankruptcy or liquidation, be
deemed to have been duly served or delivered in respect of any share
registered in the name of such Member in the Register of Members or,
where such Member is a Depositor, entered against his name in the
Depository Register as sole or first-named joint holder.

NEW ARTICLE 147(2)

By inserting new Article 147(2) immediately after Article 147(1) as follows:

147.

(2) Without prejudice to the provisions of Articles 142 and 147(1
any_notice or_document (including, without limitations, an
ount lance-sheet _or report) which is requir or
rmitted to iven, sent or served under the Act or under
th Articles by the Company, or by the Directors, to a member
or an officer or Auditor of the Company may be given, sent or
served using electronic communications to t urrent addr
of that person_in_accordance with the provisions of, or
otherwi rovi the Statut or_any other licable
regulations _or_pro res. notice or document shall be
eem to _have been dul iven nt _or_served upon
transmission of the electronic communication to the current
addr f h_person or otherwi rovi nder th
tatut nd/or any other licable requlations or procedures.

EXISTING ARTICLE 152

152.

Subject to the provisions of Section 172 of the Act, every Director,
officer or servant of the Company shalf be indemnified out of its funds
against all costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities incurred by

him in the conduct of the Company’s business or in the discharge of

his duties, and no Director or officer of the Company shall be liable for
the acts or omissions of any other Director or officer, or by reason of
his having joined in any receipt for money not received by him
personally, or for any loss on account of defect of title to any property
acquired by the Company, or on account of the insufficiency of any

62

Notice to
shareholder in
case of death or
insolvency.

Electronic
communications.

Indemnity.



security in or upon which ary moneys of the Company shall be
invested, or for any loss incurred through any banker, broker or other
agent, or upon any ground whatever other than his own wilful acts or
defaults.

Proposed Alterations to Existing Article 152

By deleting Article 152 in its entirety and substituting therefor the following:

152. Subject to the provisions of Section 172 of the Act, every Director, Indemnity.
Auditor, officer or servant of the Company shall be indemnified out of
its funds against all costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities
incurred by him in the conduct of the Company’s business or in the
discharge of his duties or in_relation thereto including any liability by
him_in defending any proceeciings, civil or criminal, which relate to
anything done or omitted or alleged to have been done or omitted by
him as an officer or employee of the Company and in which judgment
is given in his favour (or the prcceedings otherwise disposed of without
any finding or admission of any material breach of duty on hi ) or
in which he is acguitted or in connection with any application under any
statute for relief from liability in_respect of any such act or omission in
which relief is_granted to him by the court. Without prejudice to the

generality of the foregoing, and no Director or officer of the Company
shall be liable for the acts or ornissions of any other Director or officer,

or by reason of his having joined in any receipt for money not received
by him personally, or for any loss on account of defect of title to any
property acquired by the Company, or on account of the insufficiency
of any security in or upon which any moneys of the Company shall be
invested, or for any loss incurred through any banker, broker or other
agent, or upon any ground whatever other than his own wilful acts or
defaults.
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NEPTUNE ORIENT LINES LIMITED

{Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
Company Registration Number: 196800632D

NOTICE OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that an Extraordinary General Meeting of Neptune Orient Lines Limited (the
“Company”) will be held at 456 Alexandra Road, #04-00 (Lecture Theatre), NOL Building, Singapore
119962 on 19 April 2006 at 11.15 a.m. (or as soon thereafter following the conclusion or adjournment of
the 37th Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at 11.00 a.m. on the same day and at the
same place) for the purpose of considering and, if thought fit, passing with or without modifications, the
following Resolutions, of which Resolution 1 will be proposed as a Special Resolution and Resolution 2
will be proposed as an Ordinary Resolution:

Resolution 1: Special Resolution
The Proposed Alterations to the Articles of Association

THAT:

(1) Articles 1, 2,7, 7(1), 7(2)(a), 9, 12, 13, 20, 22, 24, 28, 46, 47, 48, 51, 52, 54(1), 54(2), 60(1), 62,
65, 66, 67, 71, 75(1), 76, 80, 88(1), 93(2), 96, 100, 101, 102, 112, 123, the headnote
“CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS AND RESERVES” before Articie 133, 133, 143 and 152 of the
Articles of Association of the Company (the “Articles”) be altered;

(2) new Articles 8A, 31A, 129A and 147(2) and new headnotes “TREASURY SHARES” and “BONUS
ISSUES AND CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS AND RESERVES" shall be included in the Articles;
and

(8) the headnote “SHARE CAPITAL” appearing immediately before Article 5 and Articles 5, 29(3), 50,
70, 79, 93(4), 120, 134 and 135 shall be deleted in their entirety,

in the manner as set out in the Appendix to the Circular to Shareholders dated 28 March 2006.

Resolution 2: Ordinary Resolution
The Proposed Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate

THAT:

(&) the Directors of the Company (the “Directors”) be and are hereby authorised to purchase or
otherwise acquire ordinary shares in the Company (“Shares”) not exceeding in aggregate the
Maximum Limit (as hereinafter defined), at such price or prices as may be determined by the
Directors from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereinafter defined), whether by way of:

(i) on-market purchases (each an “On-Market Purchase”) on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”); and/or

(i)  off-market purchases (each an “Off-Market Purchase”) effected otherwise than on the SGX-
ST in accordance with any equal access scheme(s) as may be determined or formulated by
the Directors as they may consider fit, which scheme(s) shall satisfy all the conditions
prescribed by the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore,

and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations and rules of the SGX-ST as may

for the time being be applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and
unconditionally (the “Share Purchase Mandate”);
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(b)

(©)

(d)

the authority conferred on the Directors pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate may be
exercised by the Directors at any time and from time to time during the period commencing from
the date of the passing of this Ordineary Resolution and expiring on the earlier of:

(i) the date on which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is held or required by
law to be held; or

(i) the date on which the authcrity contained in the Share Purchase Mandate is varied or
revoked at a General Meeting;

in this Ordinary Resolution:

“Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of the Shares over the
last five market days on which transactions in the Shares were recorded on the SGX-ST preceding
the date of the relevant On-Market Purchase, or as the case may be, the date of the making of the
offer pursuant to an Off-Market Purchase and deemed to be adjusted in accordance with the
Listing Manual for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant five-day period;

“date of the making of the offer’ means the date on which the Company announces its intention
to make an offer for the purchase or acquisition of Shares from holders of Shares, stating therein
the purchase price (which shall not be more than the Maximum Price) for each Share and the
relevant terms of the equal access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase;

“Maximum Limit" means that number of issued Shares representing 10 per cent. of the total
number of issued Shares as at the date of the passing of this Ordinary Resolution (excluding any
Shares which are held as treasury shares as at that date); and

“Maximum Price” in relation to a Share to be purchased or acquired, means an amount (excluding
brokerage, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other related expenses) not
exceeding:

(i)  for On-Market Purchases, more than 5 per cent. above the Average Closing Price of the
Shares; and

(i) for Off-Market Purchases, more than 10 per cent. above the Average Closing Price of the
Shares; and

the Directors and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts
and things (including executing such documents as may be required) as they and/or he may
consider expedient or necessary to give effect to the transactions contemplated and/or authorised
by this Ordinary Resolution.

By Order of the Board

Marjorie Wee/Wong Kim Wah (Ms)
Company Secretaries

Singapore
28 March 2006

Notes:

1.

A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Extraordinary Genera! Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than
two proxies to attend and vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 456 Alexandra Road,
#06-00, NOL Building, Singapore 119962 not less than 48 hours before the time of the Extraordinary General Meeting.
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3." The Company will use internal resources or external borrowings or a combination of both to fund purchases of Shares pursuant
to the Share Purchase Mandate. In purchasing or acquiring Shares pursuant to the Share Purchase Mandate, the Directors will,
principally, consider the availability of internal resources. In addition, the Directors will also consider the availability of external
financing. The amount of financing required for the Company to purchase or acquire its Shares, and the impact on the
Company's financial position, cannot be ascertained as at the date of this Notice as these will depend on the number of Shares
purchased or acquired and the price at which such Shares were purchased or acquired and whether the Shares purchased or
acquired are held in treasury or cancelled.

Based on the existing issued Shares of the Company as at 6 March 2006 (the "Latest Practicable Date”), the purchase by the
Company of 10% of its issued Shares will result in the purchase or acquisition of 145,583,354 Shares.

In the case of On-Market Purchases by the Company and assuming that the Company purchases or acquires the 145,583,354
Shares at the Maximum Price of S$2.51 for one Share (being the price equivalent to 5% above the average of the closing
market prices of the Shares for the five consecutive market days on which the Shares were traded on the SGX-ST immediately
preceding the Latest Practicable Date, the maximum amount of funds required for the purchase or acquisition of the
145,583,354 Shares is US$224,204,889".

In the case of Off-Market Purchases by the Company and assuming that the Company purchases or acquires the 145,583,354
Shares at the Maximum Price of $$2.63 for one Share (being the price equivalent to 10% above the average of the closing
market prices of the Shares for the five consecutive market days on which the Shares were traded on the SGX-ST immediately
preceding the Latest Practicable Date), the maximum amount of funds required for the purchase or acquisition of the
145,583,354 Shares is US$235,657,314".

The financial effects of the purchase or acquisition of such Shares by the Company pursuant to the proposed Share Purchase
Mandate on the audited financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 30 December 2005 based on these
assumptions are set out in paragraph 3.7 of the Circular.

' Exchange rate used for conversion from S$ to US$ is 1.62475.
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NEPTUNE ORIENT LINES LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
Company Registration Number: 1968006320

g NCO L

PROXY FORM

/We* (Name)

of _. __(Address)

being a member/members of Neptune Orient Lines Limited (the “Company”) hereby appoint the
Chairman of the Meeting* and/or*:

Proportion of
NRIC/ Shareholding

Name Address Passport No. (%)

and/or*

as my/our” proxy/proxies® to attend and to vote for' me/us®* on my/our” behalf and, if necessary, to
demand a poll, at the Extraordinary General Meeting of the Company to be held on 19 April 2006 at 456
Alexandra Road, #04-00 {Lecture Theatre), NOL Building, Singapore 119962 at 11.15 a.m. (or as soon
thereafter following the conclusion or adjournment of the 37th Annual General Meeting of the Company to
be held at 11.00 a.m. on the same day and af the same place) and at any adjournment thereof.

*Delete as appropriate

(Please indicate with an “X” in the spaces provided whether you wish your vote(s) to be cast for or against
the Special and Ordinary Resolutions as set out in the Notice of Extraordinary General Meeting. In the
absence of specific directions, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain as he/they may think fit, as he/they
will on any other matter arising at the Extraordinary General Meeting.)

For Against
Resolution 1: Special Resolution
To approve the proposed alterations to the Articles of Association.
Resolution 2: Ordinary Resolution
To approve the proposed renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate.
Dated this day of 2006 : Total Number of Shares held -

Signature(s) of Member(s) or Common Seal

IMPORTANT: PLEASE READ NOTES OVERLEAF




NOTES

1.

Please insert the total number of Shares held by you. If you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register
(as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that number of Shares. If you
have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert that number of Shares. if you have Shares
entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members, you
should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and registered in your
name in the Register of Members. If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to
relate to all the Shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint one or two proxies to
attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his shareholding
(expressed as a percentage of the whole) to be represented by each proxy.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 456 Alexandra Road,
#06-00, NOL Building, Singapore 119962 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Extraordinary General
Meeting.

5. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in
writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its
seal or under the hand of an officer or attorney duly authorised.

6. A corporation which is a member may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit
to act as its representative at the Extraordinary General Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies Act,
Chapter 50 of Singapore.

General:

The Company shall be entitied to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, impraperly completed or
illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified in the
instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of Shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may
reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies fodged if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have Shares entered
against his name in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the Extraordinary General Meeting,
as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.



